# 80960MC Programmer's Reference Manual

intel



# LITERATURE

To order Intel literature write or call:

Intel Literature Sales P.O. Box 58130 Santa Clara, CA 95052-8130 Toll Free Number: (800) 548-4725\*

Use the order blank on the facing page or call our **Toll Free** Number listed above to order literature. Remember to add your local sales tax and a 10% postage charge for U.S. and Canada customers, 20% for customers outside the U.S. Prices are subject to change.

#### **1988 HANDBOOKS**

Product line handbooks contain data sheets, application notes, article reprints and other design information.

NAME	ORDER NUMBER	**PRICE IN U.S. DOLLARS
<b>COMPLETE SET OF 8 HANDBOOKS</b> Save \$50.00 off the retail price of \$175.00	231003	\$125.00
AUTOMOTIVE HANDBOOK (Not included in handbook Set)	231792	\$20.00
COMPONENTS QUALITY/RELIABILITY HANDBOOK (Available in July)	210997	\$20.00
EMBEDDED CONTROLLER HANDBOOK (2 Volume Set)	210918	\$23.00
MEMORY COMPONENTS HANDBOOK	210830	\$18.00
MICROCOMMUNICATIONS HANDBOOK	231658	\$22.00
MICROPROCESSOR AND PERIPHERAL HANDBOOK (2 Volume Set)	230843	\$25.00
MILITARY HANDBOOK (Not included in handbook Set)	210461	\$18.00
OEM BOARDS AND SYSTEMS HANDBOOK	280407	\$18.00
PROGRAMMABLE LOGIC HANDBOOK	296083	\$18.00
SYSTEMS QUALITY/RELIABILITY HANDBOOK	231762	\$20.00
<b>PRODUCT GUIDE</b> Overview of Intel's complete product lines	210846	N/C
DEVELOPMENT TOOLS CATALOG	280199	N/C
INTEL PACKAGING OUTLINES AND DIMENSIONS Packaging types, number of leads, etc.	231369	N/C
LITERATURE PRICE LIST List of Intel Literature	210620	N/C

List of Intel Literature

\*Good in the U.S. and Canada

\*\*These prices are for the U.S. and Canada only. In Europe and other international locations, please contact your local Intel Sales Office or Distributor for literature prices.

# LITERATURE SALES ORDER FORM

NAME:				
COMPANY:				
ADDRESS:				
CITY:		_ STATE:	ZIP:	
COUNTRY:				
PHONE NO.: ( )				. <u> </u>
ORDER NO.	TITLE	QTY.	PRICE _×=	TOTAL
			_×= _×=	
			_×= _×=	
			_X=	=
			-×= -×=	
			_×= _×=	
			Subtotal Add Your Sales Tax	
Must add appropriate postage to sub (10% U.S. and Canada, 20% all othe			Postage	
Pay by Visa, MasterCard, American Ex Intel Literature Sales. Allow 2-4 weeks Visa MasterCard American E Account No.	for delivery. Express Expiration Date		chase order	
Signature				

Mail To: Intel Literature Sales P.O. Box 58130 Santa Clara, CA 95052-8130 **International Customers** outside the U.S. and Canada should contact their local Intel Sales Office or Distributor listed in the back of most Intel literature.

#### Call Toll Free: (800) 548-4725 for phone orders

Prices good until 12/31/88. Source HB

.

inte

# 80960MC PROGRAMMER'S REFERENCE MANUAL

1988

Intel Corporation makes no warranty for the use of its products and assumes no responsibility for any errors which may appear in this document nor does it make a commitment to update the information contained herein.

Intel retains the right to make changes to these specifications at any time, without notice.

Contact your local sales office to obtain the latest specifications before placing your order.

The following are trademarks of Intel Corporation and may only be used to identify Intel Products:

Above, BITBUS, COMMputer, CREDIT, Data Pipeline, FASTPATH, GENIUS, i,  $\hat{i}$ , ICE, iCEL, iCS, iDBP, iDIS, I<sup>2</sup>ICE, iLBX, i<sub>m</sub>, iMDDX, iMMX, Inboard, Insite, Intel, int<sub>e</sub>l, int<sub>e</sub>lBOS, Intel Certified, Intelevision, int<sub>e</sub>ligent Identifier, int<sub>e</sub>ligent Programming, Intellec, Intellink, iOSP, iPDS, iPSC, iRMK, iRMX, iSBC, iSBX, iSDM, iSXM, KEPROM, Library Manager, MAP-NET, MCS, Megachassis, MICROMAINFRAME, MULTIBUS, MULTICHANNEL, MULTIMODULE, MultiSERVER, ONCE, OpenNET, OTP, PC-BUBBLE, Plug-A-Bubble, PROMPT, Promware, QUEST, QueX, Quick-Pulse Programming, Ripplemode, RMX/80, RUPI, Seamless, SLD, SugarCube, SupportNET, UPI, and VLSiCEL, and the combination of ICE, iCS, iRMX, iSBC, iSBX, iSXM, MCS, or UPI and a numerical suffix, 4-SITE.

MDS is an ordering code only and is not used as a product name or trademark. MDS<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of Mohawk Data Sciences Corporation.

\*MULTIBUS is a patented Intel bus.

Additional copies of this manual or other Intel literature may be obtained from:

Intel Corporation Literature Distribution Mail Stop SC6-59 3065 Bowers Avenue Santa Clara, CA 95051

© INTEL CORPORATION 1988

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1					
GUIDE TO THIS MANUAL					
Manual Structure		 			1-1
Chapter Overview		 			1-1
Notation and Terminology					
Reserved and Preserved					
Set and Clear		 			1-4
INTRODUCTION TO THE 80960 ARCHITECTURE					~ 1
A New 32-Bit Architecture from Intel					
High Performance Program Execution					
Load and Store Model	• • • •	 ••	•••	•••	2-2
On-Chip Caching of Code and Data	• • • •	 •••	•••	••	2-2
Overlapped Instruction Execution					
Single-Clock Instructions					
Efficient Interrupt Model					
Simplified Programming Environment					
Highly Efficient Procedure Call Mechanism					
Versatile Instruction Set and Addressing					
Extensive Fault Handling Capability					
Debugging and Monitoring					
Support for Architectural Extensions					
Extensions Included in the 80960MC Processor					
On-Chip Floating Point					
String and Decimal Operations					
Virtual-Memory Support					
Protection					
Multitasking					
Multiprocessing					
Fault Tolerance					
Look for More in the Future		 ••		••	2-7
CHAPTER 3					
EXECUTION ENVIRONMENT					
Overview of the Execution Environment		 			3-1
Address Space		 			3-1
Register Model					
Global Registers					

Floating-Point Registers	3-4
Storage of Global and Floating-Point Registers	3-4

Local Registers
Register Alignment
Register Scoreboarding 3-5
Instruction Pointer
Arithmetic Controls
Initializing and Modifying the Arithmetic Controls
Functions of the Arithmetic-Controls Bits
Condition-Code Flags 3-7
Arithmetic-Status Flags 3-8
Integer-Overflow Flag and Mask
No-Imprecise-Faults Flag 3-9
Floating-Point Flags and Masks 3-9
Floating-Point-Normalizing-Mode Flag
Floating-Point-Rounding Control
Process and Trace Controls
Partitioning the Address Space
Instruction Caching

PROCEDURE C	AL	LS
-------------	----	----

Types of Procedure Calls
Call/Return Mechanism
Local Registers and the Procedure Stack 4-3
Procedure-Linking Information 4-3
Frame Pointer
Stack Pointer
Padding Area
Previous-Frame Pointer 4-5
Return Status and Prereturn-Trace Information
Return-Instruction Pointer 4-6
Mapping the Local Registers to the Procedure Stack
Local Call
Local-Call Operation
Local-Return Operation
Parameter Passing
Passing Parameters in Global Registers 4-9
Passing Parameters in an Argument List 4-9
Passing Parameters Through the Stack 4-9
System Call
Procedure Table
Procedure Entries 4-11
Supervisor-Stack Pointer 4-12
Trace-Control Flag 4-13
System Call to a Local Procedure 4-13

User-Supervisor Protection ModelUser and Supervisor Modes	
Supervisor Calls	
Supervisor Stack	
Branch and Link	
CHAPTER 5	
DATA TYPES AND ADDRESSING MODES	
Data Types	5-1
Ordinals	
Reals	
Bits and Bit Fields	
Byte String	
Triple and Quad Words	
Byte, Word, and Bit Addressing	
Literals	
Register Addressing	
Memory-Addressing Modes	
Absolute	5-7
Register Indirect	5-7
Register Indirect with Index	
Index with Displacement	
IP with Displacement	5-7
CHAPTER 6	
INSTRUCTION-SET SUMMARY Instruction Formats	6-1
Assembly-Language Format	6-1
Machine Formats	
Instruction Groups	
Data Movement	
Load	
Store	
Move	
Load Address	
Arithmetic	
Add, Subtract, Multiply, and Divide	6-8
Extended Arithmetic	
Remainder and Modulo	
	0-0

 Shift and Rotate
 6-9

 Logical
 6-10

 Bit and Bit Field
 6-10

 Bit Operations
 6-10

Bit-Field Operations	1
Byte Operations	
Conversion	1
Comparison	
Compare and Conditional Compare 6-1	1
Compare and Increment or Decrement	2
Branch	
Unconditional Branch	3
Conditional Branch	3
Compare and Branch	4
Test Condition Codes	4
Call and Return	5
Conditional Faults	5
Debug	
Atomic Instructions	6
Processor Management	6
80960MC Non-Floating-Point Instruction-Set Extensions	
Process Management 6-1	
Process Control	
Interprocess Communication	
String	
Decimal	
Miscellaneous Instructions	0
Synchronous Load and Move 6-2	
Memory-Management Functions	Ō
CHAPTER 7 EL OATING-POINT OPERATION	
Introducing the 80960MC Floating-Point Architecture	
Real Numbers and Floating-Point Format	
Real Number System	
Floating-Point Format	
Normalized Numbers	
Biased Exponent	
Real Number and Non-Number Encodings	
Signed Zeros	
Signed, Nonzero, Finite Values	
Denormalized Numbers	
Signed Infinities	
NaNs	
Real Data Types	
Execution Environment for Floating-Point Operations	

 Registers
 7-8

 Loading and Storing Floating-Point Values
 7-9

Moving Floating-Point Values	
Arithmetic Controls	<b>'-11</b>
Normalizing Mode	<b>'-12</b>
Rounding Control	<b>'</b> -12
Instruction Format	
Instruction Operands	7-14
Summary of Floating-Point Instructions	
Data Movement	
Data-Type Conversion	
Basic Arithmetic	
Comparison, Branching, and Classification	
Trigonometric	
Pi	
Logarithmic, Exponential, and Scale	
Arithmetic Versus Nonarithmetic Instructions	
Operations on NaNs	
Exceptions and Fault Handling	
Fault Handler	
Floating-Reserved-Encoding Exception	
Floating-Invalid-Operation Exception	
Floating-Zero-Divide Exception	
Floating-Overflow Exception	
Floating-Underflow Exception	
Floating-Inexact Exception	
Floating-Point-Underflow Condition	
	20

## **MEMORY MANAGEMENT**

Introduction	
Physical-Addressing Mode Versus Virtual-Addressing Mode	
Physical Memory	2
Physical-Memory Restrictions	2
Caching of Memory Accesses	
Virtual-Memory-Management System 8-3	5
Segment-Table Overview	ŀ
Uses of Segments	
Segment-Table Data Structures 8-6	;
Segment Selector	'
Segment Table	
Segment Descriptors	
Base Address	
Size	0
Access Status	0
Valid Flag	

Paging Method	
Segment Types	8-11
Region Descriptors	8-11
Process, Port, and Procedure-Table Descriptors	8-13
Segment-Table Descriptors	
Semaphore Descriptor	
Invalid Descriptor	
Page Tables and Page-Table Directories	8-16
Page Table and Page-Table-Directory Structure	
Page Table and Page-Table-Directory Entries	8-18
Page-Table Entry	
Page-Table-Directory Entry	
Invalid Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Entry	8-20
Page Rights	8-20
Address Translation in Virtual Mode	8-21
SS Translation	
Small Segment Table SS Translation	8-21
Large Segment Table SS Translation	8-22
Virtual-Address Translation	
Simple-Region Address Translation	
Paged-Region Address Translation	
Bipaged Region-Address Translation	8-24
Load Physical Address Instruction	8-25
Spanning Page, Region, and Address-Space Boundaries	8-25
Translation Look-Aside Buffer	
Operating-System Considerations	
Address Space Structure	
Region Gaps and Boundaries	
Making Region Boundaries Transparent	
Accessing System Data Structures	
	0-20
CHAPTER 9	
PROCESSOR MANAGEMENT AND INITIALIZATION	
Overview of Processor Configurations	9-1
Processes and Tasks	9-1
Processor-Management Facilities	9-2
Instruction List	
System Data Structures	
IACs	
Faults	
Process Scheduling and Dispatching	
Processor-Control Block	
Processor-Controls Word	

System-Data-Structure Pointers	9-8
Miscellaneous PRCB Fields	
Changing the PRCB	
Priorities	
Processor and Process States	
Process-Executing and Process-Interrupted State	9-11
Stopped State	
Idle and Idle-Interrupted States	
Address-Translation Modes	
Changing the Address-Translation Mode	
Processor Timing	
Duration of a Tick	
Idle Timing	
Instruction Suspension	
Software Requirements for Processor Management	
Processor Initialization	
Initial Memory Image	
Check-Sum Words	
Initialization Segment Table	
Initialization PRCB	
Initialization Code	
Building a Memory Image	
Typical Initialization Scenario	
First Stage of Initialization	
Second Stage of Initialization	9-23
CHAPTER 10	
INTERRUPTS	
Overview of the Interrupt Facilities	10-1
Software Requirements for Interrupt Handling	

Software Requirements for Interrupt Handling	10-1
Vectors and Priority	10-2
Interrupt Table	10-2
Interrupt-Table Sharing	10-4
Interrupt-Handler Procedures	10-4
Location of Interrupt Handler	10-4
Interrupt-Handler Restrictions	10-5
Interrupt Stack	10-5
Process Timing While Handling an Interrupt	10-6
Signaling Interrupts	10-6
Interrupts From Interrupt Pins	10-6
IAC Interrupts	10-7
System-Error Interrupt	10-8
Interrupt-Handling Actions	
Receiving an Interrupt	10-8

Servicing an Interrupt Process-Executing-State Interrupt Process-Interrupted-State Interrupt Interrupt Record Idle-State Interrupt Idle-Interrupted State Interrupt Pending Interrupts Posting Pending Interrupts Checking for Pending Interrupts Handling Pending Interrupts	10-9 10-10 10-10 10-12 10-12 10-12 10-12 10-13
CHAPTER 11	
INTERAGENT COMMUNICATION	
Introduction to IAC Messages	11-1
Software Requirement for Handling Internal IACs	
Summary of IAC Messages	11-2
IAC-Message Format	11-2
Sending and Receiving an Internal IAC	11-3
Internal-IAC-Handling Action	
IAC Faults	
IAC-Message Reference	
Check Process Notice	
Continue Initialization	
Flush Local Registers	
Flush Process	
Flush TLB	
Flush TLB Page Table Entry	
Flush TLB Physical Page	
Flush TLB Segment Entry	
Freeze	
Modify Processor Controls	
Preempt Process	
Purge Instruction Cache	
Reinitialize Processor	
Restart Processor	
Set Breakpoint Register	
Stop Processor	
Store Processor	
Store System Base	
Test Pending Interrupts	
Warmstart Processor	11-25

FAULT HANDLING	
Overview of the Fault-Handling Facilities	
Fault Types	12-1
Fault-Handling Methods	12-3
Normal Fault-Handling Method	12-3
Overrides	12-4
System-Error Interrupt	
Halt	12-5
Multiple Fault Conditions	12-5
Software Requirements for Handling Faults	12-5
Fault Table	
Location of the Fault Table in Memory	
Fault-Table Entries	
Trace-Fault Handling	
Fault-Handler Procedures	
Possible Fault-Handler Actions	
Process and Instruction Resumption Following a Fault	
Returning With Resumption	
Return Without Resumption	12-11
Aborting a Process	12-11
Fault Controls	
Faults and Interrupts	
Processing Timing While Handling a Fault	
Generating a Fault	12-13
Fault-If and Mark Instructions	
Event-Notice Fault	
Fault Record	
Saved Instruction Pointer	12-15
Resumption Record	
Location of the Fault and Resumption Records	
Fault-Handling Action	
Selecting the Fault-Handling-Action Method	12-18
Normal Fault-Handling Action	12-18
Local Call/Return	
Local Procedure-Table Call/Return	12-19
Supervisor Call/Return	
Trace-Fault-Handler Call/Return	
Override Fault-Handling Action	
System-Error-Interrupt Action	
Halt Action	
Precise and Imprecise Faults	
Fault Reference	
Fault-Reference Notation	

Fault Type and Subtype	 	 	 	12-24
Function	 	 	 	12-24
Fault Record	 	 	 	12-24
Saved IP	 	 	 	12-24
Process State Changes	 	 	 	12-24
Arithmetic Faults				
Constraint Faults	 	 	 	12-26
Descriptor Faults				
Event Faults				
Floating-Point Faults	 	 	 	12-29
Machine Faults				
Operation Faults				
Process Faults				
Protection Faults				
Structural Faults				
Trace Faults				
Type Faults	 	 	 	12-39
Virtual-Memory Faults				
<b>J</b>				

# **PROCESS MANAGEMENT**

Process-Management Overview
Process Structure
Process State
Using Processes
Process-Control Block
Process Controls
Process-State Fields
Process Scheduling and Communication Fields
Process-Timing Fields
Storing of PCB Fields in the Processor
Changing the Process Controls
Changing the Arithmetic Controls 13-9
Changing the Process-Notice Field
Required Software Support for a Single-Process System
Physical Addressing Verses Virtual Addressing
Process Handling in a Single-Process System 13-1
CHAPTER 14

# MULTIPLE-PROCESS MANAGEMENT

Overview of Multiple-Process-Management Facilities	4-1
Process Management Concepts 1	4-2
Scheduling and Dispatching 1	4-2
Process States	
State-Transition Actions 1	4-3

# intط

Explicit Process-Dispatching	14-4 14 5
Time-Slice Scheduling	14-5
Execution-Time Counting	14-6
Overview of High-Level Process Management Facilities	14-0
FIFO Port	
Priority Port	
Message	
Port Uses	
Automatic Process Dispatching	
Process-Scheduling Instructions	
Process Suspension	
Process Synchronization	
Use of Semaphores	14-12
Semaphore Structure	
Semaphore-Handling Instructions	
Semaphore-Access Actions	
Process Preemption	
Interprocess Communication	14-15
Communication Ports	14-15
Interprocess-Communication Mechanism	14-16
Send Message	14-16
Receive a Message	
Send Service	
Kernel Support for Message Passing Applications of Messages	
	14-19
CHAPTER 15	
MULTIPLE-PROCESSOR OPERATION	45 4
Overview of Multiprocessor-Support Facilities	
Sending External IACs	
Receiving and Handling External IACs	
High-Level Process Management Facilities	
Process Scheduling and Dispatching	
Multiprocessor Preemption	15-4
Preemption Control	
Multiprocessor-Preemption Action	15-6

CHAPTER 16 DEBUGGING		
Overview of the Trace-Control Facilities		
Required Software Support for Tracing	<sup>:</sup>	16-1
Trace Controls		16-1
Trace-Controls Word		
Trace-Enable and Trace-Fault-Pending Flags		
Trace Control on Supervisor Calls		
Trace Modes		
Instruction Trace		
Branch Trace		
Call Trace		
Return Trace		
Prereturn Trace		
Supervisor Trace		
Breakpoint Trace		
Trace-Fault Handler		
Signaling a Trace Event		
Handling Multiple Trace Events		
Trace-Handling Action		
Normal Handling of Trace Events		
Prereturn-Trace Handling		
Tracing and Interrupt Handlers		
Tracing and Fault Handlers		
CHAPTER 17		
INSTRUCTION REFERENCE		
Introduction		17 1
Notation		
Alphabetic Reference		
Format		
Description		
Faults		
Example		17-5
Opcode and Instruction Format		
See Also		
Instructions		17-5

# APPENDIX A

# INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE

Instruction Quick Reference		1
Instruction List by Assembler I	Mnemonic	2
Instruction List by Opcode	A-	7

Summary of System Data Structures Execution Environment Memory Management Processor Management Interrupt Handling IACs Fault Handling Process Management Trace Control	A-12 A-15 A-20 A-23 A-25 A-25 A-27
APPENDIX B MACHINE-LEVEL INSTRUCTION FORMATS General Instruction Format REG Format COBR Format CTRL Format MEM Format MEMA Format Addressing MEMB Format Addressing	B-2 B-3 B-4 B-4 B-5
APPENDIX C INSTRUCTION TIMING Introduction Internal Structure of the 80960MC Processor Memory Management Unit Bus Control Logic Instruction Fetch Unit and Instruction Cache Instruction Decoder Simple Instructions Floating Point and Branch Instructions Complex Instructions Load and Store Instructions Micro-Instruction Sequencer and ROM Instruction Execution Unit Register Bypassing Floating Point Unit Execution times for the 80960 Architecture Instructions Logical Instructions Bit Instructions Register Moves Integer and Ordinal Arithmetic Multiply and Divide Instructions Branching Call/Return Instructions Miscellaneous Complex Instructions	C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-4 C-5 C-5 C-6 C-7 C-8 C-9 C-10 C-11 C-12 C-12 C-13

Load Instructions	14
Store Operations	16
xecution times for the Extended Instructions	16
Decimal Instructions C-	17
Floating-Point Instructions	17
Process-Management Instructions C-	

# APPENDIX D

NITIALIZATION CODE	
verview	)-1
xample Code	)-2
startup.s	)-4
f table.lst	9-9
i table.lst	)-10
initial_frame.lst	)-14
macs.m4	)-15
f_handle.c	)-16
i_handle.c	
fix_pte.c	)-16
prog1.c	)-18
prog2.c	)-19
led.h D	)-19
pass1.ld	)-20
pass1a.ld	)-20
pass2.ld D	)-21

# APPENDIX E

# CONSIDERATIONS FOR WRITING PORTABLE SOFTWARE

Architecture Restrictions E-	1
SALIGN Parameter E-	1
Boundary Alignment	2
Faults	2
Physical Memory	2
AČs É	2
ГітіngЕ-	
nterrupts E-	3
nitializationE-	3
Multiprocessor Preemption E-	3
Breakpoints	
mplementation Dependent Instructions E-	
_ock Pin	

## Figures

3-1.	Execution Environment	3-2
3-2.	Registers Available to a Single Procedure	3-3
3-3.	Arithmetic Controls	3-6
3-4.	Address Space Regions	3-10
3-5.	Typical Use of Address-Space Regions	3-11
	Local Registers and Procedure Stack	
	Procedure Stack Structure	
4-3.	System-Call Mechanism	4-10
4-4.	Procedure-Table Structure	4-12
5-1.	Integer Format and Range	5-2
5-2.	Ordinal Format and Range	5-3
5-3.	Decimal Format	5-4
5-4.	Bits and Bit Fields	5-4
7-1.	Binary Number System	7-2
7-2.	Binary Floating-Point Format	7-3
7-3.	Real Numbers and NaNs	7-5
	Real-Number Formats	
	Storage of Real Values in Global and Local Registers	
7-6.	Interaction of Floating Underflow and Inexact Exceptions	7-27
8-1.	Conceptual View of the Segment Table	8-4
	Segment Addressing	
8-3.	Uses of Segments	8-6
	Segment Selector	
8-5.	Segment Table	8-8
	Generic Segment Descriptor	
	Region Segment Descriptors	
8-8.	Process, Port, and Procedure-Table Segment Descriptors	8-14
8-9.	Segment-Table Segment Descriptors	8-15
8-10	. Semaphore Segment Descriptor	8-15
8-11	Invalid Segment Descriptor	8-16
	. Conceptual View of Segment Paging	
8-13	. Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Structure	8-18
	. Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Entries	
	. Virtual-Address Translation	
	. Address Space Structure	
	. Making Region Boundaries Transparent	
8-18	. Mapping of Physical Memory to Region 3	8-31
9-1.	System Data Structures	9-3
	Processor-Control Block (PRCB)	
9-3.	Processor-Controls Word	9-7
	Required Fields in PRCB for Single-Task Configuration	
9-5.	Initial Memory Image	9-18

9-6. Algorithm for First Stage of Initialization Procedure	
10-1. Interrupt Table	10-3
10-2. Interrupt-Control Register	10-6
10-3. Storage of an Interrupt Record on the Stack	10-11
11-1. IAC-Message Format	11-2
12-1. Fault Table and Fault-Table Entries	12-6
12-2. Fault Record	12-14
12-3. Storage of the Fault and Resumption Records on the Stack	12-17
13-1. Process-Control Block (PCB)	13-3
13-2. Process-Controls Word	13-4
13-3. Process Notice Field and Event-Fault Flags	13-7
13-4. Process-Control Block for Single-Process System	13-10
14-1. Process States	14-3
14-2. Ports	
14-3. Queue Record	14-9
14-4. Semaphore Structure	14-13
15-1. Encoding of Address for Processor Receiving an IAC	15-2
16-1. Trace-Controls Word	
A-1. Arithmetic Controls (Chapter 3)	A-12
A-2. Registers Available to a Single Procedure (Chapter 3)	A-13
A-3. Procedure Stack Structure (Chapter 4)	A-14
A-4. SS's, Segment Table, and Segments (Chapter 8)	A-15
A-5. Generic Segment Descriptor (Chapter 8)	A-15
A-6. Region Segment Descriptors (Chapter 8)	A-16
A-7. Process, Port, and Procedure Table Segment Descriptors (Chapter 8)	
A-8. Segment-Table Segment Descriptors (Chapter 8)	A-17
A-9. Semaphore Segment Descriptor (Chapter 8)	
A-10. Invalid Segment Descriptor (Chapter 8)	A-18
A-11. Page Table or Page-Table Directory Entries (Chapter 8)	A-19
A-12. Processor Controls (Chapter 9)	A-20
A-13. PRCB (Chapter 9)	A-21
A-14. Initial Memory Image (Chapter 9)	A-22
A-15. Interrupt Table (Chapter 10)	A-23
A-16. Interrupt Record on Stack (Chapter 10)	A-24
A-17. IAC Message Format (Chapter 11)	A-25
A-18. Fault Record (Chapter 12)	A-25
A-19. Fault Table and Fault-Table Entries (Chapter 12)	A-26
A-20. PCB (Chapter 13)	A-27
A-21. Process Controls (Chapter 13)	A-28
A-22. Ports (Chapter 14)	A-29
A-23. Trace Controls (Chapter 16)	
B-1. Instruction Formats	B-1
C-1. Block Diagram of the 80960MC Processor	
C-2. Execution Time of an Instruction	C-8

C-3.	Load Where the Next Instruction Requires the Fetched Data	C-15
C-4.	Load Where the Next Instruction Does Not Require the Fetched Data	C-15
C-5.	Back-to-Back Load Instructions	C-16

### Tables

	Chapters of Interest to Specific Users	
3-1.	Condition Codes for True or False Conditions	3-7
3-2.	Condition Codes for Inequality Conditions	3-8
3-3.	Encoding of Arithmetic-Status Field	3-8
3-4.	Encoding of Floating-Point-Rounding-Control Field	3-9
	Encoding of Return-Status Field	
4-2.	Encodings of Entry Type Field in Procedure Table Entry	4-11
5-1.	Addressing Modes	5-6
6-1.	Summary of the 80960 Instruction Set	6-3
6-2.	Summary of the 80960MC Instruction-Set Extensions	6-4
6-3.	Arithmetic Operations	6-7
	Real-Number Notation	
	Denormalization Process	
	Real Numbers and NaN Encodings	
7-4.	Arithmetic Controls Used in Floating-Point Operations	7-11
7-5.	Rounding Methods	7-13
	Rounding of Positive Numbers	
	Rounding of Negative Numbers	
	Format of QNaN Results	
	Page Access Rights Interpretation	
	Encoding of the State Field	
	ROM and RAM Resident Data Structures	
	. IAC Messages	
	. Fault Types and Subtypes	
12-2	. Fault Flags or Masks	12-12
13-1	. Encoding of the Process-State Field	13-5
B-1.	Encoding of Src1 and Src2 Fields in REG Format	B-2
B-2.	Encoding of Src/Dst Field in REG Format	B-3
B-3.	Addressing Modes for MEM Format Instructions	B-5
B-4.	Encoding of Scale Field	B-6
C-1.	Registers Scoreboarded According to Registers Referenced	C-7
	Logical Instruction Timing	
	Bit Instruction Timing	
C-4.	Scan and Span Bit Instruction Timing	C-10
C-5.	Move Instruction Timing	C-10

# intel

C-6.	Integer and Ordinal Arithmetic Instruction Timing	C-11
C-7.	Compare Instruction Timing	C-11
	Multiply and Divide Instruction Timing	
C-9.	Multiply/Divide Execution Times Based on Significant Bits	C-12
	. Branch Instruction Timing	
C-11	. Miscellaneous Complex Instruction Timing	C-14
C-12	. Decimal Instruction Timing	C-17
C-13	. Simple Floating-Point Instruction Timing	C-18
C-14	. Complex Floating-Point Instruction Timing	C-19
C-15	. Process-Management Instruction Timing	C-19

# Guide to this Manual

1

# CHAPTER 1 GUIDE TO THIS MANUAL

This chapter describes the organization of this manual, the contents of each chapter, and terminology used in the manual. It also outlines the chapters of the manual that are of most interest to applications programmers, compiler designers, and designers of operating-system kernels (or system executives).

#### MANUAL STRUCTURE

This manual is a reference manual for the Intel 80960MC processor. It gives programmers and system designers detailed information about the processor's programming environment and its operating-system-support facilities.

The book is divided into three parts. Chapters 2 through 7 describe the processor's programming environment, which includes the instruction-execution environment, data types, addressing modes, floating-point operations, and instruction set. Chapters 8 through 16 describe the facilities to support kernel functions, which include the memory management, processor management, interrupt handling, fault handling, process management, and debug facilities. Chapter 17 provides detailed descriptions of all the instructions in the instruction set, organized in alphabetical order.

Table 1-1 shows those chapters that will be of most interest to applications programmers, compiler designers, or kernel designers.

User	Chapters
Applications Programmer	Chapters 2 through 7; Chapter 17.
Compiler Designer	Chapters 2 through 7; Chapters 10, 12, and 17; and Appendices A, B, C, and E.
Kernel Designer	Chapters 2 through 17; and Appendices D and E.

#### CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The following is a brief overview of the contents of each chapter:

Chapter 1 – Guide to This Manual. Overview of this manual.

**Chapter 2 – Introduction to the 80960 Architecture.** Overview of the Intel 80960 architecture, the architecture on which the 80960MC processor is based.

**Chapter 3 – Execution Environment.** Description of the environment in which instructions are executed. The topics discussed in this chapter include the address space, registers, instruction pointer, and arithmetic controls.

**Chapter 4 – Procedure Calls.** Description of the various mechanisms available for making procedure calls. The topics discussed here include the local call/return mechanism, procedure stack, branch-and-link procedure calls, procedure table calls, and supervisor/user protection model.

**Chapter 5 – Data Types and Addressing Modes.** Description of the non-floating-point data types and how bit and byte strings are addressed. The addressing modes provided for addressing data in memory are also described in this chapter.

**Chapter 6 – Instruction-Set Summary.** Overview of all the non-floating point instructions in the 80960MC instruction set, arranged by functional groups. Also included is a brief description of the assembly-language instruction format.

**Chapter 7** – Floating-Point Operation. Description of the processor's floating-point processing facilities. This chapter includes an overview of floating-point numbers and a description of the 80960MC floating-point data types and their relationship to the IEEE floating-point standard. Descriptions of the floating-point instructions, exceptions, and faults are also included.

**Chapter 8 – Memory Management.** Description of the memory management facilities. The topics discussed here include the physical-memory requirements, physical addressing, and the virtual-memory management facilities.

**Chapter 9** – **Processor Management and Initialization.** Description of the processor management facilities. Included is a discussion of the processor control block (PRCB), processor states, priorities, processor timing, and the software requirements for processor management. The requirements for processor initialization are described at the end of the chapter.

**Chapter 10 – Interrupts.** Description of the interrupt mechanism, interrupt priority, interrupt table, interrupt-handling procedures, and the software requirements for handling interrupts.

**Chapter 11 – Interagent Communication.** Description of the interprocessor communication (IAC) mechanism, which allows several processors to communicate with one another on the bus. The topics covered in this chapter include the IAC mechanism and software requirements for using internal IACs. A detailed description of each IAC is given in a reference section at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 12 – Fault Handling. Description of the processor's fault-handling mechanism. Included here is a discussion of the fault-table structure, fault-handling procedures, and the software requirements for handling faults. A detailed description of each fault is given in a reference section at the end of the chapter.

**Chapter 13 – Process Management.** Description of the process management facilities. The topics discussed here include the process control block (PCB) and the software requirements for running a single process.

**Chapter 14 — Multiple-Process Management.** Overview of the facilities provided to manage multiple processes. The topics discussed in this chapter include explicit process dispatching, process timing, automatic process dispatching, process synchronization, and interprocess communication.

**Chapter 15 – Multiple-Processor Operation.** Overview of the facilities to support multiple processor configurations. Included are descriptions of the external IAC handling mechanism, process preemption, and the atomic instructions.

**Chapter 16 – Debugging.** Description of the debugging and monitoring support facilities, including the trace control register.

**Chapter 17 – Instruction Reference.** Alphabetical listing of the complete 80960MC instruction set with detailed descriptions of each instruction, assembly-language syntax, examples, and algorithms.

**Appendix A – Instruction and Data Structure Quick Reference.** Two lists of the 80960MC instructions: one sorted alphabetically by assembly-language mnemonic and one sorted by machine language opcode. A collection of illustrations showing the system data structures is also provided here.

Appendix B — Machine-Level Instruction Formats. Description of the machine-level instruction formats.

Appendix C – Instruction Timing. Description of the 80960MC processor's instruction pipeline and how it affects instruction timing. The numbers of clock cycles required for each instruction are also given.

**Appendix D** – **Initialization Code.** Listing of sample code to initialize the 80960MC processor.

**Appendix E** – Considerations for Writing Portable Software. Discussion of various aspects of the 80960 architecture that should be considered if code written for the 80960MC processor is intended to be ported at a later date to other processors in the Intel 80960 family.

## NOTATION AND TERMINOLOGY

The following paragraphs describe the notation and terminology used in this manual that have special meaning.

#### **Reserved and Preserved**

Certain fields in the processor's system data structures are described as being either *reserved* fields or *preserved* fields. A reserved field is one that is used by other implementations of the processor architecture. To help insure that a current software design is compatible with future processors based on the 80960 architecture, the bits in reserved fields should be set to 0 when the data structure is initially created. Thereafter, software should not access these fields.

Some fields in system data structures are shown as being required to be set to either 1 or 0. These fields should be treated as if they were reserved fields. They should be set to the specified value when the data structure is created and not accessed by software thereafter.

A preserved field is one that the processor does not use. Software may use preserved fields for any function.

## Set and Clear

The terms *set* and *clear* are used in this manual to refer to the value of a bit field in a system data structure. If a bit is set, its value is 1; if the bit is clear, its value is 0. Likewise, setting a bit means giving it a value of 1 and clearing a bit means giving it a value of 0.

# Introduction to the 80960 Architecture

2

.

# CHAPTER 2 INTRODUCTION TO THE 80960 ARCHITECTURE

This chapter provides an overview of the architecture on which the 80960MC processor is based.

### A NEW 32-BIT ARCHITECTURE FROM INTEL

The 80960MC processor is the military-grade member of a new family of processors from Intel. This processor family is based on a new 32-bit architecture called the 80960 architecture. The 80960 architecture has been designed specifically to meet the needs of embedded applications such as avionics, aerospace, weapons systems, robotics, and instrumentation, where high reliability is critical. It represents a renewed commitment from Intel to provide reliable, high-performance processors and controllers for the embedded processor marketplace.

The 80960 architecture can best be characterized as a high-performance computing engine. It features high-speed instruction execution and ease of programming. It is also easily extensible, allowing processors and controllers based on this architecture to be conveniently customized to meet the needs of specific processing and control applications.

Some of the important attributes of the 80960 architecture include:

- full 32-bit registers
- high-speed, pipelined instruction execution
- a convenient program execution environment with 32 general-purpose registers and a versatile set of special-function registers
- a highly optimized procedure call mechanism that features on-chip caching of local variables and parameters
- extensive facilities for handling interrupts and faults
- extensive tracing facilities to support efficient program debugging and monitoring
- register scoreboarding and write buffering to permit efficient operation with lower performance memory subsystems

The 80960MC processor implements the 80960 architecture, plus it offers several extensions to the architecture. Some of these extensions, such as on-chip support for floating-point arithmetic, virtual memory management, and multitasking, are designed to enhance overall system performance. Several other extensions are designed to enhance system reliability and robustness. These extensions include facilities for hardware enforced protection of software modules and for creating fault tolerant systems through the use of redundant processors.

The following sections describe those features of the 80960 architecture that are provided to streamline code execution and simplify programming. The extensions to this architecture provided in the 80960MC processor are described at the end of the chapter.

#### HIGH PERFORMANCE PROGRAM EXECUTION

Much of the design of the 80960 architecture has been aimed at maximizing the processor's computational and data processing speed through increased parallelism. The following paragraphs describe several of the mechanisms and techniques used to accomplish this goal, including:

- an efficient load and store memory-access model
- caching of code and procedural data
- overlapped execution of instructions
- many one or two clock-cycle instructions

#### Load and Store Model

One of the more important features of the 80960 architecture is that most of its operations are performed on operands in registers, rather than in memory. For example, all the arithmetic, logical, comparison, branching, and bit operations are performed with registers and literals.

This feature provides two benefits. First, it increases program execution speed by minimizing the number of memory accesses required to execute a program. Second, it reduces memory latency encountered when using slower, lower-cost memory parts.

To support this concept, the architecture provides a generous supply of general-purpose registers. For each procedure, 32 registers are available (28 of which are available for general use). These registers are divided into two types: global and local. Both these types of registers can be used for general storage of operands. The only difference is that global registers retain their contents across procedure boundaries, whereas the processor allocates a new set of local registers each time a new procedure is called.

The architecture also provides a set of fast, versatile load and store instructions. These instructions allow burst transfers of 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, or 16 bytes of information between memory and the registers.

#### **On-Chip Caching of Code and Data**

To further reduce memory accesses, the architecture offers two mechanisms for caching code and data on chip: an instruction cache and multiple sets of local registers. The instruction cache allows prefetching of blocks of instruction from memory, which helps insure that the instruction execution pipeline is supplied with a steady stream of instructions. It also reduces the number of memory accesses required when performing iterative operations such as loops. (The size of the instruction cache can vary. With the 80960MC processor, it is 512 bytes.)

To optimize the architecture's procedure call mechanism, the processor provides multiple sets of local registers. This allows the processor to perform most procedure calls without having to write the local registers out to the stack in memory.

(The number of local-register sets provided depends on the processor implementation. The 80960MC processor provides four sets of local registers.)

#### **Overlapped Instruction Execution**

Another technique that the 80960 architecture employs to enhance program execution speed is overlapping the execution of some instructions. This is accomplished through two mechanisms: register scoreboarding and branch prediction.

Register scoreboarding permits instruction execution to continue while data is being fetched from memory. When a load instruction is executed, the processor sets one or more scoreboard bits to indicate the target registers to be loaded. After the target registers are loaded, the scoreboard bits are cleared. While the target registers are being loaded, the processor is allowed to execute other instructions that do not use these registers. The processor uses the scoreboard bits to insure that target registers are not used until the loads are complete. (The checking of scoreboard bits is transparent to software.) The net result of using this technique is that code can often be optimized in such a way as to allow some instructions to be executed parallel.

#### **Single-Clock Instructions**

It is the intent of the 80960 architecture that a processor be able to execute commonly used instructions such as move, add, subtract, logical operations, compare and branch in a minimum number of clock cycles (preferable one clock cycle). The architecture supports this concept in several ways. For example, the load and store model described earlier in this chapter (with its concentration on register-to-register operations) allows simple operations to be performed without the overhead of memory-to-memory operations.

Also, all the instructions in the 80960 architecture are 32 bits or 64 bits long and aligned on 32-bit boundaries. This feature allows instructions to be decoded in one clock cycle. It also eliminates the need for an instruction-alignment stage in the pipeline.

The design of the 80960MC processor takes full advantage of these features of the architecture, resulting in more than 50 instructions that can be executed in a single clock-cycle.

#### Efficient Interrupt Model

The 80960 architecture provides an efficient mechanism for servicing interrupts from external sources. To handle interrupts, the processor maintains an interrupt table of 248 interrupt vectors (240 of which are available for general use). When an interrupt is signaled, the processor uses a pointer from the interrupt table to perform an implicit call to an interrupt handler procedure. In performing this call, the processor automatically saves the state of the processor prior to receiving the interrupt; performs the interrupt routine; and then restores the state of the processor. A separate interrupt stack is also provided to segregate interrupt handling from application programs.

The interrupt handling facilities also feature a method of prioritizing interrupts. Using this technique, the processor is able to store interrupts that are lower in priority than the task the processor is currently working on in a pending interrupt section of the interrupt table. At certain defined times, the processor checks the pending interrupts and services them.

#### SIMPLIFIED PROGRAMMING ENVIRONMENT

Partly as a side benefit of its streamlined execution environment and partly by design, processors based on the 80960 architecture are particularly easy to program. For example, the large number of general-purpose registers allows relatively complex algorithms to be executed with a minimum number of memory accesses. The following paragraphs describe some of the other features that simplify programming.

#### Highly Efficient Procedure Call Mechanism

The procedure call mechanism makes procedure calls and parameter passing between procedures simple and compact. Each time a call instruction is issued, the processor automatically saves the current set of local registers and allocates a new set of local registers for the called procedure. Likewise, on a return from a procedure, the current set of local registers is deallocated and the local registers for the procedure being returned to are restored. On a procedure call, the program thus never has to explicitly save and restore those local variables and parameters that are stored in local registers.

#### Versatile Instruction Set and Addressing

The selection of instructions and addressing modes also simplifies programming. The architecture offers a full set of load, store, move, arithmetic, comparison, and branch instructions, with operations on both integer and ordinal data types. It also provides a complete set of Boolean and bit-field instructions, to simplify operations on bits and bit strings.

The addressing modes are efficient and straightforward, while at the same time providing the necessary indexing and scaling modes required to address complex arrays and record structures.

The large 4-gigabyte address space provides ample room to store programs and data. The availability of 32 addressing lines allows some address lines to be memory-mapped to control hardware functions.

#### Extensive Fault Handling Capability

To aid in program development, the 80960 architecture defines a wide selection of faults that the processor detects, including arithmetic faults, invalid operands, invalid operations, and machine faults. When a fault is detected, the processor makes an implicit call to a fault handler routine, using a mechanism similar to that described above for interrupts. The information collected for each fault allows program developers to quickly correct faulting code. It also allows automatic recovery from some faults.
## **Debugging and Monitoring**

To support debugging systems, the 80960 architecture provides a mechanism for monitoring processor activity by means of trace events. The processor can be configured to detect as many as seven different trace events, including branches, calls, supervisor calls, returns, prereturns, breakpoints, and the execution of any instruction. When the processor detects a trace event, it signals a trace fault and calls a fault handler. Intel provides several tools that use this feature, including an in-circuit emulator (ICE) device.

## SUPPORT FOR ARCHITECTURAL EXTENSIONS

The 80960 architecture described earlier in this chapter provides a high-performance computing engine for use as the computational and data-processing core of embedded processors or controllers. The architecture also provides several features that enable processors based on this architecture to be easily customized to meet the needs of specific embedded applications, such as signal processing, array processing, or graphics processing.

The most important of these features is a set of 32 special-function registers. These registers provide a convenient interface to circuitry in the processor or to pins that can be connected to external hardware. They can be used to control timers, to perform operations on special data types, or to perform I/O functions.

The special-function registers are similar to the global registers. They can be addressed by all the register-access instructions.

## **EXTENSIONS INCLUDED IN THE 80960MC PROCESSOR**

The extensions to the 80960 architecture included in the 80960MC processor are built on top of the processor's core computing engine. These extensions are aimed at improving the efficiency and reliability of embedded systems.

## **On-Chip Floating Point**

The 80960MC processor provides a complete implementation of the IEEE standard for binary floating-point arithmetic (IEEE 754-185). This implementation includes a full set of floating-point operations, including add, subtract, multiply, divide, trigonometric functions, and logarithmic functions. These operations are performed on single precision (32-bit), double precision (64-bit), and extended precision (80-bit) real numbers.

One of the benefits of this implementation is that the floating-point handling facilities are completely integrated into the normal instruction execution environment. Single- and double-precision floating-point values are stored in the same registers as non-floating point values. Also, four 80-bit floating-point registers are provided to hold extended-precision values.

### **String and Decimal Operations**

The 80960MC processor provides several instructions for moving, filling, and comparing byte strings in memory. These instructions speed up string operations and reduce the amount of code required to handle strings.

The decimal instructions perform move, add with carry, and subtract with carry operations on binary-coded decimal (BCD) strings.

### Virtual-Memory Support

Another of the 80960MC processor's important features is support for virtual-memory management. When using the processor in virtual-memory mode, the processor provides each process (or task) with an address space of up to  $2^{32}$  bytes. This address space is paged into physical memory in 4K-byte pages. On-chip memory-management facilities handle virtual-to-physical address translation. A translation look-aside buffer (TLB) speeds address translation by storing virtual-to-physical address translations for frequently accessed parts of memory, such as the location of the page tables and the location of often used system data structures.

### Protection

The 80960MC processor offers two mechanisms for protecting critical data structures or software modules. The first is the ability to use page rights bits to restrict access to individual pages. Page rights allow various levels of access to be assigned to a page, ranging from no access to read only to read-write.

The second protection mechanism is a user/supervisor protection model. This two-level protection model provides hardware enforced protection of kernel procedures and data structures. When using this protection mechanism, privileged procedures and data are placed in protected pages of memory. These pages can then be accessed only through a procedure table, which provides a tightly controlled interface to kernel functions.

### Multitasking

The 80960MC processor offers a variety of process management facilities to support concurrent execution of multiple tasks. These facilities can be divided into two groups: process scheduling and interprocess communications.

The process scheduling facilities consist of a set of general-purpose data structures and instructions, which are designed to support several different multitasking schemes. For example, the processor provides a set of instructions that allow the kernel to explicitly dispatch a task (bind it to the processor) and to suspend a task (save the current state of a task so that another task can be bound to the processor). These instructions can be used within kernel procedures to schedule, dispatch, and preempt multiple tasks.

The processor also provides a unique feature called *self dispatching*. Here, the kernel schedules tasks by queuing them to a dispatch port. Thereafter, the processor handles the

dispatching, preempting, and rescheduling of the tasks automatically, independent of the kernel. When using this mechanism, tasks can be scheduled by priority, with up to 32 priority levels to choose from.

The processor's interprocess communication facilities include support for semaphores and communication ports. These facilities allow synchronization of interdependent tasks and asynchronous communication between tasks.

## Multiprocessing

The 80960MC processor provides several mechanisms designed to simplify the design of multiple-processor systems, allowing several processors to run in parallel, using shared memory resources. One of these mechanisms is the self-dispatching capability described above. Here, two or more processors can schedule and dispatch processes from a single dispatch port, with each processor equally sharing the processing load.

The processor also provides an interagent communication (IAC) mechanism that allows processors to exchange messages among themselves on the bus. This mechanism operates similarly to the interrupt mechanism, except that IAC messages are passed through dedicated sections of memory. The IAC mechanism can be used to preempt processes running on another processor, to manage interrupt handling, or to initialize and synchronize several processors.

A set of atomic instructions are also provided to synchronize memory accesses. Multiple processors can then access shared memory without inserting inaccuracies and ambiguities into shared data structures.

## Fault Tolerance

The 80960 family of components supports fault-tolerant system design through the use of the M82965 Bus Extension Unit component. The M82965 allows two processors to be operated in tandem to form a self-checking module. The two M82965s check the outputs of two processors (a master and a checker) cycle-by-cycle. If the checking M82965 detects a difference between outputs, it signals an error. A software recovery procedure can then be initiated.

This fault detection mechanism supports several fault detection and recovery techniques, including self healing, and continuous-operation (non-stop) systems.

## LOOK FOR MORE IN THE FUTURE

The 80960 architecture offers exceptional performance, plus a wealth of useful features to help in the design of efficient and reliable embedded systems. But equally important, it offers lots of room to grow. The 80960MC processor provides average instruction processing rates of 7.5 million instructions per second (7.5 MIPS) at 20 MHz clock rate and 10 MIPS at a 25 MHz clock rate<sup>1</sup>. This performance places the 80960MC at the top of the performance range for advanced, VLSI processor architectures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>1 MIP is equivalent to the performance of a Digital Equipment Corp. VAX 11/780.

However, the 80960MC is only the beginning. With improvements in VLSI technology, future implementations of the 80960 architecture will offer even greater performance. They will also offer a variety of useful extensions to solve specific control and monitoring needs in the field of embedded applications.

# Execution Environment

3

## CHAPTER 3 EXECUTION ENVIRONMENT

This chapter describes how the 80960MC processor executes instructions and how it stores and manipulates data. The parts of the execution environment that are discussed include the address space, the register model, the instruction pointer, and the arithmetic controls.

The execution environment's procedure stack and procedure-call mechanism are described in Chapter 4.

### **OVERVIEW OF THE EXECUTION ENVIRONMENT**

When a process (or a program running within the context of a process) is run on the 80960MC processor, the processor first sets up an execution environment for that process. It then begins executing instructions for that process, using this execution environment to store and manipulate data.

Figure 3-1 shows the part of the execution environment that the processor sets up to run a single procedure within a process. This environment consists of a  $2^{32}$ -byte address space, a set of global and floating-point registers, a set of local registers, a set of arithmetic-controls bits, the instruction pointer, a set of process-controls bits, and a set of trace-controls bits. All of these items reside on the 80960MC chip except the address space.

When the instruction stream for the process includes a procedure call, a procedure stack and some additional elements are added to this execution environment. These procedure-call related elements are shown and discussed in Chapter 4.

### ADDRESS SPACE

Each process running on the processor is assigned a separate address space. From the point of view of the processor, this address space is flat (unsegmented) and byte addressable, with addresses running contiguously from 0 to  $2^{32}$  - 1. The process can allocate space for data, instructions, and the stack anywhere within this space.

The address space being described here is a logical address space that the operating system can map into physical memory either directly or indirectly (using the processor's virtual-addressing mechanism). The memory mapping method used is immaterial to this discussion. Once a process has been bound to the processor, the processor sees only the logical address space for that process.

### NOTE

The memory-management method that the operating system uses can place some minor limitations on how the address space may be allocated. These limitations are described later in this chapter in the section titled "Partitioning the Address Space."

### **EXECUTION ENVIRONMENT**



Figure 3-1: Execution Environment

### **REGISTER MODEL**

The processor provides three types of data registers: global, floating-point, and local. The 16 global registers constitute a set of general-purpose registers, the contents of which are preserved across procedure boundaries. The 4 floating-point registers are provided to support extended floating-point arithmetic. Their contents are also preserved across procedure boundaries. The 16 local registers are provided to hold parameters specific to a procedure (i.e.,

local variables). For each procedure that is called, the processor allocates a separate set of 16 local registers.

For any one procedure within a process, 36 registers are thus available (as shown in Figure 3-2): the 16 global registers, the 4 floating-point registers, and the 16 local registers. All of these registers are maintained on the processor chip.



Figure 3-2: Registers Available to a Single Procedure

### **Global Registers**

The 16 global registers (g0 through g15) are 32-bit registers. Each register can thus hold a word (32 bits) of data. Registers g0 through g14 are general-purpose registers; g15 is reserved for the current frame pointer (FP). The FP contains the address of the first byte in the current (topmost) stack frame. (The FP and the procedure stack are discussed in detail in Chapter 4.)

The general-purpose global registers (g0 through g14) can hold any of the data types that the processor recognizes (i.e., ordinals, integers, reals, byte strings).

### **Floating-Point Registers**

The four floating-point registers (fp0 through fp3) are 80-bit registers. These registers can be accessed only as operands of floating-point instructions. All numbers stored in these registers are stored in extended-real format. (This format is described in Chapter 7.) The processor automatically converts floating-point values from real or long-real format into extended-real format when a floating-point register is used as a destination for an instruction.

### Storage of Global and Floating-Point Registers

The global and floating-point registers are associated with the current process. When execution of the current process is suspended, the values in these registers are stored in the process control block (PCB) for the process. (The PCB is described in Chapter 13.)

### Local Registers

The 16 local registers (r0 through r15) are 32-bit registers, like the global registers. The purpose of the local registers is to provide a separate set of registers, aside from the global and floating-point registers, for each active procedure. Each time a procedure is called, the processor automatically sets up a new set of local registers for that procedure and saves the local registers for the calling procedure. The program does not have to explicitly save and restore these registers.

Local registers r3 through r15 are general-purpose registers. Registers r0 through r2 are reserved for special functions, as follows: register r0 contains the previous frame pointer (PFP); r1 contains the stack pointer (SP); and r2 contains the return instruction pointer (RIP). (The PFP, SP, and RIP are discussed in detail in Chapter 4.) The processor accesses the local registers at the same speed as it does the global registers.

### **Register Alignment**

Several of the processor's instructions operate on multiple-word operands. For example, the load-long instruction (**ldl**) loads two words from memory into two consecutive registers. Here, the register number for the least significant word is specified in the instruction and the most-significant word is automatically loaded into the next higher-numbered register.

In cases where an instruction specifies a register number and multiple, consecutive registers are implied, the register number must be even if two registers are accessed (e.g., g0, g2) and an integral multiple of four if three or four registers are accessed (e.g., g0, g4). If a register reference for a source value is not properly aligned, the value is undefined. If a register reference for a destination value is not properly aligned, the registers that the processor writes to are undefined.

### **Register Scoreboarding**

The 80960MC provides a mechanism called *register scoreboarding* that in certain situations permits instructions to be executed concurrently. This mechanism works as follows. While an instruction is being executed, the processor sets a scoreboard bit to indicate that a particular register or group of registers is being used in an operation. If the instructions that follow do not use registers in that group, the processor in some instances is able to execute those instructions before execution of the prior instruction is complete. In effect, the register scoreboarding mechanism allows some instructions to be executed in parallel.

A common application of this feature is to execute one or more fast instructions (instructions that take one to three clock cycles) concurrently with load instructions. A load instruction typically takes 3 to 9 clock cycles (depending on the design of system memory and the addressing mode used). Register scoreboarding allows other instructions to be executed concurrently with the load instruction, providing that the other instructions do not affect the registers being loaded. For example, the following group of instructions loads a group of local registers while performing some other operations on data in global registers.

ld xyz, r6	#	$r6 \leftarrow data from address xyz$
addi g4, g6, g7	#	g7 ← g4 + g6
addi g9, g10, g11	#	g11 ← g9 + g10
ld abc, r8	#	r6 $\leftarrow$ data from address abc
and g0, 0xffff, g1	#	g1 ← g0 AND 0xffff
addi r6, r8, r7	#	r7 ← r6 + r8

Here, the two **addi** instructions following the first load and the **and** instruction following the second load are performed concurrently with the bus accesses of the two load instructions.

(Appendix C provides a detailed discussion of the processor's instruction-execution pipeline and register scoreboarding.)

## **INSTRUCTION POINTER**

The instruction pointer (IP) is the address (in the address space of the current process) of the instruction currently being executed. This address is 32 bits; however, since instructions are required to be aligned on word boundaries in memory, the 2 least-significant bits of the IP are always zero.

The IP is stored in the processor and cannot be read directly. However, the IP-withdisplacement addressing mode allows the IP to be used as an offset into the address space. This addressing mode can also be used with the **lda** (load address) instruction to read the current value of the IP. When a break occurs in the execution of a program or process (due to an interrupt, procedure call, or process suspension action), the IP of the next instruction to be executed (i.e., the RIP) is stored in local register r2, which is then stored on the stack. Refer to Chapter 4 for further discussion of this operation.

### **ARITHMETIC CONTROLS**

int

The processor's arithmetic controls are made up of a set of 32 bits, which are cached on the processor chip in the arithmetic-controls register. Figure 3-3 shows the arrangement of the arithmetic controls bits. The arithmetic controls bits include condition code flags; floating-point control and status flags and masks; integer control and status flags; and a flag that controls faulting on imprecise faults.



### Figure 3-3: Arithmetic Controls

The processor sets or clears these bits to show the results of certain operations. For example, the processor modifies the condition code flags after each comparison operation to show the result of the comparison. Other arithmetic control bits, such as the floating-point fault masks, are set by the currently running program to tell the processor how to respond to certain fault conditions.

### Initializing and Modifying the Arithmetic Controls

The state of the processor's arithmetic controls is undefined at processor initialization, on a processor restart (initiated with a restart processor IAC), or on a warmstart processor (initiated with a warmstart processor IAC). Part of the initialization code or restart code should thus be to set the arithmetic controls to a specific state.

The arithmetic controls can be examined and modified using the modify arithmetic controls (**modac**) instruction. This instruction uses a mask to allow specific bits to be changed.

When the processor binds itself to a process, it loads the arithmetic controls word in the process's PCB into its arithmetic controls register. When the processor suspends a process, it automatically stores the state of the arithmetic controls register in the PCB.

The processor also automatically saves and restores the arithmetic controls when it services an interrupt or handles a fault. Here, the processor saves the current state of the arithmetic controls in an interrupt record or fault record, then restores the arithmetic controls upon returning from the interrupt or fault handler, respectively.

## Functions of the Arithmetic-Controls Bits

The functions of the various arithmetic controls bits are as follows:

### NOTE

In the following discussion, some of the arithmetic controls bits are referred to as "sticky flags." A sticky flag is one that the processor never implicitly clears. Once the processor sets a sticky flag to indicate that a particular condition has occurred, the flag remains set until the program explicitly clears it.

## **Condition-Code Flags**

The processor sets the condition-code flags (bits 0-2) to indicate the results of certain instructions (usually compare instructions). Other instructions, such as conditional-branch instructions, examine these flags and perform functions according to their state. Once the processor has set these flags, it leaves them unchanged until it executes another instruction that uses these flags to store results.

These flags are used to show either true or false conditions or inequalities (greater-than, equal, or less-than conditions). Table 3-1 shows how the processor sets the flags to show true or false conditions.

Table 3-1: Condition Codes for True or False Conditions

Condition Code	Condition
010	true
000	false

Table 3-2 shows how the processor sets the condition-code flags to show inequalities. The term unordered is used when comparing floating-point numbers. If, when comparing two floating-point values, one of the values is a NaN (not a number), the relationship is said to be "unordered." Refer to the section in Chapter 7 titled "Comparison and Classification" for further information about the ordered and unordered conditions.

Condition Code	Condition
000	unordered
001	greater than
010	equal
100	less than

Certain instructions (such as the branch-if instructions) use a 3-bit mask to evaluate the condition-code flags. For example the branch-if-greater-or-equal instruction (**bge**) uses a mask of  $011_2$  to determine if the condition code is set to either greater-than or equal. These masks cover the additional conditions of greater-or-equal, less-or-equal ( $110_2$ ), not-equal ( $101_2$ ), and ordered ( $111_2$ ).

### **Arithmetic-Status Flags**

The processor uses the arithmetic-status field (bits 3-6) in conjunction with the classify instructions (**classr** and **classrl**) to show the class of a floating-point number. When executing these instructions, the processor sets the bits in the arithmetic-status field as shown in Table 3-3, according to the class of the value being classified. The "s" bit in Table 3-3 is set to the sign of the value being classified.

Arithmetic Status	Classification
s000	zero
s001	denormalized number
s010	normal finite number
s011	infinity
s100	quiet NaN
s101	signaling NaN
s110	reserved operand

Table 3-3: Encoding of Arithmetic-Status Field

The remainder real instructions (**remr** and **remrl**) also use the arithmetic-status field as described in Chapter 17.

### Integer-Overflow Flag and Mask

The integer-overflow flag (bit 8) and the integer-overflow mask (bit 12) are used in conjunction with the arithmetic integer-overflow fault. The mask bit masks the integer-overflow fault. When the fault is masked, the processor sets the integer-overflow flag whenever integer overflow occurs, to indicate that the fault condition has occurred even though the fault has been masked. If the fault is not masked, the fault is allowed to occur and the flag is not set. The integer-overflow flag is a sticky flag. (Refer to the discussion of the arithmetic integeroverflow fault in Chapter 12 for more information about the integer-overflow mask and flag.)

### **No-Imprecise-Faults Flag**

The no-imprecise-faults flag (bit 15) determines whether or not imprecise faults are allowed to be raised. If set, faults are required to be precise; if clear, certain faults can be imprecise. (Refer to the section in Chapter 12 titled "Precise and Imprecise Faults" for more information about this flag.)

### Floating-Point Flags and Masks

The floating-point flags (bits 16 through 20) and masks (bits 24 through 28) perform the same functions as the integer-overflow flag and mask, except they are used for operations on real (floating point) numbers. When a mask is set, its associated floating-point fault is masked. When a mask is clear, the processor sets the flag for the associated fault whenever the fault condition occurs, but does not generate a fault. All the floating-point flags are sticky bits. Refer to the section in Chapter 7 titled "Exceptions and Fault Handling" for a detailed discussion of the floating-point faults and their associated flags and masks in the arithmetic controls.

### Floating-Point-Normalizing-Mode Flag

The floating-point-normalizing-mode flag (bit 29) determines whether or not floating-point instructions are allowed to operate on denormalized numbers. If set, floating-point instructions are allowed to operate on denormalized numbers; if clear, the processor generates a floating reserved-operand fault when it detects denormalized numbers that are used as operands for floating-point instructions. (Refer to the section in Chapter 7 titled "Normalizing Mode" for more information on the use of this flag.)

### Floating-Point-Rounding Control

The floating-point-rounding-control field (bits 30-31) indicates which rounding mode is in effect for floating point computations. These bits are set as shown in Table 3-4, depending on the rounding mode to be selected.

Rounding Control	Rounding Mode	
00	round to nearest (even)	
01	Round down (toward negative infinity)	
10	Round up (toward positive infinity)	
11	Truncate (round toward zero)	

Table 3-4:	Encoding of Floating-Point-Rounding-Control Field
------------	---

(Refer to the section in Chapter 7 titled "Rounding Control" for more information on the use of the floating-point-rounding-control field.)

All the unused bits in the arithmetic controls are reserved and must be set to 0.

### **PROCESS AND TRACE CONTROLS**

The processor's process controls and trace controls are also cached on the processor chip. The process controls are a set of 32 bits that control or show the status of the currently running process. The process controls are described in detail in Chapter 13.

The trace controls are a set of 32 bits that control the tracing facilities of the processor. The trace controls are described in Chapter 16.

### PARTITIONING THE ADDRESS SPACE

Instructions, data, or stacks can be located anywhere in the address space, with the following exceptions. Instructions must be aligned on word boundaries. When handling a 32-bit instruction pointer, the processor generally assumes that the 2 least-significant bits of the address are zero.

The processor's virtual-memory management system requires that the address space be divided into four regions, as shown in Figure 3-4.





Each of these regions is managed with a separate page table or set of page tables. This allows the read and write rights of a region to be assigned on a page-by-page basis.

In addition, region 3 is defined to be processor specific, meaning that it is shared by all the processes that are running on the processor.

### NOTE

Dividing the address space into regions and pages is a memory management convention that does not affect the processor's view of the address space. The processor still views the address space as being flat, with one exception. When an operand spans across one of the region boundaries shown in Figure 3-4, the results are unpredictable. This exception should be of only minor concern. However, if it does cause a problem, the section in Chapter 8 titled "Making Region Boundaries Transparent" describes how to overcome this limitation by mapping regions 0, 1, and 2 into a single page-table directory.

In the physical-addressing mode, there is no paging of the address space; so, the restriction on operands crossing region boundaries does not apply.

Figure 3-5 shows one way that the regions of the address space can be used. Here the process specific regions, regions 0, 1, and 2, are used to store the data, instructions, and procedure stack, respectively. Region 3, which all the processes share, contains system code and data, and the interrupt stack.



Figure 3-5: Typical Use of Address-Space Regions

This partitioning of the address space provides two benefits. First, the region containing code can be write protected. Second, the system area will not have to be swapped in and out each time there is a process switch, which reduces process switching time.

### **INSTRUCTION CACHING**

The processor provides a 512-byte cache for instructions. When the processor fetches an instruction or group of instructions from memory, they are stored in this cache before being fed into the instruction-execution pipeline. The processor manages this cache transparently from the program being run.

This instruction cache is a read-only cache, meaning that once bytes from the instruction stream are written into the instruction cache, they cannot be changed. Because of this, the processor does not support self-modified programs in a transparent fashion. The only way to change the instruction stream once it has been written into the instruction cache is to purge the instruction cache. The IAC message "purge instruction cache" is provided for this purpose, as described in Chapter 11.

## Procedure Calls

# 4

## CHAPTER 4 PROCEDURE CALLS

This chapter describes the 80960MC processor's procedure call and stack mechanism. It also describes the user-supervisor protection model, which provides protection for privileged procedures such as operating-system procedures.

## TYPES OF PROCEDURE CALLS

The processor supports three types of procedure calls:

- Local call
- System call
- Branch and link

A local call uses the processor's call/return mechanism, in which a new set of local registers and a new frame on the stack are allocated for the called procedure. A system call is similar to a local call, except that it provides access to procedures through a procedure table. The most important use of a system call is to call privileged procedures, called *supervisor procedures*. A system call to a supervisor procedure is called a *supervisor call*. A branch and link is merely a branch to a new instruction with the return IP stored in a global register.

In this chapter, the call/return mechanism is introduced first and is followed by a discussion of how this mechanism is used to make local calls and system calls.

### NOTE

The processor's interrupt- and fault-handling mechanisms use implicit procedure calls. Implicit calls to interrupt-handler and fault-handler procedures are described in detail in Chapters 10 and 12, respectively.

### **CALL/RETURN MECHANISM**

The processor's call/return mechanism has been designed to simplify procedure calls and to provide a flexible method for storing and handling variables that are local to a procedure.

Two structures support this mechanism: the local registers (on the processor chip) and the procedure stack (in memory). Figure 4-1 shows the relationship of the local registers to the procedure stack. For each procedure, the processor automatically allocates a set of local registers and a frame on the procedure stack. Since the local registers are on-chip, they provide fast-access storage for local variables. If additional space for local variables is required, it can be allocated in the stack frame.

When a procedure call is made, the processor automatically saves the contents of the local registers and the stack frame for the calling procedure and sets up a new set of local registers and a new stack frame for the called procedure.

intط



Figure 4-1: Local Registers and Procedure Stack

This procedure-call mechanism provides two benefits. First, it provides a structure for storing a virtually unlimited number of local variables for each procedure: the on-chip local registers provide quick access to often-used variables and the stack provides space for additional variables.

Second, a program does not have to explicitly save and restore the variables stored in the local registers and stack frames. The processor does this implicitly on procedure calls and on returns.

A detailed description of the call/return mechanism is given in the following paragraphs.

### Local Registers and the Procedure Stack

For each procedure, the processor allocates a set of 16 local registers. Three of these registers (r0, r1, and r2) are reserved for linkage information to tie procedures together. The remaining 13 local registers are available for general storage of variables.

For each process, the processor maintains a procedure stack in memory. This stack can be located anywhere in the address space and grows from low addresses to high addresses.

The stack consists of contiguous frames, one frame for each active procedure. As shown in Figure 4-2, each stack frame provides a save area for the local registers and an optional area for additional variables.

To increase the speed of procedure calls, the 80960MC processor provides four sets of local registers. Thus, when a procedure call is made, the contents of the current set of local registers often do not have to be stored in the procedure stack. Instead, a new set of local registers is assigned to the called procedure. When the number of nested procedure calls exceeds the number of register sets, the processor automatically stores the contents of the oldest set of local registers on the stack to free up a set of local registers for the most recently called procedure.

Refer to the section later in this chapter titled "Mapping the Local Registers to the Procedure Stack" for further discussion of the relationship between the local-register sets and the procedure stack.

### **Procedure-Linking Information**

Global register g15 (FP) and local registers r0 (PFP), r1 (SP), and r2 (RIP) contain information to link procedures together and to link the local registers to the procedure stack. The following paragraphs describe this linkage information.

### **Frame Pointer**

The FP is the address of the first byte of the current (topmost) stack frame. It is stored in global register g15. The 80960MC processor aligns each new stack frame on a 64-byte boundary. Since the resulting FP always points to a 64-byte boundary, the processor ignores the 6 low-order bits of the FP and interprets them to be zero.

### Stack Pointer

The SP is the address of the next available byte of the stack frame, which can also be thought of as the last byte of the stack frame plus one. It is stored in local register r1. The procedure stack grows upward (i.e., toward higher addresses). To determine the initial SP value, the processor adds 64 to the FP. intel



Figure 4-2: Procedure Stack Structure

If additional space is needed on the stack for local variables, the SP may be incremented in one-byte increments. For example, the following instruction adds six words of additional space to the stack:

addo sp, 24, sp # sp  $\leftarrow$  sp + 24

With the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the keyword "sp" stands for register r1.

#### NOTE

The SP should be incremented before additional variables are added to the stack. This practice prevents errors that might occur if data is added to the stack and a process switch occurs before the SP has been incremented.

### Padding Area

When the processor creates a new frame on a procedure call, it will, if necessary, add a padding area to the stack so that the new frame starts on a 64 byte boundary. To create the padding area, the processor rounds off the SP for the current stack frame (the value in r1) to the next highest 64 byte boundary. This value becomes the FP for the new stack frame.

### **Previous-Frame Pointer**

The PFP is the address of the first byte of the previous stack frame. It is stored in local register r0. Since the 80960MC ignores the 6 low-order bits of the FP, only the 26 most-significant bits of the PFP are stored here. The 4 least-significant bits of r0 are then used to store return status information.

### **Return Status and Prereturn-Trace Information**

Bits 0 through 2 of local register r0 contain return status information for the calling procedure and bit 3 contains the prereturn-trace flag. When a procedure call is made (either explicit or implicit), the processor records the call type in the return status field. The processor then uses this information to select the proper return mechanism when returning to the calling procedure.

Table 4-1 shows the encoding of the return status field according to the different types of calls that the processor supports. Of the five types of calls allowed, the fault call (described in Chapter 12) and the interrupt and idle-interrupt calls (described in Chapter 10) are implicit calls that the processor initiates. The local call (described in this section) is an explicit call that a program initiates using the **call** or **callx** instruction. The supervisor call (described at the end of this chapter in the section titled "System Call/Return Mechanism") is an explicit call that a program makes using the **calls** instruction.

The third column of Table 4-1 shows the type of a return action that the processor takes depending on the state of the return status field.

The processor records two versions of the supervisor call: one for when the trace-enable flag in the process controls is set prior to a supervisor call and one for when the flag is clear prior to the call. The trace controls are described in detail in Chapter 16.

Encoding	Call Type	Return Action
000	Local call or supervisor call made from the supervisor mode	Local return
001	Fault call	Fault return
010	Supervisor call from user mode, trace was disabled before call	Supervisor return, with the trace enable flag in the process controls set to 0 and the execution mode flag set to 0
011	Supervisor call from user mode, trace was enabled before call	Supervisor return, with the trace enable flag in the process controls set to 1 and the execution mode flag set to 0
100	reserved	
101	reserved	
110	Idle-interrupt call	Idle-interrupt return
111	Interrupt call	Interrupt return

Table 4-1:	Encoding	of Return	-Status Field
------------	----------	-----------	---------------

The prereturn-trace flag is used in conjunction with the call-trace and prereturn-trace modes. If the call-trace mode is enabled when a call is made, the processor sets the prereturn-trace flag; otherwise it clears the flag. Then, if this flag is set and the prereturn-trace mode is enabled, a prereturn trace event is generated on a return before any actions associated with the return operation are performed. Refer to Chapter 16 for a detailed discussion of the interaction of the call-trace and prereturn-trace modes and the prereturn-trace flag.

### **Return-Instruction Pointer**

The RIP is the address of the instruction that the processor is to execute after returning from a procedure call. It is stored in local register r2. When the processor executes a procedure call it sets the RIP to the address of the instruction immediately following the procedure call instruction. (Refer to the section later in this chapter titled "Local-Call Operation" for further information the RIP.)

Since the processor uses the same procedure call mechanism to make implicit procedure calls to service faults and interrupts, programs should not use register r2 for purposes other than to hold the RIP.

When a process is suspended, the IP of the next instruction is stored in r2 of the current set of local registers. When the process resumes, the processor sets the IP to the value in this register.

### Mapping the Local Registers to the Procedure Stack

The availability of multiple register sets cached on the processor chip and the saving and restoring of these register sets in stack frames should be transparent to most programs. However, the following additional information about how the local registers and procedure stack are mapped to one another can help avoid problems.

Since the local-register sets reside on the processor chip, the processor will often not have to access the stack frame in the procedure stack, even though space has been allocated on the stack for the current frame. The processor only accesses the current frame in the procedure stack in the following instances:

- 1. to read or write variables other than those held in the local registers,
- 2. to read local registers that were stored in the procedure stack when the number of nested procedures calls exceeded the number of local registers, or
- 3. to read local registers that were stored in the procedure stack due to the suspension of the process.

This method of mapping the local registers to the register-save areas in the procedure stack has several implications. First, storing information in a local register does not guarantee that it will be stored in its associated word in the current stack frame. Likewise, storing information in the first 16 words of a stack frame does not guarantee that the local registers associated with the stack frame are modified.

Second, if you try to read the contents of the current set of local registers through a memory access to the first 16 words of the current stack frame, you may not get the expected result. This is also true if you try to read the contents of a previously stored set of local registers through a memory address to its associated stack frame.

The processor automatically stores the contents of a local register set into the register-save area of its associated stack frame only in the following two circumstances:

- 1. if procedure calls (local or supervisor) are nested deeper than the number of local-register sets, or
- 2. if the process is suspended.

Occasionally, it is necessary to have the contents of all local-register sets match the contents of the register-save areas in their associated stack frames. For example, when debugging software it may be necessary to trace the call history back through the nested procedures. This can not be done unless the cached local-register frames are flushed (i.e., written out to the procedure stack).

The processor provides two methods of voluntarily flushing the local registers: the **flushreg** (flush local registers) instruction and the flush-local-registers IAC. Both the **flushreg** instruction and the flush-local-registers IAC cause the contents of all the local-register sets, except the current set, to be written to their associated stack frames in memory.

Third, if you need to modify the PFP in register r0, you should precede this operation with the **flushreg** instruction, or else the behavior of the **ret** (return) instruction is not predictable.

Fourth, local registers should not be used for passing parameters between procedures. (Parameter passing is discussed in the following section.)

Fifth, when a set of local registers is assigned to a new procedure, the processor may not clear or initialize these registers. The initial contents of these registers are therefore unpredictable. Also, the processor does not initialize the local register-save area in the newly created stack frame for the procedure, so its contents are equally unpredictable.

## LOCAL CALL

A local call is made using either of two local call instructions: **call** and **callx**. These instructions initiate a procedure call using the call/return mechanism described earlier in this chapter.

The **call** instruction specifies the address of the called procedures as the IP plus a signed, 24-bit displacement (i.e.,  $-2^{23}$  to  $2^{23}$  - 4).

The **callx** instruction allows any of the addressing modes to be used to specify the procedure address. The *IP with displacement* addressing mode allows full 32-bit IP relative addressing.

The ret instruction initiates a procedure switch back to the last procedure that issued a call.

## **Local-Call Operation**

During a local call, the processor performs the following operations:

- 1. Stores the RIP in current local-register r2.
- 2. Allocates a new set of local registers for the called procedure.
- 3. Allocates a new frame on the procedure stack.
- 4. Changes the instruction pointer to point to the first instruction in the called procedure.
- 5. Stores the FP for the calling procedure in new local-register r0 (PFP).
- 6. Stores the FP for the new frame in global register g15.
- 7. Allocates a save area for the new local registers in the new stack frame.
- 8. Stores the SP in new local-register r1.

## **Local-Return Operation**

On a return, the processor performs these operations:

- 1. Sets the FP in global register g15 to the value of the PFP in current local-register r0.
- 2. Deallocates the current local registers for the procedure that initiated the return and switches to the local registers assigned to the procedure being returned to.
- 3. Deallocates the stack frame for the procedure that initiated the return.
- 4. Sets the IP to the value of the RIP in new local-register r2.

The algorithms that the **call**, **callx**, and **ret** instructions use are described in greater detail in Chapter 17.

## PARAMETER PASSING

The processor supports two mechanisms for passing parameters between procedures: global registers and argument list.

## Passing Parameters in Global Registers

The global registers provide the fastest method of passing parameters. Here, the calling procedure copies the parameters to be passed into global registers. The called procedure then copies the parameters (if necessary) out of the global registers after the call.

On a return, the called procedure can copy result parameters into global registers prior to the return, with the calling procedure copying them out of the global registers after the return.

### Passing Parameters in an Argument List

When more parameters need to be passed than will fit in the global registers, they can be placed in an argument list. This argument list can be stored anywhere in memory providing that the procedure being called has a pointer to the list. Commonly, a pointer to the argument list is placed in a global register.

Parameters can also be returned to the calling procedure through an argument list. Here again, a pointer to the argument is generally returned to the calling procedure through a global register.

The argument list method of passing parameters should be thought of as an escape mechanism and used only when there are not enough global registers available for passing parameters.

### **Passing Parameters Through the Stack**

A convenient place to store an argument list is in the stack frame for the calling procedure. Storing the argument list in the stack provides the benefit of having the list automatically deallocated upon returning from the procedure that set up the list. Space for the argument list is created by incrementing the SP, as described earlier in this chapter in the section titled "Stack Pointer."

Parameters can also be returned to the calling procedure through an argument list in the stack. However, care should be taken when doing this. The return argument list must not be placed in the frame for the called procedure, since this frame is deallocated on the return. Also, if the return list is to be placed in the frame of the calling procedure, the calling procedure must allocate space for this list prior to making the call.

## SYSTEM CALL

A system call is made using the call system instruction **calls**. This call is similar to a local call except that the processor gets the IP for the called procedure from a data structure called the procedure table. (System calls are sometimes referred to in this manual as "system-procedure-table calls.")

Figure 4-3 illustrates the use of the procedure table in a system call. The **calls** instruction requires a procedure-number operand. This procedure number provides an index into the procedure table, which contains IPs for specific procedures.



Figure 4-3: System-Call Mechanism

The system-call mechanism supports two types of procedure calls: local calls and supervisor calls. A local call is the same as that made with the **call** and **callx** instructions, except that the processor gets the IP of the called procedure from a procedure table. The supervisor call differs from the local call in two ways: (1) it causes the processor to switch to another stack (called the supervisor stack), and (2) it causes the processor to switch to a different execution mode.

The system-call mechanism offers two benefits. First, it supports portability for application software. System calls are commonly used to call kernel services. By calling these services with a procedure number rather than a specific IP, applications software does not have to be changed each time the implementation of the kernel services is modified.

Second, the ability to switch to a different execution mode and stack allows kernel procedures and data to be insulated from applications code. This benefit is described in more detail later in this chapter in the section titled "User-Supervisor Protection Model".

## PROCEDURE TABLE

The procedure table is a general structure, which the processor uses in two ways. The first way is as a place for storing IPs for kernel procedures, which can then be accessed through the system-call mechanism described above. Here, the procedure table is called the *system-procedure table*. The processor gets a pointer to the system-procedure table from the processor control block (PRCB) as described in Chapter 9 in the section titled "System Data-Structure Pointers."

The second way a procedure table is used is as a place for storing IPs for fault-handler procedures. Here, the processor gets a pointer to the procedure table from entries in the fault table, as described in Chapter 12 in the section titled "Fault-Table Entries."

The structure of the procedure table is shown in Figure 4-4. It is 1088 bytes in length and can have up to 260 procedure entries. The following sections describe the fields in a procedure table.

### **Procedure Entries**

The procedure entries specify the target IPs for the procedures that can be accessed through the procedure table. Each entry is one word in length and is made up of an address (or IP) field and a type field. The address field gives the address of the first instruction of the target procedure. Since all instructions are word aligned, only the 30 most-significant bits of the address are given. The processor automatically provides zeros for the least-significant bits. Entry 0 begins at byte 48 of the procedure table; the table can contain up to 260 entries.

The procedure entry type field indicates the type of call to execute: local or supervisor. The encodings of this field are shown in Table 4-2.

Entry Type Field	Procedure Type
00	local procedure
01	reserved
10	supervisor procedure
11	reserved

### Table 4-2: Encodings of Entry Type Field in Procedure Table Entry

intel



Figure 4-4: Procedure-Table Structure

### Supervisor-Stack Pointer

When a supervisor call is made, the processor switches to a new stack called the *supervisor stack*. The processor gets a pointer to this stack from the supervisor-stack-pointer entry (bytes 12-15, bits 2-31) in the procedure table. Only the 30 most-significant bits of the supervisor-stack pointer are given. The processor aligns this value to the next 64-byte boundary to determine the first byte of the new stack frame.

## **Trace-Control Flag**

The trace-control flag (byte 12, bit 0) specifies the new value of the trace-enable flag of the process when a supervisor call causes a switch from user mode to supervisor mode. Setting this flag to 1 enables tracing; setting it to 0 disables tracing. The use of this flag is described in the section in Chapter 16 titled "Trace Control on Supervisor Calls."

### System Call to a Local Procedure

When a **calls** instruction references a procedure entry designated as a local type  $(00_2)$ , the processor executes a local call to the procedure selected from the system procedure table. Neither a mode switch nor a stack switch occurs.

The **ret** instruction permits returns from either a local procedure or a supervisor procedure. The return status field in local register r0 determines the type of return action that the processor is to take. If the return status field is set to  $000_2$ , a local return is executed. In a local return, no stack or mode switching is carried out.

## **USER-SUPERVISOR PROTECTION MODEL**

The processor provides a two-state protection model called the user-supervisor protection model. With this model, access to selected procedures and data structures can be restricted by means of page protection and mode switching between two execution modes: user and supervisor.

This protection model allows a system to be designed in which kernel code and data reside in the same address space as user code and data, but access to the kernel procedures (called supervisor procedures) is only allowed through a procedure table, which forms a tightly controlled and protected interface. This interface is provided by the system procedure table.

The user-supervisor protection model also allows kernel procedures to be executed using a different stack (the supervisor stack) than is used to execute applications program procedures. The ability to switch stacks helps maintain the integrity of the kernel. For example, it would allow system debugging software or a system monitor to be accessed, even if an applications program crashes.

### User and Supervisor Modes

When using the user-supervisor protection model, a process can be in either of two execution modes: user or supervisor. The difference between the two modes is that when the process is in the supervisor mode, it has the following additional privileges:

- It may access pages that have supervisor-only rights. (A program cannot access these pages in the address space when the process is in the user mode.)
- It may use additional instructions. These instructions typically control process management and kernel functions.

### Supervisor Calls

Mode switching between the user and supervisor execution modes is accomplished through a supervisor call. A supervisor call is a call executed with the **calls** instruction that references a supervisor procedure in the system procedure table (i.e., a procedure with an entry type  $10_2$ ).

When the processor is in the user mode and it executes a **calls** instruction, the processor performs the following actions:

- It switches to supervisor mode
- It switches to the supervisor stack
- It sets the return status field in register R0 of the calling procedure to  $01X_2$ , indicating that a mode and stack switch has occurred.

The processor remains in the supervisor mode until a return is performed from the procedure that caused the original mode switch. While in the supervisor mode, either the local call instructions (**call** and **callx**) or the **calls** instruction can be used to call supervisor procedures.

(The **call** and **callx** instructions call local (or user) procedures in user mode and supervisor procedures in supervisor mode. There is no stack or processor state switching associated with these instructions.)

When a **ret** instruction is executed and the return status field is set to  $01X_2$ , the processor performs a supervisor return. Here, the processor switches from the supervisor stack to the local stack, and the execution mode is switched from supervisor to user.

### Supervisor Stack

When using the user-supervisor mechanism, the processor maintains separate stacks in the address space, one for procedures executed in the user mode (local procedures) and another for procedures executed in the supervisor mode (supervisor procedures). When in the user mode, the local procedure stack (described at the beginning of this chapter) is used. When a supervisor call is made, the processor switches to the supervisor stack. It continues to use the supervisor stack until a return is made to the user mode.

The structure of the supervisor stack is identical to that of the local procedure stack (shown in Figure 4-2). The processor obtains the SP for the supervisor stack from the procedure table. When a supervisor call is executed while in the user mode (causing a switch to the supervisor stack), the processor aligns this SP to the next 64-byte boundary to form the new FP for the supervisor stack. When a local call or supervisor call is made while in the supervisor mode, the processor aligns the SP in the current frame of the supervisor stack to the next 64-byte boundary to form the FP pointer. This operation allows supervisor procedures to be called from supervisor procedures.

### **BRANCH AND LINK**

The **bal** (branch and link) and **balx** (branch and link extended) instructions provide an alternate method of making procedure calls. These instructions save the address of the next instruction (RIP) in a specified location, then branch to a target instruction or set of instructions. The state of the local registers and stack remains unchanged. (For the **bal** instruction, the RIP is automatically stored in global register g14; for the **balx** instruction, the location of the RIP is specified with one of the instruction operands.)

A return is accomplished with a **bx** (branch extended) instruction, where the address of the target instruction is the one saved with the branch and link instruction.

Branch and link procedure calls are recommended for calls to procedures that (1) do not call other procedures (i.e., for procedure calls that do not result in nesting of procedures) and (2) do not need many local variables (i.e., allocation of a new set of local registers does not provide any benefit). Here, local registers as well as global registers can be used for parameter passing.

. .
# Data Types and Addressing Modes

5

# CHAPTER 5 DATA TYPES AND ADDRESSING MODES

This chapter describes the data types that the 80960MC processor recognizes and the addressing modes that are available for accessing memory locations.

# DATA TYPES

The processor defines and operates on the following data types:

- Integer (8, 16, 32, and 64 bits)
- Ordinal (8, 16, 32, and 64 bits)
- Real (32, 64, and 80 bits)
- Decimal (ASCII digits)
- Bit Field
- Byte String
- Triple-Word (96 bit)
- Quad-Word (128 bit)

The integer, ordinal, real, and decimal data types can be thought of as numeric data types because some operations on these data types produce numeric results (e.g., add, subtract).

The remaining data types (bit field, byte string, triple word, and quad word) represent groupings of bits or bytes that the processor can operate on as a whole, regardless of the nature of the data contained in the group. These data types facilitate moving and operating on blocks of bits or bytes.

#### Integers

Integers are signed whole numbers, which are stored and operated on in two's complement format. The processor recognizes four sizes of integers: 8 bit (byte integers), 16 bit (short integers), 32 bit (integers), and 64 bit (long integers). Figure 5-1 shows the formats for the four integer sizes and the ranges of values allowed for each size.

#### Ordinals

Ordinals are a general-purpose data type. The processor recognizes four sizes of ordinals: 8 bit (byte ordinals), 16 bit (short ordinals), 32 bit (ordinals), and 64 bit (long ordinals). Figure 5-2 shows the formats for the four ordinal sizes and the ranges of numeric values allowed for each size.

#### DATA TYPES AND ADDRESSING MODES



Figure 5-1: Integer Format and Range

The processor uses ordinals for both numeric and non-numeric operations. For numeric operations, ordinals are treated as unsigned whole numbers. The processor provides several arithmetic instructions that operate on ordinals. For non-numeric operations, ordinals contain bit fields, byte strings, and Boolean values.

When ordinals are used to represent Boolean values, a  $1_2$  represents a TRUE and a  $0_2$  represents a FALSE.

#### Reals

int

Reals are floating-point numbers. The processor recognizes three sizes of reals: 32 bit (reals), 64 bit (long reals), and 80 bit (extended reals). The real-number format conforms to ANSI/IEEE Std. 754-1985, the IEEE Standard For Binary Floating-Point Arithmetic. Real numbers are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 7.



Figure 5-2: Ordinal Format and Range

#### Decimals

intal

The processor provides three instructions that perform operations on decimal values when the values are presented in ASCII format. Figure 5-3 shows the ASCII format for decimal digits. Each decimal digit is contained in the least-significant byte of an ordinal (32 bits). The decimal digit must be of the form 0011ddd<sub>2</sub>, where dddd<sub>2</sub> is a binary-coded decimal value from 0 to 9. For decimal operations, bits 8 through 31 of the ordinal containing the decimal digit are ignored.



Figure 5-3: Decimal Format

#### **Bits and Bit Fields**

The processor provides several instructions that perform operations on individual bits or fields of bits within an ordinal (32 bit) operand. Figure 5-4 shows these data types.



Figure 5-4: Bits and Bit Fields

An individual bit is specified for a bit operation by giving its bit number in the ordinal in which it resides. The least-significant bit of a 32-bit ordinal is bit 0; the most-significant bit is bit 31.

A bit field is a contiguous sequence of bits of from 0 to 32 bits in length within a 32-bit ordinal. A bit field is defined by giving its length in bits and the bit number of its lowest-numbered bit.

A bit field cannot span a register boundary.

#### Byte String

A byte string is a contiguous sequence of byte ordinals. The length of a byte string is the number of bytes in the string; a length of zero specifies an empty string. The maximum length of a byte string is  $2^{32}$  - 1 bytes.

Byte-string operations are performed on byte strings in memory. The address of a byte string is the address of the first byte in the string. Consecutive bytes of the string are stored in increasing byte addresses.

# **Triple and Quad Words**

Triple and quad words refer to consecutive bytes in memory or in registers: a triple word is 12 bytes and a quad word is 16 bytes. These data types facilitate the moving of blocks of bytes. The triple-word data type is useful for moving extended-real numbers (80 bits).

The quad-word instructions (ldq, stq, and movq) offer the most efficient way to move large blocks of data.

# BYTE, WORD, AND BIT ADDRESSING

The processor provides instructions for moving blocks of data values of various lengths from memory to registers (load) and from registers to memory (store). The allowable sizes for blocks are bytes, half-words (2 bytes), words (4 bytes), double words, triple words, and quad words. For example, the **stl** (store long) instruction stores an 8-byte (double word) block of data in memory.

When a block of data is stored in memory, the least-significant byte of the block is stored at a base memory address and the more significant bytes are stored at successively higher addresses.

When loading a byte, half-word, or word from memory to a register, the least-significant bit of the block is always loaded in bit 0 of the register. When loading double words, triple words, and quad words, the least-significant word is stored in the base register. The more significant words are then stored at successively higher numbered registers. Double words, triple words, and quad words must also be aligned in registers to natural boundaries as described in Chapter 3 in the section titled "Register Alignment."

Bits can only be addressed in data that resides in a register. Bit 0 in a register is the least-significant bit and bit 31 is the most-significant bit.

#### LITERALS

The processor recognizes two types of literals (ordinal literals and floating-point literals), which can be used as operands in some instructions. An ordinal literal can range from 0 to 31 (5 bits). When an ordinal literal is used as an operand, the processor expands it to 32 bits by adding leading zeros. If the instruction defines an operand larger than 32 bits, the processor zero-extends the value to the operand size. If an ordinal literal is used in an instruction that requires integer operands, the processor treats the literal as a positive integer value.

The processor also recognizes two floating-point literals (+0.0 and +1.0). These floating-point literals can only be used with floating-point instructions. As with the ordinal literals, the processor converts the floating-point literals to the operand size specified by the instruction.

#### NOTE

A few of the floating-point instructions use both floating-point and non-floating-point operands (e.g., the convert integer-to-real instructions). Ordinal literals can be used in these instructions for non-floating-point operands.

#### **REGISTER ADDRESSING**

A register may be used as an operand in an instruction by giving the register's number (e.g., g0, r5, fp3). Both floating-point and non-floating-point instructions can reference global and local registers in this way. However, floating-point registers can only be referenced in conjunction with a floating-point instruction.

#### MEMORY-ADDRESSING MODES

The processor offers 9 modes for addressing operands in memory. These modes are grouped as follows:

- Absolute
- Register Indirect
- Register Indirect with Index
- Index with Displacement
- IP with Displacement

Each addressing mode is used to reference a byte address in the processor's address space. Table 5-1 shows all the memory-addressing modes, a brief description of the elements of the address in each mode, and the assembly-code syntax for each mode.

Mode	Description	Assembler Syntax
Absolute offset	offset	exp
<b>Register Indirect</b>	abase	(reg)
Register Indirect with offset	abase + offset	exp (reg)
Register Indirect with index	abase + (index*scale)	(reg) [reg*scale]
Register Indirect with index and displacement	abase + (index*scale) + displacement	exp (reg) [reg*scale]
Index with displacement	(index*scale) + displacement	exp [reg*scale]
IP with displacement	IP + displacement + 8	exp (IP)

Table 5-1: Addressing Modes

Where: *reg* is register and *exp* is expression

# Absolute

Absolute addressing is used to reference a memory location directly as an offset from address 0 of the address space, ranging from  $-2^{31}$  to  $2^{31}$  - 1. Typically, an assembler will allow absolute addresses to be specified through arithmetic expressions (e.g., x + 44), symbolic labels, and absolute values.

At the machine-level, two absolute-addressing modes are provided, depending on the instruction format (i.e., MEMA or MEMB). For the MEMA format, the offset is an ordinal number ranging from 0 to 2047; for the MEMB format, the offset is an integer (called a displacement) ranging from  $-2^{31}$  to  $2^{31}$  -1. After evaluating an absolute address, the assembler will convert the address into an offset and select the appropriate machine-level instruction type and addressing mode. (The machine-level addressing modes and instruction formats are described in Appendix B.)

# **Register Indirect**

The register indirect addressing modes allow an address to be specified with an ordinal value (32 bits) in a register or with an offset or a displacement added to a value in a register. Here, the value in the register is referred to as the address base (abase).

Again, an assembler will allow the offset and displacement to be specified with an expression or symbolic label, then evaluate the address to determine whether an offset or a displacement is appropriate.

# **Register Indirect with Index**

The register indirect with index addressing modes allow a scaled index to be added to the value in a register. The index is specified by means of a value placed in a register. This index value is then multiplied by the scale factor. The allowable scale factors are 1, 2, 4, 8, and 16.

A displacement may also be added to the abase value and scaled index.

# Index with Displacement

A scaled index can also be used with a displacement alone. Again, the index is contained in a register and is multiplied by a scaling constant before the displacement is added to it.

# **IP with Displacement**

The IP with displacement addressing mode is often used with load and store instructions to make them IP relative.

Note that with this mode the displacement plus a constant of 8 is added to the IP of the instruction.

# Instruction-Set Summary

6

# CHAPTER 6 INSTRUCTION-SET SUMMARY

This chapter provides an overview of the instruction set for the 80960MC processor. Included is a discussion of the instruction format and a summary of the instruction groups and the instructions in each group.

Chapter 17 gives detailed descriptions of each of the instructions. The instructions are listed in this chapter in alphabetical order. Included for each instruction are the assembly-language format, the action taken when the instruction is executed, and examples of how the instruction might be used.

Appendix C provides a detailed description of the factors that affect instruction timing. It also gives the number of clock cycles required for each instruction.

#### INSTRUCTION FORMATS

Instructions are described in this reference manual in two formats: assembly language and machine level.

#### **Assembly-Language Format**

Throughout most of this manual, the instructions are referred to by their assembly-language mnemonics. For example, the add ordinal instruction is referred to as the **addo** instruction.

An assembly-language statement consists of an instruction mnemonic, followed by from 0 to 3 operands, separated by commas. The following example shows the assembly-language statement for the **addo** instruction:

addo g5, g9, g7

Here, the ordinal operands in global registers g5 and g9 are added together and the result is stored in g7.

A detailed description of the nomenclature used to describe assembly-language instructions is given in Chapter 17.

#### Machine Formats

At the machine level of the processor, all instructions are word aligned. Most of the instructions are one word long, although some memory-addressing modes make use of a two-word format.

There are four instruction formats: register (REG), compare and branch (COBR), control (CTRL), and memory (MEM). Each instruction uses one of these formats, which is determined by the opcode field of the instruction.

The machine-level formats for the instructions are described in detail in Appendix B.

#### **INSTRUCTION GROUPS**

The 80960MC processor implements all the instructions in the 80960 instruction set, which includes all of the data-movement, arithmetic, logical, and program-control instructions commonly found in computer architectures. The processor also includes a set of floating-point instructions and several instructions to handle architectural extensions found in the processor.

The 80960 instruction set is made up of the following groups of instructions:

- Data Movement
- Arithmetic (Ordinal and Integer)
- Logical
- Bit, Bit Field, and Byte
- Comparison
- Branch
- Call/Return
- Fault
- Debug
- Atomic
- Processor Management

The instruction-set extensions found in the 80960MC processor include the following groups of instructions:

- Integer-to-Real Conversion
- Floating Point
- Process Management
- String
- Decimal

Tables 6-1 and 6-2 give a summary of the 80960 instructions and the 80960MC instruction-set extensions, respectively. The actual number of instructions is greater than those shown in this list, because for some operations, several different instructions are provided to handle different operand sizes, data types, or branch conditions.

Data Movement	Arithmetic	Logical	Bit, Bit Field, and Byte
Load	Add	And	Set Bit
Store	Subtract	Not And	Clear Bit
Move	Multiply	And Not	Not Bit
Load Address	Divide	Or	Check Bit
	Extended	Exclusive Or	Alter Bit
	Multiply	Not Or	Scan For Bit
	Extended	Or Not	Scan Over Bit
	Divide	Nor	Extract
	Remainder	Exclusive Nor	Modify
	Modulo	Not	Scan Byte For
	Shift	Nand	Equal
	Rotate		_
Comparison	Branch	Call/Return	Fault
Compare	Unconditional	Call	Conditional Fault
Conditional	Branch	Call Extended	Synchronize Faults
Compare	Conditional Branch	Call System	5
Compare and	Compare and	Return	
Increment	Branch	Branch and Link	
Compare and	Test Condition		
Decrement	Code		
Debug	Atomic	Processor	
Modify Trace	Atomic Add	Flush Local	
Controls	Atomic Modify	Registers	
Mark		Modify Arithmetic	
Force Mark		Controls	
		Modify Process	
		Controls	

Table 6-1:	Summary	, of the 80960	Instruction Set
	Summary		manuchun der

Conversion	Floating Point	Process Control
Convert Real-to-Integer	Move Real	Schedule Process
Convert Integer-to-Real	Add	Save Process
	Subtract	Resume Process
	Multiply	Load Process Time
	Divide	Signal
	Remainder	Wait
	Scale	Conditional Wait
	Round	Send
	Square Root	Receive
	Sine	Conditional Receive
	Cosine	Send Service
	Tangent	
	Arctangent	
	Log	
	Log Binary	
	Log Natural	÷
	Exponent	
	Classify	
	Copy Real Extended	
	Compare	
String	Decimal	Miscellaneous
Move String	Move	Inspect Access
Move Quick String	Add With Carry	Load Physical Address
Fill String	Subtract With Carry	Synchronous Move
Compare String	-	Synchronous Load

Table 6-2: Summary of the 80960MC Instruction-Set Extensions

The following sections give a brief overview of the instructions in each of these groups. The floating-point instructions are described in Chapter 7.

# DATA MOVEMENT

The data movement instructions include those instructions that move data from memory to the global and local registers; that move data from the global and local registers to memory; and that move data among these registers.

#### Load

The load instructions (listed below) copy bytes or words from memory to a selected register or group of registers:

ld	load
ldob	load byte ordinal
ldos	load short ordinal
ldib	load byte integer
ldis	load short integer
ldl	load long
ldt	load triple
ldq	load quad

For the **Id**, **Idob**, **Idob**, **Idib**, and **Idis** instructions, a memory address and a register are specified in the instruction and the value at the memory address is copied into the register. Zero and sign extending is performed automatically for byte and short (half-word) operands.

The ld, ldl, ldt, and ldq instructions copy 4, 8, 12, and 16 bytes from memory into successive registers.

#### NOTE

When using the load, store, and move instructions that move 8, 12, or 16 bytes at a time, the rules for register alignment must be followed. Refer to the section in Chapter 3 titled "Register Alignment" for a discussion of these rules.

#### Store

For each load instruction there is a corresponding store instruction (listed below), which copies bytes or words from a selected register or group of registers to memory:

st	store
stob	store byte ordinal
stos	store short ordinal
stib	store byte integer
stis	store short integer
stl	store long
stt	store triple
stq	store quad

For the st, stob, stos, stib, and stis instructions, a register and memory address are specified in the instruction and the value in the register is copied into memory. For the byte and short instructions, the value in the register is automatically reformatted for the shorter memory location. For the stib and stis instructions, this reformatting can lead to overflow if the register value is too large to be represented in the shorter memory location.

The st, stl, stt, and stq instructions copy 4, 8, 12, and 16 bytes from successive registers into memory.

#### Move

The move instructions, listed below, copy data from a register or group of registers to another register or group of registers.

mov	move word
movl	move long word
movt	move triple word
movq	move quad word

These move instructions can only be used to move data among the global and local registers. A set of move-real instructions (**movr**, **movrl**, and **movre**) are provided for moving real number values between the global and local registers and the floating-point registers. The move-real instructions are described in Chapter 7.

#### Load Address

The **lda** instruction computes an effective address in the address space from an operand presented in one of the addressing modes. A common use of this instruction is to load a constant into a register.

#### ARITHMETIC

Table 6-3 lists all the arithmetic operations for which the 80960MC processor provides instructions and the data types that the instructions operate on. An "X" in this table indicates that the 80960 architecture provides an instruction for the specified operation and data type; an "E" indicates that an 80960MC instruction-set extension provides an instruction for the specified operation and data type. An "E\*" indicates that the specified operation can be performed on the specified data type using 80960MC extended-instruction-set instructions, but that a unique instruction for this operation is not provided. For example, a specific instruction is not provided to add two extended-real values. However, this operation can be carried out with either the add real (**addr**) or the add long real (**addrl**) instruction.

With two exceptions, all the processor's arithmetic operations are carried out on operands in registers. The processor does not provide instructions that perform arithmetic operations on operands in memory.

The two instructions that are exceptions are the **atadd** (atomic add) and **atmod** (atomic modify) instructions, which are discussed later in this chapter.

A summary of the arithmetic instructions for real (floating-point) data types is provided in Chapter 7. The following sections describe the arithmetic instructions for ordinal and integer data types.

.

Arithmetic Operations	Integer	Ordinal	Real	Long Real	Extended Real
Add	X	X	E	Е	E*
Subtract	X	X	Е	E	E*
Multiply	X	X	Е	Е	E*
Divide	X	X	Е	Е	E*
Remainder	X	X	Е	Е	E*
Modulo	X				
Shift Left	X	X			
Shift Right	X	X		1.1	
Shift Right Dividing	X				
Scale			Е	E	E*
Round			E	E	E*
Square Root			Е	E	<b>E*</b>
Sine			· E	Е	E*
Cosine			E	E	E*
Tangent			E	E	E*
Arctangent			E	E	E*
Exponent			Е	Е	E*
Log			E	Е	E*
Log Binary			E	E	E*
Log Epsilon			E	E	E*
Classify			Е	E	E*
Copy Sign					Е
Copy Reversed Sign			đ.,		E

# Table 6-3: Arithmetic Operations

# Add, Subtract, Multiply, and Divide

The following instructions perform add, subtract, multiply, or divide operations on integers and ordinals:

addi	add integer
addo	add ordinal
subi	subtract integer
subo	subtract ordinal
muli	multiply integer
mulo	multiply ordinal
divi	divide integer
divo	divide ordinal

These instructions perform operations on one-word operands in registers and store the results in a register.

#### **Extended Arithmetic**

The following four instructions are provided to support extended arithmetic operations to be performed (i.e., arithmetic operations on operands greater than one word in length):

addc	add ordinal with carry
subc	subtract ordinal with carry
emul	extended multiply
ediv	extended divide

The **addc** and **subc** instructions add or subtract two words (contained in registers) plus a condition code bit (used as a carry bit). If the result has a carry, the carry bit in the condition code is set. Also, a second condition code bit is set if the operation would have resulted in an integer overflow condition. (The three-bit condition code is contained in the arithmetic controls as described in Chapter 3.)

These instructions treat the operands as ordinals; however, the indication of overflow in the condition code facilitates a software implementation of extended-integer arithmetic.

The **emul** instruction multiplies two ordinals (each contained in a register), producing long ordinal result (stored in two registers). The **ediv** instruction divides a long ordinal by an ordinal, producing an ordinal quotient and an ordinal remainder.

#### **Remainder and Modulo**

The following instructions divide one operand by another and retain the remainder of the operation:

remi	remainder integer
remo	remainder ordinal
modi	modulo integer

The difference between the remainder and modulo instructions lies in the sign of the result. For the **remi** and **remo** instructions, the result has the same sign as the dividend; for the **modi** instruction, the result has the same sign as the divisor.

#### Shift and Rotate

The processor provides the following five shift instructions:

shlo	shift left ordinal
shro	shift right ordinal
shli	shift left integer
shri	shift right integer
shrdi	shift right dividing integer

These instructions shift the operand a specified number of bits to the left or to the right. Bits shifted beyond the register boundary are discarded.

The **shlo** instruction shift zeros in from the least-significant bit, and the **shro** instruction shifts zeros in from the most-significant bit. These instructions are equivalent to **mulo** and **divo** by the power of 2, respectively.

The **shli** instruction shifts zeros in from the least-significant bit; if the bits shifted out are not the same as the sign bit, an overflow fault is generated.

The **shri** instruction performs a conventional arithmetic shift-right operation by shifting the sign bit in from the most-significant bit. When this instruction is used to divide an negative integer operand by the power of 2, however, it produces an incorrect quotient. (The discarding of the bits shifted out has the effect of rounding the result toward negative.)

The **shrdi** instruction is provided for dividing integers by the power of 2. With this instruction, 1 is added to the result if the bits shifted out are non-zero and the operand is negative, which produces the correct result for negative operands.

The shli and shrdi instructions are equivalent to muli and divi by the power of 2.

The **rotate** instruction rotates the bits of the operand to the left (toward higher significance) by a specified number of bits. Bits shifted beyond the left boundary of the register (bit 31) appear at the right boundary (bit 0).

#### LOGICAL

The following instructions perform bitwise Boolean operations on the specified operands:

and notand andnot xor or nor xnor not not notor ornot	A and B (not A) and B A and (not B) not (A = B) A or B not (A or B) A = B not A (not A) or B A or (not B)
ornot	A or (not B)
nand	not (A and B)

#### **BIT AND BIT FIELD**

The bit instructions perform operations on a specific bit in an ordinal operand or on a bit field.

#### **Bit Operations**

The following instructions operate on a specified bit:

setbit	set bit
clrbit	clear bit
notbit	not bit
chkbit	check bit
alterbit	alter bit
scanbit	scan for bit
spanbit	span over bit

The setbit, clrbit, and notbit instructions set, clear, or complement (toggle) a specified bit in an ordinal.

The **chkbit** instruction causes the condition-code bits to be set according to the state of a specified bit in a register. The condition code is set to  $010_2$  if the bit is set and  $000_2$  otherwise.

The **alterbit** instruction alters the state of a specified bit in an ordinal according to the condition code. If the condition code is  $010_2$ , the bit is set; if the condition code is  $000_2$ , the bit is cleared.

The scanbit and spanbit instructions find the most significant set bit and clear bit, respectively, in an ordinal.

# **Bit-Field Operations**

There are two bit field instructions **extract** and **modify**. The **extract** instruction converts a specified bit field, taken from an ordinal value, into an ordinal value. In essence, this instruction shifts a bit field in a register to the right and fills in the bits to the left of the bit field with zeros.

The **modify** instruction copies bits from one register, under control of a mask, into another register. Only the unmasked bits in the destination register are modified.

#### BYTE OPERATIONS

The **scanbyte** instruction performs a byte-by-byte comparison of two ordinals to determine if any two corresponding bytes are equal. The condition code is set according to the results of the comparison.

#### CONVERSION

Data can be converted from one length to another by means of the load and store instructions. For example, the **ldis** instruction loads a short integer from memory to a register and automatically converts the integer from a half word to a full word.

The 80960MC extended instruction set provides instructions to perform conversions between integer and real data types. These instructions are described in Chapter 7.

#### COMPARISON

The processor provides several types of instructions that are used to compare two operands. The following sections describe the compare instructions for ordinal and integer data types. The compare instructions for real data types are discussed in Chapter 7.

#### **Compare and Conditional Compare**

The compare instructions listed below compare two operands, then set the condition-code bits in the arithmetic controls according to the results.

стрі	compare integer
cmpo	compare ordinal
concmpi	conditional compare integer
concmpo	conditional compare ordinal

The condition-code bits are set to indicate whether one operand is less than, equal to, or greater than the other operand. (Refer to the section in Chapter 3 titled "Functions of the Arithmetic Controls Bits" for a discussion of meanings of the condition-code bits for conditional operations.)

The **cmpi** and **cmpo** instructions simply compare the two operands and set the condition-code bits accordingly.

The **concmpi** and **concmpo** instructions first check the status of bit 2 of the condition code. If it is not set, the operands are compared as with the **cmpi** and **cmpo** instructions. If bit 2 is set, no comparison is performed and the condition-code bits are not changed.

The conditional compare instructions are provided specifically to optimize two-sided range comparisons to check if A is between B and C (i.e.,  $B \le A \le C$ ). Here, a compare instruction (**cmpi** or **cmpo**) is used to check one side of the range (e.g.,  $A \ge B$ ) and a conditional compare instruction (**concmpi** or **concmpo**) is used to check the other side (e.g.,  $A \le C$ ) according to the result of the first comparison.

#### **Compare and Increment or Decrement**

The following instructions compare two operands, set the condition-code bits according to the results, then increment or decrement one of the operands:

cmpinci	compare and increment integer
cmpinco	compare and increment ordinal
cmpdeci	compare and decrement integer
cmpdeco	compare and decrement ordinal

These instructions are intended for use at the end of iterative loops.

#### BRANCH

The branch instructions allow the direction of program flow to be changed by explicitly modifying the IP. The processor provides three types of branch instructions:

- unconditional branch
- conditional branch
- compare and branch

The processor also provides a set of instructions for testing the condition code flags of the arithmetic controls. These instructions can be used in conjunction with the compare instructions and the branch instructions as a alternate means of performing conditional branch, and compare and branch operations.

Most of the branch instructions specify the target IP by specifying a signed displacement to be added to the current IP. Other branch instructions specify the memory address of the target IP using one of the processor's addressing modes. This latter group of instructions are called extended-addressing instructions (e.g., branch extended, branch and link extended).

#### **Unconditional Branch**

The following four instructions are used for unconditional branching:

b	Branch
bx	Branch Extended
bal	Branch and Link
balx	Branch and Link Extended

The **b** and **bx** instructions cause program execution to jump to the specified target IP. As described in Chapter 17, these two instructions perform the same function; however, they use different machine-level instruction formats.

The **bal** and **balx** instructions store the address of the next instruction in a specified register, then jump to the specified target IP. (For the **bal** instruction, the RIP is automatically stored in register g14; for the **balx** instruction the location of the RIP is specified with an instruction operand.) As described in Chapter 4, the branch and link instructions provide a method of performing procedure calls that does not use the processor's call/return mechanism. Here, the saved instruction address is used as a return IP.

The **bx** and **balx** instructions can be made IP-relative by using the IP with displacement addressing mode.

#### Conditional Branch

With the conditional branch (branch if) instructions, the processor checks the condition-code bits in the arithmetic controls. If these bits match the value specified with the instruction, the processor jumps to the target IP. These instructions use the displacement plus IP method of specifying the target IP:

be	branch if equal
bne	branch if not equal
bl	branch if less
ble	branch if less or equal
bg	branch if greater
bge	branch if greater or equal
bo	branch if ordered
bno	branch if unordered

(Refer to the section in Chapter 3 titled "Functions of the Arithmetic Controls Bits" for a discussion of meanings of the condition-code bits for conditional operations.)

The **bo** and **bno** instructions refer to comparisons of real numbers. Ordered and unordered real numbers are described in Chapter 7.

#### **Compare and Branch**

The compare and branch instructions compare two operands, then branch according to the results. There are three subtypes of instructions in this group: compare integer, compare ordinal, and check bit:

With the compare-ordinal-and-branch and compare-integer-and-branch instructions, two operands are compared and the condition-code bits are set, as with the compare instructions described earlier in this chapter. A conditional branch is then executed as with the conditional branch (branch if) instructions.

With the check-bit-and-branch instructions, one operand specifies a bit to be checked in the other operand. The condition-code bits are set according to the state of the specified bit (i.e.,  $010_2$  if the bit is set and  $000_2$  if the bit is clear). A conditional branch is then executed according to the setting of the condition-code bits.

#### **Test Condition Codes**

The following test instructions allow the state of the condition-code bits to be tested:

teste	test if equal
testne	test if not equal
testl	test if less
testle	test if less or equal
testg	test if greater
testge	test if greater or equal
testo	test if ordered
testno	test if unordered

These instructions cause a TRUE  $(1_2)$  to be stored in a destination register if the condition code matches the condition specified with the instruction. Otherwise, a FALSE  $(0_2)$  is stored in the register.

# CALL AND RETURN

The processor offers an on-chip call/return mechanism for making procedure calls to local procedures and kernel procedures. This call/return mechanism is described in detail in Chapter 4. The following four instructions are provided to support this mechanism.

call	call
callx	call extended
calls	call system
ret	return

The **call** and **callx** instructions call local procedures. The **call** instruction specifies the target procedure (the first instruction of the procedure) by adding a signed displacement to the IP. The **callx** instruction uses extended addressing, as described for the **bx** and **balx** instructions, to specify the target procedure. For both of these instructions, a new set of local registers and a new stack frame are allocated for the called procedure.

The **calls** instruction operates similarly to the **call** and **callx** instructions, except that it gets its target procedure address from the system procedure table. An index number included as an operand in the instruction provides an entry point into the procedure table.

Depending on the type of entry being pointed to in the procedure table, the **calls** instruction can cause a supervisor call to be executed. A supervisor call causes the processor to switch to the supervisor stack and to switch to supervisor mode. The supervisor call is described in detail in Chapter 4.

The **ret** instruction performs a return from a called procedure to the calling procedure (the procedure that made the call). This instruction obtains its target IP (return IP) from linkage information that was saved for the calling procedure. The **ret** instruction is used to return from local and supervisor calls and from implicit calls to interrupt and fault handlers.

#### **CONDITIONAL FAULTS**

Generally, the processor generates faults automatically as the result of certain operations. Fault handling routines are then invoked to handle the various types of faults without explicit intervention by the currently running process. (Faults are discussed in detail in Chapter 12.)

The following conditional fault instructions permit a fault to be generated explicitly according to the state of the condition-code bits:

faulte	fault if equal
faultne	fault if not equal
faultl	fault if less
faultle	fault if less or equal
faultg	fault if greater
faultge	fault if greater or equal
faulto	fault if ordered
faultno	fault if unordered

The synchronize faults (**syncf**) instruction is provided to force all faults to be precise in situations when the processor is executing two instructions in parallel. The function and use of this instruction is discussed in detail in the section in Chapter 12 titled "Precise and Imprecise Faults."

# DEBUG

The processor supports debugging and monitoring of program activity through the use of trace events. The following instructions support these debugging and monitoring tools:

modtc	modify trace controls
mark	mark
fmark	force mark

The trace functions are controlled through the processor's trace controls bits. Some of these bits allow various types of tracing to be enabled or disabled. Other bits act as flags to indicate when an enabled trace event has been detected. (Trace controls are described in detail in Chapter 16.)

The modtc instruction permits the trace controls bits to be modified.

The **mark** instruction causes a breakpoint trace event to be generated if the breakpoint trace mode is enabled. The **fmark** instruction generates a breakpoint trace independent of the state of the breakpoint trace mode flag. The latter two instructions allow a breakpoint to be placed anywhere in a program.

#### **ATOMIC INSTRUCTIONS**

The atomic instructions perform read-modify-write operations on operands in memory. They insure that when one atomic operation is performed on a specific block of memory it will be completed before another atomic operation can be performed on the same block. These instructions are particularly useful in systems that use multiple processors where all of the processors have access to system memory.

There are two atomic instructions: atomic add (atadd) and atomic modify (atmod). The atadd instruction causes an operand to be added to the value in the specified memory location. The atmod causes bits in the specified memory location to be modified under control of a mask.

#### **PROCESSOR MANAGEMENT**

The processor provides several instructions for use in controlling processor-related functions.

The **modpc** instruction provides a method of reading and modifying the contents of the process controls.

In certain instances, it is necessary to insure that the contents of the local-register save area of the stack frames are the same as the local registers. The flush local registers instruction (**flushreg**) automatically stores the contents of all the local register sets, except the current set, in the register save area of their associated stack frames.

The arithmetic controls cannot be addressed with the load, move, and store instructions or the bit instructions. Instead, special instructions are provided for this purpose.

The modify arithmetic controls instruction (**modac**) permits bits in the arithmetic controls register to be modified under the control of a mask.

# 80960MC NON-FLOATING-POINT INSTRUCTION-SET EXTENSIONS

The following non-floating-point instructions are extensions to the 80960-architecture instruction set. These instructions are provided to support extended non-floating-point features such as string operations, decimal arithmetic, multiprocessing, process management, and virtual memory management.

# **Process Management**

The processor provides several instructions for use in process management. These instructions do not dictate a particular process management scheme. Instead they provide support for a wide variety of process management mechanisms. These instructions can be divided into two groups: process control and interprocess communication.

The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute the process management instructions. Process management is described in detail in Chapters 13 and 14.

# **Process Control**

The following instructions provide process control services:

saveprcs	save process
resumprcs	resume process
schedprcs	schedule process
ldtime	load process time

The processor defines two data structures for use in process control: a process control block (PCB) and a dispatching port. The PCB is used to maintain information about the process such as the status of the execution environment when the process was last suspended and system resources allocated to the process. The dispatching port is used for queuing processes that are waiting to be worked on by the processor.

The **resumprcs** instruction causes the processor to switch to the specified process. The **saveprcs** instruction causes the current state of the currently running process to be saved in the PCB.

These two instructions perform roughly the same functions as the RESUME and SAVE functions of most UNIX<sup>™</sup> kernels. A dispatching port is not needed with these instructions.

The schedprcs instruction causes a process to be enqueued at a dispatching port.

The processor provides a mechanism for keeping track of process execution time. The **ldtime** instruction supports this mechanism by providing a method of loading the elapsed execution time of the currently running process into a specified register.

The **modpc** instruction, which is described earlier in this chapter, provides a method of reading and modifying the contents of the process controls for the currently running process.

#### Interprocess Communication

The processor supports two techniques for communication among processes: semaphores and communication ports.

**Semaphores.** A semaphore is essentially a queue for synchronizing the activities of interdependent processes. The following instructions support communication through semaphores:

wait	wait
condwait	conditional wait
signal	signal

The **wait** instruction causes the processor to check the specified semaphore for a signal, in the form of a semaphore count. If the semaphore count is non-zero, the processor decrements the count and continues execution of the current process. If the count is zero, the processor suspends the current process and queues it to the semaphore. The process is then said to be blocked.

The **condwait** instruction performs the same function as the **wait** instruction, except that if a signal is not found, the process is not blocked. Instead, the condition-code bits are set to indicate whether or not the signal was received.

The **signal** instruction causes the processor to send a signal to the specified semaphore. If processes are queued at the semaphore, the first process in the queue is unblocked. Otherwise, the semaphore count is incremented by one.

**Communication Ports.** A communication port is similar to a semaphore except that it also provides a message-passing mechanism. A communication port can thus be used both for synchronizing processes and as a means of passing messages among processes.

Messages are one word long. This message word can contain anything. Commonly, it contains a one word message, a process number, or the address of a longer message.

The following instructions support communication ports:

receive	receive
condrec	conditional receive
send	send
sendserv	send service

With the **receive** instruction, the processor checks the specified communication port for a message. If a message is queued at the port, it loads the message into a specified register and continues execution of the current process. If the message queue is empty, the processor suspends the current process and queues it at the communication port (i.e., blocks the process).

The **condrec** instruction is similar to the **receive** instruction except that the process is not blocked if the message queue is empty. Instead the processor sets the condition-code bits to indicate whether or not the receive operation was carried out.

The **send** instruction causes the processor to send a message to a specified communication port. If there are no processes at the port for messages, the processor enqueues the message at the port and continues executing the current process. If there are queued processes at the port, the first process in the queue is unblocked, given the message, and rescheduled at the dispatching port. The processor then resumes execution of the current process.

The **sendserv** instruction causes the processor to suspend the current process and send it as a message to the specified communication port.

# String

The 80960MC extended instruction set provides the following string instructions perform operations on byte strings in memory:

movstr	move string
movqstr	move quick string
fill	fill string
cmpstr	compare string

The **movstr** and **movqstr** instructions move a byte string from one location in memory to another. These instructions operate identically except that the **movstr** instruction guarantees that if the strings overlap, no byte in the source string is overwritten until it is copied to the destination string. If the strings being moved do not overlap, the **movqstr** instruction should be used because it performs the move operation faster.

The fill instruction copies an ordinal operand repeatedly into a byte string in memory.

The **cmpstr** instruction compares two byte strings of equal length, then sets the condition-code bits to show whether or not the strings are identical.

#### Decimal

The following three instructions are provided for use in decimal-arithmetic algorithms:

dmovt	move and test decimal
daddc	decimal add with carry
dsubc	decimal subtract with carry

These instructions operate on 32-bit decimal operands that contain an 8-bit, ASCII-coded decimal in the least-significant byte of the word (as shown in Figure 5-3).

The **dmovt** instruction moves a decimal operand from one register to another and tests the least significant byte of the operand to determine if it is a decimal digit (0 to 9). It sets the condition code according to the results of the test:  $010_2$  if the operand contains a decimal digit and  $000_2$  otherwise.

The **daddc** and **dsubc** instructions operate similarly to the **addc** and **subc** instructions. They add or subtract two decimal digits plus bit 1 of the condition code (used as a carry-in bit). If the operation produces a decimal carry, the condition code is set accordingly. The subtraction operation is carried out in 10's complement arithmetic.

These instructions can be used iteratively to add or subtract decimal values of any length.

With the 80960MC processor, the most efficient method of multiplying or dividing decimal numbers is to convert them into extended-real numbers and use the **mulr** and **divr** instructions. Decimal values of up to 18 decimal digits can be handled with this technique.

#### **Miscellaneous Instructions**

The following instructions perform two special synchronous operations on operands in memory and two memory management functions.

#### Synchronous Load and Move

The processor's store instructions are executed asynchronously with the memory controller. Once the processor sends data out on its bus for storage in main memory, it continues with the next instruction in the instruction stream, assuming that its bus control logic will carry out the operation.

The 80960MC processor provides four special instructions for performing memory operations that perform store and move operations synchronously with memory.

The synchronous load instruction (**synld**) loads a word from memory into a register. When this instruction is performed, the processor waits until a condition code bit is set in the arithmetic controls, indicating that the operation has been completed, before it begins executing the next instruction. The **synld** instruction is used primarily to read the contents of the interrupt-control register, as described in Chapter 10.

The synchronous move instructions (**synmov**, **synmov**, and **synmov**) perform synchronous moves of data from one location in memory to another. These instructions are used primarily for sending IAC messages, as described in Chapter 11.

#### **Memory-Management Functions**

The inspect access instruction (**inspacc**) returns the respective page rights of a specified page. This instruction is used in memory management routines.

The load physical address (**ldphy**) instruction translates an address in the address space into a physical address. The primary function of this instruction is to translate virtual addresses into physical addresses.

# and the second second

# Floating-Point Operation

7
# CHAPTER 7 FLOATING-POINT OPERATION

This chapter describes the floating-point processing capabilities of the 80960MC processor. The subjects discussed include the real number data types, the execution environment for floating-point operations, the floating-point instructions, and fault and exception handling.

# INTRODUCING THE 80960MC FLOATING-POINT ARCHITECTURE

The floating-point architecture used in the 80960MC processor is designed to allow a convenient implementation of the IEEE Standard 754-1985 for Binary Floating-Point Arithmetic. This hardware architecture, along with a small amount of software support, conforms to the IEEE standard and provides support for the following data structures and operations:

- Real (32-bit), long-real (64-bit), and extended-real (80-bit) floating-point number formats.
- Add, subtract, multiply, divide, square root, remainder, and compare operations
- Conversion between integer and floating-point formats
- Conversion between different floating-point formats
- Handling of floating-point exceptions, including non-numbers (NaNs)

The software to support the 80960MC floating-point architecture is needed primarily to handle conversions between real numbers and decimal strings.

In addition, the 80960MC floating-point architecture supports several functions that go beyond the IEEE standard. These functions fall into two categories:

- functions recommended in the appendix to the IEEE standard, such as copy sign and classify, and
- commonly used transcendental functions, including trigonometric, logarithmic, and exponential functions.

# **REAL NUMBERS AND FLOATING-POINT FORMAT**

This section provides an introduction to real numbers and how they are represented in floatingpoint format. Readers who are already familiar with numeric processing techniques and the IEEE standard may wish to skip this section.

#### **Real Number System**

As shown at the top of Figure 7-1, the real-number system comprises the continuum of real numbers from minus infinity  $(-\infty)$  to plus infinity  $(+\infty)$ .



Figure 7-1: Binary Number System

Because the size and number of registers that any computer can have is limited, only a subset of the real-number continuum can be used in real-number calculations. As shown at the bottom of Figure 7-1, the subset of real numbers that a particular processor supports represents an approximation of the real number system. The range and precision of this real-number subset is determined by the format that the processor uses to represent real numbers.

#### **Floating-Point Format**

To increase the speed and efficiency of real number computations, computers or numeric processors typically represent real numbers in a binary floating-point format. In this format, a real number has three parts: a sign, a significand, and an exponent. Figure 7-2 shows the binary floating-point format that the processor uses. This format conforms to the IEEE standard.

The sign is a binary value that indicates whether the number is positive (0) or negative (1). The significand has two parts: a one-bit binary integer (also referred to as the j-bit) and a binary fraction. The j-bit is often not represented, but instead is an implied value. The exponent is a binary integer that represents the base-2 power that the significand is raised to.



#### Figure 7-2: Binary Floating-Point Format

Table 7-1 shows how the real number 201.187 (in ordinary decimal format) is stored in floating-point format. The table lists a progression of real number notations that leads to the format that the 80960MC processor uses. In this format, the binary real number is normalized and the exponent is biased.

NOTATION	VALUE			
ORDINARY DECIMAL	201.187	201.187		
SCIENTIFIC DECIMAL	2.01187	2.01187E <sub>10</sub> 2		
SCIENTIFIC BINARY	1.1001001001011111E <sub>2</sub> 111			
SCIENTIFIC BINARY (BIASED EXPONENT)	1.1001001001011111E <sub>2</sub> 10000110			
32-BIT	SIGN	BIASED EXPONENT	SIGNIFICAND	
FLOATING-POINT FORMAT (NORMALIZED)	0	10000110	1001001001011111 1. (IMPLIED)	

#### Table 7-1: Real-Number Notation

#### Normalized Numbers

int

In most cases, the processor represents real numbers in normalized form. This means that except for zero, the significand is always made up of an integer of 1 and a fraction as follows:

1.fff...ff

For values less than 1, leading zeros are eliminated. (For each leading zero eliminated, the exponent is decremented by one.)

Representing numbers in normalized form maximizes the number of significant digits that can be accommodated in a significand of a given width. To summarize, a normalized real number consists of a normalized significand that represents a real number between 1 and 2 and an exponent that gives the number's binary point.

#### **Biased Exponent**

The processor represents exponents in a biased form. This means that a constant is added to the actual exponent so that the biased exponent is always a positive number. The value of the biasing constant depends on the number of bits available for representing exponents in the floating-point format being used. The biasing constant is chosen so that the smallest normalized number can be reciprocated without overflow.

(The biasing constants for the various sizes of real data types that the processor supports are given in the section later in this chapter titled "Real Data Types".)

#### **Real Number and Non-Number Encodings**

The real numbers that are encoded in the floating-point format described above are generally divided into three classes:  $\pm 0, \pm nonzero$ -finite numbers, and  $\pm \infty$ . Encodings for non-numbers (NaNs) are also defined. The term NaN stands for "Not a Number."

Figure 7-3 shows how the encodings for these numbers and non-numbers fit into the real number continuum. The encodings shown here are for the IEEE single-precision (32-bit) format, where the term "s" indicates the sign bit, "e" the biased exponent, and "f" the fraction. (The exponent values are given in decimal.)

#### Signed Zeros

Zero can be represented as a +0 or a -0 depending on the sign bit. Both encodings are equal in value. The sign of a zero result depends on the operation being performed and the rounding mode being used. Signed zeros have been provided to aid in implementing interval arithmetic. The sign of a zero may indicate the direction from which underflow occurred, or it may indicate the sign of an  $\infty$  that has been reciprocated.

#### Signed, Nonzero, Finite Values

The class of signed, nonzero, finite values is divided into two groups: normalized and denormalized. The normalized finite numbers comprise all the nonzero finite values that can be encoded in a normalized real number format from zero to  $\infty$ . In the 32-bit form shown in Figure 7-3, this group of numbers includes all the numbers with biased exponents ranging from 1 to 254<sub>10</sub> (unbiased, the exponent range is from -126<sub>10</sub> to +127<sub>10</sub>).

## **Denormalized Numbers**

When real numbers become very close to zero, the normalized-number format can no longer be used to represent the numbers. This is because the range of the exponent is not large enough to compensate for shifting the binary point to the right to eliminate leading zeros.



Figure 7-3: Real Numbers and NaNs

When the biased exponent is zero, smaller numbers can only be represented by making the integer bit (and perhaps other leading bits) of the significand zero. The numbers in this range are called denormalized numbers. The use of leading zeros with denormalized numbers allows smaller numbers to be represented. However, this denormalization causes a loss of precision (the number of significant bits in the fraction is reduced by the leading zeros).

When performing normalized floating-point computations, a processor normally operates on normalized numbers and produces normalized numbers as results. Denormalized numbers represent an underflow condition.

A denormalized number is computed through a technique called gradual underflow. Table 7-2 gives an example of gradual underflow in the denormalization process. Here the 32-bit format is being used, so the minimum exponent (unbiased) is  $-126_{10}$ . The true result in this example requires an exponent of  $-129_{10}$  in order to have a normalized number. Since  $-129_{10}$  is beyond the allowable exponent range, the result is denormalized by inserting leading zeros until the minimum exponent of  $-126_{10}$  is reached.

Operation	Sign	Exponent*	Significand
True Result	0	-129	1.0101110000
Denormalize	0	-128	0.10101110000
Denormalize	0	-127	0.010101110000
Denormalize	0	-126	0.0010101110000
Denormal Result	0	-126	0.0010101110000

Table 7-2:	<b>Denormalization Process</b>
------------	--------------------------------

Note: \*Expressed as unbiased, decimal number.

In the extreme case, all the significant bits are shifted out to the right by leading zeros, creating a zero result.

#### Signed Infinities

The two infinities,  $+\infty$  and  $-\infty$ , represent the maximum positive and negative real numbers, respectively, that can be represented in the floating-point format. Infinity is always represented by a zero fraction and the maximum biased exponent allowed in the specified format (e.g., 255<sub>10</sub> for the 32-bit format).

Whereas denormalized numbers represent an underflow condition, the two infinity numbers represent the result of an overflow condition. Here, the normalized result of a computation has a biased exponent greater than the largest allowable exponent for the selected result format.

#### NaNs

Since NaNs are non-numbers, they are not part of the real number line. In Figure 7-3, the encoding space for NaNs in the 80960MC floating-point formats is shown above the ends of the real number line. This space includes any value with the maximum allowable biased exponent and a non-zero fraction. (The sign bit is ignored for NaNs.)

The IEEE standard defines two specific NaN values: a quiet NaN (QNaN) and a signaling NaN (SNaN). A QNaN is a NaN with the most significant fraction bit set; an SNaN is a NaN with the most significant fraction bit clear. QNaNs are allowed to propagate through most arithmetic operations without signaling an exception. SNaNs signal an invalid-operation exception whenever they appear as operands in arithmetic operations. Exceptions are discussed later in this chapter in the section titled "Exceptions and Fault Handling."

The section at the end of this chapter titled "Operations on NaNs" provides detailed information on how the processor handles NaNs.

# **REAL DATA TYPES**

The processor supports three real-number data formats: real, long real, and extended real. These formats correspond directly to the single-precision, double-precision, and double-extended precision formats in the IEEE standard. Figure 7-4 shows these data formats and gives the resolution that each provides.



Figure 7-4: Real-Number Formats

As described earlier in this chapter, the processor represents exponents in a biased format. For real values, the biasing constant is 127; for long-real values, it is 1023; and for extended-real values, it is 16383.

For the real and long-real formats, only the fraction is given for the significand. The integer is assumed to be 1 for all numbers except 0 and denormalized finite numbers. For the extended-real format, the integer is contained in bit 63, and the most-significant fraction bit is bit 62. Here, the integer is explicitly set to 1 for normalized numbers, infinities, and NaNs, and to 0 for zero and denormalized numbers. A non-zero exponent with the integer bit set to zero is a reserved encoding, which will result in a floating reserved-encoding exception being signaled.

Table 7-3 shows the encodings for all the classes of real numbers (i.e., zero, denormalized finite, normalized finite, and  $\infty$ ) and NaNs, for each of the three real data-types.

#### **EXECUTION ENVIRONMENT FOR FLOATING-POINT OPERATIONS**

An important feature of the 80960MC processor is that the floating-point processing capabilities have been integrated into the execution environment of the processor. Operations on floating-point numbers are carried out using the same registers that are used for ordinals and integers. In addition, four floating-point registers have been provided for extended-precision floating-point arithmetic. The following sections describe how floating-point operations are handled in the processor's execution environment.

	CLASS	SIGN	BIASED EXPONENT	INTEGER <sup>1</sup>	FRACTION
	+∞	0	1111	1	0000
		0	1110	1	1111
	+ NORMALS	.			
POSITIVE		0	0001	1	0000
		0	0000	0	1111
	+ DENORMALS				
	· · · ·	-			
		0	0000	0	0001
	+ ZERO	0	0000	0	0000
	-ZERO	1	0000	0	0000
		1	0000	0	0001
-DENORMALS	-DENORMALS				
					.
NEGATIVE		1	0000	0	1111
		1	0001	1	0000
		•			
	-NORMALS	•			
		•			
		1	1110	1	1111
	-00	1	1111	1	0000
NaN	SNaN	x	1111	1	0XXX <sup>2</sup>
NaN QNaN	QNaN	x	1111	1	1XXX
	RI LONG RE EXTENDED RI		8 BITS           11 BITS           15 BITS	1	← 23 BITS → ← 52 BITS → ← 63 BITS →

Table 7-3:	Real Numbers	and NaN	Encodings
------------	--------------	---------	-----------

Notes:

1. Integer is implied for real and long real formats and is not stored.

2. Fraction for SNaN must be non-zero.

#### Registers

All of the registers in the processor's execution environment, (i.e., global, local, and floating point) can be used for floating-point operations. When using global or local registers, real values (i.e., 32 bits) are contained in one register; long-real values (i.e., 64 bits) are contained in two successive registers; and extended-real values (i.e., 80 bits) are contained in three successive registers.

Figure 7-5 shows how the three forms of the real data type are encoded when stored in global and local registers. Note that long-real values must be aligned on even-numbered register boundaries (e.g., g0, g2, ...). Extended-real values must be aligned on register boundaries that are an integral multiple of four (e.g., g0, g4, ...).



Figure 7-5: Storage of Real Values in Global and Local Registers

Real values in the floating-point registers are always in the extended-real format. When a real or long-real value is moved from global or local registers to a floating-point register, the processor automatically reformats it for the extended-real format.

# Loading and Storing Floating-Point Values

Floating-point values are loaded from memory into global or local registers using the load (ld), load long (ldl), and load triple (ldt) instructions. Likewise, floating-point values in global or local registers are stored in memory using the store (st), store long (stl), and store triple (stt) instructions.

Loading a floating-point value into a floating-point register requires two steps (two instructions). First, a floating-point value must be loaded from memory into one or more global or local registers. Then, the value must be moved to the floating-point register using a move real (**movr**), move long-real (**movr**), or move extended-real (**movr**) instruction.

A similar two-step procedure is required to store a value from a floating-point register into memory. The value must first be moved into one or more global or local registers (using a **movr**, **movrl**, or **movre** instruction), then stored in memory.

This two-step method for moving values from memory into floating-point registers and vice versa may seem a little cumbersome; however, in practice it generally is not. Floating-point registers are most often used to store and accumulate intermediate results of computations. The contents of these registers are not normally stored in memory.

For example, the following instruction

divr r3, r4, fp2

causes the real value in local register r4 to be divided by the value in r3, with the extended-real result stored in floating-point register fp2. Here, a move operation from the local registers to the floating-point registers is not required, since it is implicit in the divide operation.

#### Moving Floating-Point Values

Either the move instructions (mov, movl, or movt) or the move-real instructions (movr, movrl, or movre) can be used to move real values among global and local registers. The move real instructions are generally used to convert a real value from one format to another or for moving real values between the global or local registers and floating-point registers. The move instructions are used to move real values while keeping them in the same format.

When using the **movr** and **movrl** instructions to move floating-point numbers between the global or local registers and the floating-point registers, the processor automatically converts values from real and long-real format, respectively, into the extended-real format and vice versa.

For example, the following instruction

movr g3, fp1

causes a 32-bit, real value in global register g3 to be converted to 80-bit, extended-real format and placed in floating-point register fp1.

Going the opposite direction, the instruction

movrl fp0, r4

causes an extended-real value in floating-point register fp0 to be converted to 64-bit, long-real format and placed in local registers r4 and r5.

The **movre** instruction moves 80-bit, extended-real values between registers, without format conversion. When this instruction is used to move a value from three global or local registers to a floating-point register, the processor extracts the 80-bit value from the three word extended-real format. When moving a value from a floating-point register to global or local registers, the processor inserts the 80-bit value into the three registers in the three-word format.

# **Arithmetic Controls**

The arithmetic controls are used extensively to control the arithmetic and faulting properties of floating-point operations. Table 7-4 shows the bits in the arithmetic controls that are used in floating-point operations.

Arithmetic Control Bits	Function
0 - 2	Condition code
3 - 6	Arithmetic status field
8	Integer overflow flag
12	Integer overflow mask
16	Floating overflow flag
17	Floating underflow flag
18	Floating invalid-operation flag
19	Floating zero-divide flag
20	Floating inexact flag
24	Floating overflow mask
25	Floating underflow mask
26	Floating invalid-operation mask
27	Floating zero-divide mask
28	Floating inexact mask
29	Normalizing mode flag
30 - 31	Rounding control

Table 7-4: Arithmetic Controls Used in Floating-Point Operations

The condition code flags are used to indicate the results of comparisons of real numbers, just as they are for integers and ordinals.

The arithmetic status field is used to record results from the classify real (classr and classrl) and remainder real (remr and remrl) instructions. These instructions are discussed later in this chapter.

The floating-point flags indicate exceptions to floating-point operations. Here, the term exception refers to a potentially undesirable operation (such as dividing a number by zero) or an undesirable result (such as underflow). The flags provide a means of recording the occurrence of specific exceptions.

The floating-point masks provide a method of inhibiting the processor from invoking a fault handler when an exception is detected.

Use of the floating-point flag and mask bits are discussed later in this chapter in the section titled "Exceptions and Fault Handling."

#### Normalizing Mode

The normalizing-mode flag specifies whether the processor operates in normalizing mode (set) or not (clear).

Normalizing mode is the most common mode of operation. Here, the processor operates on valid floating-point operands, regardless of whether they are normalized or denormalized values.

When the processor is not operating in normalizing mode, it signals a reserved-encoding exception whenever it encounters a denormalized floating-point value as a source operand. In either mode, denormalized numbers are produced if the underflow exception is masked.

There are no flag or mask bits in the arithmetic controls for this exception. When a reservedencoding exception is detected, the processor generates a floating reserved-encoding fault and leaves the destination operand unchanged (i.e., no result is stored).

The unnormalized mode of operation is provided to allow unnormalized arithmetic to be simulated with software. Here, a fault handler routine can be used to perform unnormalized arithmetic whenever a reserved-encoding exception is signaled.

#### **Rounding Control**

Often the infinitely precise result of an arithmetic operation cannot be encoded exactly in the format of the destination operand. For example, the following value has a 24-bit fraction. The least-significant bit of this fraction (the underlined bit) cannot be encoded exactly in the real (32-bit) format:

1.0001 0000 1000 0011 1001 0111E<sub>2</sub> 101

The processor must then round the result to one of the following two values:

1.0001 0000 1000 0011 1001 011E<sub>2</sub> 101

 $1.0001\ 0000\ 1000\ 0011\ 1001\ 100E_2\ 101$ 

A rounded result is called an inexact result. When an inexact result is produced, the floatingpoint inexact flag bit in the arithmetic controls is set.

The processor rounds results according to the destination format (real, long real, or extended real) and the setting of the rounding-mode flags of the arithmetic controls. Four types of rounding are allowed, as described in Table 7-5.

Rounding Mode	Description
Round up (toward +∞)	Rounded result is close to but no less than the infinitely precise result
Round down (toward -∞)	Rounded result is close to but no greater than the infinitely precise result
Round toward zero (Truncate)	Rounded result is close to but no greater in absolute value than the infinitely precise result
Round to nearest (even)	Rounded result is close to the in- finitely precise result. If two values are equally close, the result is the even value (i.e., the one with the least-significant bit of zero).

 Table 7-5:
 Rounding Methods

When the infinitely precise result is between the largest positive finite value allowed in a particular format and  $+\infty$ , the processor rounds the result as shown in Table 7-6.

 Table 7-6:
 Rounding of Positive Numbers

Rounding Mode	Description
Round up (toward +∞)	+∞
Round down (toward -∞)	Maximum, positive finite value
Round toward zero (Truncate)	Maximum, positive finite value
Round to nearest (even)	+∞

When the infinitely precise result is between the largest negative finite value allowed in a particular format and  $-\infty$ , the processor rounds the result as shown in Table 7-7.

 Table 7-7:
 Rounding of Negative Numbers

Rounding Mode	Description
Round up (toward +∞)	Maximum, negative finite value
Round down (toward -∞)	-8
Round toward zero (Truncate)	Maximum, negative finite value
Round to nearest (even)	-∞

The rounding modes have no effect on comparison operations, operations that produce exact results, or operations that produce NaN results.

The floating-point instructions allow a result to be stored in a shorter destination than the source operands. For example, the instruction

addr fp1, fp2, g5

produces a real (32-bit) result from two extended-real (80-bit) source operands. In all such operations, only one rounding error occurs: the error that occurs when rounding the infinitely precise result to the size of the destination format.

Technically, an operation which computes a narrow result from wide operands is in violation of the IEEE standard. However, systems that are designed to conform to the IEEE standard do not need to use this capability of the processor.

#### INSTRUCTION FORMAT

The instruction format for floating-point instructions is the same as for the other processor instructions. When programming in assembly language, an assembly language statement begins with an instruction mnemonic and is followed by from one to three operands. For example, the multiply-real instruction **mulr** might be used as follows:

mulr r8, r9, fp3

Here, real operands in local registers r8 and r9 are multiplied together and the result is stored in floating-point register fp3.

From the machine level point of view, all floating-point instructions use the REG format. Refer to Appendix B for details on the REG format instructions.

#### INSTRUCTION OPERANDS

Operands for floating-point instructions can be either floating-point literals or registers. The processor recognizes two encodings for floating-point literals: +0.0 and +1.0.

All of the registers in the processor's execution environment (global registers g0 through g15, local registers r0 through r15, and floating-point registers fp0 through fp3) can be used as operands in floating-point instructions. (Of course, registers g15, r0, r1, and r2 would generally not be used for storing floating-point numbers, since they are reserved for stack management functions.)

When global or local registers are specified as operands, the instruction mnemonic (or opcode) determines how the values in these registers are interpreted. For example, there are two floating-point divide instructions: divide real (**divr**) and divide long real (**divr**). When using the **divr** instruction, the processor assumes that global- or local-register operands contain real (32-bit) values. When using the **divrl** instruction, global- or local-register operands are assumed to contain long-real (64-bit) values.

With either instruction, floating-point registers (containing extended-real values) can also be used as operands.

Using floating-point registers as operands allows mixed format or mixed precision arithmetic to be performed with either real and extended-real values or long-real and extended-real values. Mixed-format operations with real and long-real values are not supported.

# SUMMARY OF FLOATING-POINT INSTRUCTIONS

The processor's floating-point instructions consist of all instructions for which at least one operand is a real data type.

These instructions can be divided into the following groups:

- Data Movement
- Data-Type Conversion
- Basic Arithmetic
- Comparison and Classification
- Trigonometric
- Logarithmic and Exponential

The following sections give a brief overview of the instructions in each group. Detailed descriptions of the operations of these instructions are given in Chapter 17.

#### Data Movement

As has been described earlier in this chapter, the non-floating-point load and store instructions are used to move real values between registers and memory. Once in registers, the non-floating-point move instructions (mov, movl, and movt) are used to move real values between global and local registers without format conversion; whereas, the floating-point move instructions (movr, movrl, and movre) are used to move real values between global and local registers and movre) are used to move real values between global and local registers.

The copy-sign-real-extended (**cpysre**) and copy-reverse-sign-real-extended (**cpyrsre**) instructions provide a means of copying the sign of one extended-real value to another, if one of the values is in a floating-point register. This operation is best performed on real and long-real values using the bit instructions **chkbit** and **alterbit**.

#### Data-Type Conversion

Two types of data-type conversions are provided: conversion from one floating-point format to another (e.g., real to extended real) and conversion between integer and real.

Conversion between floating-point formats is handled in either of two ways: explicitly by move instructions or implicitly by using the floating-point registers as operands in instructions.

As described earlier in this chapter, the **movr** instruction implicitly converts values from real to extended real, and vice versa, when moving values between global or local registers and floating-point registers. Likewise, the **movrl** instruction implicitly converts values from long real to extended real, and vice versa.

Conversion between real and long-real formats requires the use of both instructions. For example, the following two instructions convert a real value in global register g6 to a long-real value contained in g6 and g7, using a floating-point register for intermediate storage of the value:

```
movr g6, fp1
movrl fp1, g6
```

Implicit format conversion is also provided through the arithmetic, trigonometric, logarithmic, and exponential instructions. For example, the instruction

addr r4, r5, fp2

adds two real values together and produces an extended-real result.

The following six instructions allow conversion between integers and reals:

cvtir	convert integer to real
cvtilr	convert long integer to long real
cvtri	convert real to integer
cvtril	convert real to long integer
cvtzri	convert truncated real to integer
cvtzril	convert truncated real to long integer

Both the **cvtir** and **cvtilr** instructions can be used to convert an integer to an extended-real value by specifying that the result be placed in a floating-point register.

The convert real-to-integer instructions round off the real value to the nearest integer or long-integer value. For the **cvtri** and **cvtril** instructions, the rounding mode determines the direction the real number is rounded. For the convert truncated real-to-integer instructions (**cvtzri** and **cvtzril**), rounding is always toward zero. The latter two instructions are provided to allow efficient implementation of FORTRAN-like truncation semantics.

Extended-real values can be converted to integers by using a floating-point register as a source operand in either of the convert real-to-integer instructions.

Converting long-real values to integers requires two instructions, as in the following example:

movrl g6, fp3 cvtzri fp3, g6

The first instruction moves the long-real value to a floating-point register. The second instruction converts the extended-real value to an integer.

## **Basic Arithmetic**

The following instructions perform the basic arithmetic operations specified in the IEEE standard:

addr	add real
addrl	add long real
subr	subtract real
subrl	subtract long real
mulr	multiply real
mulrl	multiply long real
divr	divide real
divrl	divide long real
remr	remainder real
remrl	remainder long real
roundr	round real
roundrl	round long real
sqrtr	square root real
sqrtrl	square root long real

The round instructions round the floating-point operand to its nearest integral (i.e., integer) value, based on the current rounding mode. These instructions perform a function similar to the convert real-to-integer instructions except that the result is in floating-point format.

#### Comparison, Branching, and Classification

Comparison of floating-point values differs from comparison of integers or ordinals because with floating-point values there are four, rather than the usual three, mutually exclusive relationships: less than, equal to, greater than, and unordered.

The unordered relationship is true when at least one of the two values being compared is a NaN. This additional relationship is required because, by definition, NaNs are not numbers, so they cannot have greater than, equal, or less than relationships with other floating-point values.

The following instructions are provided for comparing floating-point values:

cmpr	compare real
cmprl	compare long real
cmpor	compare ordered real
cmporl	compare ordered long real

All of these instructions set the condition code flags in the arithmetic controls to indicate the results of the comparison. With the compare instructions (**cmpr** and **cmpr**]), the condition code flags are set to  $000_2$  for the unordered condition. With the compare ordered instructions (**cmpor** and **cmpor**]), the condition code flags are set to  $000_2$  and an invalid-operation exception is signaled for the unordered condition.

Two branch instructions (**bo** and **bno**) allow conditional branching to be performed on an ordered or unordered condition, respectively. With these instructions, the processor checks the condition code flags for unordered  $(000_2)$  or ordered  $(111_2)$  and branches accordingly.

The classify-real instructions (classr and classrl) provide a means of determining the class of a floating-point value (i.e., zero, denormalized finite, normalized finite,  $\infty$ , SNaN, or QNaN). The result of this operation is stored in the arithmetic status field of the arithmetic controls.

#### Trigonometric

The following instructions provide four common trigonometric functions:

sinr	sine real
sinrl	sine long real
cosr	cosine real
cosrl	cosine long real
tanr	tangent real
tanrl	tangent long real
atanr	arctangent real
atanrl	arctangent long real

The arctangent instructions facilitate conversion from rectangular to polar coordinates.

#### Pi

The processor uses the following value for  $\pi$  in its computations:

 $\pi = 0.f * 2^e$ 

where:

 $f = C90FDAA2 \ 2168C234 \ C_{16}$ 

e = 2 if significand is 0.f

(The spaces in the fraction above indicate 32-bit boundaries.)

This value has a 66-bit mantissa, which is 2 bits more than is allowed in the significand of an extended-real value. (Since 66 bits is not an even number of hex digits, two additional zeros have been added to the value so that it can be represented in a hexadecimal format. The least-significant hex digit ( $C_{16}$ ) is thus 1100<sub>2</sub>, where the two least significant bits represent bits 67 and 68 of the mantissa.)

If the results of computations that explicitly use  $\pi$  are to be used in the sine, cosine, or tangent instructions, the full 66-bit fraction for  $\pi$  should be used. This insures that the results are consistent with the argument-reduction algorithms that these instructions use. Using a rounded version of  $\pi$  can cause inaccuracies in result values, which if propagated through several calculations, might result in meaningless results.

A common method of representing the full 66-bit fraction of  $\pi$  is to separate the value into two numbers. For example, the following two long-real values added together give the value for  $\pi$  shown above with the full 66-bit fraction:

 $\pi = \text{high}\pi + \text{low}\pi$ 

where:

high $\pi$  = 400921FB 54400000<sub>16</sub> low $\pi$  = 3DD0B461 1A600000<sub>16</sub>

Here  $high\pi$  gives the most significant 33 bits of  $\pi$  and  $low\pi$  gives the least significant 33 bits. Similar versions of  $\pi$  can also be written in the extended-real format.

When using this two-part  $\pi$  value in an algorithm, parallel computations should be performed on each part, with the results kept separate. When all the computations are complete, the two results can be added together to form the final result.

#### Logarithmic, Exponential, and Scale

The following instructions provide three different logarithmic functions, an exponential function, and a scale function:

logbnr	log binary real
logbnrl	log binary long real
logr	log real
logrl	log long real
logepr	log epsilon real
logeprl	log epsilon long real
expr	exponent real
exprl	exponent long real
scaler	scale real
scalerl	scale long real

These instructions are described in detail in Chapter 17. The following is a brief description of their functions.

The log binary instructions compute the IEEE recommended function logb(X). The result is an integral value that is the binary log of X.

The log instructions compute the function Y \* log(X), where the log of X is the base-2 logarithm.

The log epsilon instructions compute the function Y \* log (X + 1), where the log of X + 1 is a base-2 logarithm.

The exponent instructions compute the value  $2^{X}$  - 1.

The scale instructions perform a multiplication of a floating-point value by a power of 2.

## Arithmetic Versus Nonarithmetic Instructions

The floating-point instructions can be divided into two groups: arithmetic and nonarithmetic. Arithmetic instructions are those that are sensitive to real values, meaning that they distinguish among NaN,  $\infty$ , normalized finite, denormalized finite, and zero values.

All but five of the floating-point instructions are arithmetic. The five nonarithmetic instructions are move-real extended (**movre**), copy-sign real extended (**cpysre**), copy-reversed-sign real extended (**cpyrsre**), and classify real (**classr** and **classrl**). These nonarithmetic instructions are insensitive to real values and cannot generate floating-point exceptions or faults.

This distinction between arithmetic and nonarithmetic instructions is important because floating-point exceptions and faults can be signaled only during the execution of arithmetic instructions.

#### **OPERATIONS ON NANS**

As was described earlier in this chapter, the processor supports two types of NaNs: QNaN and SNaN. An SNaN is any NaN value with its most-significant fraction bit set to 0 and at least one other fraction bit set to 1. (If all the fraction bits are set to 0, the value is an  $\infty$ .) A QNaN is any NaN value with the most-significant fraction bit set to 1. The sign bit of a NaN is not interpreted.

In general, when a QNaN is used in one or more arithmetic floating-point instructions, it is allowed to propagate through a computation. An SNaN on the other hand causes a floating invalid-operation exception to be signaled.

The floating invalid-operation exception has a flag and a mask bit associated with it in the arithmetic controls. The mask bit determines how the processor handles an SNaN value. If the floating invalid-operation mask bit is set, the SNaN is converted to a QNaN by setting the most significant fraction bit of the value to a 1. The result is then stored in the destination and the floating invalid-operation flag is set. If the invalid operation mask is clear, a floating invalid-operation fault is stored in the destination.

When the result is a QNaN, the format of the result is as shown in Table 7-8, depending on the form of the source operands.

Source Operands	QNaN Result
Only one operand is NaN, destina- tion is same width	QNaN version of NaN source
Only one operand is NaN, destina- tion is longer	QNaN version of NaN source, with fraction extended with zeros
Only one operand is NaN, destina- tion is shorter	QNaN version of NaN source, with fraction truncated
Both operands are NaNs	QNaN version of source whose fraction field has greatest mag- nitude, with fraction extended or truncated as described above

 Table 7-8:
 Format of QNaN Results

In some cases, a QNaN result is returned when none of the source operands are NaNs. Here, a standard QNaN is returned. The significand for the standard QNaN is as follows:

1.1000...00

(For real and long-real destinations, the integer bit will be an implied 1.)

Other than the rules specified above, software is free to use the other bits of a NaN for any purpose.

# **EXCEPTIONS AND FAULT HANDLING**

Occasionally, a floating-point instruction can result in an exception being signaled. The processor recognizes six floating-point exceptions:

- Floating Reserved Encoding
- Floating Invalid Operation
- Floating Zero Divide
- Floating Overflow
- Floating Underflow
- Floating Inexact

These exceptions can be divided into two categories:

- 1. Situations in which one or more source operands are inappropriate for an operation and would cause an exception to be signaled.
- 2. Situations in which the result of an operation is exceptional.

The reserved encoding, invalid operation, and division-by-zero exceptions fall in the first category; the overflow, underflow, and inexact exceptions fall in the second category.

Except for the floating reserved-encoding exception, each of these exceptions has a flag and a mask bit associated with it in the arithmetic controls. When an exception condition occurs, the processor performs one of the following operations:

- If the mask bit for the exception is set, the flag for the exception is set and instruction execution continues, substituting a default value in place of the result.
- If the mask bit for the exception is clear, the flag for the exception is not set and a floating-point arithmetic fault is raised. The processor then stores diagnostic information in the fault information area and diverts instruction execution to a fault handler.

Since the floating reserved-encoding exception does not have a flag or mask bit, it always results in a fault.

#### NOTE

The floating-point exception flags are "sticky," which means that the processor does not implicitly clear them while carrying out floating-point operations. They may be cleared by software.

#### **Fault Handler**

As is described in Chapter 12, when a floating-point fault is signaled, the processor calls a single fault handler. This fault handler determines how to handle the specific fault subtype by interpreting the floating-point exception flags and the information in the fault record.

#### Floating-Reserved-Encoding Exception

A reserved-encoding exception occurs as a result of either of the following two conditions:

- When a reserved encoding is used as an operand in a floating-point instruction, or
- When a denormalized value is used as an operand in a floating-point instruction and the normalizing-mode bit in the arithmetic controls is clear.

The first condition is rare. It can only occur if a program presents an extended-real value to the processor that has a zero j-bit (integer part) and a non-zero biased exponent.

The second condition was discussed earlier in this chapter in the section titled "Normalizing Mode." This condition is also rare, since the vast majority of programs run with the normalizing mode enabled.

There is neither a flag nor a mask bit for this exception. When a reserved-encoding exception occurs, the processor raises a floating-reserved-encoding fault and does not store a result.

# Floating-Invalid-Operation Exception

The invalid-operation exception indicates that one of the source operands is inappropriate for the type of operation being performed. The following conditions cause this exception to be signaled:

- Any arithmetic operation on an SNaN
- Addition of infinities of unlike sign
- Subtraction of infinities of like sign
- Multiplication of zero by  $\infty$
- Division of zero by zero or  $\infty$  by  $\infty$
- Remainder of x by y, if y is zero or x is  $\infty$
- Square root of a negative, nonzero value
- Conversion of a NaN from floating-point format to integer format
- Sine, cosine, or tangent of  $\infty$
- y \* log (x), if:
  - x is negative and nonzero,
  - y is zero and x is  $\infty$ ,
  - y and x are zero, or
  - y is  $\infty$  and x is 1
- Log epsilon of (y, x), if y is  $\infty$  and x is 0
- Compare ordered, if a source operand is a NaN

When a floating-invalid-operation exception occurs and its mask is set, the following occurs:

- When the result is a floating-point value, the standard QNaN value is stored in the destination and the floating-invalid-operation flag is set. (A discussion of how the processor handles NaNs was provided earlier in this chapter in the section titled "Operations on NaNs.")
- When the result is an integer, the maximum negative integer is stored in the destination and the floating-invalid-operation flag is set.

When the mask is clear, no result is stored; the floating-invalid-operation flag is not set; and the floating-invalid-operation fault is signaled.

# Floating-Zero-Divide Exception

The floating-zero-divide exception is signaled when an exact non-finite result would be produced from finite operands. (Note that a different exception, overflow, is signaled when an infinite result is produced inexactly from finite operands.) The most common example of this exception is a division operation, where the divisor is zero and the dividend is a nonzero, finite value.

When the floating-zero-divide mask is set: a correctly signed  $\infty$  is stored in the destination and the floating-zero-divide flag is set. When the mask is clear, no result is stored; the floating-zero-divide flag is not set; and a floating-zero-divide fault is signaled.

#### **Floating-Overflow Exception**

The overflow exception occurs when the infinitely precise result of a floating-point instruction exceeds the largest allowable finite value for the specified destination format. For example, if the destination format is real (32 bits), overflow occurs when the infinitely precise result falls outside the range  $-1.0 \times 2^{128}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{128}$  (exclusive), where 128 is the unbiased exponent of the result. For long-real (64 bits) values, the overflow threshold range is  $-1.0 \times 2^{1024}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{1024}$ ; for extended-real (80 bits) values, it is  $-1.0 \times 2^{16384}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{16384}$ .

When the floating-overflow mask is set, a rounded result is stored in the destination and the floating-overflow flag is set. The current rounding mode determines the method used to round the result.

When the mask is clear: no result is stored in the destination and the floating-overflow flag is not set. Instead, the processor stores the result in extended-real format in the fault information area. The fraction of the extended-real value is rounded to the instruction's destination precision. For example, if the destination operand's format is real (32 bits), the extended-real fraction is rounded to 23 bits, with the 40 least-significant bits filled with zeros.

If the exponent exceeds the range of the extended-real format (16383 unbiased), then the exponent is divided by  $2^{24576}$  and a flag (bit 1 of the fault flags byte or override flags byte) is set in the fault information area to indicate that the exponent has been bias adjusted. After this fault information is stored, a floating-overflow fault is signaled.

When using the scale instructions (scaler or scalerl), massive overflow can occur, where the infinitely precise result is too large to be represented, even with a bias-adjusted exponent. Here, a properly signed  $\infty$  is stored in the fault record.

The floating-overflow exception cannot occur on a conversion from floating-point format to integer format (although an integer overflow exception can occur).

# **Floating-Underflow Exception**

An underflow condition occurs when the infinitely precise result of a floating-point instruction is less than the smallest possible normalized, finite value for the specified destination format. For example, for the real (32-bit) format, underflow occurs when an infinitely precise result falls in the range  $-1.0 \times 2^{-126}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{-126}$  (exclusive), where -126 is the unbiased exponent. For long-real (64 bits) values, the underflow threshold range is  $-1.0 \times 2^{1022}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{1022}$ ; for extended-real (80 bits) values, it is  $-1.0 \times 2^{16382}$  to  $1.0 \times 2^{16382}$ .

When a floating-underflow condition occurs, the setting of the floating-underflow mask determines how the processor handles the condition. If the mask is set when an underflow condition occurs, the processor goes ahead and denormalizes the result. Then if the result is exact, it is stored in the destination and the floatingunderflow exception is not signaled, nor is the floating-underflow flag set. If, on the other hand, the denormalized result is inexact, the floating-underflow flag is set and the processor goes on to handle the inexact condition as described in the next section.

If the floating-underflow mask is clear when an underflow-condition occurs, no result is stored in the destination and the floating-underflow flag is not set. Instead, the processor stores the result in extended-real format in the fault information area, with the fraction of the extendedreal value rounded to the instruction's destination precision. For example, if the destination precision is real (23-bit fraction), the 40 least-significant bits of the fraction are set to 0.

If the exponent of the value stored is less than the minimum allowable value in the extendedreal format (-16,382 unbiased), then the exponent is multiplied by  $2^{24576}$  and a flag (bit 1 of the fault or override flags byte) is set in the fault information area to indicate that the exponent has been bias adjusted. After this information is stored, a floating-underflow fault is signaled.

The scale instructions can cause massive underflow to occur, where the infinitely precise result is too small to be represented, even with a bias-adjusted exponent. Here, a properly signed zero is stored in the fault record.

Refer to the section later in this chapter titled "Floating-Point Underflow Condition" for more information on the interaction of the floating underflow and inexact exceptions.

# Floating-Inexact Exception

The floating-inexact exception occurs when an infinitely precise result cannot be encoded in the format specified for the destination operand. Either of the following two conditions can cause an inexact exception to be signaled:

- When a result is rounded and the result is not exact
- When overflow occurs and the floating-overflow mask is set

If the floating-inexact mask is set when an inexact condition occurs and an unmasked overflow or underflow condition does not occur, the rounded result is stored in the destination and the floating-inexact flag is set. The current rounding mode determines the method used to round the result.

If the floating-inexact mask is clear when an inexact condition occurs, the floating-inexact flag is not set and one of the following operations is carried out:

- If only the inexact condition has occurred, the processor stores the rounded result in the specified destination, then raises a floating-inexact fault.
- If the inexact condition occurs along with overflow or underflow, no result is stored in the destination. Instead, the processor stores the result in extended-real format in the fault information area, as described for the floating overflow and underflow exceptions, then raises a floating-inexact fault.

Refer to the following section for more information on the interaction of the floating underflow and inexact exceptions.

#### **Floating-Point-Underflow Condition**

Two aspects of underflow are important in numeric processing: the "tininess" of a number and "loss of accuracy." A result is tiny when it is nonzero and its exponent is between  $\pm 2^{\text{Emin}}$ , where  $\text{E}_{\min}$  is the smallest unbiased exponent allowed in the destination format. For example, if the destination format is long-real (64-bit format), a result is tiny if it is nonzero and in the range of  $+1 + 2^{-1022}$  to  $-1 + 2^{-1022}$ . The ability to detect a tiny result is important because such a result may cause an exception to be signaled in a later operation (e.g., overflow on a division).

Loss of accuracy occurs when a tiny result is approximated as part of the denormalization process so that it will fit into the destination format.

In the 80960MC processor, tininess is detected after rounding as an underflow condition. Loss of accuracy is detected as an inexact condition.

The algorithm in Figure 7-6 shows how the processor responds to these two conditions, when a floating-point operation produces a tiny result.

An important point to note in this algorithm is that if the underflow mask is set, an underflow exception is signaled only if the denormalized result is inexact. If the denormalized number is exact, no flags are set and no faults are signaled.

generate infinitely precise result # exponent and significand;	
if exponent < underflow threshold	
then four double work along	
if underflow fault mask clear	
then	
<b>goto</b> underflow fault handler;	
exit algorithm;	
else generate denormalized number	
if denormalized significand equals infinitely precise significand then	
store denormalized result in destination;	
# no underflow is signaled;	
else	
set underflow flag in AC;	
if inexact fault mask is clear	
then	
goto inexact fault handler;	
exit algorithm;	
else	
set inexact flag in AC;	
store denormalized result in destination;	
end if;	
end if;	
end if;	
else	
if infinitely precise result is inexact	
then	
if inexact fault mask is clear	
then	
goto inexact fault handler;	
exit algorithm;	
else	
set inexact flag in AC;	
store normalized result in destination;	
end if;	
else	
store normalized result in destination;	
end if;	
end if;	
exit algorithm	
<i>o</i>	



# Memory Management

8

# CHAPTER 8 MEMORY MANAGEMENT

This chapter describes the 80960MC processor's memory management facilities. Included is a discussion of the physical memory requirements, physical addressing, and the virtual-memory-management system. The information presented here should be of interest only to operating-system designers, particularly those designing the virtual-memory-management mechanism for the operating-system kernel. Application programmers and compiler writers may skip this chapter.

# INTRODUCTION

A major feature of the 80960MC processor is its virtual-memory-management facilities. These facilities support a conventional demand-paged, virtual-memory system, in which 4K-byte pages of virtual memory are mapped to physical memory. This general purpose system can be used in any of the follow applications:

- In a single-process system to map a large virtual address space into a smaller physical address space.
- In a multitasking system to provide each process with a separate address space.
- In a multiprocessing system to provide a means for multiple processors to share a common memory.

The processor's virtual-memory-management facilities consists of a set of memorymanagement data structures and on-chip address translation capabilities. Once the operating system has set up these data structures, the processor provides automatic translation of virtual addresses into physical addresses.

The majority of this chapter is devoted to a discussion of the virtual-memory system. If the processor is going to be used strictly in the physical-addressing mode, only the first sections of this chapter, which describe the physical address space and physical memory requirements, need to be read.

# PHYSICAL-ADDRESSING MODE VERSUS VIRTUAL-ADDRESSING MODE

The 80960MC processor provides two address-interpretation modes: physical-addressing mode and virtual-addressing mode. When operating in physical-addressing mode, the processor interprets each address operand in an instruction as a physical address and sends the address out to the bus unchanged.

In virtual-addressing mode, the processor interprets each address operand as a virtual address. An on-chip memory management unit (MMU) translates the virtual address into a physical address, which the processor then sends out to the bus.

The addressing mode flag in the processor controls determines which addressing mode the processor is operating in. When this flag is clear, the processor operates in physical-addressing mode; when the flag is set, the processor operates in virtual-addressing mode.

# PHYSICAL MEMORY

The processor can address a physical address space of up to  $2^{32}$  bytes. This address space can be mapped to read-write memory, read-only memory, and memory-mapped I/O.

The physical address space is linear (or flat): there are no subdivisions of the address space such as segments. For the purpose of memory management, the kernel may subdivide physical memory into pages. But from the point of view of the processor, the physical address space is linear.

All of the physical address space is available for general use except the upper 16M bytes  $(FF000000_{16} \text{ to } FFFFFFF_{16})$ , which are reserved for special functions. (These functions are described in Chapter 11.)

A physical address is a 32-bit value in the range 0 to  $\text{FFFFFFF}_{16}$ . A physical address can be used to reference a single byte, 2 bytes, 4 bytes, 8 bytes, 12 bytes or 16 bytes of memory depending on the instruction being used. (Refer to the descriptions of the load and store instructions in Chapter 17 for information on multiple-byte addressing.)

# **Physical-Memory Restrictions**

The processor requires that the physical memory that it accesses has the following capabilities:

- It must be byte addressable.
- It must support burst transfers (i.e., transfers of blocks of contiguous bytes up to 16 bytes in length).
- It must guarantee *indivisible* access (read or write) for memory addresses that fall within 16-byte boundaries.
- It must guarantee *atomic* access for memory addresses that fall within 16-byte boundaries.

The latter two capabilities are required to allow multiple processors to share a common physical address space conveniently.

An indivisible access guarantees that a processor reading or writing a set of memory locations will complete the operation before another processor can read or write the same location. The processor requires indivisible access within an aligned, 16-byte block of memory.

An atomic access is a read-modify-write operation. Here the memory controller guarantees that once a processor begins a read-modify-write operation on a set of memory locations, it is allowed to complete the operation before another processor is allowed to access the same location.

As described above, the processor requires that when one processor is performing an atomic operation within an aligned, 16-byte block, other processors are delayed from performing another atomic operation within that block until the first operation has been completed.

The 80960MC processor provides two features to aid in implementing the requirements of physical memory described above: SIZE lines and a LOCK line on the local bus.

# intel

The SIZE lines indicate the length of a memory access in bytes. These lines can be used to specify 1-, 2-, 4-, 8-, 12-, or 16-byte lengths. When making a multiple-byte access, the processor thus sends the memory controller a base address, on the address lines, and a length, on the SIZE lines.

The LOCK line is used to synchronize atomic operations. When a processor performs an atomic operation, it first examines the LOCK line. If it is asserted, the processor waits until the line is not asserted (i.e., spins on the LOCK line). If the line is not asserted, the processor asserts the LOCK line when it is performing an atomic read and deasserts the line when it performs the companion atomic write.

For systems that use only the processor's local bus, the LOCK line mechanism allows only one atomic operation to be carried out in memory at one time. For larger systems that use the Intel advanced processor bus (AP Bus), the Bus Extension Unit (BXU) component allows multiple processors on the bus to execute several atomic operations at once on different blocks of memory. Refer to the 80960MC Hardware Designer's Reference Manual for detailed information on atomic operations.

# **Caching of Memory Accesses**

The processor supports caching of memory accesses. Caching allows a memory access to be delayed (e.g., write back) or grouped with contiguous memory accesses to form a single memory transaction (e.g., cache fill).

The processor does not perform the caching function; however, it does provide a means of informing a cache manager whether or not a memory access is "cacheable."

When operating in the physical-address mode, all memory accesses are considered cacheable.

# VIRTUAL-MEMORY-MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The processor's virtual-memory-management system is designed to perform the following functions:

- Allow the mapping of a large, virtual address space into a smaller physical address space using 1- or 2-level page tables.
- Provide a convenient means of managing multiple process address spaces in multitasking operating systems.
- Provide a method of addressing architecture-defined data structures.

The first function is handled by means of a traditional paging mechanism that uses page tables and optional page-table directories to map the virtual address space into physical address space in 4K-byte pages.

The second and third functions are handled through a central table, called the *segment table*, which the processor uses to locate a specific address space or system data-structure in physical memory.

The following discussion first presents the concept of the segment table and the mechanism used to implement this concept. Then, the paging mechanism is described. Finally, the method the operating system uses to set up and maintain these memory management structures is given.

# SEGMENT-TABLE OVERVIEW

The segment table is a data structure that resides in physical memory. This table provides the processor with a system-wide addressing mechanism, which allows the processor to locate all the process address spaces and system data structures that the kernel has created. It also allows many process address spaces and data structures to be mapped into physical memory at one time. Figure 8-1 shows a conceptual view of the segment table.



Figure 8-1: Conceptual View of the Segment Table

The segment table is made up of a collection of *segment descriptors*. Each segment descriptor points to an individual *segment*. A segment is defined as a contiguous address space of from 16 to  $2^{32}$  - 1 bytes. Figure 8-2 shows a segment and the mechanism used to address a byte in a segment.





A segment is addressed by means of a 32-bit data structure called a *segment selector* (SS). An SS contains an index into the segment table to the location of the segment descriptor for the segment. When the operating system creates a segment, it assigns a unique SS to the segment.

To locate a byte in a segment, the processor then needs two items: the SS for the segment and a 32-bit offset into the segment. The processor uses the SS to locate the segment descriptor for the segment in the segment table. From this segment descriptor, it gets the physical address of the base (first byte) of the segment. It then uses the offset to locate the selected byte in the segment.

When paging is used, the offset is translated through page tables and an optional page table directory to get the physical address of the selected byte in the segment.

#### USES OF SEGMENTS

intal

The processor uses segments in two ways, as shown in Figure 8-3. The first way is as a means of addressing the four regions that make up the address space for a process.



Figure 8-3: Uses of Segments

As was described in Chapter 3, part of the execution environment for the processor is the address space, which can range from 1 to  $2^{32}$  bytes. When using the processor's virtualmemory system, the address space is divided into four regions. Each of these regions is contained in a segment. To access the address space, the processor must have four SS's, one for each region.

In a multitasking system, each process is assigned its own address space. Each process address space is made up of four regions, which the processor locates with four SS's.

The second way that the processor uses segments is to address system data structures. The processor defines several system data structures such as the PCB and the system procedure table. Each of these data structures is contained in a segment. The processor is able to access data in these data structures by means of the SS for the segment that contains the data structure.

#### SEGMENT-TABLE DATA STRUCTURES

The following sections describe the actual structure of an SS, a segment table, and a segment descriptor.
#### **Segment Selector**

Figure 8-4 shows the structure of an SS. The first six bits are always set to 1. Bits 6 through 31 give the entry number of the segment selector in the segment table. (Since segment descriptors are aligned in the segment table on 16-byte boundaries, the segment index actually gives the 26 most significant bits of the offset into the segment table of the first byte of the segment selector. The processor assumes the six least-significant bits are zero.) This structure allows the operating system to create up to  $2^{26}$  unique SS's. However, the largest allowable segment table can have only 262,144 ( $2^{18}$ ) segment descriptors.



#### Figure 8-4: Segment Selector

A segment selector can be stored anywhere in the address space for a process or in specific places in system data structures. They are, however, useful for only two purposes:

- Certain instructions use an SS as an operand. These instructions can only be executed while in the supervisor mode and are thus normally used only by the operating system.
- The processor fetches SS's from various system data structures and uses them to access system management information. For example, the processor gets the SS for region 3 of the process address space from the processor control block.

Applications programs will generally not use SS's.

#### NOTE

When the processor uses an SS for its intended purpose (as a pointer to a segment), it expects the 6 least-significant bits of the SS to be set to 1. If they are not, the processor's behavior is unpredictable.

Once the processor uses an SS, however, it clears some of these bits; and, if a program examines an SS that the processor has used, some of these bits may be zero.

To insure predictable behavior of the processor, it is good programming practice to reset the 6 least-significant bits of the SS to 1 any time a program moves an SS that the processor has already used.

For example, if a program removes an SS for a PCB from a dispatch port, it should set these bits to 1 as a matter of course, before it places the SS in a data structure or instruction where the processor will use the SS for its intended purpose.

# Segment Table

The segment table is itself contained in a segment and has an SS. This allows the processor to locate the segment table in physical memory.

Figure 8-5 shows the structure of a segment table. It is simply a collection of 16-byte segment descriptors, with no header.



Figure 8-5: Segment Table

Except for index entry eight (with entry zero being the lowest numbered entry), the segment descriptors can be assigned to any segment. Entry eight is reserved for the segment descriptor for the segment table. The SS for the segment table is thus always  $0000023F_{16}$ .

There are two sizes of segment tables: a small segment table and a large segment table. A small segment table is 4096 bytes (1 page) in length and can contain up to 256 segment descriptor entries. A large segment table can be up to 4M bytes in length and can contain up to 262,144 segment descriptors.

# Segment Descriptors

A 16-byte segment descriptor provides mapping information to allow the processor to locate a specific segment in physical memory. It also provides type information and in some cases access information to tell the processor how the segment may be used or how it has been used.

The segment descriptor fields contain the following pieces of information:

- The base physical address of the segment
- The size of the segment
- The access status
- Whether or not the segment is in physical memory
- The paging method
- The segment type

Figure 8-6 shows a generic segment descriptor with the fields labeled. The function of each of these fields is described in the following paragraphs. The entries required in each fields for specific types of segment descriptors (such as, port segment descriptors, process segment descriptors, etc.) are given later in this chapter in the section titled "Segment Types".



#### Figure 8-6: Generic Segment Descriptor

#### NOTE

The shaded areas in Figure 8-6 and in the following figures indicate reserved and preserved areas of a segment descriptor. Refer to Chapter 1 for an explanation of these terms.

#### **Base Address**

The base address field gives the physical address of byte 0 of the segment being referenced. If the segment is a paged segment, this field gives the base address of a page table or a page-table directory.

#### Size

The size field determines the length of the segment according to the following relationship:

```
segment length in bytes = 64 * (SIZE + 1)
```

For most segment types, the size field is either not used or the value to be placed in this field is predefined. However, for a few segment types this field is used to determine the size of the segment, as shown later in this chapter.

# Access Status

The three flags in the access status field determine how a segment or page can be used or has been used. The processor and kernel use these flags to facilitate page swapping. For paged segments, some of these flags may not be used at the segment descriptor level. Instead, they are set in the page table or page-table-directory entries.

The *cacheable* flag (bit 6) determines whether or not a segment or page of a segment can be cached. When this flag is set the segment or page is cacheable. Caching of memory accesses was described earlier in this chapter in the section titled "Caching of Memory Accesses."

The *accessed* flag (bit 3) shows whether a segment or page of a segment has been accessed since it was loaded into physical memory; the *altered* flag (bit 4) shows whether the page has been written to. The kernel clears these flags when it loads a segment or page into memory. The processor then sets the flags when it accesses or writes to a byte in the page.

The kernel uses the accessed and altered flags in page swapping to determine the relative age of a page and to determine whether a page can be discarded or must be written to secondary storage when it is swapped out of memory.

The two other bits in the access status field (bits 5 and 7) are reserved. For some segment types these bits are set to 1 and for others they are set to 0, as is shown in the following pages.

# Valid Flag

The *valid* flag shows whether or not a segment or page of a segment is present in memory. When this flag is set, the segment is present; when it is clear, the page is not present. When the processor attempts to access a segment or page, it checks this flag to determine if the segment or page is present. If the valid flag is clear, the processor raises a virtual-memory fault. The fault handler routine then calls upon the kernel to load the segment or page into memory.

When the valid flag is set to 0, the processor does not interpret the other bits in the segment descriptor. Software is then free to use these bits for other purposes. For example, if a segment is not in physical memory, the base address field might be used to store the location of the segment in a mass storage device (such as a disk).

# **Paging Method**

The paging method field shows whether the segment is unpaged (01), paged (10), or bipaged (11). The value in this field must be as is shown in the following sections for each segment descriptor type.

#### Segment Types

The processor recognizes the following nine types of segments:

- Simple Region
- Paged Region
- Bipaged Region
- Process Control Block
- Port
- Procedure Table
- Semaphore
- Small Segment Table
- Large Segment Table

The segment descriptor is set up differently for each segment type, as is described in the following paragraphs. For some of these segment types (but not all), the type is shown in the type field. For those segments types where the type is specified, the processor checks this type field before accessing the rest of the data in the segment descriptor to insure that the segment being accessed is the correct type. In cases where the processor performs type checking on segment descriptors, it signals a type fault if an inappropriate type is found.

The following paragraphs describe what must be placed in each of the segment-descriptor fields, depending on the type of segment that the segment descriptor is pointing to.

#### **Region Descriptors**

Each region of an address space is contained in a segment. A region segment can be a simple region, a paged region, or a bipaged region. For each of these three types of regions, the segment descriptor is set up slightly different. Figure 8-7 shows the segment descriptors for the three types of regions.

**Simple Region.** A simple region is a one-page segment (4096 bytes) that is mapped into physical memory as a contiguous page.

The base address for a simple region must fall on a page boundary in physical memory, so the 12 least-significant bits of the base address field are set to zero. The size field is set to  $63_{10}$ , indicating 4K bytes length.

Since the simple region descriptor points directly to the segment in memory, the three access flags (accessed, altered, and cacheable) are set and examined by the processor and kernel.



Figure 8-7: Region Segment Descriptors

**Paged Region.** A paged region is a segment that is mapped into physical memory by means of a page table. A paged region may be from 4096 bytes to 4096K bytes in length.

The base address field for a paged-region descriptor points to the base physical-address of a page table. This address must fall on a 64-byte boundary, so the 6 least-significant bits of the base address field are set to zero.

A page-table can be up to a page in length as determined by the size field. Each page-table entry is 4 bytes, so the number of entries in the page table is as follows:

Number of Page-Table Entries = 16 \* (SIZE + 1)

For a paged region, the access information is stored in the page-table entries. The access status flags in the segment descriptor are thus set to 0 and the valid flag shows whether or not the page table is present in memory.

# intel

**Bipaged Region.** A bipaged region is a segment that is mapped into physical memory by means of two levels of page tables. A page-table directory forms the first level. Entries in the page-table directory then point to up to 1024 page tables. A bipaged region may be from 4096 bytes to 4096M bytes in length.

The segment descriptor for a bipaged region is similar to that of a paged region descriptor. The base address field gives the base physical-address of a page-table directory, which must fall on a 64-byte boundary.

A page-table directory can be up to a page in length as determined by the size field. The number of 4-byte entries in the page-table-directory is determined by the same relationship, as is shown above for a page table in a paged region.

As with paged regions, all of the access information except the valid flag is stored in the page-table-directory and page-table entries.

# Process, Port, and Procedure-Table Descriptors

A process-segment descriptor points to a segment that contains a process control block (PCB); a port-segment descriptor points to a segment that contains a dispatch port or a communication port; and a procedure-table segment descriptor points to a segment that contains a procedure table. Figure 8-8 shows the format for each of these types of segment descriptors.

#### NOTE

A PCB and a port are architecture-defined data structures. The PCB is described in Chapter 13; the port is described in Chapter 14.

The formats for these segment descriptors are identical, except that the value in the type field is different for each type of descriptor.

The base address for each of these segments must fall on a 64-byte boundary in physical memory and the segment as a whole must not span a 4096-byte boundary. Spanning a 4096-byte boundary will cause unpredictable results when the segment is accessed.

The sizes of the process and port segments are defined by the PCB and port data structures. The size of the procedure table segment is 1088 bytes.

These segments must always be present in physical memory, so the valid, accessed, and altered flags are always set to 1. The cacheable flag can be set to allow caching of the segment.



Figure 8-8: Process, Port, and Procedure-Table Segment Descriptors

# Segment-Table Descriptors

Inte

Figure 8-9 shows the formats for the two types of segment-table descriptors: one for a small segment table and another for a large segment table.

A small segment table is mapped to a page of physical memory. The base address in the small segment table descriptor must point to a 4096-byte (page) boundary in physical memory. The 12 least-significant bits of the base address are thus set to zero.

A small segment table must always be in physical memory, so the accessed, altered, and valid flags are set to 1. Whether or not a small segment table is cacheable is optional.

A large segment table is mapped to physical memory by means of a page table. The base address in the large segment table descriptor then points to the base address of a page table, which must be located on a page boundary.



#### Figure 8-9: Segment-Table Segment Descriptors

The valid flag is set to 1, indicating that the page table associated with the large segment table must always be present in memory. However, the individual pages that are associated with a large segment table may be swapped in and out of physical memory as determined by the access flags for their individual page-table entries.

#### **Semaphore Descriptor**

int

A semaphore is a system data structure that is small enough that it does not need to be mapped into a segment. Instead it is encoded in the segment descriptor itself. Such a segment descriptor is called an *embedded descriptor*. Figure 8-10 shows the format for a semaphore descriptor.

#### NOTE

A semaphore is an architecture-defined data structure. It is described in Chapter 14.



#### Figure 8-10: Semaphore Segment Descriptor

Here the data structure for the semaphore is contained in the first three words of the descriptor.

#### **Invalid Descriptor**

Since both the small and large segment tables have fixed sizes, a certain number of the segment descriptors in these tables, at a particular time, will be unused. These unused segment descriptors should be formatted as an invalid segment descriptor, as shown in Figure 8-11.



Figure 8-11: Invalid Segment Descriptor

# PAGE TABLES AND PAGE-TABLE DIRECTORIES

Any segment that is greater than 4096 bytes in length is mapped into physical memory in pages. The segment types that fall into this category are the paged and bipaged regions and the large segment table. All the other segment types described earlier in this section are mapped directly into physical memory from the segment table.

The mapping of segments into pages of physical memory is handled by means of page tables and page-table directories. Figure 8-12 shows a conceptual view of this paging mechanism.

The first segment is unpaged, so the segment descriptor points directly to the segment. This method of paging is used for architecture-defined data structures that are less than a page long, and for simple regions.

The second segment is paged through a single page table. Here, the segment descriptor for the segment points to the page table. Entries in the page table then point to the individual pages that make up the segment. This method of paging is used for paged regions and for a large segment table.

The third segment is paged in two levels. The first level of paging is through a page-table directory, which points to one or more page tables. The second level of paging is through the page tables, which point to the individual pages of the segment. This method of paging is only used for regions.

# intel



Figure 8-12: Conceptual View of Segment Paging

# Page Table and Page-Table-Directory Structure

As is shown in Figure 8-13, page tables and page-table directories are made up of 4-byte entries. (There is no table header.) Both types of tables can be up to one page in length, which allows up to 1024 entries per table.



Figure 8-13: Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Structure

One-level paging can be used to page segments of from 4096 bytes to 4096K bytes in length; two-level paging can be used to page segments of from 4096 bytes to 4096M bytes in length.

When using one-level paging, the size field in the paged segment descriptor determines the number of entries in a page table. Likewise, when using two-level paging, the size field in the bipaged segment descriptor determines the number of entries in the page-table directory. However, when setting up a bipaged segment, the page tables that the page-table directory points to have a set length of one page.

# Page Table and Page-Table-Directory Entries

Figure 8-14 shows the structure of the page table and page-table-directory entries.



Figure 8-14: Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Entries

#### Page-Table Entry

In a page-table entry, the base address points to the base physical address of a page. The page must be a full 4096 bytes in length and be aligned on a page boundary in physical memory. Only the 20 most-significant bits of the base address are given.

For paged or bipaged segments, the accessed, altered, and cacheable information is shown at the page level in the page-table entry.

Each page-table entry also has a valid flag. This flag can be either 1 or 0, depending on whether or not the page is present in physical memory. However, as described in a following section titled "Invalid Page Table Or Page-Table-Directory Entry," this flag will normally be set to 1.

The page rights field shows what operations (i.e., read or write) can be performed on the contents of the page. Page rights are discussed in a following section titled "Page Rights."

# Page-Table-Directory Entry

In a page-table-directory entry, the base address points to the base physical address of a page table. Page tables are one page in length and must be aligned on page boundaries in physical memory. Only the 20 most-significant bits of the base address are given in the page-table-directory entry.

Each page-table-directory entry has a valid flag and page rights field as in a page-table entry.

#### Invalid Page Table or Page-Table-Directory Entry

When a page is not in physical memory, the valid flag for its associated page-table entry is set to zero. The entry is then an invalid page-table entry. Any entry in a page table that does not point to a valid page must have its valid flag set to zero.

Bits 1 through 31 of an invalid page-table entry are not looked at by the processor, so they are available for software to use. A typical use of these bits is to store the location of the page in a mass storage device.

An invalid page-table-directory entry is the same as an invalid page-table entry, except that it indicates that its associated page table is not in memory. Again, bits 1 through 31 of an invalid page-table-directory entry are available to software and are typically used to store the mass storage address of the page table.

# Page Rights

When operating in virtual-addressing mode, the processor allows access to information in physical memory to be restricted on a page by page basis. The page rights field in the page table and page-table-directory entries determines the access rights for a particular page or group of pages, respectively.

The processor checks these page rights each time it accesses memory.

Three levels of access rights are allowed: no access, read-only, and read-write. The page rights bits are interpreted differently depending on the execution mode (i.e, user or supervisor) that the processor is operating in, as shown in Table 8-1.

Rights	Execution Mode	
	User	Supervisor
00	no access	read only
01	no access	read-write
10	read only	read-write
11	read-write	read-write

When the processor accesses a page in a paged segment (e.g., a paged region), the page rights from the page's page-table entry determine the access rights for the page. When the processor accesses a page in a bipaged segment, the minimum page rights from a page's associated page-table entry and page-table-directory entry determine the access rights for the page.

For example, in a bipaged segment, if the page rights in the page-table entry are read-write, but the page rights in the page-table-directory entry are read-only, the processor will be allowed only to read the page.

The inspect access instruction (**inspacc**) returns the effective page rights of the access path for a specified address. This instruction is useful in fault handling routines.

When the processor is in physical-addressing mode, virtual address translation is turned off, which disables page rights checking.

# ADDRESS TRANSLATION IN VIRTUAL MODE

This section describes how the processor uses the memory management data structures described in the previous sections to translate an SS into the location of a segment descriptor in a segment table. It also describes how the processor translates a 32-bit virtual address into a 32-bit physical address.

#### SS Translation

The processor can get an SS either from a system data structure or from an instruction operand issued by a kernel routine. Once it has received an SS, the processor translates it into an offset into the segment table. This offset is to the physical address of the least significant byte of the SS's associated segment descriptor.

As is described in the following sections, the translation is slightly different depending on whether the segment table is a small or a large table. In either case, the processor has already translated the SS for the segment table to determine the base address of the segment table itself.

# Small Segment Table SS Translation

The processor uses the following procedure to locate a segment descriptor in a small segment table:

- 1. If the segment index in the SS is greater than  $255_{10}$ , signal a segment-length fault.
- 2. Locate the segment descriptor whose base address is the base address of the segment table plus 16 times the segment index.
- 3. If the valid flag for the descriptor is set to 0, signal the invalid segment-descriptor fault.

#### Large Segment Table SS Translation

The processor uses the following procedure to locate a segment descriptor in a large segment table:

- 1. If the segment index is greater than  $262,143_{10}$ , signal the segment-length fault.
- 2. Get the address of the page table from the large-segment-table segment descriptor at segment index 8.
- 3. Locate the page-table entry, whose word offset is given by bits 14 through 23 of the SS.
- 4. If the valid flag in the page-table entry is 0, signal the invalid page-table entry fault.
- 5. Locate the segment descriptor whose base address is the base address from the page-table entry plus 16 times bits 6 through 13 of the SS.
- 6. If the valid flag for the descriptor is set to 0, signal the invalid segment-descriptor fault.

#### Virtual-Address Translation

The term virtual address refers to an address in the address space for the currently running process (i.e., the process address space). That address is a virtual address if the address space has been mapped into physical memory using the virtual memory mapping mechanism (i.e., region segments, page tables, and pages) described earlier in this chapter.

The processor receives addresses as operands in instructions. If the processor is operating in virtual-addressing mode, it assumes that any address it receives is a virtual address. The processor then translates the address automatically into a physical address.

Figure 8-15 shows how a virtual address is broken down into a physical address depending on whether the region that contains the address is a simple region, a paged region, or a bipaged region.

In the first step of the translation process, the processor uses bits 30-31 of the virtual address to determine which region the address is in. The processor already has SS's for the four regions of the current address space, so it uses the SS for the selected region to locate the segment descriptor for that region.

If the descriptor is an invalid segment-table entry, the invalid-descriptor fault is signaled. If the descriptor is not one for a simple, paged, or bipaged region, the action is unpredictable. If the valid flag in the descriptor is 0, the invalid segment-table entry fault is signaled.

The following procedures describe the rest of the translation process, depending on the type of region being accessed.



Figure 8-15: Virtual-Address Translation

# Simple-Region Address Translation

intل

- 1. If bits 12 through 29 of the virtual address are not zero, signal the segment length fault.
- 2. If the accessed flag in the segment descriptor is 0, set it. If the altered flag is 0 and the operation is a write, set it. If one or both of these flags need to be set, write the entry into memory as the completion of an atomic read-modify-write operation.
- 3. The physical address is the 20-bit base address from the segment descriptor, followed by bits 0 through 11 of the virtual address.

#### **Paged-Region Address Translation**

- 1. If bits 12 through 21 of the virtual address are not less than the value 64 \* (SIZE + 1), size being a field in the descriptor, signal the segment length fault.
- 2. Locate the page table using the base address from the segment descriptor.
- 3. Locate the page-table entry, whose word offset from the base of the page table is given by bits 12 through 21 of the virtual address.
- 4. If the valid flag in the page-table entry is 0, signal the invalid page-table entry fault.
- 5. If the page rights in the entry are 00 or 01 and the execution mode is user, if the page rights are 00 and the operation is a write while in supervisor mode, or if the page rights are 10 and the operation is a write while in user mode, signal the page-rights fault.
- 6. If the accessed flag in the page-table entry is 0, set it. If the altered flag is 0 and the operation is a write, set it. If one or both of these flags need to be set, write the entry into memory as the completion of an atomic read-modify-write operation.
- 7. The physical address is the 20-bit base address from the page-table entry, followed by bits 0 through 11 of the virtual address.

#### **Bipaged Region-Address Translation**

- 1. If bits 22 through 29 of the virtual address are not less than the value 64 \* (SIZE + 1), size being a field in the descriptor, signal the segment length fault.
- 2. Locate the page-table directory using the base address in the segment descriptor entry.
- 3. Locate the page-table-directory entry, whose word offset from the base is given by bits 22 through 29 of the virtual address.
- 4. If the valid flag in the entry is 0, signal the invalid page-table-directory entry fault.
- 5. If the page rights in the entry are 00 or 01 and the execution mode is user, if the page rights are 00 and the operation is a write while in supervisor mode, or if the page rights are 10 and the operation is a write while in user mode, signal the page-rights fault.
- 6. Locate the page table using the base address from the page-table-directory entry.
- 7. Locate the page-table entry, whose word offset from the base of the page table is given by bits 12 through 21 of the virtual address.
- 8. If the valid flag in the page-table entry is 0, signal the invalid page-table entry fault.

# intel

- 9. If the page rights in the entry are 00 or 01 and the execution mode is user, if the page rights are 00 and the operation is a write while in supervisor mode, or if the page rights are 10 and the operation is a write while in user mode, signal the page-rights fault.
- 10. If the accessed flag in the page-table entry is 0, set it. If the altered flag is 0 and the operation is a write, set it. If one or both of these flags need to be set, write the entry into memory as the completion of an atomic read-modify-write operation.
- 11. The physical address is the 20-bit base address from the page-table entry, followed by bits 0 through 11 of the virtual address.

# Load Physical Address Instruction

The load physical address instruction (**ldphy**) returns a physical address for a given virtual address. This instruction allows the kernel to determine the physical address of specific data structures when only the virtual address is known.

# Spanning Page, Region, and Address-Space Boundaries

Page boundaries are completely transparent, except in cases where a memory access spans a page boundary and the pages have different rights. For example, if one page has read-write access and the adjacent page has read-only access, a write operation that spans the page boundaries will fault when it gets to the read-only page.

Region boundaries are not transparent, because each region is mapped with a different segment descriptor and page table (or set of page tables). Multiple-byte accesses that cross region boundaries can thus cause unpredictable results. This limitation can be circumvented by mapping two or more regions with the same set of page tables. This technique is described in detail later in this chapter in the section titled "Making Region Boundaries Transparent."

#### NOTE

When a multiple-byte access spans the  $2^{32}$ -byte boundary of the address space, the address wraps around to zero.

# Translation Look-Aside Buffer

To make the virtual-to-physical address translation mechanism more efficient, the processor provides a special buffer to hold address-translation information. This buffer is called the translation look-aside buffer (TLB).

When the processor receives a virtual address to be translated, it first looks in the TLB to see if it has already been translated. If it has, the processor skips the translation process and takes the physical address from the TLB.

The information stored in the TLB includes the following:

• Segment descriptors for the segment-table segment and the region-3 segment

- Segment descriptors for the current PCB segment and the region-0, -1, and -2 segments
- The page-table entry for the page that contains the bottom of the interrupt stack
- Page-table entries for pages that have been addressed at some point in the control flow of the processor

Page-table-directory entries are not stored in the TLB.

Several IACs are provided for flushing (i.e., invalidating) specified entries in the TLB to insure that it is consistent with the current state of the segment table and page tables. These IAC messages are described in Chapter 12.

# **OPERATING-SYSTEM CONSIDERATIONS**

The preceding discussion of the processor's virtual-memory mechanism describes the data structures required to support virtual memory and how the processor uses these structures to translate virtual addresses into physical addresses. For this mechanism to work, however, the kernel must set up and maintain these memory-management data structures.

This section suggests some ways to configure the memory-management data structures and the kernel to allow convenient management of the virtual memory system.

#### **Address Space Structure**

inte

Of the four regions that make up the address space, the first three regions are specific to the currently running process. The processor gets the SS's for these regions from the PCB for the current process. The fourth region is shared by all processes. The processor gets the SS for this region from the processor control block (PRCB).

#### NOTE

The PRCB is an architecture-defined data structure. It is described in Chapter 9.

Figure 8-16 shows an example of how these regions might be used to best advantage.

The address space is divided into regions primarily to improve performance in multitasking applications that require a lot of process switching. For example, if the kernel is placed in region 3, it can be shared by all processes. It can then remain in memory on a process switch, which saves page swapping time. The kernel can also be protected from the various application programs running on the system by defining the access rights for the whole of region 3 as supervisor only.

The availability of regions also facilitates the separation and protection of the major parts of an application program running in the current process. Figure 8-16 shows an example of how the code (or program text), the static data, the heap (dynamically allocated data), and the stacks (user and supervisor) might be placed in regions 0, 1, and 2.



Figure 8-16: Address Space Structure

# intel

Placing code in its own region provides the same benefit as providing a separate region for the kernel. It allows the code to be shared by several processes, without requiring that it be swapped each time there is a process switch. This sharing is accomplished merely by giving each process that needs to use the code the same region 0 SS. Also, access rights to the code, which in this case would be read only, can be assigned on a region by region basis.

Placing the heap and the stacks in their own regions permits uninterrupted growth of these data structures. Here, access to the supervisor-stack pages might be restricted to supervisor mode only.

#### **Region Gaps and Boundaries**

Two aspects of this region mechanism should be noted in passing. First, by using separate page tables or groups of page tables for each region, the size of each region can be changed independently. If a region is less than 1G byte, which will commonly be the case, a gap is formed at the end of the region. Second, if an operand spans a 1G-byte region boundary, the result is unpredictable.

#### Making Region Boundaries Transparent

These factors should not ordinarily prove an obstacle in kernel design. However, if a design does require transparent region boundaries, it can be accomplished in the following manner.

As shown in Figure 8-17, the boundaries between regions 0, 1, and 2 can be made transparent by defining a single segment that is 3G bytes  $(3 * 2^{30})$  in size. This segment is represented by a single page-table directory with 768 entries. The segment descriptors for regions 0, 1, and 2 are then set to point to this page-table directory: the region-0 segment descriptor points to the base address of the page-table directory, the region-1 segment descriptor points to the base address plus 1024, and the region-2 segment descriptor points to the base address plus 2048.

Since region 3 is shared by all processes, this region would most likely be defined as a separate segment.

# Accessing System Data Structures

The kernel or an application program can only access that part of physical memory that has been mapped into the four regions of the current, process address space. This is because the processor does not provide any addressing modes that allow a program to access a memory location by means of an SS. The processor can make these accesses, but a program cannot.

An important implication of this restriction is that the kernel cannot access directly those segments that lie outside the current process address space (such as process segments, port segments, or the segment table itself) except in physical-addressing mode.



Figure 8-17: Making Region Boundaries Transparent

For the kernel to access the system defined data structures, their physical memory locations must be mapped both into the current process address space and into their individual segments.

This dual mapping can be done in a variety of ways. Figure 8-18 shows one of the simplest methods. Here, all of physical memory is mapped into region 3 of the address space. For example, if the physical memory size is 16M bytes, page tables for the first 16M bytes of region 3 point to the physical address space. The kernel can then read or write to any location in physical memory merely by accessing the first 16M bytes of region 3.

The data structures in physical memory are also mapped to other segments through separate SS's and segment-table entries. The processor then uses these SS's to access the segments through its virtual-memory translation mechanism.



Figure 8-18: Mapping of Physical Memory to Region 3

# Processor Management and Initialization

9

and the second second

# CHAPTER 9 PROCESSOR MANAGEMENT AND INITIALIZATION

This chapter describes the facilities for initializing and managing the operation of the 80960MC processor. Included is an overview of the processor-management facilities and a description of the processor-control block (PRCB). The steps required to initialize the processor are also given.

# **OVERVIEW OF PROCESSOR CONFIGURATIONS**

The 80960MC processor has been designed for use in a variety of system configurations. For the purpose of discussion in this manual, the possible configurations have been divided into the following three groups:

- Single-Task System -- Single processor performs a single task, often running from a ROM-based operating system kernel and application program.
- Multitasking System -- Single processor is able to perform several tasks concurrently.
- **Multiprocessing System** -- Multiple processors are able to perform several tasks, with the possibility of some tasks being processed simultaneously.

This chapter and the following chapters describe the processor and process management facilities the 80960MC processor provides. These facilities allow one or more 80960MC processors to be configured for any of the above applications. The facilities discussed are primarily software related, although some hardware considerations are also discussed.

The processor-management facilities are described in this chapter and in Chapters 10, 11, and 12. The process management facilities that support multitasking systems are described in Chapters 13 and 14. Chapter 15 describes the process and processor management facilities that support multiple-processor configurations.

#### **PROCESSES AND TASKS**

In this manual, the terms *process* and *task* are used somewhat synonymously; however, a slight distinction between the two words should be noted. The term process refers to a unit of work that the processor is able to schedule and work on. A process is defined by information contained in a process control block (PCB).

The term task is a more general term that refers to units of work that can be scheduled at either the processor or the operating-system kernel level. For example, a multitasking system is one that performs multiple tasks. Each task may be presented to the processor in the form of a process with its own PCB. Or, each task may be scheduled and dispatched in software, with all the tasks executed in the context of a single process.

# PROCESSOR-MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

The following processor-management facilities are used to initialize, communicate with, and control the processor:

- Instruction List
- System Data Structures
- Interrupts
- IACs
- Faults
- Process Scheduling and Dispatching

These facilities allow system hardware and the operating system or kernel to initialize the processor and initiate instruction execution. They also provide software or external agents with methods of interrupting the processor to change jobs or to service external I/O devices. In more advanced systems, these facilities provide a means of synchronizing multiple tasks and multiple processors.

The following paragraphs give an overview of these processor-management facilities.

#### Instruction List

At the most rudimentary level, the processor is controlled through a stream of instructions that the processor fetches from memory and executes one at a time. Once the processor is initialized, it begins executing instructions and continues until it is stopped or goes into an idle state.

# **System Data Structures**

The processor requires several system data structures that reside in memory. These data structures offer a means of configuring the processor to operate in a specific way. They also contain state information that the processor and kernel use to keep track of processor and process management functions.

Figure 9-1 shows the system data structures required to run a single process, using the virtualaddressing mode. In this illustration, the dashed lines indicate physical-address pointers and the solid lines indicate SS pointers.

The processor contains pointers to two of these data structures: the processor-control block (PRCB) and the segment table. The PRCB contains setup information for the processor itself and pointers to the other system data structures that the processor must access. There is one PRCB for each processor in a system.

The segment table provides address translation information for virtual-memory management, as described in Chapter 8. It should be noted that even though a segment table is not generally used when using strictly physical addressing, a rudimentary segment table is required to initialize the processor. This initialization segment table is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Processor Initialization."

int



#### Figure 9-1: System Data Structures

Figure 9-1 shows the pointer from the processor to the segment table as an SS pointer. When initializing a processor, the first segment-table pointer that the processor receives is a physical address pointer. (This pointer is supplied in the initial memory image.) It uses this physical address to get the SS pointer that it uses from then on. Even when using strictly physical addressing, the pointer to the segment table is always an SS pointer.

The PCB contains state information and processing requirements for the currently running process. In multiple-process systems, each process has its own PCB. A major function of the PCB is to provide pointers to regions 0, 1, and 2 of the address space for the process. (The pointer to Region 3 is given in the PRCB.) The PCB is described in detail in Chapter 13.

The interrupt table provides pointers to interrupt-handling procedures. The interrupt vector numbers act as indices into this table. For the purpose of handling interrupts, a separate interrupt stack is maintained in region 3 of the address space. The interrupt mechanism is described in Chapter 10.

The fault table provides pointers to fault-handling procedures. When the processor detects a fault, it generates a fault vector number internally that provides an index into the fault table. The fault mechanism is described in Chapter 12.

The system procedure table contains pointers to the kernel procedures, which are accessed using the system call (**calls**) mechanism. The system table structure is described in Chapter 4 in the section titled "Procedure Table."

The processor uses two stacks (not shown in Figure 9-1) for procedure calls: the local procedure stack and the (optional) supervisor stack. These stacks are described in Chapter 4.

#### Interrupts

The processor supports two methods of asynchronously requesting services from the processor: interrupts and IAC messages. Interrupts are the more common of the two.

An interrupt is a break in the control flow of a process so that the processor can handle a more urgent chore. Interrupt requests are generally sent to the processor from an external source, often to request I/O services. When the processor receives an interrupt request, it temporarily stops work on the current process and begins work on an interrupt-handling procedure. Upon completion of the interrupt-handling procedure, the processor generally returns to the process that was interrupted and continues work where it left off.

Interrupts also have a priority, which the processor uses to determine whether to service the interrupt immediately or to postpone service until work on the current process is complete.

#### IACs

The 80960MC processor provides an alternate method of communicating with other processors in the system called IAC messages, or simply IACs. Using the IAC mechanism, other agents on the system bus are able to communicate with the processor through messages that are exchanged in a reserved section of memory.

Like interrupts, IACs are used to request that the processor stop work on the current process and begin work on another chore. However, where an interrupt generally causes a temporary break in the execution of a process, an IAC often causes a permanent change in the control flow of the processor. An important application of IACs is to coordinate the activities of multiple processors.

The IAC mechanism is described in Chapter 11.

# Faults

While executing instructions, the processor is able to recognize certain conditions that could cause it to return an inappropriate result or that could cause it to go down a wrong and possibly disastrous path. One example of such a condition is a divisor operand of zero in a divide operation. Another example is an attempt to access a memory location in a page that is not in physical memory. These conditions are called faults.

The processor handles faults almost the same way that it handles interrupts. When the processor detects a fault, it automatically stops its current processing activity and begins work on a fault-handling procedure.

# **Process Scheduling and Dispatching**

The processor also provides some advanced process-management facilities that are able to signal the processor internally to suspend the process it is currently working on and begin work on another process. These features, which are useful in the scheduling and dispatching of processes, are described in Chapter 14.

# PROCESSOR-CONTROL BLOCK

The processor is controlled through the PRCB, which contains information related to the processor's operation. The PRCB is 176 bytes in length and is contained in physical memory, not in a segment. Each CPU processor in a 80960MC-based system has its own PRCB. The processor locates and reads its PRCB at initialization by means of a physical-address pointer to the first byte of the block.

The processor caches parts of the PRCB on chip and updates these cached fields internally. After the processor has initially cached these fields, it does not check or update the original PRCB in memory. IACs are provided that allow those parts of the PRCB that the processor has copied into internal storage to be changed. These IACs are discussed later in this chapter in the section titled "Changing the PRCB." This section also lists the fields of the PRCB that are cached on the chip.

Figure 9-2 shows the structure of the PRCB and Figure 9-3 shows the structure of the *processor-controls* word in the PRCB. The following paragraphs describe the use of each of the fields in the PRCB.

# Processor-Controls Word

The *processor-controls* word contains several miscellaneous pieces of information to control processor operation. The function of the various fields in this word are as follows.

The *multiprocessor-preempt* flag, when set, enables a high-level process preemption function that allows multiple processors to handle preempting processes. This function is only useful in multiple-processor systems and should be set to 0 for single-processor systems. Refer to the section titled "Process Preemption" in Chapter 14 for more information on this function.



Figure 9-2: Processor-Control Block (PRCB)

int





The *state* field determines the state of the processor when it is initialized or restarted. The encoding of this field is shown in Table 9-1.

State Field	State	
00	Stopped	
01	Reserved	
10	Idle	
11	Process executing	

Table 9-1: Encoding of the State Field

The section later in this chapter titled "Processor and Process States" describes the activities of the processor while it is in these different states.

The *nonpreempt-limit* field sets a threshold priority that the processor uses in determining whether or not to allow one process to preempt another. If the priority of the preempting process is at or below that of the current process or the nonpreempt limit, the processor will not preempt the current process. This field is used during process preemption and on returns from interrupts. Further discussion of this limit is given in Chapter 10 in the section titled "Process-Executing-State Interrupts" and in Chapter 15 in the section titled "Multiprocessor Preemption."

The *addressing-mode* flag determines the address-translation mode of the processor: physical addressing (0) or virtual addressing (1). The section later in this chapter titled "Address-Translation Modes" discusses these modes.

The *check-dispatch-port* flag instructs the processor to check the dispatch port for processes of higher priority than the current process, during returns from interrupts. Only the processor uses this flag. Software should set it to 0 at processor initialization or restart. A discussion of

how the processor uses this flag is given in Chapter 10 in the section titled "Process-Executing-State Interrupt" and in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Process Preemption."

The *interim-priority* field sets a threshold priority that is used to block IAC messages from being sent to the processor when it is executing the **send**, send service (**sendserv**), and **signal** instructions. This field is used in conjunction with the write-external-priority flag as described in Chapter 15 in the section titled "Multiprocessor Preemption."

The *write-external-priority* flag instructs the processor to write the priority of the current process to the IAC-message-control field whenever a process switch, an interrupt (not caused by an IAC message), or the execution of a **modpc** instruction (modify process controls) occurs. The use of this flag is described in Chapter 15 in the sections titled "Receiving and Handling External IACs" and "Multiprocessor Preemption."

The remaining bits in the processor-controls word (bit 0, bit 4, and bits 12 through 30) are reserved. These bits should be set to 0 at processor initialization or restart and should not be altered after that.

# System-Data-Structure Pointers

As is shown in Figure 9-1, the PRCB contains pointers to several system data structures, which are summarized in the following paragraphs.

The *current-process-SS* field points to the PCB for the process that is currently bound to the processor. (The mechanism for binding a process to the processor is described in Chapters 13 and 14.)

If the processor is restarted in the process-executing state, the processor binds itself to the process specified in the current-process-SS field. For single process systems this is the only process bind action that is carried out.

For systems that execute multiple processes, the current-process-SS field is updated each time a new process is dispatched and bound to the processor.

When the processor is not in the process-executing state, this field is not used. Also, this field is not cached on the processor chip.

The *dispatch port SS* field points to the dispatch port that the processor goes to for new processes during a dispatching operation. This field is only used for multiple process systems that use the processor's high-level process management functions.

The interrupt table physical address points to the first byte of the interrupt table.

The *interrupt-stack pointer* points to the top (first available byte) of the interrupt stack. In the virtual-addressing mode, the processor interprets the interrupt-stack pointer as a virtual address in the current-process address space. (When using the virtual-addressing mode, the interrupt stack should be placed in region 3 of the process address space.) When using the physical-addressing mode, the interrupt-stack pointer is interpreted as a physical address.
The region 3 SS points to the region segment that contains region 3.

The system procedure-table SS points to the system procedure table.

The *fault-table physical address* points to the first byte of the fault table.

#### **Miscellaneous PRCB Fields**

The following fields in the PRCB provide miscellaneous processor-control functions.

The *idle time* field contains a long ordinal that gives the time that the processor has spent in the idle or idle-interrupted state. Idle timing is discussed later in this chapter in the section titled "Idle Timing."

When a system-error fault occurs, the type and subtype of the fault are stored in bits 16 through 23 and bits 0 through 7 of the *system error fault* field, respectively. The fault record is stored in the *system-error fault record* field. System-error faults are described in Chapter 12.

The *resumption record* field contains the intermediate state of an instruction that has been interrupted. This information is generally stored in the PCB for the interrupted process. However, when the processor is interrupted while in the idle-interrupted state, the resumption information is stored in the PRCB. This field should be set to all zeros at initialization or restart of the processor and not accessed by software thereafter.

The processor uses *multiprocessor preemption* field while handling preempting processes in multiprocessor applications. The use of this field is described in Chapter 15 in the section titled "Preemption Control."

The remaining fields in the PRCB (bytes 8 through 11, bytes 28 through 31, bytes 44 through 47, bytes 60 through 63, and bytes 76 through 79) are reserved. They should be set to all zeros at initialization or restart and not accessed by software thereafter.

#### Changing the PRCB

At initialization, on a restart processor IAC, or on a warmstart processor IAC, the processor reads the following fields from the PRCB in memory and caches them:

- Processor controls
- Dispatch port SS
- Interrupt table physical address
- Interrupt stack pointer
- Region 3 SS
- System procedure table SS
- Fault table physical address
- Idle time

In general, to change any of the PRCB fields that have been cached on the processor chip, the kernel must first modify the PRCB in memory, then restart the processor using the restart processor IAC. The processor then rereads the PRCB and reloads the cached fields in its internal cache.

The store processor IAC may also be useful here. This IAC causes any of the cached parts of the PRCB that have been changed since initialization or the last restart to be written to the PRCB in memory. Software is thus able to examine the current state of the PRCB, modify it, then restart the processor.

The modify-processor-controls IAC allows any of the fields in the processor-controls word, except the state field, to be changed without restarting the processor. If this IAC is used to change the state field, the processor must be restarted for the change in state to become effective.

#### PRIORITIES

The processor provides a priority mechanism for determining the order in which processes and interrupts are worked on. Priorities range from 0 to 31, with 31 being the highest priority. Each process and interrupt vector is assigned a priority.

In multitasking systems, process priorities are used to determine which processes are worked on first. Process priorities also allow a process of higher priority to preempt the current process if the current process has a lower priority. The term preempt means that the current process is suspended and the preempting process is bound to the processor.

Interrupt priorities serve two functions. First, they determine if the processor will service an interrupt immediately or delay servicing it with respect to the priority of the current process. Second, they determine which interrupt of several interrupts is serviced first.

The processor always handles an IAC as soon as it is received (i.e., IACs are assumed to have a priority of 31). However, in certain system designs IACs can be prioritized. Here, external hardware is required to compare the priority of the IAC with that of the current process, then determine whether to send the IAC message to the processor immediately or reject it. The M82965 is designed to perform this operation.

#### PROCESSOR AND PROCESS STATES

The processor has three different operating states: process executing, idle, and stopped. In addition, a process can be in either of two states: excuting and interrupted. When the processor and process states are combined, five states are possible for the the processor and its current process: process executing, process interrupted, idle, idle interrupted, and stopped. The processor is placed in one of three states (process executing, idle, or stopped) at initialization or restart. After that, the processor and software control the state of the processor and process.

The processor can switch between the process-executing, process-interrupted, idle, and idleinterrupted states. However, the processor never switches from the process-executing or idle states to the stopped state, unless a system-error fault occurs. Software can change the state of the processor in either of two ways: (1) restart the processor in the desired state, or (2) issue a stop processor IAC message.

The following paragraphs describe the five combined processor and process states.

#### Process-Executing and Process-Interrupted State

In the process-executing state, the processor is executing the process specified in the current process SS field of the PRCB.

If the processor is interrupted while in the process-executing state, it saves the state of the current process, switches to the process-interrupted state, and services the interrupt. Upon returning from the interrupt handler, the processor resumes work on the current process.

#### Stopped State

In the stopped state the processor ceases all activity. The only task it can perform while in this state is to service an IAC. If the IAC handling action does not result in a change in the processor's state, the processor switches back to the stopped state when it finishes the IAC handling action.

The only way to get the processor out of the stopped state is to restart the processor in a different state.

#### Idle and Idle-Interrupted States

The idle and idle-interrupted states are used primarily with the processor's high-level processmanagement functions. Here, the processor switches to the idle state when it examines the dispatch port and finds no processes available for processing. The idle state eliminates the need for the kernel to provide a special process for the processor to run when no other processes are scheduled.

Note that even if a process is available at the dispatch port, the processor is considered to be in the idle state while it is "between" processes (i.e., after suspending the current process and before dispatching another process).

The processor may be interrupted while in the idle state. While servicing the interrupt, the processor switches to the idle-interrupted state. Upon completion of the interrupt routine, the processor returns to the idle state and begins polling the dispatch port again for a process to run.

While in the idle state, the processor polls the dispatch port once every tick (i.e., once every 256 clock cycles). When running at a 16-MHz clock rate, this polling rate equates to once every 8 microseconds. (Refer to the section later in this chapter titled "Processor Timing" for more information on ticks.)

The other use of the idle state is at initialization. During the first stage of initialization, the processor is placed in the idle state. From there, the processor goes into the idle-interrupted state to execute initialization code.

If a system does not have a dispatch port, the processor will never go into the idle state except at initialization. If the processor is restarted in the idle state when there is no dispatch port, the behavior of the processor is unpredictable.

#### ADDRESS-TRANSLATION MODES

As was discussed in Chapter 8, the processor can operate in either of two address-translation modes: physical-addressing mode and virtual-addressing mode. The addressing-mode flag in the processor controls determines which address-translation mode the processor is using.

These modes only apply to the translation of addresses in the address space for the current process. In the physical-addressing mode, all addresses are assumed to be physical addresses and are sent out on the bus unchanged. In the virtual-addressing mode, addresses are assumed to be virtual addresses. The processor memory-management unit (MMU) then translates these addresses into physical addresses before they are sent out on the bus.

Regardless of the mode, SS's are treated the same. When the processor receives an SS, it locates the selected segment in memory and uses an internally generated or explicit offset to access the selected byte in the segment. Thus, even if the processor is operating in physical-addressing mode, it still uses the SS's in the PRCB to locate system data structures. Likewise, privileged supervisor-mode instructions that use SS's as operands are treated the same way in both address-translation modes.

#### Changing the Address-Translation Mode

Generally, the kernel will run the processor in one address-translation mode or the other. If strictly physical addressing of memory is used, the processor will be run in physical-addressing mode, and if a virtual-memory system is supported, the processor will run in virtual-addressing mode.

It is possible to design a system in which the address-translation mode is changed on occasion. In such instances, the change of mode can be accomplished in either of two ways.

The safest way is to establish an up-to-date image of the PRCB in memory, perhaps by using the store processor IAC. The addressing-mode flag is then changed and the processor is restarted.

The other way is to use the modify-processor-controls IAC. When this IAC is used to change the address-mode flag, the processor reads the new value and changes its mode accordingly.

Changing the address-translation mode in this manner can have serious consequences. For example, clearing the flag causes the IP for the next instruction to be interpreted as a physical address, which might take the processor down an unpredictable path. Also, the system may be maintaining a memory cache for the processor. Changing the address-translation mode would cause the cached addresses to be interpreted differently.

If the address-translation mode is to be changed in this latter manner, the safest way to do so is to map the addresses of at least the code and the stacks into the same locations in both the virtual and physical address spaces. It will be necessary to purge the instruction cache of the processor (using the purge instruction cache IAC).

#### **PROCESSOR TIMING**

The processor provides several counting functions such as process execution timing and idle timing. Counting for these functions is in terms of ticks.

#### **Duration of a Tick**

For the 80960MC processor, a tick is defined as 256 external clock periods (128 internal clock periods). For a 16-MHz processor clock rate (32-MHz external clock), a tick is then 8 microseconds. For a 20-MHz processor clock rate, a tick is 6.4 microseconds.

#### **Idle Timing**

The idle time field of the PRCB is used to count the amount of time that the processor is in the idle state. When the processor goes into the idle state it begins incrementing the count in the idle time field one count for each tick. When the processor switches to another processor state, idle-time counting is stopped.

The idle time field, like others in the PRCB, may be cached in the processor. If this is the case, the value must be periodically written out to the PRCB in memory so software can read it. The interval that the processor uses to update the count is once every 32 ticks.

The processor writes the idle time field periodically, but it only reads this field at initialization. As a result, if software changes the idle time field after initialization, the count will be inconsistent.

#### NOTE

If the interrupt handler sets the timing flag in the process controls word, the processor will begin counting idle time for the interrupted state. This practice is not advisable because it can cause unpredictable events, most notably an unwanted time-slice fault.

#### **INSTRUCTION SUSPENSION**

When a process is suspended or interrupted while the processor is in the midst of executing an instruction, the processor does one of three things before it suspends the process or services the interrupt:

- 1. It completes the instruction.
- 2. It terminates the instruction and sets the process state so that it is as if execution of that instruction had not yet begun.

3. It suspends the instruction and saves the necessary resumption information so that execution of the instruction can be continued when the processor begins work on the process again. This course of action is generally reserved for instructions that have a long execution time and that alter the internal and external process state as they execute.

Which of these steps the processor takes depends on the instruction being executed. However, whichever step it takes is transparent to the software. The processor automatically saves the necessary state information so that work on the process can be resumed with no loss of information.

Refer to the section in Chapter 13 titled "Resumption Record" for more information on how resumption information for a suspended instruction is saved when a process is suspended. Refer to the section in Chapter 10 titled "Interrupt-Handling Action" for more information on how resumption information is saved when an interrupt is serviced.

#### SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS FOR PROCESSOR MANAGEMENT

The processor-management facilities described earlier in this chapter allow the processor to be configured and operated in a variety of ways. This section lists the data structures that the kernel must supply to operate the processor in a single-task configuration. (Chapter 14 lists the required data structures for a multitasking system that uses the processor's high-level process management facilities and Chapter 15 lists the requirements for a multiprocessing system.)

When using the processor in a single-task system, the kernel must provide the following items:

- Initial Memory Image
- Set of System Data Structures
- Address Space
- Stacks
- Code

The initial memory image comprises the minimum data structures that the processor needs to initialize the system. It is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Initial Memory Image."

As part of the initialization procedure, a more complete set of system data structures are established in memory. If the virtual-addressing mode of the processor is to be used, all of the data structures shown in Figure 9-1 must be set up. These data structures include a PRCB, segment table, PCB, interrupt table, interrupt stack, fault table, and the four address-space regions for the current process. If the user-supervisor protection mechanism is not going to be used, a system procedure table is not required.

#### NOTE

When using the virtual-addressing mode, the kernel code and the interrupt stack would typically be located in region 3 of the process address space. However, in a single-process system, these items can be located anywhere since only one address space is used.

If the processor is going to be used strictly in physical-addressing mode, all of the data structures listed above must be set up except the four address space regions and the system procedure table. The system procedure table is not required; however, it can be set up and used in a physical-addressing environment.

Note that when operating in physical-addressing mode, a segment table is still required. This segment table is part of the initial system image and is generally not used after the first stage of initialization. The required entries for this initialization segment table are given in the section later in this chapter titled "Initialization Segment Table."

Figure 9-4 shows the fields in the PRCB and the processor-controls word that are used in a single-task configuration, using the virtual-addressing mode. When using strictly physical addressing, the system procedure table SS is not required. (Chapter 10 describes the required fields for the interrupt table and interrupt stack; Chapter 12 describes the fault table; and Chapter 13 describes the PCB.)

Two stacks are required: an interrupt stack and a local (or user) procedure stack. The initial stack pointer for the interrupt stack is given in the PRCB; the initial stack pointer for the local-procedure stack is given in the local registers and is established by initialization code. If the user-supervisor protection mechanism is to be used, a supervisor stack must also be provided. The initial stack pointer for this stack is given in the system-procedure table. The supervisor stack can be placed anywhere in the address space.

Finally, three levels of code are required: initialization code, kernel code, and user (or applications) code. The initialization code is part of the initial memory image. The starting IP for the initialization code is also provided in the initial memory image. This IP will be interpreted as a physical address or a virtual address depending on the setting of the addressing-mode flag in the initial processor-controls word.

When using the virtual-addressing mode, the kernel code and user code are located in the current process-address space; when using the physical-addressing mode, this code is located in the physical address space.

The starting IP for the kernel code or the user code, whichever is run first, is provided in the RIP word in the first frame of the kernel or user stack. One of the jobs of the initialization code is thus to establish a stack in memory for the kernel or user code to use. The FP for this stack is stored in global register field g15 of the PCB.

#### **PROCESSOR INITIALIZATION**

This section describes how to initialize the 80960MC processor. It defines the mechanism that the processor uses to establish its initial state and begin instruction execution. It also describes some general guidelines for writing code to complete the initialization of the processor for specific applications.

This initialization procedure can be used in both single-processor and multiprocessing systems. In a multiprocessing system, one processor generally performs the first stage of initialization in which an initial memory image is established and instruction execution begins. intطْ



Figure 9-4: Required Fields in PRCB for Single-Task Configuration

In the next stage of initialization, the initializing processor copies additional system data structures into memory to build the memory image up to a more useful level. At this point the processor is generally restarted with this expanded memory image.

Finally, if there are additional processors in the system, the initializing processor initializes these processors by restarting them one at a time.

#### **Initial Memory Image**

Figure 9-5 shows the minimum requirements for the memory image at initialization. This image will generally be held in ROM.

#### Check-Sum Words

The first eight words (called the check-sum words) must be in physical memory locations  $0000000_{16}$  to  $0000001F_{16}$ . The first of these words is a physical-address pointer to the base of the initialization segment table. The second word is a physical-address pointer to the base of the initialization PRCB.

The fourth word is the instruction pointer to the first instruction of the initialization code. This address can be either a physical address or a virtual address, depending on the address-translation mode specified in the processor-controls word of the initialization PRCB.

The remaining words (word 3 and words 5 through 8) are check words. During the first stage of initialization of the processor, these words are added to the pointers for the initialization segment table, PRCB, and initialization code to determine a check sum. The check words must be chosen such that when the check sum is computed (as shown in initialization algorithm in Figure 9-6), the result is equal to 0.

#### **Initialization Segment Table**

The initialization segment table has two required entries: one for the segment table itself (which must be located at entry 8) and one for the region 3 segment. When using the virtual-addressing mode, a segment descriptor must also be provided for at least one PCB. The valid bit for each of these segment descriptors must be set to 1.

The segment descriptor for the segment table contains the base physical address of the table. This address may be the same as the address given in word 1 of the check-sum words. If the address is different, the processor essentially switches to a new segment table, which would have to be part of the initial memory image.

When operating strictly in physical-addressing mode, the region 3 segment will generally not be accessed. However, a segment descriptor is still required for it in the segment table. The base-address pointer in this segment descriptor does not have to be valid.

Even though segment tables have a minimum size of 4096 bytes, only the three entries described above must be mapped into the initial memory image. Additional segment descriptors may be defined, depending on the needs of the initialization code.





#### **Initialization PRCB**

The initialization PRCB must have at least three entries: the processor-controls word, the interrupt-stack pointer, and the region-3 SS. The state field in the processor-controls word should be set to  $10_2$  (idle or idle-interrupts state).

The interrupt-stack pointer can be a virtual address in region 3 or a physical address depending on the initial address-translation mode.

Although the region-3 SS must be specified, its associated segment descriptor in the segment table does not have to point to an actual region segment in memory, unless the initialization code and interrupt stack are to be contained in this region. Note that as described in the previous section, the valid bit for the region 3 segment descriptor does have to be set.

Additional fields may be included in the PRCB, again depending on the needs of the initialization code. For example, if faults can occur during the second stage of initialization, the fault-table physical address should be valid. Likewise, if interrupts can occur, the interrupttable physical address should be valid.

#### **Initialization Code**

The initialization instruction list can be mapped directly to physical memory or through region 3, depending on the initial address-translation mode.

#### **Building a Memory Image**

The initial memory image shown in Figure 9-5 contains the minimum data structures required for the processor to initialize itself and begin executing code. All of the required initialization data structures are generally stored in ROM.

To build a useful system, additional data structures are required, such as an interrupt table, a fault table, a system procedure table, a set of kernel procedures, a set of stacks, and a heap. Some of these data structures can be located in ROM along with the initial memory image; however, others must be in RAM because they must be writable.

Table 9-2 lists the various system data structures and shows which can be in ROM and which must be in RAM.

The following paragraphs give the system limitations if a data structure is included in ROM.

The segment table may be contained in ROM, providing it is not going to be changed. Otherwise, an expended segment table should be copied to RAM as part of the second stage of initialization. Also, any referenced and modified bits should already be set.

Data Structure	May Be in ROM	May Be in ROM with Limitations	Must Be in RAM
Initial memory image	X		
PRCB		X	
PCB		X	
Segment table		X	
Page tables		X	
Stack and heap			X
Interrupt table			X
Fault table	X		
Kernel Procedures	X	· ·	

Table 9-2: ROM and RAM Resident Data Struc
--

Part of the second stage of initialization should be to copy a new PRCB into RAM. This PRCB along with the new segment table will then be used after the processor is restarted.

The PRCB may remain in ROM; however, if it does, the following restrictions will apply:

- 1. Multiple processes cannot be executed. To execute multiple processes, the processor must be able to write the SS for the current process in the PRCB.
- 2. System-error faults will not be recoverable. On a system-error fault, the processor writes the fault record into the PRCB. If the PRCB is in ROM, this information is lost. One way around this limitation is to position the PRCB over a ROM/RAM boundary such that the fault record fields fall in RAM.
- 3. The processor will not be able to handle interrupts properly that occur during the execution of an instruction with long execution times. This is because a resumption record cannot be stored in the PRCB.

The PCB should be in RAM. However, if it is left in ROM, the following restrictions apply:

- 1. The processor will only be able to run a single process, and this process must not time out.
- 2. Interrupts that create a resumption record will not work properly because the record cannot be stored in the PCB.
- 3. The initial state of the global registers is fixed, so the stack pointer cannot be changed before the process is run.
- 4. The timer will not be usable since the processor periodically writes out the current value of the timer to the PCB.

Page tables are generally used to support systems that allow dynamic memory allocation, so they will generally need to be in RAM. If they are contained in ROM, paging of the address space will not be allowed, since the processor will not be able to access the valid, altered, and accessed bits.

An alternative would be to have the page tables for fixed data structures in ROM and those for address spaces or data structures that will change in RAM.

The stack, heap, and interrupt table must all be in RAM for the processor to operate properly. The reason the interrupt table must be in RAM is that it contains the interrupt pending fields, which the processor must be able to write to.

The fault table can be in ROM, providing it will never be necessary to relocate the fault handler routines.

The kernel procedures can be in either ROM or RAM or both, depending on the design of the kernel.

#### **TYPICAL INITIALIZATION SCENARIO**

Initialization of the 80960MC processor typically is handled in two stages. In the first stage of initialization, the processor performs a self test and reads pointers from the initial memory image. During the second stage, the processor executes initialization code designed to build the remainder of the memory image so that execution of applications code can begin.

#### First Stage of Initialization

The following procedure shows the steps that system hardware and the processor go through in the first stage of initialization. The algorithm in Figure 9-6 gives the details of this procedure.

- 1. Hardware asserts the RESET pin on the processor.
- 2. The processor samples LPN to get its local processor number (1 or 0). (LPN and STAR-TUP are signals that come from multiplexed information received on several processor pins.)
- 3. The processor asserts the  $\overline{\text{FAILURE}}$  pin and performs a self test. If the processor passes the self test, it deasserts the  $\overline{\text{FAILURE}}$  pin.
- 4. The processor samples STARTUP to determine whether it is the initializing processor (1) or not (0). If the processor is the initializing processor, it continues with the initialization procedure; if it is not, it goes into the stopped state. (In multiprocessing systems, all processors except the initializing processor are put in the stopped state.)
- 5. The processor reads the 8 check-sum words and checks that the check sum is 0.
- 6. Using the contents of the check-sum words, the processor determines the location of the initialization segment table, PRCB, and first instruction to be executed.
- 7. The processor sets its process priority to 31 (highest possible) and its state to idle interrupted.
- 8. The processor clears any latched external interrupt or IAC signals. This means that the processor will not service any interrupts or IACs prior to beginning instruction execution.
- 9. The processor begins executing the initialization instruction list.

### intel



#### Figure 9-6: Algorithm for First Stage of Initialization Procedure

After self test, the processor establishes its initial state. For the initializing processor this state is idle; for any other processors in the system this state is stopped. Also at initialization, the trace controls are set to zero; the breakpoint registers are disabled; and the process controls are set to zero (except for the execution mode, which is set to supervisor, and the priority, which is set to 31).

When the initializing processor begins instruction execution, it goes into idle-interrupted state. The initialization code is thus treated as a special interrupt-handler procedure.

#### Second Stage of Initialization

The processor activity during the second stage of initialization, which occurs once the processor begins instruction execution, is up to software. In general, this stage of initialization is used to copy or create additional data structures in memory, such as page tables, one or more PRCBs, the interrupt table, the system-procedure table, and the fault table (if not in the initial memory image).

To complete the initialization procedure, software will ordinarily bind a process to the processor to begin process execution. Refer to Chapter 13 for a full discussion of binding a process to a processor.

Once these jobs are completed, the processor can begin executing applications code.

Appendix D gives an example of the 80960MC code that might be used to carry out this second stage of initialization.

A common initialization technique is to create a new segment table and PRCB in memory along with the other system data structures that are placed in memory in the second initialization stage. The processor is then restarted using the new segment table and PRCB. (The code in Appendix D uses this technique.)

A processor is restarted using the restart IAC. The restart IAC message includes new physicaladdress pointers to the segment table and PRCB. The processor reads the new PRCB, then begins instruction execution according to the control information contained in the PRCB.

In a multiprocessing system, one of the processor's tasks following restart would be to complete the initialization of the other processors in the system. Further discussion of the initialization of multiprocessing systems is given in Chapter 15.



# 

an Maria an Antonio and an anna an an an Anna an Anna an Anna. Anna

/

#### CHAPTER 10 INTERRUPTS

This chapter describes the 80960MC processor's interrupt handling facilities. It also describes how interrupts are signaled.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE INTERRUPT FACILITIES**

An interrupt is a temporary break in the control stream of a process so that the processor can handle another chore. Interrupts are generally requested from an external source. The interrupt request either contains a vector number or else points to a vector that tells the processor what chore to do while in the interrupted state. When the processor has finished servicing the interrupt, it generally returns to the process that it was last working on when the interrupt occurred and resumes execution where it left off.

The processor provides a mechanism for servicing interrupts, which uses an implicit procedure call to a selected interrupt-handling procedure, called an *interrupt handler*.

When an interrupt occurs, the current state of the process is saved. If the interrupt occurs during an instruction that requires many machine cycles, the instruction state is also saved and execution of the instruction is suspended.

The processor then creates a new frame on the interrupt stack and executes an implicit call to the interrupt handler selected with the interrupt vector.

Upon returning from the interrupt handler, the processor switches back to the process that was running when the interrupt occurred, restores this process to the state it was in when the interrupt occurred, and resumes work on the process.

Another feature of this interrupt handling mechanism is that it allows interrupts to be prioritized. If an interrupt is signaled that has the same or a lower priority than the process that the processor is currently working on, the processor saves the interrupt and services it at a later time. Interrupts that are waiting to be serviced are called *pending interrupts*.

#### SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS FOR INTERRUPT HANDLING

To use the processor's interrupt handling facilities, software must provide the following items in memory:

- Interrupt Table
- Interrupt Handler Routines
- Interrupt Stack

These items are generally established in memory as part of the initialization procedure. Once these items are present in memory and pointers to them have been entered in the appropriate system data structures, the processor then handles interrupts automatically and independently from software. The requirements for these items are given in following sections of this chapter.

#### **VECTORS AND PRIORITY**

Each interrupt vector is 8 bits in length, which allows up to 256 unique vectors to be defined. In practice, vectors 0 through 7 cannot be used, and vectors 244 through 247 and 249 through 251 are reserved and should not be used by software. Vector 248 is reserved for a processor generated interrupt called a *system-error interrupt*. This interrupt is described in Chapter 12 in the section titled "System-Error Interrupt."

Each vector has a predefined priority, which is defined by the following expression:

priority = vector/8

Thus, at each priority level, there are 8 possible vectors (e.g., vectors 8 through 15 have a priority of 1, vectors 16 through 23 a priority of 2, and so on to vectors 246 through 255, which have a priority of 31).

The processor uses the priority of an interrupt to determine whether or not to service the interrupt immediately or to delay service. If the interrupt priority is greater than the priority of the current process, the processor services the interrupt immediately; if the interrupt priority is equal to or lower than the priority of the current process, the processor saves the interrupt vector as a pending interrupt so that it can be serviced after work on the current process is complete.

A priority-31 interrupt is always serviced immediately.

Note that the lowest process priority allowed is 0. If the current process has a 0 priority, a priority-0 interrupt will never be accepted. This is why vectors 0 through 7 cannot be used. In fact, there are no entries provided for these vectors in the interrupt table.

#### INTERRUPT TABLE

The interrupt table contains instruction pointers (addresses in the address space) to interrupt handlers. This table is located in physical memory and must be aligned on a word boundary. The processor determines the location of the interrupt table by means of a physical address pointer in the PRCB.

As shown in Figure 10-1, the interrupt table contains one entry (i.e., one pointer) for each allowable vector. The structure of an interrupt-table entry is given at the bottom of Figure 10-1. Each interrupt procedure must begin on a word boundary, so the two least-significant bits of the entry are set to 0.

intel



Figure 10-1: Interrupt Table

The instruction pointers can be either physical or virtual addresses. Which kind of address is used depends on the address-translation mode that the processor is set for: physical addressing or virtual addressing.

The first 36 bytes of the interrupt table are used to record pending interrupts. This section of the table is divided into two fields: pending priorities (byte-offset 0 through 3) and pending interrupts (byte-offset 4 through 35).

The pending priorities field contains a 32-bit string in which each bit represents an interrupt priority. The bit number in the string represents the priority number. When the processor posts a pending interrupt in the interrupt table, the bit corresponding to the interrupt's priority is set. For example, if an interrupt with a priority of 10 is posted in the interrupt table, bit 10 is set.

The pending interrupts field contains a 256-bit string in which each bit represents an interrupt vector. For example, byte-offset 4 is reserved, byte-offset 5 is for vectors 8 through 15, byte-offset 6 is for vectors 16 through 23, and so on. When a pending interrupt is logged, its corresponding bit in the pending interrupt field is set.

This encoding of the pending priority and pending interrupt fields permits the processor to first check if there are any pending interrupts with a priority greater than the current process and then to determine the vector number of the interrupt with the highest priority. Software should set these fields to 0 at initialization and not access these fields after that.

#### INTERRUPT-TABLE SHARING

One of the reasons that the interrupt table is located in physical memory is to enable systems that use multiple processors to share the interrupt table. Then when one processor receives an interrupt and posts it as a pending interrupt in the interrupt table, another processor can service the interrupt. Refer to the section in Chapter 15 titled "Interrupt Handling in a Multiprocessor System" for further information on interrupt table sharing.

#### **INTERRUPT-HANDLER PROCEDURES**

An interrupt handler is a procedure that is designed to perform a specific action that has been associated with a particular interrupt vector. For example, a typical job for an interrupt handler is to read a character from a keyboard.

#### Location of Interrupt Handler

The interrupt handler procedures can be located in physical memory or virtual memory, depending on the address-translation mode to be used. If the procedures are located in virtual memory, they are generally mapped in region 3 of the address space so that they are available to all processes. As stated in the previous section, each procedure must begin on a word boundary.

#### Interrupt-Handler Restrictions

The processor execution mode is always switched to supervisor while an interrupt is being handled. The pages that contain interrupt handler routines may thus have their page rights set for supervisor only access.

When an interrupt-handler procedure is called, the states of the process controls and arithmetic controls for the interrupted process are saved. However, the interrupt handler shares the other resources of the interrupted process, in particular the global registers and the address space. This sharing of resources imposes two important restrictions on the interrupt handler procedures.

First, the interrupt handler procedures must preserve and restore the state of any of the resources that it uses. For example, the processor allocates a set of local registers to the interrupt handler, just as it does on a local procedure call. If the interrupt handler needs to use the global or floating-point registers, however, it should save their contents before using them and restore them before returning from the interrupt.

Second, the interrupt handler should not do anything that would cause the interrupted process to be unbound from the processor and rescheduled, because doing so would leave the processor in an indeterminate state. To avoid rescheduling the process, an interrupt handler should not use the **sendserv** (send service), **receive**, and **wait** instructions. Also, the interrupt handler should not enable timing (set the timing flag in the process controls register), since this can result in an end-of-time-slice event that can also cause the interrupted process to be rescheduled.

The **resumprcs** instruction (resume process) can be used; however, the state of the interrupted process will be lost.

An interrupt-handler procedure can also be called when the processor is not currently executing a process. One example of this situation is when the processor receives an interrupt while it is servicing another interrupt. Here, execution of the **ldtime** instruction (load process time) or the **condrec** instruction (conditional receive) returns an undefined result.

#### INTERRUPT STACK

The interrupt stack is usually located in region 3 of the address space. The processor determines the location of the interrupt stack by means of a pointer in the PRCB. To avoid raising a fault while processing an interrupt, the interrupt stack must be frozen in physical memory, meaning that the pages that contain the stack must always be valid.

The interrupt stack has the same structure as the local procedure stack described in Chapter 4 in the section titled "Procedure Stack."

#### PROCESS TIMING WHILE HANDLING AN INTERRUPT

When an interrupt occurs while the processor is executing a process, the processor stops counting process time (i.e., stops counting down the residual-time-slice value) while it is executing the interrupt-handler procedure. Thus, the time required to handle an interrupt is not counted as part of the process's time slice.

#### SIGNALING INTERRUPTS

The processor can be interrupted in any of the following six ways:

- Signal on its interrupt pins
- Signal on its interrupt pins from an external interrupt controller
- An IAC message from external source
- An IAC message from a program in the processor
- A system-error fault interrupt
- A pending interrupt (described at the end of the chapter)

#### **Interrupts From Interrupt Pins**

The processor has four interrupt pins, called INTO, INT1, INT2, and INT3. These pins can be configured in either of the following three ways:

- as four interrupt-signal inputs;
- as two interrupt inputs and two pins for handshaking with an interrupt controller such as the Intel M8259A Programmable Interrupt Controller; or
- as one IAC input and three interrupt inputs.

A 32-bit, interrupt-control register in the processor determines how these pins are used. Each interrupt pin is associated with one 8-bit field in the register, as shown in Figure 10-2.



#### Figure 10-2: Interrupt-Control Register

If the interrupt pins are to be used as four inputs, a different interrupt vector is stored in each of the four fields in the interrupt-control register. Then when an interrupt is signaled on one of the pins, the processor reads the vector from the pin's associated field in the register. For example, if an interrupt is signaled on pin INTO, the processor reads the vector from bits 0 through 7.

The processor assumes that the interrupt vectors in the interrupt register are arranged in descending order from the INT0 field to the INT3 field (e.g., the priority of  $INT0 \ge INT1 \ge INT2 \ge INT3$ ). To insure that interrupts are handled in the proper order, software should follow this convention.

If the INTO vector field is set to 0, the function of the INTO pin is changed to IAC, and it is used to signal the processor that an external IAC message has been sent to it. In fact, the INTO pin must be configured in this manner for the processor to service external IAC messages.

If the INT2 vector field is set to 0, the functions of the INT2 and INT3 pins are changed to INTR and  $\overline{INTA}$ , respectively. Here, the INTR pin is used to receive signals from an interrupt controller and the  $\overline{INTA}$  pin is used to send acknowledge signals back to the controller. When the processor receives a signal on the INTR pin, it reads an interrupt vector from the least-significant 8 bits of the local bus, then sends an acknowledge signal to the controller through  $\overline{INTA}$ . When the INT2 and INT3 pins are configured in this manner, the processor ignores the INT3 vector field.

The interrupt-control register is memory mapped to physical addresses  $FF000004_{16}$  through  $FF000007_{16}$ . Only the processor can read or write this register using the synchronous load (**synld**) and synchronous move (**synmov**) instructions. External agents on the bus cannot access this register.

#### NOTE

If the virtual-addressing mode is going to be used, a page in region 3 will need to be mapped to the page in the physical address space that contains the addresses ranging from FF000004<sub>16</sub> through FF000007<sub>16</sub>. Software can then read from or write to the interrupt control register by referencing the addresses in region 3 that are mapped to the physical addresses of the register.

The value in the interrupt-control register after the processor is initialized is  $FF000000_{16}$ . With this setting, interrupt pin INT0 is used to signal an IAC; INT1 is inactive; and INT2 and INT3 are configured to perform handshaking with an interrupt controller.

#### **IAC Interrupts**

The processor can also receive an interrupt request by means of the IAC mechanism. (The IAC mechanism is described in detail in Chapters 11 and 15.) The interrupt IAC message can be sent to the processor either from an external bus agent, such as an I/O processor or another CPU, or internally as part of the currently running process. The interrupt vector is contained in the interrupt IAC message.

As with any other IAC message, the processor receives notice of an external interrupt-IAC message through the INT0 pin, which has been configured as an IAC pin, as described in the previous section. The processor then reads the IAC message to get the interrupt vector.

A program running on the processor can signal an interrupt through an internal interrupt-IAC message. An internal IAC is sent to the processor by means of a synchronous move instruction. When the processor executes a synchronous move to its IAC message space, it signals an IAC message internally. The processor then reads the IAC message as it would for an external IAC.

#### System-Error Interrupt

Under certain conditions, a system-error interrupt is signaled internally in the processor. This interrupt causes an explicit call to interrupt vector 248. The system-error interrupt mechanism, action, and possible handling methods are described in Chapter 12 in the section titled "System-Error Interrupt Action."

#### **INTERRUPT-HANDLING ACTIONS**

As was described earlier in this chapter, when the processor receives an interrupt, it handles it automatically. The processor takes care of saving the process state, calling the interrupt-handler routine, and restoring the process state once the interrupt has been serviced. Software support is not required.

The following section describes the actions the processor takes while handling interrupts. It is not necessary to read this section to use the interrupt mechanism or write an interrupt handler routine. This discussion is provided for those readers who wish to know the details of the interrupt handling mechanism.

#### **Receiving an Interrupt**

Whenever the processor receives an interrupt signal, it performs the following action:

- 1. It temporarily stops work on its current job, whether it is working on a process or another interrupt handler procedure.
- 2. It reads the interrupt vector from the interrupt register, the bus, or the IAC message space.
- 3. It compares the priority of the vector with the priority of the current process or the interrupt it is currently handling.
- 4. If the priority of the new interrupt is higher than that of the current process or interrupt, the processor services the new interrupt immediately as described in the next sections.
- 5. If the interrupt priority is equal to or less than that of the current process or interrupt, the processor records new interrupt in the pending interrupt record and continues work on the current process or interrupt.

#### Servicing an Interrupt

The method that the processor uses to service an interrupt depends on the state the processor is in when it receives the interrupt. The following sections describe the interrupt handling actions for various states of the processor. In all of these cases, it is assumed that the interrupt is a higher priority than the current process and will thus be serviced immediately after the processor receives it. The handling of lower priority interrupts is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Servicing a Pending Interrupt."

#### Process-Executing-State Interrupt

When the processor receives an interrupt while it is in the process-executing state, it performs the following actions to service the interrupt; this procedure is the same regardless of whether the processor is in the user or the supervisor mode when the interrupt occurs:

- 1. The processor switches to the interrupt stack (as shown in Figure 10-3). The interrupt stack pointer becomes the new stack pointer (NSP) for the processor.
- 2. The processor saves the current state of process controls and arithmetic controls in an interrupt record on the interrupt stack. (The interrupt record is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Interrupt Record".)
- 3. If the execution of an instruction was suspended, the processor includes a resumption record for the instruction in the interrupt record and sets the resume flag in the saved process controls. (Refer to the section in Chapter 9 titled "Instruction Suspension" for a discussion of the criteria for suspending instructions.)
- 4. The processor allocates a new frame on the interrupt stack and loads the new frame pointer (NFP) in global register g15.
- 5. The processor switches to the process-interrupted state.
- 6. The processor sets the process state flag in its internal process controls to interrupted, its execution mode to supervisor, and its priority to the priority of the interrupt. Setting the processor's priority to that of the interrupt insures that lower priority interrupts can not interrupt the servicing of the current interrupt.
- 7. Also in the current process controls, the processor clears the trace-fault-pending, timing, trace-enable, and time-slice flags. Clearing these flags allows the interrupt to be handled without trace faults being raised and without the process timing out.
- 8. The processor sets the frame return status field (associated with the PFP in r0) to  $111_2$ .
- 9. The processor performs an implicit call-extended operation (similar to that performed for the **callx** instruction). The address for the procedure that is called is that which is specified in the interrupt table for the specified interrupt vector.

Once the processor has completed the interrupt procedure, it performs the following action on the return:

- 1. The processor copies the arithmetic controls field from the interrupt record into its arithmetic controls register.
- 2. The processor copies the process controls field from the interrupt record into its internal process controls.
- 3. If the resume flag of the process controls is set, the processor copies the resumption record from the interrupt record to the resumption record field of the PCB for the process being resumed.
- 4. The processor deallocates the current stack frame and interrupt record from the interrupt stack and switches to the local stack or the supervisor stack (whichever one it was using when it was interrupted).
- 5. The processor checks the interrupt table for pending interrupts that are higher than the priority of the process being returned to. If a higher-priority pending interrupt is found, it is handled as if the interrupt occurred at this point.

### intel

6. Assuming that there are no pending interrupts to be serviced, the processor switches to the process-executing state and resumes work on the current process.

If the processor is configured to use the high-level process management facilities or multiple processors or both, the processor performs the following additional operations prior to resuming work on the interrupted process:

- 1. If either the multiprocessor-preempt flag or the check-dispatch-port flag in the processor controls is set, the processor checks the dispatch port and clears the check-dispatch-port flag. Otherwise, it goes to step 4.
- 2. If the dispatch port contains a process whose priority is higher than that of both the current process and the value in the nonpreempt-limit field in the processor controls, the processor suspends the current process and enqueues it at the front of the queue for its associated dispatch port. The processor then dispatches the higher priority process, which becomes the current process.
- 3. If a higher priority process was not found on the dispatch port, the process that was interrupted remains the current process.
- 4. The processor then begins work on the current process.

#### **Process-Interrupted-State Interrupt**

If the processor receives an interrupt while it is servicing another interrupt, and the new interrupt has a higher priority than the interrupt currently being serviced, the current interrupt-handler routine is interrupted. Here, the processor performs the same action to save the state of the current interrupt-handler routine as is described at the beginning of this section. The interrupt record is saved on the top of the interrupt stack, prior to the new frame that is created for use in servicing the new interrupt.

On the return from the current interrupt handler to the previous interrupt handler, the processor deallocates the current stack frame and interrupt record, and stays on the interrupt stack.

#### Interrupt Record

The processor saves the state of the interrupted process in an interrupt record. Figure 10-3 shows the structure of this interrupt record. The resumption record within the interrupt record is used to save the state of a suspended instruction. If no instruction is suspended, the resumption record is not created.

#### **Idle-State Interrupt**

The processor can also be interrupted while in the idle state. The processor handles such interrupts in essentially the same way that it handles interrupts that occur while the processor is in the process-executing state, with the following exception. When the processor allocates the new frame on the interrupt stack, it sets the frame return field to  $110_2$ . This causes the processor to revert to the idle state when the processor returns from the interrupt-handler procedure.



Figure 10-3: Storage of an Interrupt Record on the Stack

If the processor receives an interrupt while it is in the idle-interrupted state, it handles the interrupt just as it would if it occurred in the process-interrupted state.

#### Pending Interrupts

As is described earlier in this chapter, the processor provides a mechanism for evaluating interrupts according to their priority. If the interrupt priority is equal to or lower than the priority of the current process, the processor does not service the interrupt immediately. Instead, it posts the interrupt in the pending interrupt section of the interrupt table. The processor checks the interrupt table at specific times and services those interrupts that have a higher priority than its current priority. This pending interrupt mechanism provides two benefits:

- 1. The ability to delay the servicing of low priority interrupts (by posting them in the pending interrupt section of the interrupt table) allows the processor to concentrate its processing activity on higher priority tasks.
- 2. In a system that uses two or more 80960MC processors, both processors can share the same interrupt table. This interrupt-table sharing allows the processors to share the interrupt handling load.

The following paragraphs describe how the processor handles pending interrupts.

#### NOTE

The 80960 architecture defines the section of the interrupt table for storing pending interrupts and a mechanism for checking the interrupt table for pending interrupts. The method used for posting interrupts to the interrupt table and circumstances under which the processor check the interrupt table for pending interrupts is not defined.

In the following description of the pending interrupt mechanism, the information given in the sections titled "Posting Pending Interrupts" and "Checking for Pending Interrupts" is specific to the 80960MC processor. The information given in the section titled "Handling Pending Interrupts" is defined in the 80960 architecture and should be common in all processors that implement this part of the architecture.

#### **Posting Pending Interrupts**

An interrupt can be posted in the pending-interrupt record of the interrupt table in either of the following two ways:

- 1. The processor receives an interrupt with a priority equal to or lower than that of the process the processor is currently working on. The processor then automatically posts the interrupt in the pending-interrupt record.
- 2. The kernel can set the desired pending-interrupt and pending-priority bits in the interrupt table.

Using the first method, the processor performs an atomic read/write operation that locks the interrupt table until the posting operation has been completed. Locking the interrupt table prevents other agents on the bus from accessing the interrupt table during this time.

### أnte

The second method of posting an interrupt is risky, because it does not use this locking technique. (The processor's atomic instructions are not able to perform a locking operation that spans several instructions.) This method will work only if the kernel can insure the following:

- that no external I/O agent will attempt to post a pending interrupt simultaneously with the processor, and
- that an interrupt cannot occur after one bit (e.g., the pending priority bit) of the pendinginterrupt record is set but before the other bit (the pending interrupt vector) is set.

#### **Checking for Pending Interrupts**

The processor automatically checks the interrupt table for pending interrupts at the following times:

- After returning from an interrupt-handler procedure
- While executing a modify-process-controls instruction (**modpc**), if the instruction causes the process's priority to be lowered.
- After receiving a test pending interrupts IAC message.

#### **Handling Pending Interrupts**

The processor uses the same type of atomic read/write operation to check the interrupt table for pending interrupts as it does for posting pending interrupts. Again, this technique prevents other agents on the bus from accessing the interrupt table until the pending-interrupt check has been completed.

When the processor finds a pending interrupt, it handles it as if it had just received the interrupt. The handling mechanism is the same as is described earlier in this chapter for interrupts that are serviced as soon as they are received.

If the processor finds two pending interrupts at the same priority, it services the interrupt with the highest vector number first.

## Interagent Communication **11**

#### CHAPTER 11 INTERAGENT COMMUNICATION

This chapter describes the interagent communication (IAC) mechanism for the 80960MC processor. Included is a description of the IAC-message structure, the internal-IAC-message sending and receiving mechanism, and reference information on the available IAC messages.

The mechanism for sending and receiving external-IAC messages is described in Chapter 15.

#### **INTRODUCTION TO IAC MESSAGES**

The IAC facilities provide a mechanism for agents on the local bus or AP bus to communicate with one another by means of messages. The agents that use these facilities are primarily CPU processors such as the 80960MC and I/O processors. However, special processors that have a need to communicate with the other processors in the system may also use the IAC facilities.

The primary function of these facilities is to give multiple processors within a system a simple means of coordinating their activities. This capability is particularly important when the processors share a common memory space.

The IAC facilities are also used in single-processor systems for functions such as changing the processor's state or updating address-translation information.

IAC messages (referred to here as IACs) are four words in length and are exchanged by means of message buffers that are mapped to physical memory. All the usable IACs are predefined. The processor handles an IAC in much the same way as it handles an instruction.

The processor provides two mechanisms for exchanging IACs: external and internal. The external IAC mechanism is used to pass IACs between two agents, either on the local bus or on the AP bus. A processor uses the internal IAC mechanism to pass an IAC to itself.

This chapter describes the internal IAC mechanism, which is the only mechanism used in single-processor systems. The external IAC mechanism is described in Chapter 15 in the section titled "External IAC Message Passing."

#### SOFTWARE REQUIREMENT FOR HANDLING INTERNAL IACS

No special software, such as dedicated data structures or stacks, are required to handle internal IACs. An internal IAC is sent with a quad synchronous move instruction (**synmovq**). The processor receives and handles the IAC internally.

#### SUMMARY OF IAC MESSAGES

Table 11-1 gives a list of the IAC messages that the processor can send either internally or externally. The messages marked with an asterisk are generally not used with single-processor systems. Detailed reference information on these messages is given at the end of this chapter.

Interrupt Handling	Process Management	
Interrupt	Flush Local Registers	
Test Pending Interrupt	Flush Process	
	Preempt Process*	
Processor Management	Purge Instruction Cache	
Store System Base	Set Breakpoint Register	
Store Processor	Check Process Notice*	
Modify Processor Controls		
would recessor controls		
Stop Processor*	Memory Management	
5	Memory Management Flush TLB Physical Page	
Stop Processor*	<b>i</b> 0	
Stop Processor* Freeze*	Flush TLB Physical Page	
Stop Processor* Freeze* Restart Processor	Flush TLB Physical Page Flush TLB	

Table 11-1: IAC Messages

#### IAC-MESSAGE FORMAT

Figure 11-1 shows the format for an IAC message. Each message is four words in length and consists of a message-type field and up to five parameter fields.



#### Figure 11-1: IAC-Message Format

The message type is an 8-bit binary code. Each IAC has a unique message type. The parameters can be 8, 16, or 32-bits in length, depending on the specified field. Many of the IACs do not require parameters. When a message type does require one or more parameters, the processor only looks at the required parameter fields. Those fields not used are ignored.
### SENDING AND RECEIVING AN INTERNAL IAC

To send an internal IAC, software must perform the following steps:

- 1. Load the message into four consecutive words in memory, with the first word aligned on a word boundary.
- 2. Execute a synmovq instruction to move the message from its source address to the destination address  $FF000010_{16}$ , where  $FF000010_{16}$  is a physical address.

When the destination operand of a synmovq instruction is  $FF000010_{16}$ , the processor interprets the instruction as a send internal-IAC instruction. The processor then receives the IAC by moving the message from memory into an internal message buffer.

The action of the **synmovq** move instruction insures that the loading of the message into the processor is completed before the processor is allowed to perform any other chores.

#### NOTE

If the virtual-addressing mode is going to be used, a page in region 3 will need to be mapped to the page in the physical address space that contains address  $FF000010_{16}$ . Software can then send an internal IAC by writing to the address in region 3 that is mapped to physical address  $FF000010_{16}$ .

### INTERNAL-IAC-HANDLING ACTION

All internal IACs are assumed to have a priority of 31, so the processor executes the action requested in the IAC message immediately, even if the processor is currently working on a process or interrupt with a priority of 31.

The processor handles IACs internally. It does not use any of the resources of the execution environment such as the registers (global or local), the stack, or memory. Thus, the state of the process or processor when the IAC is received does not need to be saved.

Some IACs, such as the flush TLB IACs, do not affect the process or processor state. The processor treats these IACs as if they were an instruction inserted in the control flow of the process. When the IAC action is complete, the processor resumes work on the current process.

Other IACs, such as the restart processor and preemption IACs, cause the state of the processor or the control of the current process to be permanently changed. In these instances, the processor resumes activity in its new processor state or process state or both, following the execution of the IAC.

While the processor is handling an IAC, it will not respond to interrupts signaled on the interrupt pins.

### IAC FAULTS

If a fault condition occurs during the handling of an IAC message, a structural IAC fault is signaled. If when a structural IAC fault occurs, the processor is in the process-executing state,

the fault is handled within the environment of the current process. If the processor is not in the process-executing state, the fault is handled by means of a system-error interrupt.

### IAC-MESSAGE REFERENCE

The following section provides detailed descriptions of the operations carried out for each of the IACs. This section is organized alphabetically by IAC title for easy reference.



an an an Arrange ann Ar an Arrange ann an Ar an Arrange ann an Arrange an Arrange ann an Arra

# **Check Process Notice**

Message Type:	90 <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	SS of PCB
	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used
Function:	<ul> <li>Examines the process-notice field of the PCB for the curren process. If the event-fault-request flags in this field are set, the flag are cleared and an event-notice fault is signaled. Otherwise, no action is taken.</li> <li>The field 3 parameter contains the SS of the PCB. When the processor receive this IAC, it checks this parameter for either of the following conditions: (1) the field is zero or (2) the field contain the SS for the current process PCB. If either of these conditions i true and the process is not in an interrupted state, the processo checks the uncached process-notice field from the PCB in memory as described above. If neither condition is true, no action is taken.</li> </ul>	

### **Continue Initialization**

Message Type:

Function:

92<sub>16</sub>

Carries out the initialization procedure that follows the processor self test. If the processor is the initializing processor, it puts itself in the idle state and executes the initialization procedure beginning with reading the initial memory image from ROM. The self test is not performed.

If the processor is not the initializing processor, it puts itself in the stopped state and no further action is performed.

Refer to the section in Chapter 12 titled "Processor Initialization" for further details on the initialization process.

# **Flush Local Registers**

Message Type:	84 <sub>16</sub>		
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used	
	Field 3	Physical Address of Stack Page	
	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used	
Function:	chip local-regist memory. The fi of a page that con of the local regi specified page, a Then, all the re active frame) are a register set that	Writes the contents of the all local-register sets (located in the on chip local-register cache) to their associated stack frames in memory. The field 3 parameter contains the base physical-addres of a page that contains all or part of the stack to be written to. If any of the local register sets are associated with a stack frame in the specified page, all of the local register sets are flushed to memory. Then, all the register sets except the current set (the set for the active frame) are marked as purged. This means that on a return to a register set that has been purged, the processor will load thes registers from the stack.	
		in if (1) none of the register sets are associated with the specified page or (2) the processor is in the	

stopped or idle state.

### **Flush Process**

Message Type: Function: 87<sub>16</sub>

Suspends the current process, then rebinds the processor to that process. This action is carried out only if the processor is in the process-executing state. Since the process is literally suspended and rebound, process timing is turned off then back on again as a result of this action.

This IAC also causes the following items to be invalidated in the TLB: the segment descriptor for the current PCB, the segment descriptors for regions 0, 1, and 2 for the current process; and the page-table entries for pages addressed by addresses in regions 0, 1, and 2.

If the processor is not in the process-executing state, no action is taken.

### Flush TLB

Message Type:

Function:

8A<sub>16</sub>

Invalidates all TLB entries except the following: (1) the segment descriptors for the segment-table and region 3, (2) the segment descriptor for the current process, (3) the segment descriptors for regions 0, 1, and 2 of the current process, and (4) the page-table entry for the page in which the interrupt stack begins.

# Flush TLB Page Table Entry

Message Type:	8C <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	Offset From Segment Base
	Field 4	SS of Segment That Contains Page
	Field 5	Not Used
Function:	Invalidates the page-table entry for the page specified with the 3 and field 4 parameters. The processor determines the page contains the address specified by the SS and offset in fields 4 a respectively. If a TLB entry exists for this page, the proc flushes the entry.	
	This IAC can generate a protection-length fault if the specified ad- dress is beyond the specified length of the segment.	
	Note that field 3 is not interpreted as an address within the address space, but as an offset within a segment. Thus, to flush an entry for a page in an address space that contains a particular address, the following steps must be taken. (1) The SS for the region that contains the address is supplied in field 4. (2) The two most-significant bits of the address are cleared to form the offset into the region. This offset is then supplied in field 3.	
	This IAC should no because they are nev	t be used to flush page-table-directory entries, er saved in the TLB.

# Flush TLB Physical Page

Message Type:	88 <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	Base Physical Address of Page
	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used
Function:	Invalidates all the entries in the TLB that point directly to the page specified with the field 3 parameter. The entries that may be flushed with this IAC include (1) segment descriptors and page- table entries that point to the page, (2) the segment descriptors for paged segments that point to a page table in that page, and (3) the segment descriptors for bipaged segments that point to a page-table directory in that page.	
	Also, the function of the flush-local-registers IAC message is per- formed. And, if the segment descriptor for the PCB of the current process or the segment descriptors for regions 0, 1, or 2 of the current process are invalidated, the function of the flush-process IAC message is performed.	
	IAC messages. Ho	n is slower than the flush functions of the other wever, the function that this IAC performs is where processes share pages.

# Flush TLB Segment Entry

Message Type:	8B <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	SS for Segment
s.	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used
Function:	specified in the field	es in the TLB that pertain to the segment 3 parameter. The entries that may be flushed nent-descriptor entry for the segment and (2) table entries.

### Freeze

Message Type:

Function:

91<sub>16</sub>

Stops the processor without suspending the current process. The processor puts itself in the stopped state. If the processor is in the process-executing state when this IAC is received, the current process is not suspended.

Interrupt

Message Type: Parameters:	40 <sub>16</sub> Field 1 Interrupt vector
	Fields 2 - 5Not Used
Function:	Generates an interrupt request. The interrupt vector is given in field 1 of the IAC message. The processor handles the interrupt request just as it does interrupts received from other sources. If the inter- rupt priority is higher than the priority of the current process, the processor services the interrupt request immediately. Otherwise, it posts the interrupt in the pending interrupts section of the interrupt table.
	Refer to Chapter 10 for further information on the servicing of

Refer to Chapter 10 for further information on the servicing of interrupt IACs.

# **Modify Processor Controls**

Message Type:	8D <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	New Processor Controls Word
	Field 4	Mask
	Field 5	Not Used
Function:	Modifies the processor controls word in the PRCB according to the <i>new value</i> given in field 3 and under control of the <i>mask</i> given in field 4. The mask determines which bits of the processor controls word may be changed according to the following relationship:	
	processor_controls_v	<pre>vord ← (new value and mask)     or (processor_controls_word     and not (mask))</pre>
	If any parts of the processor-controls word have been cached on the chip, they are updated as a result of this operation, with the exception of the processor-state bits. To explicitly change the state of the processor, the processor must be restarted (using the restart IAC) the new state.	
	Translation Mode"	in Chapter 9 titled "Changing the Address- for information on the effects of using the ontrols IAC to change the address-translation-

#### **Preempt Process**

Message Type:

**Function**:

85<sub>16</sub>

Suspends the current process and binds the processor to a higher priority process from the dispatch port. If the processor is in the idle or process-executing state, it checks the queue status field of the dispatch port. If the processor finds a process with a higher priority than that of both the current process and the nonpreempt-limit in the process controls, the processor performs the preemption action.

No action is taken if (1) the processor is in the stopped or an interrupted state, or (2) the priority of the highest priority process on the dispatch port is less than that of the current process or the nonpreempt-limit. More information on process preemption is given in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Process Preemption" and in Chapter 15 in the section "Multiprocessor Process Preemption."

# **Purge Instruction Cache**

Message Type:8916Function:Invalidates all entries in the processor's internal instruction cache.

### **Reinitialize Processor**

Message Type:	93 <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field-3	Address of System Address Table
	Field-4	Address of Processor Control Block
	Field 5	Start Instruction IP
Function:	Reestablishes the processor state. In reinitializing itself, the processor first locates the system address table and the processor cont block in the IMI from the addresses given in fields 3 and 4.	
	The processor th	en begins executing the instruction list beginning

The processor then begins executing the instruction list beginning with the IP given in field 5.

# **Restart Processor**

Message Type:	81 <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field-3	Physical Address of Segment Table
	Field-4	Physical Address of PRCB
	Field 5	Not Used
Function:	Reestablishes the processor state. In restarting itself, the processor first locates the segment table and PRCB from the base physical addresses given in fields 3 and 4. (Field 3 is only used to locate the eighth segment-table entry, which is used thereafter to locate the segment table.)	
word in the PRCB and exprocess-executing, the pro		checks the state field in the processor-controls and enters that state. If the PRCB state is he processor performs a bind action on the in the current-process-SS field in the PRCB.

Message Type:	8F <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	Breakpoint IP
	Field 4	Breakpoint IP
	Field 5	Not Used

Function:

Enables or disables two breakpoints. When the processor receives this IAC, it conditionally loads the parameters from fields 3 and 4 into breakpoint registers 0 and 1, respectively. Field 3 provides a breakpoint IP for breakpoint register 0, and field 4 provides a breakpoint IP for breakpoint register 1. Bit 1 in each of these fields is a breakpoint-disable flag.

If the disable flag in one of these fields is set, the breakpoint for the corresponding breakpoint register is disabled. Otherwise, the IP value in the field is loaded into the corresponding breakpoint register and the breakpoint is enabled.

Breakpoints are described in the section in Chapter 16 titled "Breakpoint-Trace Mode."

# **Stop Processor**

Message Type:	83 <sub>16</sub>
Function:	Stops processor. The processor puts itself into the stopped state. If the processor is in the process-executing state when this IAC is received, the current process is suspended (but not rescheduled).

### **Store Processor**

Message Type:

Function:

86<sub>16</sub>

Writes any cached parts of the PRCB (including the processor controls word) back to the PRCB in memory. This IAC allows the PRCB in memory to be updated with any changes that have been made to the fields of the PRCB that are cached in the processor. Refer to the section in Chapter 9 titled "Caching PRCB Fields" for information on the fields in the PRCB that are cached.

# Store System Base

Message Type:	80 <sub>16</sub>	
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used
	Field 3	Destination Physical Address
	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used
Function:	Stores the current locations of the segment table and the PRCB in a specified location in memory. The base physical address of the segment table is stored in the word starting at the byte specified in field 3, and the base physical address of the PRCB is stored in the next word in memory (field 3 address plus 4).	

### **Test Pending Interrupts**

Message Type:

Function:

41<sub>16</sub>

Tests for pending interrupts. The processor checks the pending interrupt section of the interrupt table for a pending interrupt with a priority higher than the priority of the current process. If a higher priority interrupt is found, it is serviced immediately. Otherwise, no action is taken.

### Warmstart Processor

Message Type:	8E <sub>16</sub>		
Parameters:	Fields 1 - 2	Not Used	
	Field 3	Physical Address of Segment Table	
	Field 4	Physical Address of PRCB	
	Fields 4 - 5	Not Used	
Function:	Writes any part of the PRCB that has been cached on the chip to the current PRCB in memory, then reestablishes the processor state. This IAC performs a similar function to the restart processor IAC, except that it writes the cached parts of the PRCB to memory before restarting the processor.		
	In restarting itself, the processor first locates the segment table and PRCB from the base physical addresses given in fields 3 and 4. Field 4 may point to the current PRCB or a new PRCB. (Field 3 is only used to locate the eighth segment-table entry, which is used thereafter to locate the segment table.)		
	Next, the processor checks the state field in the processor-controls word in the PRCB and enters that state. If the PRCB state is process-executing, the processor performs a bind action on the process whose SS is in the current-process-SS field in the PRCB.		
		in Chapter 9 titled "Caching PRCB Fields" for elds in the PRCB that are cached.	



· · ·

Υ.

j

# CHAPTER 12 FAULT HANDLING

This chapter describes the fault handling facilities of the 80960MC processor. The subjects covered include the fault-handling data structures, the required software support required for fault handling, and the fault handling mechanism. A reference section that contains detailed information on each fault type is provided at the end of the chapter.

### **OVERVIEW OF THE FAULT-HANDLING FACILITIES**

The processor is able to detect various conditions in code or in its internal state (called "fault conditions") that could cause the processor to deliver incorrect or inappropriate results or that could cause it to head down an undesirable control path. For example, the processor recognizes divide-by-zero and overflow conditions on both integer and real-number calculations. It also detects inappropriate operand values, references to incomplete or non-existent architecture-defined data structures, or references to virtual-memory pages that are not currently in physical memory.

The processor can detect a fault while it is working on a process, an interrupt handler, or a fault handler, or while it is in the idle state. (In this chapter, when a process is referred to, it generally also means any interrupt handler or fault handler that may have been invoked while the processor was working on the process.)

When the processor detects a fault, it handles the fault immediately and independently of the process or handler it is currently working on, using a mechanism similar to that used to service interrupts.

A fault is generally handled with a fault-handling procedure (called a fault handler), which the processor invokes through an implicit procedure call. Prior to making the call, the processor saves the state of the current process and in some cases the state of an incomplete instruction. It also saves information about the fault, which the fault handler can use to correct or recover from the condition that caused the fault.

If the fault handler is able to recover from the fault, the processor can then restore the process to its state prior to the fault and resume work on the process. If, on the other hand, the fault has catastrophic effects on the system, facilities are provided that allow the processor to shut itself or the whole system down gracefully.

### FAULT TYPES

All of the faults that the processor detects are predefined. These faults are divided into types and subtypes, each of which is given a number. Table 12-1 lists the faults, arranged by type and subtype.

Fault Type		Fault Subtype		Fault Record
No.	Name	No./Bit Position	Name	
1	Trace	Bit 1	Instruction Trace	0xXX01 XX02
		Bit 2	Branch Trace	0xXX01 XX04
		Bit 3	Call Trace	0xXX01 XX08
		Bit 4	Return Trace	0xXX01 XX10
		Bit 5	Prereturn Trace	0xXX01 XX20
		Bit 6	Supervisor Trace	0xXX01 XX40
		Bit 7	Breakpoint Trace	0xXX01 XX80
2	Operation	1	Invalid Opcode	0xXX02 XX01
		4	Invalid Operand	0xXX02 XX04
3	Arithmetic	1	Integer Overflow	0xXX03 XX01
		2	Arithmetic Zero-Divide	0xXX03 XX02
4	Floating Point	Bit 0	Floating Overflow	0xXX04 XX01
		Bit 1	Floating Underflow	0xXX04 XX02
		Bit 2	Floating Invalid-Operation	0xXX04 XX04
		Bit 3	Floating Zero-Divide	0xXX04 XX08
		Bit 4	Floating Inexact	0xXX04 XX10
		Bit 5	Floating Reserved-Encoding	0xXX04 XX20
5	Constraint	1	Constraint Range	0xXX05 XX01
		2	Invalid SS	0xXX05 XX02
6	Virtual Memory	1	Invalid Segment-Table Entry	0xXX06 XX01
		2	Invalid Page-Table-Directory- Entry (PTDE)	0xXX06 XX02
		3	Invalid Page-Table-Entry (PTE)	0xXX06 XX03
7	Protection	Bit 1	Segment Length	0xXX07 XX01
		Bit 2	Page Rights	0xXX07 XX02
8	Machine	1	Bad Access	0xXX08 XX01
9	Structural	1	Control	0xXX09 XX01
		2	Dispatch	0xXX09 XX02
		3	IAC	0xXX09 XX03
A	Туре	1	Type Mismatch	0xXX0A XX01
	51	$\frac{1}{2}$	Contents	0xXX0A XX02
С	Process	1	Time Slice	0xXX0C XX01
D	Descriptor	1	Invalid Descriptor	0xXX0D XX01
E	Event	1:	Event Notice	0xXX0E XX01
		1 *		

 Table 12-1:
 Fault Types and Subtypes

When the processor detects a fault, it records the fault type and subtype in a fault record. It then uses the type number to select a fault handler. The fault handler has the option of using the subtype number to select a specific fault-handling procedure. The fifth column of Table 12-1 shows each fault as it appears in the fault record (the word at offset 40 of the fault record is shown later in this chapter).

For convenience, individual faults are referred to in this manual by their fault-subtype name. Thus a *machine bad-access fault* is referred to as simply a *bad-access fault*, or a *virtual-memory, invalid page-table-directory-entry fault* is referred to as an *invalid PTDE fault*.

For some fault types, multiple subtypes can occur at the same time. Here, each subtype is assigned a separate bit position in the subtype field in the fault record. The fault handler can then use this information to select a specific fault handling scheme to take care of the whole group of fault subtypes.

### **FAULT-HANDLING METHODS**

The processor handles faults using one or more of the following methods:

- Implicit procedure call to a fault handler
- Implicit procedure call to an override fault handler
- System-error interrupt that invokes a special interrupt handler through the interrupt mechanism
- Change of the processor state to stopped

These four fault-handling methods provide the processor with an efficient mechanism for recovering from faults or for gradually degrading its processing activity when serious or catastrophic fault conditions are encountered. The scenario for handling faults with this mechanism is as follows.

### Normal Fault-Handling Method

When a fault occurs while the processor is executing a process, the processor determines the fault type, then selects a fault handler for that type from an architecture-defined data structure called the *fault table*. It then invokes the fault handler (by means of an implicit call). As described later in this chapter, the fault-handler call can be a local call (call-extended operation), a local procedure-table call (local system-call operation), a supervisor call, or a trace-fault-handler-procedure-table call.

Before the processor begins executing the fault-handler procedure, it creates a fault record on its current stack (i.e., the stack being used by the fault handler). This record includes information on the state of the process and data on the fault. If the fault occurred while the processor was in the midst of executing an instruction, a resumption record for the instruction may also be saved on the stack.

Following the creation of the fault and resumption records, the processor begins executing the selected fault-handler procedure.

This same procedure call method is used to handle faults that occur while the processor is servicing an interrupt or that occur while the processor is working on another fault handler.

### Overrides

If a fault should occur while the processor is selecting a fault handler (i.e., between the time the processor begins storing the fault and resumption records for a fault and the time it begins work on the fault handler for that fault), an override is said to occur. When an override occurs, the processor stores a fault record for both faults (i.e., the primary fault and the secondary fault). The processor then invokes an override fault handler to perform the recovery action.

The action of the override-fault handler is software dependent. Commonly, the override-fault handler handles the secondary fault, then returns. On the return, the processor refaults on the primary fault (that is, recreates the primary fault). That fault is then handled as described in the previous section.

A common cause of an override condition is a virtual-memory fault that occurs while the processor is trying to store the fault record or create a stack frame for the fault handler. For example, assume that the execution of a divide instruction results in an arithmetic-zero-divide fault being generated, and that, while storing the fault record for this fault, a virtual-memory fault is generated. Here, the processor saves the fault data on both faults (the primary arithmetic-zero-divide fault and the secondary virtual-memory fault). The override-fault handler then handles the virtual-memory fault, by copying the required page into memory. On the return from the override-fault handler, the processor refaults on the arithmetic-zero-divide fault, which is handled by the arithmetic-fault handler.

### System-Error Interrupt

If a second override should occur (i.e., if a fault occurs between the time the processor begins storing the fault record for an override fault and the time it begins work on the fault handler for the override fault), the processor handles the second override by means of a system-error interrupt.

Here, the processor saves the process state and fault information for all three faults in the PRCB, then performs a recovery action, using a interrupt handler that it accesses through the interrupt table. (Interrupt vector 248 in the interrupt table is reserved for system-error interrupts.) The processor does not provide a mechanism for returning from a system-error interrupt handler. A system-error interrupt thus represents a fatal condition, which results at the very least in the current process being aborted.

This system-error interrupt mechanism is also used when a fault occurs while the processor is in the idle or stopped state. For example, assume that the processor has suspended one process and is attempting to dispatch another process. While the processor is in between processes, it is in the idle state. If a structural fault occurs while the processor is attempting to dispatch a process, this fault results in a system-error interrupt.

### Halt

Finally, if a fault occurs while the processor is generating a system-error interrupt, the processor halts. As part of the halt action, the processor collects as much information as possible about the last fault, then puts itself into the stopped state.

### **Multiple Fault Conditions**

It is possible for multiple fault conditions to occur simultaneously. For certain fault types, such as trace faults or protection faults, bit positions in the fault-subtype field are used to indicate the occurrence of multiple faults of the same type. As a general rule, however, the processor does not indicate situations where multiple faults occur. Instead, it generates one of the faults and does not report on the faults that were not generated.

### SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS FOR HANDLING FAULTS

To use the processor's fault-handling facilities, the following data structures and procedures must be present in memory:

- Fault table
- Trace-Fault-Handler Procedure Table
- Fault-Handler Procedure Table (Optional)
- Fault-Handler Procedures
- Interrupt Table
- Interrupt Stack

Software should generally load these items in memory as part of the initialization procedure. Once they are present in memory and pointers to them have been entered in the appropriate data structures, the processor then handles faults automatically and independently from software.

### NOTE

If the virtual-memory-management features of the processor are being used, the fault-handling data structures should be frozen in memory (i.e., they should never be swapped out of memory).

Requirements for the fault table, trace-fault-handler-procedure table, and fault-handler procedures are given in the following sections. Requirements for the interrupt table and interrupt stack are given in Chapter 10.

### FAULT TABLE

The fault table provides the processor with a pathway to the fault-handler procedures. As shown in Figure 12-1, there is one entry in the fault table for each fault type plus an entry for overrides. When a fault occurs, the processor uses the fault type to select an entry in the fault table. From this entry, the processor then obtains a pointer to the fault-handler procedure for the type of fault that occurred.



Figure 12-1: Fault Table and Fault-Table Entries

Once a fault-handler procedure has been called, it has the option of reading the fault subtype or subtypes from the fault record to determine the appropriate fault recovery action.

### Location of the Fault Table in Memory

The fault table is located in physical memory. The processor obtains a physical-address pointer to the fault table from the PRCB.

The fault table is placed in physical memory for two reasons: to avoid a virtual memory fault while handling a fault and to provide access to the fault-handling procedures during initialization.

### **Fault-Table Entries**

As shown at the bottom of Figure 12-1, three types of fault-table entries are allowed: a local-procedure entry, a procedure-table entry, and a trace-fault-handler-procedure-table entry. Each entry type is two words long. The entry-type field (bits 0 and 1 of the first word of the entry) and the SS in the second word of the entry determines the entry type.

A local-procedure entry (entry type  $00_2$ ) provides an instruction pointer (address in the address space) for the fault-handler procedure. Using this entry, the processor invokes the specified fault handler by means of an implicit call-extended operation (similar to that performed for the **callx** instruction). The second word of a local-procedure entry is reserved. It should be set to zero when the fault table is created and not accessed after that.

A procedure-table entry provides a procedure number in a procedure table. This entry must have and entry type of  $10_2$  and an SS for the procedure table in the second word. Using this entry, the processor invokes the specified fault handler by means of an implicit call-system operation (similar to that performed for the **calls** instruction). Fault-handling procedures in the procedure table can be local procedures or supervisor procedures.

The procedure table can be the system procedure table that the kernel provides as an entry point for supervisor calls or a special procedure table, which is reserved for fault-handling procedures alone. If a special, fault-handler procedure table is created, it must have the same format as the procedure table shown in Figure 4-4. The supervisor stack pointer in this table should point to the same stack that is pointed to in the system procedure table.

The trace-fault-handler-procedure-table entry provides a procedure number in a special procedure table called the *trace-fault-handler procedure table*. This entry must have and entry type of  $10_2$  and an SS for the trace-fault-handler procedure table in the second word. The function of this entry is described in the following section titled "Handling Trace Faults."

To summarize, a fault handler can be invoked through the fault table in any of four ways: a local procedure call; a local procedure-table call; a supervisor call; or a trace-fault-handler procedure-table call.

### TRACE-FAULT HANDLING

When handling trace faults, the 80960 architecture requires that tracing be disabled (i.e., the trace-enable flag of the process controls must be set to 0). To support this requirement, the architecture defines a special trace-fault-handler procedure table. This procedure table has the same structure as the procedure table shown in Figure 4-4, but with the following two restrictions:

- All entries must be supervisor entries  $(10_2 \text{ in bits } 0 \text{ and } 1)$ .
- The trace control flag (byte 12, bit 0) must be set to 0.

The supervisor stack pointer in the trace fault-handler procedure table should be the same as the stack pointer given in the system procedure table.

The effect of these restrictions is that on a call to a trace-fault handler routine, the processor saves the current state of the trace-enable flag and then clears the flag to disable tracing. On the return from the trace fault handler, the processor automatically restores the trace-enable flag to the state it was in prior to the trace fault.

The trace-fault-handler procedure table will generally have only one procedure entry, which points to the trace-fault handler procedure. However, this procedure table can be used as a pathway to other fault-handler routines.

This method of handling trace faults must always be used except for the following circumstances:

- If tracing is never going to be used (i.e., the trace-enable flag of the process controls is always set to 0), the trace fault-handler procedure table is not required.
- If tracing is never going to be used on supervisor calls, the system-procedure table can be used in place of the trace-fault-handler procedure table, since the trace-control flag of the system-procedure table will then be set to 0.

In the latter case, the trace-fault handler must still be called with a supervisor call.

### **FAULT-HANDLER PROCEDURES**

The fault-handler procedures are generally located in region 3 of virtual memory, although they can be located in any region. By locating the procedures in region 3, the processor always has access to them whether it is bound to a process or not. (The fault-handler procedures can also be located in physical memory if the physical-addressing translation mode is being used.) Each procedure must begin on a word boundary.

The processor can execute the procedure in the user mode or the supervisor mode, depending on the type of fault table entry. If a fault handler is intended to be executed from the supervisor mode, the page rights for the page or pages that contain the handler may be set for supervisor-only access.

### NOTE

To resume work on a process at the point where a fault occurred (following the recovery action of the fault handler), the fault handler must be executed in the supervisor mode. The reason for this requirement is described in a following section titled "Returning with Resumption."

### Possible Fault-Handler Actions

Many of the faults that occur can be recovered from easily. For example, recovery from an invalid PTE fault merely involves copying the page from the disk into memory and marking the page-table entry as valid.

When recovery from the fault is possible, the processor's fault-handling mechanism allows the processor to automatically resume work on the process or interrupt it was working on when the fault occurred. The resumption action is initiated with a **ret** instruction in the fault-handler procedure.

If recovery from the fault is not possible or not desirable, the fault handler can take one of the following actions, depending on the nature and severity of the fault condition (or conditions, in the case of multiple faults):

- Return to a point in the process or interrupt code other than the point of the fault
- Suspend the current process and rebind it to the processor
- Suspend the current process and bind a new process to the processor
- Suspend the current process and place the processor in the idle or stopped state
- Explicitly write the fault record and instruction resumption record into the fields provided for them in PRCB, suspend the current process, and place the processor in the idle or stopped state.
- Explicitly write the fault record and instruction resumption record into the fields provided for them in PRCB and place the processor in the idle or stopped state, without suspending the current process.
- Place the processor in the idle or stopped state without explicitly saving the process state or the fault information.

When working with the processor at the development level, a common action of the fault handler is to save the fault and processor state information and make a call to a debugging device such as a debugging monitor. This device can then be used to analyze the fault.

### **Process and Instruction Resumption Following a Fault**

Faults can occur prior to the execution of the faulting instruction (i.e., the instruction that causes the fault), during the instruction, or after the instruction. When the fault occurs before the faulting instruction is executed, the instruction can theoretically be executed on the return from the fault handler. So, the fault can be handled in such as way as to not interrupt in the control flow of the process.

# intط

When a fault occurs during or after the instruction that caused a fault, the fault may be accompanied by a change in the process state such that the execution of the process can not be resumed after the fault has been handled. For example, when an integer-overflow fault occurs, the overflow value is stored in the destination. If the destination register was the same as one of the source registers, the source value is lost, making recovery from the fault impossible.

In general, resumption of process execution with no changes in the process's control flow is always possible with the following fault types or subtypes:

- All Operation Subtypes
- Arithmetic Zero-Divide
- All Floating-Point Subtypes Except Floating Inexact
- All Constraint Subtypes
- All Trace Subtypes
- Invalid Descriptor
- All Virtual Memory Subtypes
- Time Slice
- Event Notice

Resumption of the process may or may not be possible with the following fault types and subtypes:

- Integer Overflow
- Floating Inexact
- All Structural Subtypes
- Bad Access
- All Protection Subtypes
- All Type Subtypes

The effect that specific fault types have on a process is given in the fault reference section at the end of this chapter under the heading "Process State Changes."

### **Returning With Resumption**

As described above, certain faults do not change the state of the process when they occur, even if the execution of the instruction was suspended as part of the fault-generation mechanism. Here, the processor allows work on a process to be resumed at the point where the fault occurred (including resumption of a suspended instruction), following a return from a fault handler. The resumption mechanism is similar to that provided for returning from an interrupt handler.

To use this mechanism, the fault handler must be invoked using a supervisor call. This method is required because to resume work on the process and a suspended instruction at the point where the fault occurred, the saved process controls in the fault record must be copied back
### intel

into the process's PCB on the return from the fault handler. The processor only performs this action if the processor is in the supervisor mode on the return.

If the fault handler is invoked with a local-procedure call or a local-procedure-table call, the return IP determines where in the process the processor resumes work, following a return from a fault handler. Here, the return is handled in a similar manner to a return from an explicit call with a **call** or **callx** instruction.

The return IP (referred to later in this chapter as the saved IP) is saved in the RIP register (r2) of the stack frame that was in use when the fault occurred. This IP may be the instruction the processor faulted on or the next instruction that the processor would have executed if the fault had not occurred. In either case, the resumption record is not used, so the processor might continue work on the process without completing the instruction that the fault occurred on.

A fault handler should thus be invoked with a local-procedure or local-procedure-table call only if it is not required or desirable to resume the process at the point where the fault occurred. The section later in this chapter titled "Returning Without Resumption" discusses returning to a point in the process code other than the point of the fault.

#### **Return Without Resumption**

There may be situations where the fault handler needs to return to a point in the process other than where the fault occurred. This can be done by altering the return IP in the previous frame. However, if resumption information was collected with the fault (resulting in the resume flag being set in the saved process controls), such a return can cause unpredictable results.

To predictably perform a return from a fault handler to an alternate point in the process, the fault handler should perform the following two steps:

- 1. Flush the local register sets to the stack with a **flushreg** instruction.
- 2. Clear the following information in the process-controls field of the fault record before the return: the resume and trace-fault-pending flags; the internal state field.

#### NOTE

This technique should be used carefully and only in situations where the fault handler is closely coupled with the application program. Also, a return of this type can only be performed if the processor is in supervisor mode prior to the return.

#### Aborting a Process

Where it is not possible to return to the process in which a fault occurred, the fault handler can be designed to abort the process. Several possible actions that a fault handler can take when aborting a process are given in the section earlier in this chapter titled "Possible Fault-Handler Actions."

#### FAULT CONTROLS

Certain fault types and subtypes have masks or flags associated with them that determine whether or not a fault is generated when a fault condition occurs. Table 12-2 lists these flags and masks, the data structures in which they are located, and the fault subtype they affect.

Flag or Mask Name	Location	Fault Affected
Integer Overflow Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Integer Overflow
Floating Overflow Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Floating Overflow
Floating Underflow Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Floating Underflow
Floating Invalid Operation Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Floating Invalid Operation
Floating Zero-Divide Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Floating Zero-Divide
Floating-point Inexact Mask	Arithmetic Controls	Floating Inexact
No Imprecise Faults Flag	Arithmetic Controls	All Imprecise Faults
Refault Flag	Process Controls	All Faults
Trace-Enable Flag	Process Controls	All Trace Faults
Trace-Mode Flags	Trace Controls	All Trace Faults
Event-Fault Request Flags	PCB	Event Notice Fault

The integer and floating-point mask bits inhibit faults from being raised for specific fault conditions (i.e., integer overflow and floating-point overflow, underflow, zero divide, invalid operation, and inexact). The use of these masks is discussed in the fault-reference section at the end of this chapter. Also, the floating-point fault masks are described in Chapter 7 in the section titled "Exceptions and Fault Handling."

The no-imprecise-faults (NIF) flag controls the synchronizing of faults for a category of faults called imprecise faults. This flag should be set to 1. The function of this flag is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Precise and Imprecise Faults."

The refault flag causes a fault to be generated on a return from a fault handler. This flag is used in the handling of override conditions and can also be used by the kernel. Refer to the sections in this chapter titled "Generating Faults" and "Override Fault-Handling Action" for further information on the refault flag.

The trace-mode flags (in the trace controls) and trace-enable flag (in the process controls) support trace faults. The trace-mode flags enable trace modes; the trace-enable flag enables the generation of trace faults. The use of these flags is described in the fault reference section on trace faults at the end of this chapter. Further discussion of these flags is provided in Chapter 16 in the section titled "Trace-Enable and Trace-Fault-Pending Flags."

The event-fault request flags cause an event-notice fault to be generated under specific circumstances. These flags are discussed in the fault reference section on event faults at the end of this chapter.

#### FAULTS AND INTERRUPTS

If an interrupt occurs during an instruction that will fault, that has just faulted, or that has faulted while the processor is in the midst of selecting the fault handler, the processor will handle the fault in the following way. It completes the selection of the fault handler, then services the interrupt just prior to executing the first instruction of the fault handler. On returning from the interrupt, the fault is handled.

#### **PROCESSING TIMING WHILE HANDLING A FAULT**

When a fault occurs while the processor is executing a process, the processor continues to count process time (i.e., count down the residual-time-slice value) while it is executing the fault-handler procedure. If an end-of-time-slice event occurs while the fault handler is being executed, the processor handles the event just as it would if the event occurred while the process was being executed. For example, if the process-timing controls are configured to suspend a process at the end of a time slice, the processor suspends the process in the midst of the fault-handler routine. The next time the process is dispatched, the processor begins working on the fault handler where it left off.

#### **GENERATING A FAULT**

The processor generates faults implicitly when fault conditions occur and explicitly at the request of software. Most faults are generated implicitly. The fault control bits described in the previous section allow the implicit generation of some faults to be either enabled (as with the trace faults) or masked (as with the floating-point faults).

The following paragraphs describe faults that software can cause to be generated explicitly.

#### Fault-If and Mark Instructions

Two sets of instructions allows faults to be generated explicitly anywhere within an application program, kernel procedure, interrupt handler, or fault handler. The fault-if instructions (faulte, faulte, fa

The **mark** and force mark (**fmark**) instructions allows a breakpoint trace fault to be generated anywhere in the instruction stream.

#### Event-Notice Fault

The process-notice field in the PCB (shown in Figure 13-3) has two event-fault request flags. When these flags are set, an event notice fault is generated in either of the following two instances:

- intel
- While the process associated with the PCB is being bound to the processor.
- If the process is already bound to the processor and the process notice IAC is sent to the processor.

In the latter case, software would set the event-fault request flags after the process had been bound to the processor, then send the IAC.

This faulting technique is used primarily by kernel procedures within multiprocessor systems. It can only be used within a procedure that is being executed in supervisor mode.

Further information on the event-notice fault is given in the fault reference section at the end of this chapter.

#### FAULT RECORD

When a fault occurs, the processor records information about the fault in a fault record. (The location of the fault record is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Location of the Fault and Resumption Records.") The fault handler and processor use the information in the fault record to recover from or correct the fault condition and resume execution of the process. Figure 12-2 shows the structure of the fault record. The use of the fields in this record are described in the following paragraphs.



#### Figure 12-2: Fault Record

The fault record provides space for fault information on two faults: a normal fault and (if one occurs) an override fault.

The type number (byte ordinal) of a fault is stored in the fault type (normal fault) and override type (override fault) fields; the subtype number or bit positions (byte ordinal) is stored in the fault subtype (normal fault) and override subtype (override fault) fields.

Two sets of eight flags, fault flags field (normal fault) and override flags field (override fault) are also provided. Of these flags, only F0 and F1 (bits 24 and 25) are used. Most of the faults do not use these flags, in which case the flags have no defined values.

The address-of-the-faulting-instruction field contains the IP of the instruction that caused the fault or that was being executed when the fault occurred.

The states of the process controls and arithmetic controls at the time that a normal fault is generated are stored in their respective fields in the fault record. This information is used to resume work on the process after the fault has been handled.

Finally, a three-word fault data field is provided for both a normal fault and an override fault. The information that is stored in these fields depends on the type of fault that occurs. Any part of a fault-data field that is not used for a particular fault has no defined value. The information that is stored in these fields for each fault type is given in the fault reference section at the end of this chapter.

#### Saved Instruction Pointer

The saved IP (the RIP that is saved in r2 of the stack frame in use when the fault occurred) is also part of the fault information that the processor saves when a fault occurs. This IP generally points to the next instruction that the processor would have executed if the fault had not occurred, although it may point to the faulting instruction. It is this instruction that the processor begins working on when the return from the fault handler is initiated.

#### **Resumption Record**

If the processor suspends an instruction as the result of a fault, it creates a 48-byte resumption record. The criteria that the processor uses to determine whether or not to suspend an instruction and the structure of the resumption record are the same as are used when an interrupt occurs.

#### Location of the Fault and Resumption Records

The fault and instruction-resumption records are stored in the fault handler's stack, the PRCB, or both places, depending on the circumstances under which the fault occurred. If the fault occurs while the processor is doing any of the following things, the fault and resumption records is stored in the stack that the processor will use to execute the fault-handler procedure:

- Executing a process
- Servicing an interrupt
- Handling another fault

• Selecting a fault handler (first override fault)

As shown in Figure 12-3, this stack can be the local stack, the supervisor stack, or the interrupt stack. The fault record begins at the byte address of the new frame pointer (NFP) minus 48, and the instruction resumption record begins at NFP minus 96.

If the fault occurs while the processor is doing any of the following things, the fault record is stored in the PRCB:

- Selecting the override-fault handler (second override fault)
- In the idle processor-state

Both of the above situations cause a system-error interrupt. When the system-error interrupt is the result of a second override fault, the fault-record is stored in two fields in the PRCB: the system-error-fault field (bytes 72 through 75) and the system-error-fault-record field (bytes 128 through 175).

The fault record for the first two faults (the normal fault and the first override fault) is stored in the system-error-fault record in the format shown in Figure 12-2. The fault type and subtype of the second override fault is stored in the system-error-fault field, but no fault data is stored for this fault.

The system-error interrupt handler thus has the following information available to it for the purposes of handling a system-error interrupt: (1) the process state when the first fault occurred, (2) complete fault data on the first two faults, and (3) the fault type and subtype of the third fault.

When the system-error interrupt occurs while the processor is in the idle state, a record for this fault is stored in the system-error-fault-record field. Here, the system-error-fault field is not used, because the fault type and subtype are contained in the system-error-fault-record field.

Finally, if a fault occurs while the processor is selecting the system-error fault handler (which causes a halt), the fault information collected in the PRCB for all the faults that occurred up through the first system-error interrupt is maintained. However, no fault information on the fault that occurred while the system-error interrupt handler was being selected is recorded before the processor places itself in the stopped state.

#### FAULT-HANDLING ACTION

Once a fault has occurred, the processor saves the process state, calls the fault handler, and restores the process state (if this is possible) once the fault recovery action has been completed. No software other than the fault-handler procedures is required to support this activity.

The following sections describe the action that the processor takes while handling a fault.



Figure 12-3: Storage of the Fault and Resumption Records on the Stack

## intel

#### Selecting the Fault-Handling-Action Method

The criteria that the processor uses to determine the fault-handling method are described in the section earlier in this chapter titled "Fault Handling Methods." Once the processor settles on the handling method, it performs the respective action described in the following paragraphs.

#### **Normal Fault-Handling Action**

Four different types of procedure calls can be used to handle the first (or primary) fault that occurs: a local call, a local call through a procedure table, a supervisor call (also through procedure table), and a supervisor call through the trace-fault-handler procedure table. The processor determines the type of call to make from the information in the selected fault-table entry. As was mentioned earlier in this chapter, the procedure table may be the system table that the processor uses to access kernel services, a special fault-handler procedure table, or the trace fault-handler procedure table.

#### Local Call/Return

When the selected fault-handler entry in the fault table is an entry type  $00_2$  (local procedure), the processor performs the following action:

- 1. The processor creates a new frame on the stack that the processor is currently using, with the frame-return status field set to  $001_2$ . The stack can be the local stack, the supervisor stack, or the interrupt stack. As shown in Figure 12-3, the new frame pointer (NFP) resides on a 64-byte boundary and provides enough room between the current stack pointer and the NFP for a 48-byte fault record and an optional 48-byte instruction resumption record. (For local calls to fault handling procedures, the current stack pointer (SP) shown in Figure 12-3 is the same as the new stack pointer (NSP).)
- 2. The processor stores a fault record as shown in Figure 12-2 on the stack, beginning at NFP minus 48.
- 3. If the fault caused an instruction to be suspended, the processor includes an instructionresumption record on current stack (beginning at NFP minus 96) and sets the resume flag in the saved process controls.
- 4. Using the procedure address from the selected fault-table entry, the processor performs an implicit call-extended operation to the fault handler.

If the fault handler is not able to perform a recovery action, it performs one of the actions described in the section earlier in this chapter titled "Fault-Handler Procedures."

If the handler action results in a recovery from the fault, a **ret** instruction in the fault handler allows processor control to return to the process that was being worked on when the fault occurred. On the return, the processor performs the following action:

- 1. The processor copies the arithmetic controls field from the fault record into the arithmetic controls register in the processor.
- 2. If the resume flag of the process controls is set, the processor reads the resumption record from the stack.

- 3. The processor deallocates the stack frame created for the fault handler.
- 4. The processor then resumes work on the process it was working on when the fault occurred at the instruction in the return IP register.

#### NOTE

The saved process controls are not copied back into the PCB, unless the execution mode is supervisor at the time of the return, which would not ordinarily be the case with a local call to the fault handler. Thus any changes in the process controls that the fault handler makes become part of the process state when the processor resumes work on the process.

#### Local Procedure-Table Call/Return

When the fault-handler entry selects an entry in a special fault-handler procedure table (or the system procedure table) and the procedure-table entry is for a local procedure, the processor performs the same action as is described in the previous section for a local-procedure call and return. The only difference is that the processor gets the address of the fault handler from the procedure table rather than from the fault table.

#### Supervisor Call/Return

When the fault-handler entry selects an entry in a fault-handler procedure table (or the system procedure table) and the procedure-table entry is for a supervisor procedure, the processor performs the following actions:

- 1. If the processor is in user mode when the fault occurs, the processor then reads the supervisor-stack pointer from the procedure table and switches to the supervisor stack. The supervisor-stack pointer then becomes the NSP shown in Figure 12-3. Also, the execution mode is set to supervisor.
- 2. If the processor is already in supervisor mode when the fault occurs, the processor stays on the current stack. Here, the SP and the NSP in Figure 12-3 are the same. (If the processor was executing a supervisor procedure when the fault occurred, the current stack will be the supervisor stack; if it was executing an interrupt-handler procedure, the current stack will be the interrupt stack. The processor switches to supervisor mode when handling interrupts.)
- 3. The processor copies the state of the trace-control flag (byte 12, bit 1) of the procedure table into the trace-enable flag field of the process controls.
- 4. The processor creates a new frame on the current stack (as described above for the local call); stores the fault record and optional instruction resumption record in the areas allocated for them on the stack; and begins work on the fault-handler procedure selected from the procedure table.

On a return from the fault handler, the processor performs the following actions:

- 1. The processor copies the arithmetic-controls field from the fault record into the arithmeticcontrols register in the processor.
- 2. If the processor is in supervisor mode prior to the return from the fault handler (which it should be), it copies the saved process controls into its internal process controls.

- 3. If the resume flag of the process controls is set, the processor reads the resumption record from the stack.
- 4. The processor deallocates the stack frame created for the fault handler and returns to the stack is was using prior to the call to the fault handler routine.
- 5. If the processor was in user mode prior to the supervisor call, the mode is set back to user mode; otherwise, the processor remains in supervisor mode.
- 6. The processor resumes work on the process it was working on when the fault occurred, at the instruction in the return IP register.

The restoration of the process controls causes any changes in the process controls through the action of the fault handler to be lost. In particular, if the **ret** instruction from the fault handler caused the trace-fault-pending flag in the process controls to be set, this setting would be lost on the return.

#### Trace-Fault-Handler Call/Return

int

When the fault table entry is for a trace fault, the processor performs the same action as is described in the previous section for a supervisor call and return. The only difference is that the processor uses the trace-fault-handler procedure table instead of the normal-fault-handler procedure table (or system procedure table).

#### **Override Fault-Handling Action**

When an override fault occurs, the processor can call the override-fault handler using any of the techniques described above (local call, local call through a procedure table, supervisor call, or trace-fault-handler procedure table call). The processor performs the same actions on the call and return as described above except for the follow things.

When calling the override-fault handler, the processor performs the following additional actions:

- 1. The processor saves an override fault record (that contains the primary and the secondary fault data) on the stack.
- 2. The processor sets the refault and resume flags in the saved process controls. (The resume flag is set even if a resumption record is not saved.)
- 3. The processor begins work on the selected override-fault handler.

The override-fault handler can be designed to attempt to correct both faults or correct the override fault and then refault on the original fault, allowing the fault handler for that fault to be called. The latter technique is allowed only if the override-fault handler is called with a supervisor procedure call.

On the return from the override-fault handler, the processor performs the following additional actions:

1. If the processor is in user mode on the return from the fault handler, the saved arithmetic controls are copied into the arithmetic controls register and the processor begins work at the point in the process or interrupt designated with the saved IP.

2. If the processor is in supervisor mode on the return from the fault handler, the saved arithmetic controls are copied into the arithmetic controls register and the saved process controls are copied into the PCB for the process being resumed. The refault and resume flags are then cleared, and the processor refaults on the original (first) fault.

#### NOTE

If the fault handler is not called with a supervisor call, the override-fault handler must handle both the original fault and the override fault. If this is not done, the process might be put into an unpredictable state on the return from the fault handler.

#### System-Error-Interrupt Action

When a system-error interrupt occurs, the processor collects data on the faults that caused the condition and calls the system-error interrupt fault handler. The processor does not, however, provide a mechanism for resuming the process, once the handling of the interrupt is complete.

When a system-error interrupt occurs as the result of a second override fault, the processor takes the following action:

- 1. The processor stores the fault record for the original fault and the first override fault in the system-error-fault-record field of the PRCB.
- 2. The processor stores the type and subtype of the second override fault in the system-error fault field of the PRCB.
- 3. The processor switches to the interrupt stack.
- 4. The processor performs an implicit call operation to vector 248 (the predefined systemerror interrupt vector) in the interrupt table.

When a system-error interrupt occurs as the result of a fault occurring while the processor is in the idle state, the processor takes the following action:

- 1. The processor stores the fault record for the fault in the system-error-fault-record field of the PRCB.
- 2. The processor switches to the interrupt stack.
- 3. The processor performs an implicit call operation to vector 248 (the predefined systemerror interrupt vector) in the interrupt table.

When a system-error interrupt occurs, the processor does not provide a mechanism for resuming processing at the point that the fault occurred as with the other fault conditions described in this chapter. The action of the system-error interrupt fault-handler is limited to the following actions:

- Suspend the current process and rebind it to the processor.
- Rebind the current process to the processor, without suspending the process first.
- Suspend the current process and bind the processor to a new process.
- Bind the processor to a new process, without suspending the current process first.

- intel
- Suspend the current process and place the processor in the idle or stopped state.
- Place the processor in the idle or stopped state, without suspending the current process.
- Call a system debugging monitor for use in analyzing the fault data.
- Write the fault record and other pertinent state data to disk memory, then shut down the system, with or without first suspending the current process.
- Shut down the system without explicitly saving state or fault information.
- In a multiprocessor system, a second processor might be called upon to reinitialize the processor with a restart processor IAC.

#### Halt Action

When a fault occurs while the processor is selecting the system-error interrupt handler, the processor takes the following action:

- 1. If possible, it stores a fault record for the latest fault in the PRCB. This is only possible if the system-error interrupt occurred while the processor was in the idle state.
- 2. It places itself in the stopped state and asserts the #FAILURE pin.

When the processor experiences enough faults to halt it in the manner described above, its resulting state often prohibits it from reliably executing instructions or even reliably accessing memory. A reinitialization of the processor either through a restart processor IAC or a hardware reset is generally required. If the system uses multiple processors, the still active processor can attempt to save the fault record for later use in a diagnostics routine, before the stopped processor is restarted.

#### PRECISE AND IMPRECISE FAULTS

As described in the section in Chapter 3 titled "Register Scoreboarding," the 80960MC processor is, in some instances, able to execute instructions concurrently. When two instructions are being executed concurrently, it is possible for them to generate faults simultaneously. When this occurs, one of the faults may not be generated or may be generated out of order, making it impossible to recover from that fault.

The processor provides two mechanisms to allow the circumstances under which faults are generated to be controlled. These mechanisms are the no imprecise faults flag (NIF) in the arithmetic controls and the synchronize faults instruction (**syncf**). The following paragraphs describe how these mechanisms can be used.

Faults are grouped into the following categories: precise, imprecise, and asynchronous. Precise faults are those that are intended to be recoverable by software. For any instruction that can generate a precise fault, the processor will (1) not execute the instruction if an unfinished prior instruction will fault and (2) not execute subsequent out-of-order instructions that will fault.

The following faults are always precise:

- trace
- virtual memory
- protection
- descriptor faults

Imprecise faults are those that in some instances are allowed to occur and not be generated or be generated out of order. These faults include the following:

- operation
- arithmetic
- floating point
- constraint
- structural
- type

Asynchronous faults are those whose occurrence has no direct relationship to the instruction pointer. This category includes the machine, event, and process faults.

The NIF controls whether or not imprecise faults are allowed. When this flag is set, all faults must be precise. In this mode, the ability to execute instructions concurrently is essentially disabled. All faults that occur are generated.

When the NIF is clear, faults in the imprecise category can in some instances occur and not be generated. In this mode, the following conditions hold true:

- 1. When an imprecise fault occurs, the saved IP is undefined (but the address of the faulting instruction in the fault record is valid).
- 2. If instructions are executed concurrently when an imprecise fault occurs, the results produced by these instructions are undefined.
- 3. If instructions are executed out-of-order and multiple imprecise faults occur, only one of the faults is generated. The one that is selected is not predictable.

The **syncf** instruction forces the processor to complete execution of all instructions that occur prior to the **syncf** instruction and to generate all faults, before it begins work on instructions that occur after the **syncf** instruction. This instruction has two uses. One use is to force faults to be precise when the NIF is clear. The other use is to insure that all instructions are complete and all faults generated in one block of code before execution of another block of code (for example, on Ada block boundaries when the blocks have different exception handlers).

The intent of these fault-generating modes is that compiled code should execute with the NIF clear, using the **syncf** instruction where necessary to ensure that faults occur in order. In this mode, imprecise faults are considered as catastrophic errors from which recovery is not needed.

If recovery from one or more of the imprecise faults is required (for example, a program that needs to handle unmasked floating-point exceptions and recover from them) and the fault handler cannot be closely coupled with the application to perform recovery even if the faults are imprecise, the NIF should be set. Executing with the NIF set will likely lead to slower execution times.

#### FAULT REFERENCE

This section describes each of the fault types and subtypes and gives detailed information about what is stored in the various fields of the fault record. The section is organized alphabetically by fault type.

#### Fault-Reference Notation

The following paragraphs describe the information that is provided for each fault type.

#### Fault Type and Subtype

The fault-type section gives the number entered in the fault-type field of the fault record for the given fault type. The fault-subtype section lists the fault subtypes and their associated number or bit position in the fault-subtype field of the fault record.

#### Function

The function section gives a general description of the purpose of the fault type, then describes the purpose of each of the fault subtypes in detail. It also describes how the processor handles each fault subtype.

#### Fault Record

The fault record section describes how the flags, fault-data, and address-of-faulting-instruction fields of the fault record are used for the fault type and subtypes.

#### Saved IP

The saved IP section describes what value is saved in the RIP register (r2) of the stack frame the processor was using when the fault occurred.

#### **Process State Changes**

The process state changes section describes the effects that the fault subtypes have on the state of the process.

#### **Arithmetic Faults**

Fault Type:	3 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2 3-F	Rescrved Integer Overflow Arithmetic Zero-Divide Reserved
Function:	arithmetic instruction	s a problem with an operand or the result of an n. This fault type applies only to ordinal and ot floating-point instructions.
	struction overflows the arithmetic-control	n fault occurs when the result of an integer in- the destination and the integer-overflow mask in ols register is cleared. Here, the <i>n</i> least sig- sult are stored in the destination, where <i>n</i> is the
		livide fault occurs when the divisor operand of divide instruction is zero.
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.
Saved IP:	IP for the instruction that would have been executed next, if the fault had not occurred.	
Proc. State Changes:	A process-state change accompanies the integer-overflow fault, be- cause the result is stored in the destination before the fault is generated. The faulting instruction can thus not be reexecuted.	
	A process-state change does not accompany the arithmetic zero- divide fault, because the fault occurs before the execution of the faulting instruction.	

#### **Constraint Faults**

Fault Type:	5 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2 3-F	Reserved Constraint Range Invalid SS Reserved
Function:	Indicates that the processor is either in or not in the required state for the instruction to be executed.	
		fault occurs when a fault-if instruction is ex- tion code in the arithmetic controls matches the the instruction.
	The invalid-SS fault occurs when an instruction attempts to refer- ence a segment by means of an SS, when the processor is not in the supervisor mode.	
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted
Saved IP:	Not used.	
Proc. State Changes:	constraint-range faul	nges accompany either of these faults. For the t, the fault occurs after the fault-if instruction but the instruction has no effect on the process
	The invalid-SS fault	occurs before the faulting instruction

The invalid-SS fault occurs before the faulting instruction.

#### **Descriptor Faults**

Fault Type:	D <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2-F	Reserved Invalid Descriptor Reserved
Function:		lress or SS cannot be translated into a physical n invalid segment-table entry.
	fault occurs in either segment descriptor the to a segment descriptor	id fault is the only one of this fault type. This r of two situations: (1) when an SS points to a nat has an invalid type or (2) when an SS points tor that is an embedded type, but the descriptor a semaphore operation.
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	The segment index for the invalid descriptor is stored in bits 5 through 31 of the second word of the fault-data field.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.
Saved IP:	Same as the address-of-faulting-instruction field.	
Proc. State Changes:		nge does not accompany the invalid-descriptor ult occurs before the execution of the faulting

#### **Event Faults**

Fault Type:	E <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2-F	Reserved Event Notice Reserved
Function:	Indicates that softwar	re has generated a fault event.
	occurs in either of t dispatched and the of are set, or (2) when	It is the only one of this fault type. This fault he following situations: (1) when a process is event-fault-request flags in the process's PCB a processor receives a process notice IAC and st flags are set for the process currently running
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.
Saved IP:	IP for the instruction fault had not occurrent	n that would have been executed next, if the d.
Proc. State Changes:	generated before wor	while a process is being dispatched, the fault is rk on the process begins. This allows the fault er begin work on the process or to return to the ork on it.
	processor does one of as if it had not yet be instruction, or (3) su	while an instruction is being executed, the of the following: (1) terminates the instruction egun execution, (2) completes execution of the spends the instruction, saving the intermediate tion record. The instruction being executed tion is taken.
	rence of this fault. processor saves suffi process to be saved	us may change in conjunction with the occur- However, when the state does change, the cient state information to allow the state of the when the process is suspended or to allow struction on a return from the fault handler.

#### **Floating-Point Faults**

Fault Type:	4 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Bit Number	Name
	Bit 0 Bit 1 Bit 2 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 5 Bits 6 and 7	Floating Overflow Floating Underflow Floating Invalid-Operation Floating Zero-Divide Floating Inexact Floating Reserved-Encoding Reserved
Function:	floating-point instruct in the fault-subtype occur simultaneous	s a problem with an operand or the result of a tion. Each floating-point fault is assigned a bit field. Multiple floating-point faults can only ly, however, with the floating-overflow, nd floating-inexact faults.
	Chapter 7 titled "Ex	aults are described in detail in the section in acceptions and Fault Handling." The following ef description of each floating-point fault.
	flow mask is clear an point instruction exc	fault occurs when (1) the floating-point over- id (2) the infinitely precise result of a floating- eeds the largest allowable finite value for the format. This fault interacts with the floating- ribed in Chapter 7).
	flow mask is clear an point instruction is le value for the specifie	a fault occurs when (1) the floating-point under- ad (2) the infinitely precise result of a floating- ess than the smallest possible normalized, finite ed destination format. This fault interacts with ault (as described in Chapter 7).
	point invalid-operati	-operation fault occurs when (1) the floating- on mask is clear and (2) one of the source ng-point instruction is inappropriate for the type performed.
		vide fault occurs when (1) the floating-point clear and (2) the divisor operand of a floating- on is zero.
	mask is clear and (2) in the format specifie	fault occurs when (1) the floating-point inexact ) an infinitely precise result cannot be encoded ed for the destination operand. This fault inter- ng-overflow and floating-underflow faults (as 7).
	value is used as an	d-encoding fault occurs when a denormalized operand in a floating-point instruction and the t in the arithmetic controls is clear.

Fault Record: F0 – Used if inexact fault occurs in conjunc-Flags: tion with overflow or underflow fault. If set, F0 indicates that the adjusted result has been rounded toward  $+\infty$ ; if clear, F0 indicates that the adjusted result has been rounded toward -∞ F1 - Used with overflow and underflow faults only. If set, F1 indicates that the adjusted result has been bias adjusted, because its exponent was outside the range of the extended-real format. Used only with overflow and underflow Fault Data: faults. Adjusted result is stored in this field in extended-real format (as shown in Figure 7-5). Addr. Fault. Inst.: IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted Saved IP: IP for the instruction that would have been executed next, if the fault had not occurred. **Proc. State Changes:** Process-state changes accompany the floating-overflow, floatingunderflow, and floating-inexact faults, because a result is stored in the destination before the fault is generated. The faulting instruction can thus not be reexecuted. Process-state changes do not accompany the floating invalidoperation, floating zero-divide, and floating reserved-encoding faults, because the faults occur before the execution of the faulting instruction.

#### **Machine Faults**

Fault Type:	8 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2-F	Reserved Bad Access Reserved
Function:	Indicates that the pr system error.	ocessor has detected a hardware or memory-
		is the only one of this fault type. This fault unrecoverable memory error occurs on a physi- n.
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	Not used.
Saved IP:	Not used.	
Proc. State Changes:	This fault may occur at any time. When it does occur, the accom- panying state of the process is undefined. As a result, the processor is not able to return predictably from the fault handler to the point in the process where the fault occurred.	
	that the locking m	aring an atomic operation, there is no guarantee nechanism the memory subsystem uses for locked. This is a fatal condition.

#### **Operation Faults**

Fault Type:	2 <sub>16</sub>		
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name	
	0 1 2 3 4 5 - F	Reserved Invalid Opcode Reserved Reserved Invalid Operand Reserved	
Function:		ocessor cannot execute the current instruction struction syntax or operand semantics.	
	The invalid-opcode fault occurs when the processor attempts to ex- ecute an instruction that contains an undefined opcode or addressing mode.		
	execute an instruction special requirements	fault occurs when the processor attempts to n for which one or more of the operands have and one or more of the operands do not meet This fault subtype is not generated on floating-	
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.	
	Fault Data:	Not used.	
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.	
Saved IP:	Not used.		
Proc. State Changes:		nge does not accompany the operation faults, cur before the execution of the faulting instruc-	

#### **Process Faults**

Fault Type:	C <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0 1 2-F	Reserved Time Slice Reserved
Function:	Indicates that the cur from continuing to w	rrent state of a process prohibits the processor ork on it.
	fault occurs when an	ocess fault subtype, the time-slice fault. This a end-of-time-slice event occurs and the time- in the process-controls word is clear.
	collect information of handler can then stor and suspend the proc return to the process	following this fault is for the fault handler to on the current state of the process. The fault re this information in the PCB for the process ess. Or, as an alternative, the fault handler can and use the saved process-state and instruction- on to continue executing the process.
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.
Saved IP:	IP for the instruction fault had not occurred	n that would have been executed next, if the d.
Proc. State Changes:	Since this fault often occurs while an instruction is being executed, it is often accompanied by a process-state change. However, when the state does change, the processor saves sufficient state infor- mation to allow the processor to resume work on the instruction on a return from the fault handler or to allow the state of the process to be saved when the process is suspended.	
and a state of the state and a state of the state and a state of the s	terminates the instru- completes execution tion, saving the inter-	s, the processor does one of the following: (1) ction as if it had not yet begun execution, (2) of the instruction, or (3) suspends the instruc- rmediate state in the resumption record. The cuted determines which action is taken.

#### **Protection Faults**

Fault Type:	7 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Bit Number	Name
	Bit 0 Bit 1 Bit 2 Bit 3-7	Reserved Segment Length Page Rights Reserved
Function:	protection rules of is assigned a bit	instruction has attempted to violate the addressing- of the processor architecture. Each protection fault in the fault-subtype field. Both protection faults aneously, in which case, the bits for both faults are
	situations: (1) beyond the define	gth fault can occur in either of the two following when an address operand in an instruction falls ed boundaries of a region, or (2) when the segment S is greater than the last entry in the segment table.
	occur: (1) an ac bipaged region a entry associated v	ault occurs when the following two situations both ldress operand references a page in a paged or nd (2) the page-table-directory entry or page-table with the reference page does not have the necessary e current execution mode of the processor.
	the fault handler	he processor takes when these faults occur allows to modify the segment table, page-table-directory, en appropriate to correct the fault condition, then

#### Fault Record:

Flags:

Fault Data:

F0 – Used with page-rights fault only. If set, F0 indicates that an attempted write operation caused the fault; if clear, F0 indicates that an attempted read operation caused the fault.

F1 – Not used.

resume work on the process from the point where the fault occurred.

For a page-rights fault, the first two words of the fault-data field specify the page that was being accessed when the fault occurred. The 20 most-significant bits of the address that caused the fault are stored in bits 12 through 31 of the first word. (The two mostsignificant bits of the address are set to 0, which means that the processor interprets the value as an offset into a region). The segment index associated with the region that contains the address is stored in bits 5 through 31 of the second word. For a segment-length fault where an address in the faulting instruction is beyond the specified size of the segment or region, the page that the address is trying to reference is specified in the first two words of the faultdata field as described for the page-rights fault.

For a segment-length fault where a segment index given in the faulting instruction is greater than the last index in the segment table, the segment index is given in the second word of the fault-data field as described for the page-rights fault.

Addr. Fault. Inst.: IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted.

Saved IP: Same as the address-of-faulting-instruction field.

**Proc. State Changes:** 

A process-state change accompanies each of the protection faults; however, sufficient state information is saved to permit either reexecution or completion of the faulting instruction on a return from the fault handler.

These faults occur while the faulting instruction is being executed. When the fault occurs, the processor will either (1) terminate the instruction as if it had not yet begun execution or (2) suspend the instruction, saving the intermediate state in the resumption record. The instruction being executed determines which action is taken.

#### **Structural Faults**

Fault Type:	9 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name
	0	Reserved
	1	Control
	2	Dispatch
	3	IAĈ
	4-F	Reserved

**Function:** 

Indicates that the state of one of the architecture-defined data structures is preventing the processor from performing a system operation. Examples of things that can cause a structural fault include a pointer in one data structure to a non-existent data structure or invalid state information in a data-structure field. These faults often occur while the processor is performing an internal (implicit) operation and may not be related to a particular instruction.

The control fault occurs either when (1) the invalid contents of a data structure are preventing a fault or interrupt from being handled or when (2) a fault occurs during the process of invoking an interrupt handler.

The dispatch fault occurs when the invalid contents of a data structure are preventing a process-dispatching action from being performed.

The IAC fault occurs when the invalid contents of a data structure are preventing an IAC from being executed.

Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.
	Fault Data:	Not used.
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted

Saved IP:

Not used.

**Proc. State Changes:** When a structural fault occurs, the accompanying state of the process is undefined. The processor is thus not able to return predictably from the fault handler to the point in the process where the fault occurred. This condition is usually fatal.

#### **Trace Faults**

Fault Type:	1 <sub>16</sub>	
Fault Subtype:	Bit Number	Name
	Bit 0 Bit 1 Bit 2 Bit 3 Bit 4 Bit 5 Bit 6 Bit 7	Reserved Instruction Trace Branch Trace Call Trace Return Trace Prereturn Trace Supervisor Trace Breakpoint Trace
Function:	<ul> <li>Indicates that the processor has detected one or more trace events. The processor's event tracing mechanism is described in detail in Chapter 16.</li> <li>A trace event is the occurrence of a particular instruction or type of instruction in the instruction stream. The processor recognizes seven different trace events (instruction, branch, call, return, prereturn, supervisor, and breakpoint). It detects these events, however, only if a mode bit is set for the event in the processor trace-controls word, which is cached in the processor chip. If, in addition, the trace-enable flag in the process controls is set, the processor generates a fault when a trace event is detected.</li> <li>The fault is generated following the instruction that causes a trace event (or prior to the instruction for the preeturn trace event).</li> </ul>	
	The following trace	modes are available:
	• Instruction – C	Generate trace event following any instruction.
		erate trace event following any branch instruc- h is taken. (Does not occur on branch and link ions.)
		e trace event following any call or branch-and- or implicit procedure call (i.e., call to fault or r).
	• <b>Return</b> – Generation.	erate trace event following any return instruc-
	tion, providing t	enerate trace event prior to any return instruc- he prereturn-trace flag in r0 is set. (The proces- lag automatically when prereturn tracing is
		Generate trace event following any call-system references a supervisor procedure entry in a

**Breakpoint** — Generate trace event following any processor action that causes a breakpoint condition (such as a **mark** or **fmark** instruction).

There is a trace fault subtype and a bit in the fault-subtype field associated with each of these modes. Multiple fault subtypes can occur simultaneously, with the fault-subtype bit set for each subtype that occurs.

When a fault type other than a trace fault occurs during the execution of an instruction that causes a trace event, the non-trace-fault is handled before the trace fault. An exception to this rule is the prereturn trace fault. The prereturn trace fault will occur before the processor has a chance to detect a non-trace-fault, so it is handled first.

Likewise, if an interrupt occurs during an instruction that causes a trace event, the interrupt is serviced before the trace fault is handled. Again, the prereturn trace fault is an exception. Since it occurs before the instruction, it will be handled before any interrupt that might occur during the execution of the instruction.

# Flags:Not used.Fault Data:Not used.Addr. Fault. Inst.:IP for the instruct<br/>event, except for<br/>For the prefeture in the prefet

fault had not occurred.

**nst.:** IP for the instruction that caused the trace event, except for the prereturn trace fault. For the prereturn trace fault, this field has no defined value.

#### Saved IP:

Fault Record:

**Proc. State Changes:** 

A process state change accompanies all the trace faults (except the prereturn trace fault), because the events that can cause a trace fault occur after the faulting instruction is completed. As a result, the faulting instruction cannot be reexecuted upon returning from the fault handler.

IP for the instruction that would have been executed next, if the

Since the prereturn trace fault occurs before the **ret** instruction is executed, a process state change does not accompany this fault and the faulting instruction can be executed upon returning from the fault handler.

#### Type Faults

Fault Type:	A <sub>16</sub>		
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name	
	0 1 2 3-F	Reserved Type Mismatch Contents Reserved	
Function:	Indicates that the contents of an architecture-defined data structure or its descriptor are inconsistent with the operation that the proces- sor is trying to perform.		
	The type-mismatch fault occurs when the type information in a segment descriptor does not match the operation the processor is being asked to perform. For example, a type-mismatch fault occurs when the SS given in a resume-process instruction ( <b>resumprcs</b> ) does not point to a PCB segment.		
	The contents fault of defined or is inconsist	ccurs when the information in a segment is not stent.	
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.	
	Fault Data:	Not used.	
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted	
Saved IP:	Not used.		
Proc. State Changes:	When a type fault occurs, the accompanying state of the process is undefined. The processor is thus not able to return predictably from the fault handler to the point in the process where the fault occurred.		

#### Virtual-Memory Faults

intel

Vinual-memory Faults			
Fault Type:	6 <sub>16</sub>		
Fault Subtype:	Number <sub>16</sub>	Name	
	0 1 2 3 4-F	Reserved Invalid Segment-Table-Entry Invalid Page-Table-Directory-Entry (PTDE) Invalid Page-Table-Entry (PTE) Reserved	
Function:	Indicates that an address or an SS in an instruction cannot be trans- lated into a physical address, because the segment or page being referenced is not in physical memory.		
	The invalid-segment-table-entry fault occurs when the valid flag in a segment descriptor is 0, which can mean that the segment, the page-table directory, or the page table that the segment descriptor points to is not in physical memory.		
	The invalid-PTDE fault occurs when the valid flag in a page-table- directory entry is 0, which means that the page table that the entry points to is not in physical memory.		
	The invalid-PTE fault occurs when the valid flag in a page-table entry is 0, which means that the page that the entry points to is not in physical memory.		
	The action that the processor takes when these faults occur allows the fault handler to copy the missing segment or page from the disk into physical memory, then resume work on the process from the point where the fault occurred.		
Fault Record:	Flags:	Not used.	
	Fault Data:	For an invalid-PTE or invalid-PTDE fault, the 20 most-significant bits of the address that the instruction faulted on is stored in bits 12 through 31 of the first word of the fault data field.	
		For an invalid-segment-table-entry fault or for an invalid-PTE fault for a large-segment table, the segment index is stored in bits 5 through 31 of the second word of the fault- data field.	
	Addr. Fault. Inst.:	IP for the instruction on which the processor faulted	
Saved IP:	Same as the address-of-faulting-instruction field.		

Same as the address-of-faulting-instruction field.

A process-state change accompanies each of the virtual-memory faults, however, sufficient state information is saved to permit either **Proc. State Changes:** 

reexecution or completion of the faulting instruction on a return from the fault handler.

These faults occur while the faulting instruction is being executed. When the fault occurs, the processor will either (1) terminate the instruction as if it had not yet begun execution or (2) suspend the instruction, saving the intermediate state in the resumption record. The instruction being executed determines which action is taken.



## Process Management

# 13

,

#### CHAPTER 13 PROCESS MANAGEMENT

This chapter introduces the 80960MC processor's process-management facilities. Included is a discussion of process-management concepts, the process-control block (PCB), and the requirements for managing a single process. Chapter 14 describes the management of multiple processes.

#### PROCESS-MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

The processor provides a set of low-level and high-level process-management facilities. With these tools, the kernel or system-executive is able to efficiently allocate processor resources to one or more processes, using any of a wide variety of process-management techniques.

The following section provides an overview of these process-management facilities.

#### Process Structure

A process is a unit of work that the processor can schedule, dispatch, and execute. It can be used to execute an application task, a kernel utility, or a monitor command shell.

A process is made up of two parts: an address space and a PCB. The address space contains the code, stacks, static data, and heap data for the process. When the processor's virtual-addressing mode is being used, the address space for a process consists of three process-specific regions (0, 1, and 2). When the process is bound to the processor for execution, these regions are joined with region 3, which is shared by all processes, to form the process-execution address space (or process address space) for the process. When the physical-addressing mode is being used, the address space for a process consists of all of physical memory.

The PCB defines the address space for the process and provides a repository of state information for the process. In a multitasking system, the PCB also provides a device for scheduling and dispatching multiple processes.

#### Process State

The following items define the state of a process at any given time:

- The address-space image
- The state of the global registers
- The state of the stack, including the local registers
- The state of the arithmetic controls
- The state of the process controls

• The state of the trace controls

When a process is bound to the processor, the state of the process is contained within the processor, the address space, and the PCB. When a process is suspended, the state of the process is contained in the address space and the PCB. The PCB and region mechanism allows a processor to work on several processes concurrently, merely by switching among PCBs and address spaces.

#### **Using Processes**

The process-management facilities of the processor support single-process systems, multitasking systems, and multiprocessor systems. In a single-process system, a process is bound to the processor at initialization time. The processor then executes this process alone. This single process can be used to support a dedicated or embedded activity or to run a user-defined, process-management mechanism. In the latter case, the user-defined processes are transparent to the processor.

The processor provides several mechanisms for managing a multitasking system. These mechanisms can be roughly divided into two categories: explicit process-dispatching and self-dispatching. When using explicit dispatching, the kernel binds a process to the processor or suspends a process by means of explicit instructions to the processor.

The processor also provides a set of high-level process-management facilities that allow processes to be dispatched automatically, independently from the activity of the kernel. This self-dispatching mechanism makes use of a system-defined dispatch port, which the processor uses to schedule and dispatch processes.

In a multiprocessor system, these high-level process-management facilities greatly simplify the allocation of processor resources to ready and executing processes.

#### PROCESS-CONTROL BLOCK

The PCB defines a process for the processor. It specifies the execution environment for the process, provides a place to record the execution status of the process, and maintains information about the system resources that have been allocated to the process.

Figure 13-1 shows the structure of the PCB and Figure 13-2 shows the structure of the process-controls word, which is one of the fields of the PCB. The following paragraphs describe the function of each field of the PCB.






Figure 13-2: Process-Controls Word

#### **Process Controls**

intal

The process-controls word contains miscellaneous pieces of information to control processor activity, while the processor is executing the process. The various functions of this field are as follows:

The *execution-mode* flag determines whether the processor is operating in the user mode (clear) or supervisor mode (set). The processor automatically sets this flag on a supervisor call and clears it on a return from supervisor mode. The kernel can also set this value so that the processor is automatically put in one or the other of these modes when the process is initially bound to the processor.

The *priority* field determines the priority (from 0 to 31) of the process. When the process is in the executing state, the processor sets its priority according to this value.

The *state* field determines the state of the process. The encoding of these bits is shown in Table 13-1.

These bits tell the processor or software whether the process either

- has been interrupted so the processor can service an interrupt  $(01_2)$ , or
- is currently being executed or waiting to be executed  $(00_2)$ .

State Field	Process State
00	Executing, ready, or blocked
01	Interrupted
10	Reserved
11	Reserved

#### Table 13-1: Encoding of the Process-State Field

The *timing*, *time-slice*, and *time-slice-reschedule* flags control the timing and time-slice scheduling of processes. This subject is discussed in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Time-Slice Scheduling."

The *preempt* flag determines whether or not a process is eligible to preempt another processes. Process preemption is described in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Process Preemption."

The *resume* flag signals the processor that an instruction has been suspended. The processor sets this flag whenever it suspends an instruction to handle an interrupt or fault. On a return from the interrupt or fault handler, the processor checks this flag and performs an instruction resumption action if the flag is set.

The *refault* flag is used in conjunction with the handling of override faults. When an override fault is detected, the processor sets this flag. On a return from an override-fault handler, the processor checks this flag and refaults on the original fault (the one that occurred before the override fault). Further discussion of this flag is provided in Chapter 12 in the sections titled "Override Call/Return Action" and "Refault Operation."

The *trace-enable* and *trace-fault-pending* flags control tracing. The trace-enable flag determines whether trace faults are to be generated (set) or not-generated (clear). The processor uses the trace-fault-pending flag to determine if a trace event has been detected (set) or not (clear). The use of these flags are discussed in detail in Chapter 16.

Bits 2 through 5, 15, and 21 through 31 are reserved. These bits should be set to 0 when the PCB is created and not altered after that.

The kernel can alter the settings of the process-controls bits in several ways, as described later in this chapter in the section titled "Changing the Process-Controls."

#### **Process-State Fields**

Several fields are provided in the PCB for storing the state of the process. These fields define the state of the process when the process is bound to the process and provide a place to store state information when the process is suspended.

The *arithmetic-controls* field contains the state of the arithmetic controls.

The *trace-controls* field contains the state of the trace controls.

The region 0 SS, region 1 SS, and region 2 SS fields contain SS's for the three process-specific regions of the process's address space.

The *global and floating-point registers* field provides a place to store the state of the global and floating-point registers when a process is suspended. The kernel should not normally access these fields except to clear them when the PCB is created. Also, on creation of the PCB, a pointer to the base of the local stack must be placed in bytes 236 through 239 (global register g15).

The *resumption-record* field provides storage space for instruction resumption information. If an instruction is suspended to handle an interrupt or a fault, the resumption record for the instruction is copied into this field when the processor returns from the interrupt or fault handler. Refer to the section in Chapter 10 titled "Servicing an Interrupt" and the section in Chapter 12 titled "Fault-Handling Action" for further discussion of the use of the resumptionrecord field.

#### **Process Scheduling and Communication Fields**

The following fields are provided to support the processor's high-level process management facilities. These fields are not used when the processor is operated in a single-process application.

The *dispatch-port-SS* field provides an SS pointer to the dispatch port that the process is to be queued to when the process is suspended.

The *queue-record* field allows several PCBs to be linked together to form a queue. Processes are typically queued to ports or semaphores. The structure of the queue-record field is given in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Queue Record."

The processor provides a means of passing 1-word messages between processes. The *receive-message* field provides a temporary storage location for such messages. The message passing mechanism is described in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Interprocess Communication."

The *lock* field allows the processor to lock the PCB for the process it is working on, by setting bit 0 of the lock to 1. This lock supports multiprocessor systems. It provides a means for one processor to determine if another processor is currently working on a process, by reading the lock in the process's PCB. This lock does not prevent a processor from reading or altering a PCB. It merely acts as a flag to show whether or not a process is currently bound to a processor.

The *process-notice* field consists of two flags at bits 16 and 31 (as shown in Figure 13-3). (Bits 17 through 30 are available to software.) If these event-fault-request flags are set, the processor signals an event-notice fault either (1) when a processor attempts to dispatch the process, or (2) when the process is already bound to a processor and the processor receives a check-process-notice IAC from another processor. This field is cleared when an event-notice fault is generated.



Figure 13-3: Process Notice Field and Event-Fault Flags

The process-notice field also supports multiprocessor systems. It offers a means for one processor to preempt a process running on another processor or for a processor to dequeue a process from a dispatching port. (Note that this is only one of the methods that the processor provides for preempting a process.) Further discussion of the process-notice field is provided in Chapter 12 in the section titled "Event-Notice Fault."

#### **Process-Timing Fields**

مIN

The processor provides facilities for counting the amount of time that a processor spends working on a process. It also provides facilities for scheduling multiple processes on the basis of time slices. The following fields support these facilities. The use of these fields are discussed in detail in Chapter 14 in the section titled "Time-Slice Scheduling."

The processor uses the *execution-time* field to keep a running count of the amount of time the process has spent in the execution state. The field contains a long-ordinal value (64 bits). The count saved in this field is in units of ticks. The processor updates this field in the PCB at the end of each time slice.

The processor uses the *next-time-slice* and *residual-time-slice* fields for time-slice scheduling. The next-time-slice field contains an ordinal value (32 bits) that gives the software preset time (in ticks) that the processor is allowed to work on the process before a time-slice event is generated. The processor keeps a count of the time remaining in the current time-slice in the residual-time-slice field (which also contains an ordinal value).

Refer to the section in Chapter 14 titled "Process Timing" for a detailed discussion of how the processor uses the execution-time, next-time-slice, and residual-time-slice fields for process timing.

#### Storing of PCB Fields in the Processor

When a process is bound to the processor, certain fields from the PCB are copied into the processor and altered as the state of the process changes. When the processor alters an internally held field of the PCB, it does not generally update the field in memory. As a result,

the memory image of a PCB that is bound to the processor may not accurately reflect the actual state of the process at a given time.

The only fields that the processor updates in the PCB while it is working on the process are the residual-time-slice and resumption-record fields. The remainder of the fields are only updated in the PCB when the process is suspended.

Likewise, changing a field in the PCB currently bound to the processor does not necessarily insure that the change will be reflected in the processor's internal process image.

The only fields in the PCB that software can change while the process is being executed and have the effects of these changes sent to the processor are the process-controls, arithmetic-controls, and process-notice fields (as described in the following sections).

#### NOTE

At initialization, all the fields of the processor's internal process-controls image are set to 0 except execution mode, which is set to 1 (supervisor mode).

#### **Changing the Process Controls**

The kernel can change the process controls for the current process using any of the following three methods:

- Modify-process-controls instruction (**modpc**)
- Alter the saved process controls prior to a return from an interrupt handler
- Alter the saved process controls prior to a return from a fault handler

The **modpc** instruction reads and modifies the process controls cached in the processor. (It does not change the process controls word in the PCB for the current process.)

In the latter two methods, the kernel changes the process controls in the interrupt or fault record that is saved on the stack. On the return from the interrupt or fault handler, the modified process controls are copied into the processor's internal process controls.

Two things should be noted with regard to modifying the saved process controls. First, this technique for changing the process controls can be used on a fault only if the fault handler was invoked by means of an implicit supervisor call. Second, the saved process controls are only copied into the process-controls image contained in the processor; the process controls in the PCB are not affected.

When the process controls are changed as described above, the processor acts on the changes as soon as it receives the new information, except for the following situations.

There is no guarantee that the processor will act on the change to the process-state field. The only case where such a change will have the desired result is if the process state in the saved-process controls is changed to "executing" prior to a return from an interrupt handler.

Changing the resume flag can cause the execution of the subsequent instruction to yield unpredictable results.

If the **modpc** instruction is used to change the trace-enable flag, the processor does not guarantee to act on the change until after up to four more instructions have been executed.

#### **Changing the Arithmetic Controls**

The kernel or an applications program can change the arithmetic controls using the **modac** instruction. This instruction only affects the internally cached arithmetic controls. The arithmetic controls word in the PCB for the current process is not changed.

#### **Changing the Process-Notice Field**

The process-notice field of the PCB is not cached in the processor. However, the check process-notice IAC can be used to cause the processor to check the process-notice field in the PCB for the currently running process. (Refer to the discussion of the process-notice field earlier in this chapter in the section titled "Process Scheduling and Communication Fields.")

#### **REQUIRED SOFTWARE SUPPORT FOR A SINGLE-PROCESS SYSTEM**

Figure 9-1 shows the system-data structures required to support a single-process system. Note that the single process is defined by means of a PCB and the three process-specific regions of the address space.

Figure 13-4 shows the required fields of the PCB for a single-process system. The PCB in this application is used primarily to contain initialization information. Once the process is bound to the processor at initialization, the only field of the PCB that the processor will use is the resumption record field.

Also, in single-process applications, the timing flag in the process-controls word should be set to 0, to disable timing.

#### PHYSICAL ADDRESSING VERSES VIRTUAL ADDRESSING

If the processor is going to execute the process using strictly the physical-addressing mode, the region pointers in the PCB are not required.

However, an SS and a process-segment descriptor for the PCB are required, with the base address in the segment descriptor aligned to a 64-byte boundary and pointing to the first byte in physical memory of the PCB.

**PROCESS MANAGEMENT** 

intel



Figure 13-4: Process-Control Block for Single-Process System

#### **PROCESS HANDLING IN A SINGLE-PROCESS SYSTEM**

In a single-process system, the initialization code must bind the process to the processor using a resume-process instruction (**resumprcs**). Once this binding is complete, the processor works on this process until the processor is either shut down or placed in the stopped state.

For diagnostic purposes, the PCB fields that are held internally in the processor can be written out to the PCB in memory using the save process instruction (**saveprcs**).

\*....

## *Multiple-Process Management*

## 14

#### CHAPTER 14 MULTIPLE-PROCESS MANAGEMENT

This chapter discusses the facilities that the processor provides to manage multiple processes in multitasking systems. Included are descriptions of the process management tools provided for explicit process dispatching, self-dispatching, process synchronization, and interprocess communication.

#### OVERVIEW OF MULTIPLE-PROCESS-MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

The process management facilities described in this chapter, and in Chapters 13 and 15, provide a general set of tools for designing a wide variety of process management mechanisms. In showing how these facilities can be used to support multitasking kernels, three general process-management scenarios are presented:

- A completely software-implemented system that runs within the context of a single 80960MC-defined process.
- A largely software-implemented system that uses several of the processor's low-level process management tools to explicitly schedule and dispatch multiple processes.
- A partly software-implemented system that uses the processor's high-level process management tools for automatic scheduling and dispatching of multiple processes, process synchronization, and interprocess communication.

The process management tools to support the first scenario are described in Chapter 13.

The tools to support the second and third techniques are described in this chapter. These tools are divided into two groups: low-level tools and high-level tools.

The low-level tools include the following:

- The PCB presented in Chapter 13, which allows a kernel to define a process and bind it to the processor for execution.
- Two process-handling instructions that permit the kernel to explicitly bind a process to the processor or suspend work on the process.
- A process timing mechanism that provides the kernel with a method of scheduling multiple processes on the basis of time slices.

The high-level tools include the following:

- A dispatch port data structure that supports automatic scheduling and dispatching of processes.
- Semaphore and communication port data structures that allow synchronization of interacting processes.
- Message-passing facilities that permit messages to be passed among processes.

These high-level tools are a unique feature of the 80960MC architecture. They provide siliconbased support for several advanced process-management mechanisms.

#### PROCESS MANAGEMENT CONCEPTS

This section presents several process management concepts that will help you in understanding the functions of and the actions taken by the low-level and high-level process management tools.

#### Scheduling and Dispatching

The concepts of *scheduling* and *dispatching* are central to the development of process management schemes. Dispatching is the activity of assigning a process to a processor. Scheduling is the activity of maintaining a list of processes that are waiting to be dispatched. In designing a process management system, the major goal of the dispatching mechanism is to deploy processor resources rapidly, whereas the major goal of the scheduling mechanism is to provide efficient allocation of the processor resources to the executable processes.

#### **Process States**

Once the kernel has created a process to run on the 80960MC processor, it will always be in one of the following states:

- Executing
- Interrupted (but executing)
- Ready
- Blocked

Figure 14-1 shows the relationship of these states.

In the executing state, the process is bound to the processor and is being executed. Being bound to the processor means that the processor has read the contents of the process's PCB, and knows the location of the address-space regions for the processor. It has also copied process-state information, such as the process controls and arithmetic controls, from the PCB into internal registers or buffers.

Only one process can be bound to the processor at a time. In general, a processor should not be instructed to bind itself to another process until it has first suspended the current process. To suspend a process, the processor copies the parts of the process's PCB that it holds internally back into the PCB in memory, so that the PCB accurately defines the state of the suspended process. The save process (**saveprcs**) and resume process (**resumprcs**) instructions cause the processor to explicitly save a process or bind itself to a process. When using self-dispatching, the processor performs these tasks automatically. (The **saveprcs** and **resumprcs** instructions and self-dispatching of processes are described later in this chapter.)



Figure 14-1: Process States

While in the executing state, a process can be interrupted. In the interrupted state, the process remains bound to the processor, but the processor is executing an interrupt-handler procedure.

A process is in the ready state when a PCB exists for the process and the PCB is enqueued on a dispatch port. A process is also said to be in ready if it is available to be bound to the processor using the **resumprcs** instruction. A process in the ready state is suspended.

The blocked state is used with the processor's process-synchronization and message-passing mechanisms. A process is blocked either when it is enqueued to a semaphore (waiting to receive a signal) or when it is enqueued to a communication port (waiting to receive a message). A process in the blocked state is suspended.

#### **State-Transition Actions**

To aid in managing multiple processes, the processor supports a set of actions that moves processes among the four possible process states. These actions are listed below.

- Schedule process
- Dispatch and bind process

- Suspend process
- Interrupt
- Return from interrupt
- Block process
- Unblock process

The processor is able to carry out some or all of these actions depending on the process management technique that the kernel uses. For example, in the single-process application described in Chapter 13, the process would be placed in the executing state at initialization. Thereafter it would move back and forth between the executing and interrupted states.

Also, for some of the actions listed above, the processor provides several different tools for performing the action. For example, a process can be dispatched by means of (1) the **resumprcs** instruction or (2) an automatic dispatch action from a dispatch port.

The following sections describe how the process states and state-transition actions are used in systems that use explicit process dispatching and self-dispatching. Later in this chapter, the ability to block a process for the purposes of process synchronization and interprocess communication is discussed.

#### **EXPLICIT PROCESS-DISPATCHING**

Two instructions, **resumprcs** and **saveprcs**, allow the kernel to explicitly dispatch and suspend processes, respectively. These instructions perform similar functions to the RESUME and SAVE functions provided in most UNIX<sup>™</sup> kernels.

The **resumprcs** instruction takes a process in the ready state and binds it to the processor, at which time the processor begins executing the process. Here, the process is considered in the ready state if a PCB has been created for the process and a segment descriptor for the PCB exists in the segment table.

The **saveprcs** instruction causes the processor to write any internally held parts of the PCB out to the PCB in memory. Following the execution of this instruction, the process is still bound to the processor, but the state of the PCB in memory is like it would be if the process had just been suspended. A **resumprcs** instruction can then be safely executed to bind a new process to the processor.

It should be noted that **resumprcs** and **saveprcs** instructions are tools to assist the kernel in dispatching and suspending processes, but they do not do the whole job. These instructions will most often be used in a fault- or interrupt-handler procedure, in which case the kernel will need to modify the PCB for the suspended process in between the **saveprcs** instruction to suspend the current process and the **resumprcs** instruction to dispatch the next process. This work involves changing the PCB to reflect the state of the process prior to invoking the fault or interrupt handler. This can often be done merely by changing the frame pointer in the saved global registers and the process-state bits in the process controls.

#### **PROCESS TIMING**

The processor provides an on-chip counter that can be used for both process and idle timing. When used for process timing, the counter's primary function is to support time-slice scheduling. It can be used, however, strictly to count execution time, as described at the end of this section.

The counter counts ticks. The time interval of a tick is described in Chapter 9 in the section titled "Processor Timing."

#### **Time-Slice Scheduling**

With time-slice scheduling, the processor works on each process for a set duration, called a time-slice. When the processor begins work on a newly bound process, it begins counting. At the end of the time-slice, it generates a time-slice event, which either causes a time-slice fault to be signaled or causes the current process to be suspended and another process dispatched.

Six fields in the PCB support time-slice scheduling: the residual-time-slice, next-time-slice, and execution-time fields; and the timing, time-slice, and time-slice-reschedule flags in the process controls. These fields are used as follows.

The timing flag (if set) enables the timing function. If this flag is clear, the processor does not perform process timing. The **modpc** instruction can be used to toggle the timing flag, turning timing on and off. Also, the processor automatically clears this flag when it invokes an interrupt handler and restores the flag on the return from the handler. This action causes process timing to be turned off while the processor is servicing an interrupt.

The next-time-slice field determines the duration of a time-slice for the process. Each process can have a different time-slice value, ranging from 16 ticks to  $2^{32}$  - 1 ticks.

The residual-time-slice field is used to count the remaining time for the current time-slice. When the process is initially bound to the processor, the next-time-slice and residual-time-slice fields are the same. As the processor counts (while working on the process), it decrements the residual-time-slice field. When this field reaches 0, the processor generates the end-of-time-slice event.

The time-slice flag enables the generation of the end-of-time-slice event. Alternately, it can be used to prevent an end-of-time-slice event. If this bit is cleared, the processor will continue to execute the process beyond the expiration of its time-slice.

The time-slice-reschedule flag determines what the processor does when an end-of-time-slice event is generated. It can do either of two things: (1) generate a time-slice fault or (2) automatically suspend the current process and dispatch a new process. The latter function is one of the high-level process management actions discussed later in this chapter.

When an end-of-time-slice event is generated, the processor performs the following actions:

1. It copies the next-time-slice value into the residual-time-slice field, setting the count for the next time the process is worked on.

- 2. It updates the execution time by adding the next-time-slice value to the value in the execution-time field.
- 3. It checks the time-slice flag. If the flag is clear, the processor continues working on the process; if the flag is set, it goes to the next step.
- 4. It checks the time-slice-reschedule flag. If the flag is set, it automatically suspends the current process and dispatches a new process. If the flag is clear, it signals a time-slice fault and invokes the time-slice fault handler.

The time-slice fault action has two uses. One use is to allow the fault handler to alter process attributes such as the next-time-slice value or the priority before the process is suspended.

The other use of the time-slice fault is to support a kernel that is using the **saveprcs** and **resumprcs** instructions to suspend and dispatch processes. Here, the fault handler can carry out process suspension and dispatching action.

#### Execution-Time Counting

The execution-time field gives the elapsed execution time of the process. As shown in the above action statement, this field is only updated at the end of each time-slice, by adding the value in the next-time-slice field to the value in the execution-time field. (At the beginning of a time slice, the value in the execution-time field is thus equal to the actual elapsed time of the process plus the value of the next time slice.) The time that a process has spent in the execution state, at any given time, is then the value in the execution-time field minus the value in the residual-time-slice field.

The load-process-time instruction (**ldtime**) allows a process to determine its elapsed time during execution. This instruction stores the execution-time minus the residual-time-slice value in a specified register.

In a new PCB, the execution-time field should be set equal to the next-time-slice field.

The execution-time field can be used to count elapsed process-execution time even if time-slice scheduling is not used. To do this, the timing flag in the process controls must be set and the time-slice flag must be cleared. The processor then updates the execution-time field at the end of each time slice, but continues working on the process until the process is killed or blocked.

#### **OVERVIEW OF HIGH-LEVEL PROCESS MANAGEMENT FACILITIES**

The processor's high-level process management facilities, introduced earlier in this chapter, allow the processor to handle the scheduling and dispatching of multiple processes automatically. The major benefits of these facilities are that:

- they provide a flexible and highly-efficient mechanism for managing processes in a multitasking system.
- they relieve a significant burden from the kernel.
- they simplify the design of multiple-processor systems.

The remainder of this chapter describes how these high-level facilities can be used for process scheduling and dispatching, process synchronization, and interprocess communication.

#### Ports

The processor's high-level process-management facilities are based on ports. A port is a device for exchanging messages. It allows messages to be exchanged between two or more processes. A port can also be used to maintain a list of ready-to-execute processes for the processor.

A message is a segment that contains a queue record so that it can be queued to a port. A common type of message segment is a PCB that represents a ready-to-be-executed or blocked process. A message segment can also contain data that is to be exchanged between two processes. Messages are identified by their respective SS's.

A port is contained in a port segment. (The segment-descriptor format for port segments is given in Chapter 8.) As shown in Figure 14-2, the processor recognizes two types of ports: a first-in, first-out port (FIFO port) and a priority port. A FIFO port supports a single message queue; a priority port supports 32 message queues arranged in order of message priority.

Bit 16 of the first word of a port segment determines whether it is a FIFO port (clear) or a priority port (set).

#### **FIFO Port**

A FIFO port contains a single, linked list (i.e., queue) of messages, arranged in FIFO order. When a message is received from a FIFO port, the message comes from the head (first message) of the queue.

The functions of the fields in a FIFO port are as follows. The *lock* field is used to synchronize the manipulation of a port by several processors. When a processor requires access to a port, it first checks bit 0 of the lock field. If this bit is 0, the processor atomically sets the bit to 1. The processor then accesses the port as needed. If the bit is 1 when the processor checks it, indicating that another processor is already accessing the port, the processor spins on the port, until the port becomes available for access.

Bit 17 of the first word of the port (the *queue-state* flag) shows what the port's queue is being used for. If this bit is set to 1, the queue contains blocked processes, waiting for messages; if the bit is set to 0, the queue contains messages waiting to be received or is empty.

The *queue-head SS* and *queue-tail SS* fields contains the SS of the message at the head of the queue and the tail of the queue, respectively. The messages in the queue are linked together through their respective queue records (described later in this chapter). A value of 0 in the queue-head-SS field indicates an empty queue.

intطُ





#### **Priority Port**

A priority port contains 32 queues (linked lists) of messages, with each queue arranged in FIFO order. When a message is received from a priority port, the message comes from the head of the highest priority non-empty queue. The priorities of the queues range from 0 to 31, with 31 being the highest priority.

The functions of the fields in a priority port are as follows. The *lock* field and the *queue-state* flag perform the same functions in the priority port as in the FIFO port.

The *queue-status* field shows the status of each queue in the port. Each bit in this field represents the state of one queue (with bit 0 representing the priority 0 queue, bit 1 the priority 1 queue, etc.). If a bit is set to 1, it indicates that the queue contains one or more messages; if the bit is set to 0, the queue is empty. If all the bits in the queue-status field are 0, the port is empty.

Each of the 32 queues in the priority port is represented by a queue header. Each queue header is made up of a *queue-head-SS* field and a *queue-tail-SS* field. These fields perform the same functions as the corresponding fields in the FIFO port.

#### Message

Any of the unpaged segments described in Chapter 8 can be used as a message segment, including a process segment, port segment, procedure-table segment, simple-region segment, and semaphore segment. When any of these segments is used as a message segment, the processor assumes that the first two words of the segment contain a queue record, shown in Figure 14-3.



Figure 14-3: Queue Record

The queue record has two fields. The *link SS* field contains the SS of the message segment behind it in the queue. The *current-port SS* or *current-semaphore SS* field gives the port or semaphore that the message is queued to. The processor maintains the information in the queue record, independently from the software. When a message segment is created, the link SS and current-port-or-semaphore-SS fields should be set to 0.

Refer to the section later in this chapter titled "Interprocess Communication" for a discussion of how messages can be used for passing information between processes.

#### Port Uses

The processor uses ports in two ways: as dispatch ports or as communication ports. A dispatch port is a device to assist the processor in scheduling processes. When the kernel creates a process, it queues it to the dispatch port for the processor. The processor then

dispatches processes from the dispatch port one at a time to work on them. When the processor suspends a process, it reschedules it at its dispatch port. The use of dispatch ports is described in the next section.

A communication port is used to pass messages between processes. These messages can be used to synchronize multiple processes in a multitasking environment or to share data among processes. The use of communication ports is discussed in the section later in this chapter titled "Interprocess Communication."

#### AUTOMATIC PROCESS DISPATCHING

The priority-port data structure (described earlier in this chapter) provides a mechanism for the processor to maintain a list of scheduled processes, which it can then dispatch one at a time, independently from the kernel. Referring to Figure 14-1, when a priority port is used as a dispatch port, it contains a list of all the processes in the ready state.

A dispatch port must always be a priority port with its queue-state bit set to 0, indicating that all queues contain messages waiting to be received. In this application, the messages are processes waiting to be executed.

When this scheduling and dispatching mechanism is used, each processor in the system is assigned to a dispatch port. In a multiprocessor system, each processor may have its own dispatch port or several processors may share the same dispatch port. The SS for the dispatch port that a processor is assigned to is stored in the processor's PRCB.

Each process is also assigned to a dispatch port through the dispatch-port-SS field in its PCB. When the processor initially schedules a process or when it suspends a process, the process is queued to the dispatch port specified in the process's PCB.

#### **Process-Scheduling Instructions**

The processor provides two instructions to support this automatic-dispatching mechanism. The schedule-process instruction (**schedprcs**) causes the processor to enqueue a process (i.e., its PCB) to a dispatch port. For example, if the kernel issues a **schedprcs** instruction for a process with a priority of 23, the process is placed at the front (or head) of the priority-23 queue of the dispatch port.

The send-service instruction (**sendserv**) causes the processor to suspend the process that it is currently executing and enqueue it at a specified port. This port may be the process's dispatch port or a communication port. If the port is a priority port, the processor checks the process's priority and places the process at the end (or tail) of queue for that priority.

#### **Process-Dispatching Action**

The actions that the kernel and processor take to dispatch processes using the automaticdispatching mechanism are as follows:

### intel

- 1. The kernel creates a process. In doing this, it allocates segments for regions 0, 1, and 2 of the process and for the process's PCB. It then creates an initial PCB for the process.
- 2. The kernel enqueues the process to the process's dispatch port, using the **schedprcs** instruction.
- 3. When the processor completes work on its current process, it suspends the process and reschedules it on the dispatch port.
- 4. The processor examines the dispatch port. If the port contains waiting processes, the processor goes to the highest priority, non-empty queue and dispatches the process from the head of this queue. The processor then binds itself to the process and begins executing it.
- 5. Upon completion of work on this process, the processor repeats steps 3 and 4 to reschedule the current process and dispatch another process.

Note that since the processor always goes to the highest, non-empty queue to dispatch a process, it will work on one priority queue alone until all the processes in that queue have been completed or killed (resulting in the processes being removed from the dispatch port); blocked at communication ports; or moved to lower priority queues.

#### **Process Suspension**

Once the processor begins work on a process it will continue to work on it until it receives a signal to suspend the process. This signal can be caused by several events:

- End-of-time-slice event
- Process becomes receive or wait blocked
- Execution of a sendserv instruction
- Process becomes preempted by another higher-priority process

The end-of-time-slice event is used by the time-slice-scheduling mechanism described earlier in this chapter.

Process blocking is related to the semaphore and interprocess communication mechanisms described later in this chapter. A process can become blocked in either of two ways. One way is if the process attempts to receive a message from a communication port, but the message is not available. The processor then suspends the process and enqueues it on the communication port to await the message. The other way is if the process attempts to receive a signal from a semaphore, but none is available. Here, the processor suspends the process and enqueues it on the semaphore to await the signal.

A **sendserv** instruction can be executed from a fault or interrupt handler, or it can be included in the process code, if it is known beforehand that the process must always be suspended at a certain point.

Process preemption is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Process Preemption."

#### **PROCESS SYNCHRONIZATION**

The process synchronization facilities of the processor allow the activities of several interacting processes to be synchronized. An important application of these facilities is to prevent race conditions between processes, particularly in multiprocessor systems, where two or more processes are being worked on simultaneously.

The processor provides two mechanisms that can be used to synchronize processes: semaphores and communication ports. Semaphores are described in this section. The use of communication ports for process synchronization are described later in this chapter in the section titled "Interprocess Communication."

#### **Use of Semaphores**

A semaphore is a device for synchronizing the activities of several agents, in this case several processes. The following example shows one application of a semaphore.

Assume that process A and process B perform different but interdependent tasks and that at various points within the execution of process A, it must check that process B has completed execution of a particular task. To exchange information about the state of the task, the processes use a semaphore.

Each time process B completes the task, it increments a counter at the semaphore. Each time process A reaches a point in its execution where it needs to know if process B has completed the task or not, it checks the count at the semaphore. If the count has been incremented, process A decrements the count and continues executing. If the count has not be incremented (meaning that process B has not yet completed the task), the processor suspends process A and queues it to the semaphore. Process A is then said to be blocked at the semaphore.

When process B completes the task and goes to the semaphore, the processor sees process A queued to the semaphore. Then, instead of incrementing the count, the processor unblocks process A from the semaphore, freeing both process A and process B to continue execution.

#### Semaphore Structure

A semaphore is contained in an embedded segment. (The segment-descriptor format for an embedded segment is given in Chapter 8.) The format for a semaphore is shown in Figure 14-4. The following paragraphs describe the fields of a semaphore.

The *lock* field of a semaphore performs the same function as the corresponding field of a port. It synchronizes the manipulation of a semaphore by several processors. When a processor needs to access a semaphore, it first checks bit 0 of the lock field. If this bit is 0, it atomically sets the bit to 1 and accesses the semaphore. If the bit is set to 1, the processor spins on the lock until the semaphore is available.

The *count* field contains a 16-bit ordinal. This field shows the number of times that one process has sent a signal to another process without the signal being received. The mechanism for incrementing and decrementing the count is described later in this chapter in the section titled "Semaphore-Access Actions."



Figure 14-4: Semaphore Structure

The *semaphore-queue-tail-SS* field contains the SS of the last process in the semaphore queue. If no processes are queued to the semaphore, this field is set to 0.

The semaphore queue consists of a linked list of PCBs, with the linking carried out through their queue records. The processes in the queue are arranged in decreasing-priority order and FIFO within the same priority level. The link field in the queue record of the last process in the queue contains the SS of the first process in the queue.

#### Semaphore-Handling Instructions

Three instructions are provided to handle communication with a semaphore. A process uses the **signal** instruction to send a signal to a semaphore that a task is complete. This instruction causes the processor to check the semaphore-queue-tail-SS field and either (1) increment the semaphore count, if the queue-tail value is 0, or (2) dequeue and reschedule the first process from the queue.

A process uses the **wait** and **condwait** (conditional-wait) instructions to receive a signal from a semaphore. The **wait** instruction causes the processor to check the semaphore count field and either (1) decrement the count, if it is non-zero, or (2) suspend the process and queue it to the semaphore, if the count is 0.

The **condwait** instruction performs a similar function, except that the process is not suspended and sent to the semaphore to wait if the count is 0. Instead, the processor either (1) decrements the count, if it is non-zero, or (2) does nothing to the semaphore, if the count is 0. In either case, the processor sets the condition code bits to indicate which action was taken.

#### **Semaphore-Access Actions**

The actions that processes and the processor take to communicate through the semaphore mechanism are as follows.

When the current process needs to signal another process that a task is complete, it performs the following action:

- 1. The process issues a **signal** instruction.
- 2. The processor locks the semaphore and checks the semaphore-queue-tail-SS field.
- 3. If the field is 0, the processor increments the semaphore count by 1. If the field is non-zero, the processor dequeues the process from the head of the semaphore queue (the highest-priority, first-in process in the queue) and reschedules it at its dispatch port.
- 4. The processor unlocks the semaphore and continues executing the current process.

When the current process needs to receive a signal from another process and cannot continue until it receives this signal, it performs the following action:

- 1. The process issues a **wait** instruction.
- 2. The processor locks the semaphore and checks the semaphore count field.
- 3. If the count is non-zero, the processor decrements the semaphore count by 1, unlocks the semaphore, and continues executing the current process.
- 4. If the count is 0, the processor suspends the current process, queues it in the semaphore queue, unlocks the semaphore, and goes to the dispatch port to dispatch another process. Processes are enqueued in a semaphore queue in decreasing priority order and FIFO within a priority level.

When the current process needs to receive a signal from another process, but does not need to discontinue processing if the signal is not available, it performs the following action:

- 1. The process issues a condwait instruction.
- 2. The processor locks the semaphore and checks the semaphore count field.
- 3. If the count is non-zero, the processor decrements the semaphore count by 1. If the count is 0, the processor does nothing further to the semaphore.
- 4. The processor sets the condition code bits to  $010_2$  if the signal was received or to  $000_2$  if a signal was not received.
- 5. The processor unlocks the semaphore and continues executing the current process.

#### PROCESS PREEMPTION

The processor provides a mechanism that allows a process (called a preempting process) to cause the processor to check the dispatch port and to suspend (or preempt) the current process if a higher priority process is found. To be a preempting process, the preempt flag is the process's process-controls word must be set. Preemption can occur in two situations: when a preempting process becomes unblocked from a semaphore or communications port; and when a processor receives a preemption IAC from another processor.

This preemption mechanism performs two functions. First, it provides a means of coordinating the activities of several processes that are performing cooperative tasks. Second, in multiprocessor systems, to helps insure that the available processors are working on highest priority tasks.

The following paragraphs describe the preemption action that a single processor takes when a preempting process becomes unblocked; the section in Chapter 15 titled "Multiprocessor Preemption" describes preemption in multiprocessor systems.

#### **Process-Preemption Action**

If a process becomes unblocked from a semaphore or a communication port and its preempt flag is set, the processor performs the following action. (Communication ports are described in the following section titled "Interprocess Communication".)

- 1. The processor enqueues the preempting process at the dispatch port.
- 2. If the current process is in the interrupted state, the processor sets the check-dispatch-port flag in the processor controls skips the remaining preemption actions. (When the processor returns from the interrupt, it checks the dispatch port automatically and dispatches the highest priority process that has a priority higher than the current process.)
- 3. The processor compares the priority of the preempting process with that of the current process.
- 4. If the priority of the preempting process is equal to or lower than that of the current process, the processor does not perform the preemption action.
- 5. If the priority of the preempting process is higher than that of the current process, the processor performs the remaining preemption steps.
- 6. The processor suspends the current process and places it on the dispatch port at the head of its priority queue.
- 7. The processor dispatches the highest priority process from the dispatch port and begins executing that process.

Two things should be noted about this mechanism. First, it is intended that the preempt flag be set for processes above a given priority level so that they will preempt lower priority processes immediately. Second, this mechanism does not insure that the preempting process is the next process dispatched, unless it is the highest priority process queued at the dispatch port.

#### INTERPROCESS COMMUNICATION

The semaphore data structure, described in the previous section, provides a simple, efficient means of synchronizing the activity of several interacting processes. This section describes the use of the communication port data structure and messages in interprocess communication. As is shown in this section, a communication port is a more general data structure that not only supports process synchronization, but also can be used to pass messages and data structures between processes.

#### **Communication Ports**

A communication port is similar to a dispatch port except that it queues messages waiting to be received or processes waiting to receive messages. (A dispatch port queues processes waiting to be executed.) For example, if process A needs to send a message to process B, it sends the

message to a mutually agreed upon communication port. The processor then checks to see if process B is queued at the port, waiting for a message. If it is, the processor passes the message to process B and schedules process B at its dispatching port. If process B has a higher priority than process A, process A is preempted (suspended) and process B is dispatched. Otherwise, the processor resumes executing process A.

If process B is not waiting at the communication port when the message is sent, the processor queues the message on the port. Then when process B attempts to receive a message from the communication port, the processor takes the message from the message queue, passes it to process B, and continues executing process B.

A communication port can be either a FIFO port or a priority port (as shown in Figure 14-2). Bit 16 of the first word of the port data structure determines the port type. If the port is a FIFO port, messages or processes are queued to a single FIFO queue. If a port is a priority port, messages are queued to any of 32 queues according to their priority.

The Q bit (bit 17) of the first word determines whether a port contains blocked processes that are waiting to receive messages (the Q bit is set to 1) or whether it contains messages waiting to be received (the Q bit is set to 0). If the port is empty (it contains neither waiting processes or waiting messages) the Q bit is set to 0.

Thus, when a port is initially created, bit 16 of the first word should be set to 0 or 1, depending on the type of port being created, and bit 17 should be set to 0, indicating an empty port. Thereafter, the processor sets or clears the Q bit.

#### Interprocess-Communication Mechanism

As with the self-dispatching mechanism of the processor, the processor handles the passing of message SS's back and forth among processors automatically and independently from the kernel. All the kernel is required to do is to set up the communication ports and create and fill the message segments.

To initiate the sending and receiving of messages, the processor provides four instructions: **send**, **receive**, **condrec** (conditional receive), and **sendserv** (send service). The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute any of these instructions.

The following paragraphs summarize the actions that the processor performs for each of these instructions. Refer to the reference information on each instruction in Chapter 17 for more detailed descriptions of the instruction actions.

#### Send Message

The **send** instruction has three operands: communications port SS, message SS, and message priority. When a process issues a **send** instruction, the processor performs the following actions:

1. It checks the Q bit of the selected port. If the bit is set (indicating that processes are queued at the port waiting for messages), the processor finds the highest priority queue

that contains waiting (blocked) processes and finds the first process from this queue. (If the port is a FIFO port, it finds the first process from the queue.)

- 2. It unblocks this process, loads the message SS into the message SS field of the process's PCB, and reschedules the process at its dispatching port.
- 3. If the Q bit is clear (indicating an empty port or a port with waiting messages), the processor queues the message segment at the end of the queue specified with the message priority operand in the **send** instruction. (If the port is a FIFO port, the message priority is ignored.)
- 4. Following either of the above actions, the processor resumes execution of the current process (the process that sent the message).

#### Receive a Message

The two receive instructions (**receive** and **condrec**) allow a process to pick up a message SS from a communication port. The **receive** instruction has two operands: a port SS and a destination register where the receive message is to be stored. When a process issues a **receive** instruction, the processor performs the following actions:

- 1. It checks the Q bit of the selected port. If the bit is clear (indicating a port with waiting messages or an empty port), the processor finds the highest priority queue that contains queued messages. (If the port is a FIFO port, it looks only at the single FIFO queue.)
- 2. The processor then takes the first message from the queue, stores it in the destination register specified in the **receive** instruction, and resumes execution of the process.
- 3. If the port is empty (all queues are empty) or has waiting processes (Q bit is set), the processor suspends the current process (receiving process) and queues it at the end of the queue specified with the priority field in the process's process controls word. (If the port is a FIFO port, the process priority is ignored.)
- 4. The processor then dispatches another process from the dispatch port and begins executing that process.

With the **condrec** instruction, the processor performs the same operation as it does with the **receive** instruction, except that it does not block the process at the communication port if there is no message available. Instead it sets the condition code bits in the arithmetic controls to indicate that a message was not received and resumes execution of the receiving process.

The **condrec** instruction has the same operands as the **receive** instruction: port SS and a destination register where the receive message is to be stored. When a process issues a **condrec** instruction, the processor performs the following actions:

- 1. It checks the Q bit of the selected port. If the bit is clear (indicating that there is a port with waiting messages or the port is empty), the processor finds the highest priority queue that contains queued messages. (If the port is a FIFO port, it looks only at the single FIFO queue.)
- 2. The processor then takes the first message from the queue, stores it in the destination register specified in the **condrec** instruction, sets the condition code to  $010_2$ , and resumes execution of the process.

3. If the port is empty (all queues are empty) or has waiting processes (Q bit is set), the processor sets the condition code to  $000_2$  and resumes execution of the process.

If a process fails to receive a message after issuing a **condrec** instruction, one action that the process can take is to wait for several ticks, then issue a **condrec** instruction again.

#### Send Service

The **sendserv** instruction offers a special application of the message passing mechanism. This instruction causes the processor to suspend the current process and send its SS as a message to a communication port.

This instruction has one operand, the SS of the communication port to receive the suspended process's SS. When the **sendserv** instruction is issued, the processor performs the following action:

- 1. It suspends the current process and goes to the communication port specified in the port SS operand of the instruction.
- 2. It checks the Q bit of the selected port. If the bit is set (indicating that processes are queued at the port), the processor finds the highest priority queue that contains waiting processes and finds the first process from this queue. (If the port is a FIFO port, it finds the first process from the queue.)
- 3. It unblocks this process, loads the SS for the suspended process into the message SS field of the waiting process's PCB, and reschedules the waiting process at its dispatching port.
- 4. If the Q bit is clear (indicating an empty port or a port with waiting messages), the processor queues the suspended process's PCB at the end of the queue specified with the process's priority field in its process controls. (If the port is a FIFO port, the process priority is ignored.)
- 5. Following either of the above actions, the processor dispatches a new process from the dispatching port and begins executing it.

The use of this instruction is described in the section later in this chapter titled "Applications of Messages."

#### Kernel Support for Message Passing

In general, the kernel must provide some support code to make interprocess-communication services available to application programs. Typically, kernel procedures are written that allow an application program to send and receive messages by making system calls (**calls** instruction) to the kernel.

These kernel procedures take care of setting up communication ports and creating message segments. Then, to send a message to another process, all that an application program has to do is supply a data word or a pointer to a data structure as a parameter in a system call to a send procedure. The kernel procedure will then load the word, the pointer, or a whole data structure into a message segment and issue a **send** instruction to send the message segment to a communication port.

Likewise, to receive a message from another process, an application program issues a system call to a receive procedure. The kernel then issues a **receive** or **condrec** instruction, gets the message SS, retrieves the data word, pointer, or data structure from the message segment, and returns it to the application program as a parameter.

#### **Applications of Messages**

The message passing mechanism can be used in several ways for either process synchronization or the passing of information between processes.

One application of a communication port is to synchronize processes in a manner similar to that described for a semaphore. Here, instead of incrementing a counter as a signal from one process to another, a message segment is left at a communication port.

The message segment can be used in two ways. First, it can contain a null message, in which case the passing of message SS's would be used strictly to synchronize processes. Second, the message segment can be encoded to contain information about the respective processes.

One of the benefits of using communication ports instead of semaphores for process synchronization is that processes waiting for messages can be prioritized.

When messages are used to pass information between processes, the message segments are typically mapped into predefined areas of region 3, and cooperating processes know the conventions of this mapping. One process can then pass data to another process by writing the data into a predefined message area and sending a pointer to that area to the kernel. The kernel then handles the message passing and returns the pointer to the receiving process.

The message being passed can also be a processor-defined data structure such as a port or a PCB. For example, a kernel may create communication ports dynamically. It could then send a new port as an SS to a process for use in the future for sending and receiving messages.

The **sendserv** instruction as is described above is specifically designed to send PCBs as messages. This instruction allows a process to explicitly suspend itself at a specific point in its activity. This capability has two common applications. One is to allow the process to suspend itself and have the processor reschedule it at a dispatch port. The other is to allow the processor to automatically kill processes that have completed their tasks. Here, the **sendserv** instruction sends the process's PCB to a communication port set up to handle dead processes. Another process that have been allocated to them, and deletes or frees up the PCBs.

a da serie de la constante de l Constante de la constante de la

·

\*

# *Multiple-Processor Operation*

15

#### CHAPTER 15 MULTIPLE-PROCESSOR OPERATION

This chapter presents several features of the processor that support multiprocessor systems. Included are discussions of external IAC messages, high-level process management facilities, atomic instructions, and interrupt handling.

#### **OVERVIEW OF MULTIPROCESSOR-SUPPORT FACILITIES**

The processor provides several facilities that greatly simplify the design of systems that use multiple processors, particularly in applications in which the processors share memory and processing tasks. These facilities include the following items:

- External IAC messages
- High-level process management facilities
- Atomic instructions
- Shared interrupt-handling facilities

#### **EXTERNAL IAC MESSAGES**

Chapter 11 presents the concept of an interagent communication (IAC) and describes how internal IACs are sent. (An internal IAC is one that a processor sends to itself). This section describes how external IACs are sent from one processor to another.

External IACs are used by agents external to the processor to initiate processor actions such as testing for pending interrupts or freezing the processor. External IACs can be sent between two 80960MC processors that are connected to the same bus or by external logic that duplicates the external IAC sending mechanism. The following sections describe how one processor sends an IAC to another processor. The 80960MC Hardware Designer's Reference Manual describes the requirements that external logic must meet to perform these same functions.

#### Sending External IACs

Sending an external IAC message is similar to sending an internal IAC message, except that the address of the receiving processor is specified in a slightly different way. (Internal IACs are always sent to address  $FF000010_{16}$ .)

The IAC message format is the same as is shown in Figure 11-1. Figure 15-1 shows how the address for the receiving processor is encoded.



#### Figure 15-1: Encoding of Address for Processor Receiving an IAC

At initialization each processor is assigned a unique physical address in the range of  $FF000C00_{16}$  to  $FFFFCC00_{16}$ . To send an IAC to a processor, the sending processor sends the message to the physical address assigned to the receiving processor. As shown in Figure 15-1, only bits 14 through 23 of this address are interpreted to determine the address of the receiving processor. Bits 4 through 8 of this address are used to encode the priority of the message.

For example, to send a priority  $25_{10}$  IAC to the processor at address  $000000001_2$ , the message physical address would be FF004D90<sub>16</sub>.

NOTE

If virtual addressing is being used, the address accompanying the IAC must be mapped to the physical address assigned to the receiving processor.

To send an external IAC, software must perform the following steps:

- 1. Load the message into four consecutive words in memory, with the first word aligned on a word boundary.
- 2. Execute a **synmovq** instruction to move the message from its source address to the address of the receiving processor (encoded in the form shown in Figure 15-1).
- 3. Check the condition code in the arithmetic controls to determine if the message was received  $(010_2)$  or rejected  $(000_2)$ .

The action of the **synmovq** move instruction insures that the sending processor does not execute any other instructions until the **synmovq** instruction is complete. It also sets the condition code bits to indicate whether or not the move was successful. A successful move is interpreted as the IAC being received by the processor. As is discussed in the next section, external logic may be employed to intercept IACs and reject them if their priorities (as encoded in the message address) are equal to or less than the task the processor is currently working on. The process running on the sending processor then has the option of sending the IAC again at a higher priority or sending the IAC repeatedly at the same priority until it is accepted.

#### **Receiving and Handling External IACs**

A processor receives and handles an external IAC in somewhat the same manner as it receives and handles an interrupt. To configure a processor to receive external IACs, vector INT0 of the interrupt-control register (shown in Figure 10-2) is set to 0. The INT0 pin on the processor chip then becomes the IAC pin. (Refer to the section in Chapter 10 titled "Interrupts From Interrupt Pins" for further discussion of the interrupt pins and interrupt-control register.)
When the processor receives a signal on the  $\overline{IAC}$  pin, it handles it initially as if it were receiving an interrupt. It reads the vector number associated with this pin (bits 0 through 7 of the interrupt-control register). If it is zero, the processor recognizes that it is receiving an external IAC. It then reads the four-word IAC message from the local bus and performs the requested IAC.

Since the processor handles IACs with a mechanism that is separate from the processexecution mechanism, it does not save the state of the current process prior to handling an IAC. Once a processor has finished handling an IAC, it resumes work on the current process, unless the action specified with the IAC (such as a processor restart or a process preemption) makes this impossible.

The processor acts immediately on any IAC that it receives. For efficient system operation, external logic must thus be provided to insure that low priority IAC messages do not interrupt the processor while it is handling a higher priority task. This logic is usually supplied by the M82965 component.

To support the M82965 (or other external logic) in this job, the processor provides a mechanism, called the write-external-priority mechanism, which periodically writes the priority of the processor's current task out on the bus as an IAC message. (The write-external-priority flag in the processor controls word enables this mechanism, as described in Chapter 9). The M82965 reads this message and keeps track of the current priority of the processor.

When an IAC is sent to the processor, the M82965 intercepts it and reads the priority encoded in the IAC address. It then determines whether the IAC priority is above that of the process currently running on the processor or not. If the IAC has a higher priority, the M82965 sends an acknowledge signal to the sending processor, then signals the receiving processor by asserting its  $\overline{IAC}$  pin. If the IAC has an equal or lower priority, the M82965 sends a not-acknowledge signal to the sending processor.

The sending processor uses the acknowledge or not-acknowledged signals to set the condition codes to complete the **synmovq** instruction.

While a processor is servicing an IAC, it performs some handshaking with its M82965 so that the M82965 knows when the processor has finished work on an IAC. The M82965 is then able to reject any IAC that it receives while the processor is servicing another IAC.

Refer to the 80960MC Hardware Designer's Reference Manual for further information on how the M82965 handles IAC messages.

#### HIGH-LEVEL PROCESS MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

All of the process-management facilities are available for use in multiprocessor systems. Of these, two are of particular importance: process scheduling and dispatching, and process preemption.

#### **Process Scheduling and Dispatching**

The processor's high-level process management facilities are particularly useful for scheduling and dispatching processes in a multiprocessor system. They provide an efficient method of distributing the processor resources among the tasks to be handled by the system. They also remove a significant burden from the kernel for handling process management.

How these facilities are used centers around how the dispatch port is used. If the intent of the system is to share the processing tasks evenly among the available processors, the system can use a single dispatch port that is shared by all the processors. All processes are thus scheduled and dispatched from the same place. The lock on the dispatch port allows processors to take turns dispatching and enqueuing processes from the port.

An alternate use of a dispatch port is to give each processor in the system its own port. The kernel is then responsible for determining the load on each processor, which it does by scheduling the ready processes on selected dispatch ports.

#### Multiprocessor Preemption

When using the high-level process management facilities described in Chapter 14, the processor provides the ability for a higher priority process to preempt a lower priority process. This means that the processor suspends the current lower-priority process and dispatches the higher priority, preempting process. A process can be a preempting process only if the preempt flag in its process controls is set.

Typically, preemption happens when a process becomes unblocked from a semaphore after receiving a signal or from a communication port after receiving a message. If the unblocked process has a higher priority than the current process, the processor preempts the current process.

Often the preempted process is also a preempting process. If there are other processors in the system, the multiprocessor-preempt mechanism provides a means for the processor that suspended a preempting process to check if one of the processors in the system can handle the process. It does this by sending a preempt process IAC message to one or two other process sors, as described in the next section. From the priority of the message, the receiving process it is currently working on. If it is, the receiving processor suspends its current process and dispatches the higher priority process from the dispatch port. If both of the processors are working on higher priority processes, the sending processor begins work on its current process.

This technique insures that if there are n processors in the system, the n highest-priority processes are always being run.

#### **Preemption Control**

The following fields in the PRCB and PCB control the multiprocessor-preemption mechanism: the multiprocessor-preempt flag, nonpreempt-limit field, interim-priority field, and write-external-priority flag in the processor controls; the multiprocessor-preemption field of the PRCB; and the preempt flag of the process controls.

The multiprocessor-preempt flag enables the multiprocessor-preemption mechanism. When this flag is set, the processor carries out the multiprocessor-preemption actions automatically, with no intervention from the kernel required.

In carrying out the multiprocessor-preemption action, the processor sends preempt process IAC messages ( $85000000_{16}$ ) to one or two other processors in the system. The IAC message and the addresses of the IAC message buffers for the two processors are contained in the multiprocessor-preemption field of the PRCB. The addresses are placed in the first two words of the field and the preempt process IAC message is placed in the third word. The addresses are stored in the form shown in Figure 15-1. The priority encoded in the address word is generally chosen to be a low value. For example, if the priority is set to 1, only idle processors (those with a 0 priority) will accept the IAC message. Any IAC message can be stored in the message word, but preempt process IAC is used for multiprocessor-preemption applications.

The nonpreempt-limit field contains a threshold priority that a processor uses to determine whether or not to perform a preemption action when it receives a preemption IAC message. If the priority of the preempting process (as contained in the IAC message) is equal to or lower than the priority of the processor's current process or the nonpreempt limit, the processor rejects the IAC and continues work on its current process. Typically, the nonpreempt-limit field is set to the middle of the priority range (12 to 10) to prevent a processor from carrying out process switches to service low-priority preempting processes.

The write-external-priority flag controls whether or not the priority of the currently running process is written out on the processor's bus. When this bit is set, the current priority is written out to the bus (in the form of an IAC message) whenever the following things occur: a process switch, an interrupt not caused by an IAC message, the execution of a **modpc** instruction (modify process controls).

The purpose of the write-external-priority mechanism is to keep external agents on the bus appraised of the priority of the task the processor is currently performing. The agent can then block IAC messages that are of lower priority. For example, if M82965s are being used in the system, the M82965 associated with each processor keeps track of the processor's priority by means of write-external-priority messages from the processor. When one processor sends a preempt process IAC message to another processor, the M82965 for the receiving processor checks the priority of the message and rejects it if it is not higher than the current priority of the processor.

The interim-priority field of the processor controls provides a means of setting the processor's priority to a high-enough level to avoid being interrupted by IACs. This field is only used when the write-external-priority function is enabled. When this function is enabled, the processor writes the value in the interim-priority field out on the bus any time one of the following instructions are executed: **send**, **sendserv**, **signal**, and **schedprcs**. This field is typically set to a high priority value (25 to 30) to insure that these instructions are able to be completed before the processor is forced to service an IAC message.

#### **Multiprocessor-Preemption Action**

The processor performs the following actions when the multiprocessor-preempt flag is set and the processor schedules a preempting process at the dispatch port:

- 1. The processor sends a preempt process IAC message from the multiprocessor-preemption field of the PRCB to the first address given in this field.
- 2. The M82965 associated with the receiving processor compares the priority of the IAC with the processor's current priority. If IAC priority is higher, the M82965 sends the IAC on to the receiving processor and sends an ACK signal back to the sending processor.
- 3. If the receiving processor is not interrupted or stopped, it checks the dispatch port to determine the priority of the highest-priority process queued at the port. It then compares this priority with that of its current process and its nonpreempt-limit field. If the priority of the process at the dispatch port is higher than that of either the current process or the nonpreempt limit, the receiving processor suspends its current process and dispatches the higher-priority process from the dispatch port. If the priority is lower, the receiving process resumes work on its current process.
- 4. Upon receiving the ACK signal from the M82965 for the receiving processor, the sending processor then resumes work on its current process.
- 5. If in step 2 the priority of the first receiving processor is higher than the IAC priority, the M82965 sends a NACK signal back to the sending processor indicating that it has rejected the IAC message.
- 6. The sending processor then sends the message to the next address in the multiprocessorpreemption field of the PRCB.
- 7. If the second receiving processor also rejects the IAC message, the sending processor sends an IAC back to the first receiving processor, but this time it sets the priority of the message equal to that of the preempting process.
- 8. Again, if this message is rejected, the sending processor sends the higher priority message to the second receiving processor.
- 9. If the IAC is rejected at both priorities by both receiving processors, the sending processor abandons its attempt to find a processor to preempt and resumes work on its current process.
- 10. If in process suspended in step 3 is also a preempting process, the receiving processor then performs this multiprocessor-preemption action to attempt to get either of two processors to work on the process.
- 11. This action is continued until the available processors are servicing the highest-priority processes.

#### ATOMIC INSTRUCTIONS

The atomic instructions allow a processor in a multiprocessor system to perform certain readmodify-write operations on a memory location, with the guarantee that the write will be completed before another processor is allowed access to the memory location. This capability is essential for performing operations on certain data structures, where it is important that one processor does not alter the data structure while another processor is trying to perform a read-modify-write on it. The processor provides two atomic instructions: atomic add (**atadd**) and atomic modify (**atmod**). The **atadd** instruction adds a 32-bit ordinal value to a 32-bit target value in memory. The **atmod** instruction inserts a 32-bit value into a memory location, under the control of a mask. The mask determines which of the target bits in memory are actually modified.

#### **INTERRUPT HANDLING IN A MULTIPROCESSOR SYSTEM**

A useful feature of the interrupt table in a multiprocessor system is that it allows the handling of interrupts to be shared. In a multiprocessor system, each processor has its own interrupt stack, but all the processors can share the interrupt table.

If a processor receives an interrupt that is at an equal or lower priority than the process that it is currently working on, it posts the interrupt as a pending interrupt in the interrupt table. All the processors check for pending interrupts at certain times as described in Chapter 10 in the section titled "Pending Interrupts." If one processor is not able to handle an interrupt, another one is likely to be available.

The test-pending-interrupts IAC provides a means for one processor to explicitly request that another processor check for pending interrupts and handle them if they exist.

المراجع ومراجع المراجع المراجع



.

### CHAPTER 16 DEBUGGING

This chapter describes the tracing facilities of the 80960MC processor, which allow the monitoring of instruction execution.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE TRACE-CONTROL FACILITIES**

The 80960MC processor provides facilities for monitoring the activity of the processor by means of trace events. A trace event in the 80960MC is a condition where the processor has just completed executing a particular instruction or type of instruction, or where the processor is about to execute a particular instruction.

By monitoring trace events, debugging software is able to display or analyze the activity of the processor or of a program. This analysis can be used to locate software or hardware bugs or for general system monitoring during the development of system or applications programs.

The typical way to use this tracing capability is to set the processor to detect certain trace events either by means of the trace-controls word or a set of breakpoint registers. An alternate method of creating a trace event is with the **mark** and force mark (**fmark**) instructions. These instructions cause an explicit trace event to be generated when the processor detects them in the instruction stream.

If tracing is enabled, the processor signals a trace fault when it detects a trace event. The fault handler for trace faults can then call the debugging monitor software to display or analyze the state of the processor when the trace event occurred.

#### **REQUIRED SOFTWARE SUPPORT FOR TRACING**

To use the processor's tracing facilities, software must provide trace-fault handling procedures, perhaps interfaced with a debugging monitor. Software must also manipulate several control flags to enable the various tracing modes and to enable or disable tracing in general. These control flags are located in the system-data structures described in the next section.

#### TRACE CONTROLS

The following flags or fields control tracing:

- Trace controls
- Trace-enable flag in the process controls
- Trace-fault-pending flag in the process controls
- Trace flag (bit 0) in the return-status field of register r0
- Trace-control flag in the supervisor-stack-pointer field of the system table or a procedure table

#### Trace-Controls Word

The trace-controls word is located in the PCB for the current process. When a process is bound to the processor, the contents of the trace-controls word are cached internally in the processor.

The trace controls allow software to define the conditions under which trace events are generated. Figure 16-1 shows the structure of the trace-controls word.



#### Figure 16-1: Trace-Controls Word

This word contains two sets of bits: the mode flags and the event flags. The mode flags define a set of trace modes that the processor can use to generate trace events. A mode represents a subset of instructions that will cause trace events to be generated. For example, when the call-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a trace event whenever a call or branchand-link operation is executed. To enable a trace mode, the kernel sets the mode flag for the selected trace mode in the trace controls. The trace modes are described later in this chapter.

The processor uses the event flags to keep track of which trace events (for those trace modes that have been enabled) have been detected.

A special instruction, the modify-trace-controls (**modtc**) instruction, allows software to set or clear flags in the trace controls. On initialization, all the flags in the processor's internal trace controls are cleared. The **modtc** instruction can then be used to set or clear trace mode flags as

required. (This instruction does not affect the trace controls word in the PCB for the current process.)

Software can access the event flags using the **modtc** instruction; however, there is no reason to. The processor modifies these flags as part of its trace-handling mechanism.

Bits 0, 8 through 16, and 24 through 31 of the trace controls are reserved. Software should initialize these bits to zero and not access or modify them thereafter.

#### Trace-Enable and Trace-Fault-Pending Flags

The trace-enable flag and the trace-fault-pending flag, located in the process controls (shown in Figure 13-2), control tracing. The trace-enable flag enables the processor's tracing facilities. When this flag is set, the processor generates trace faults on all trace events.

Typically, software selects the trace modes to be used through the trace controls. It then sets the trace-enable flag when tracing is to begin. This flag is also altered as part of some of the call and return operations that the processor carries out, as described at the end of this chapter.

The trace-fault-pending flag allows the processor to keep track of the fact that an enabled trace event has been detected. The processor uses this flag as follows. When the processor detects an enabled trace event, it sets this flag. Before executing an instruction, the processor checks this flag. If the flag is set, it signals a trace fault. By providing a means of recording the occurrence of a trace event, the trace-fault-pending flag allows the processor to service an interrupt or handle a fault other than a trace fault, before handling the trace fault. Software should not modify this flag.

#### Trace Control on Supervisor Calls

The trace flag and the trace-control flag allow tracing to be enabled or disabled when a call-system instruction (**calls**) is executed that results in a switch to supervisor mode. This action occurs independent of whether or not tracing is enabled prior to the call.

When a supervisor call is executed (**calls** instruction that references an entry in a procedure table with an entry type  $11_2$ ), the processor saves the current state of the trace-enable flag (from the process controls) in the trace flag (bit 0) of the return-status field of register r0.

Then, when the processor selects the supervisor procedure from the procedure table, it sets the trace-enable flag in the process controls according to the setting in the trace-control flag in the procedure table (bit 0 of the word that contains the supervisor-stack pointer). When the trace-control flag is set, tracing is enabled; when it is clear, tracing is disabled.

On a return from the supervisor procedure, the trace-enable flag in the process controls is restored to the value saved in the return-status field of register r0.

#### **TRACE MODES**

The following trace modes can be enabled through the trace controls:

- Instruction trace
- Branch trace
- Call trace
- Return trace
- Prereturn trace
- Supervisor trace
- Breakpoint trace

These modes can be enabled individually or several modes can be enabled at once. Some of these modes overlap, such as the call-trace mode and the supervisor-trace mode. The section later in this chapter titled "Handling Multiple Trace Events" describes what the processor does when multiple trace events occur.

The following sections describe each of the trace modes.

#### Instruction Trace

When the instruction-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates an instruction-trace event each time an instruction is executed. This mode can be used within a debugging monitor to single-step the processor.

#### **Branch Trace**

When the branch-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a branch-trace event any time a branch instruction that branches is executed. A branch-trace event is not generated for conditional-branch instructions that do not branch. Also, branch-and-link, call, and return instructions do not cause branch-trace events to be generated.

#### Call Trace

When the call-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a call-trace event any time a call instruction (call, callx, or calls) or a branch-and-link instruction (bal or balx) is executed. An implicit call, such as the action used to invoke a fault handler or an interrupt handler, also causes a call-trace event to be generated.

When the processor detects a call-trace event, it also sets the prereturn-trace flag (bit 3 of register r0) in the new frame created by the call operation or in the current frame if a branchand-link operation was performed. The processor uses this flag to determine whether or not to signal a prereturn-trace event on a **ret** instruction.

#### **Return Trace**

When the return-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a return-trace event any time a **ret** instruction is executed.

#### Prereturn Trace

The prereturn-trace mode causes the processor to generate a prereturn-trace event prior to the execution of any **ret** instruction, providing the prereturn-trace flag in r0 is set. (Prereturn tracing cannot be used without enabling call tracing.)

The processor sets the prereturn-trace flag whenever it detects a call-trace event (as described above for the call-trace mode). This flag performs a prereturn-trace-pending function. If another trace event occurs at the same time as the prereturn-trace event, the prereturn-trace flag allows the processor to fault on the non-prereturn-trace event first, then come back and fault again on the prereturn-trace event. The prereturn trace is the only trace event that can cause two successive trace faults to be generated between instruction boundaries.

#### Supervisor Trace

When the supervisor-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a supervisor-trace event any time (1) a call-system instruction (calls) is executed, where the procedure table entry is a supervisor procedure, or (2) when a **ret** instruction is executed and the return-status field is set to  $010_2$  or  $011_2$  (i.e., return from supervisor mode).

This trace mode allows a debugging program to determine the boundaries of operating-system calls within the instruction stream.

#### **Breakpoint Trace**

The breakpoint-trace mode allows trace events to be generated at places other than those specified with the other trace modes. This mode is used in conjunction with the **mark** and force-mark (**fmark**) instructions, and the breakpoint registers.

The **mark** and **fmark** instructions allow breakpoint-trace events to be generated at specific points in the instruction stream. When the breakpoint-trace mode is enabled, the processor generates a breakpoint-trace event any time it encounters a **mark** instruction. The **fmark** causes the processor to generate a breakpoint-trace event regardless of whether the breakpoint-trace mode is enabled or not.

The processor has two, one-word breakpoint registers, designated as breakpoint 0 and breakpoint 1. Using the set-breakpoint-register IAC, one instruction pointer can be loaded into each register. The processor then generates a breakpoint trace any time it executes an instruction referenced in a breakpoint register.

#### TRACE-FAULT HANDLER

A fault handler is a procedure that the processor calls to handle faults that occur. The requirements for fault handlers are given in Chapter 12 in the section titled "Fault-Handler Procedures."

A trace-fault handler has one additional restriction. It must be called with an implicit supervisor call, and the trace-control flag in the procedure-table entry must be clear. This restriction insures that tracing is turned off when a trace fault is being handled, which is necessary to prevent an endless loop.

#### SIGNALING A TRACE EVENT

To summarize the information presented in the previous sections, the processor signals a trace event when it detects any of the following conditions:

- An instruction included in a trace-mode group is executed or about to be executed (in the case of a prereturn trace event) and the trace mode for that instruction is enabled.
- An implicit call operation has been executed and the call-trace mode is enabled.
- A mark instruction has been executed and the breakpoint-trace mode is enabled.
- An **fmark** instruction has been executed.
- An instruction specified in a breakpoint register is executed and the breakpoint-trace mode is enabled.

When the processor detects a trace event and the trace-enable flag in the process controls is set, the processor performs the following action:

- 1. The processor sets the appropriate trace-event flag in the trace controls. If a trace event meets the conditions of more than one of the enabled trace modes, a trace-event flag is set for each trace mode condition that is met.
- 2. The processor sets the trace-fault-pending flag in the process controls.

#### NOTE

The processor may set a trace-event flag and the trace-fault-pending flag before it has completed execution of the instruction that caused the event. However, the processor only handles trace events in between the execution of instructions.

If, when the processor detects a trace event, the trace-enable flag in the process controls is clear, the processor sets the appropriate event flags, but does not set the trace-fault-pending flag.

#### HANDLING MULTIPLE TRACE EVENTS

If the processor detects multiple trace events, it records one or more of them based on the following precedence, where 1 is the highest precedence:

- 1. Supervisor-trace event
- 2. Breakpoint- (from **mark** or **fmark** instruction, or from a breakpoint register), branch-, call-, or return-trace event
- 3. Instruction-trace event

When multiple trace events are detected, the processor may not signal each event; however, it will signal at least the one with the highest precedence.

#### TRACE-HANDLING ACTION

Once a trace event has been signaled, the processor determines how to handle the trace event, according to the setting of the trace-enable and trace-fault-pending flags in the process controls and to other events that might occur simultaneously with the trace event such as an interrupt or a non-trace fault.

The following sections describe how the processor handles trace events for various situations.

#### **Normal Handling of Trace Events**

Prior to executing an instruction, the processor performs the following action regarding trace events:

- 1. The processor checks the state of the trace-fault pending flag. If this flag is clear, the processor begins execution of the next instruction. If the flag is set, the processor performs the following actions.
- 2. The processor checks the state of the trace-enable flag. If the trace-enable flag is clear, the processor clears any trace event flags that have been set, prior to starting execution of the next instruction. If the trace-enable flag is set, the processor performs the following action.
- 3. The processor signals a trace fault and begins the fault handling action, as described in Chapter 12.

#### Prereturn-Trace Handling

The processor handles a prereturn-trace event the same as described above except when it occurs at the same time as a non-trace fault. Here, the non-trace fault is handled first.

On returning from the fault handler for the non-trace fault, the processor checks the prereturntrace flag in register r0. If this flag is set, the processor generates a prereturn-trace event, then handles it as described above.

#### **Tracing and Interrupt Handlers**

When the processor invokes an interrupt handler to service an interrupt, it disables tracing. It does this by saving the current state of the process controls, then clearing the trace-enable and trace-fault-pending flags in the current process controls.

On returning from the interrupt handler, the processor restores the process controls to the state they were in prior to handling the interrupt, which restores the state of the trace-enable and trace-fault-pending flags. If these two flags were set prior to calling the interrupt handler, a trace fault will be signaled on the return from the interrupt handler.

#### **Tracing and Fault Handlers**

The processor can invoke a fault handler with either an implicit local call or an implicit supervisor call. On a local call, the trace-enable and trace-fault-pending flags are neither saved on the call nor restored on the return. The state of these flags on the return is thus dependent on the action of the fault handler.

On a supervisor call, the trace-enable and trace-fault-pending flags are saved, as part of the saved process controls, and restored on the return. So, if these two flags were set prior to calling the fault handler, a trace fault will be signaled on the return from the fault handler.

#### NOTE

On a return from an interrupt handler, the trace-fault-pending flag is restored. If this flag is set as a result of the handler's **ret** instruction (i.e., indicating a return trace event), the detected trace event is lost.

The action described above is also true on a return from a fault handler, when the fault handler has been called with an implicit supervisor call.

# Instruction Reference

17

#### CHAPTER 17 INSTRUCTION REFERENCE

This chapter provides detailed information about each of the instructions for the 80960MC processor. To provide quick access to information on a particular instruction, the instructions are listed alphabetically by assembly-language mnemonic. An explanation of the format and abbreviations used in this chapter is given in the following section.

#### INTRODUCTION

The information in this chapter is oriented toward programmers who are writing assemblylanguage code for the 80960MC processor. The information provided for each instruction includes the following:

- Alphabetic reference
- Assembly-language mnemonic and name
- Assembly-language format
- Description of the instruction's operation
- Action the instruction carries out when executed (generally presented in the form of an algorithm)
- Faults that can occur during execution
- Assembly-language example
- Opcode and instruction format
- Related instructions

Additional information about the instruction set can be found in the following chapters and appendices in this manual:

- Chapter 6 Summary of the instruction set by group and description of the assemblylanguage instruction format
- Appendix A Instruction Quick Reference
- Appendix B Machine-Level Instruction Formats
- Appendix C Instruction Timing

#### NOTATION

To simplify the presentation of information about the instructions, a simple notation has been adopted in this chapter. The following paragraphs describe this notation.

#### **Alphabetic Reference**

The instructions are listed alphabetically by assembly-language mnemonic. If several instructions are related and fall together alphabetically, they are described as a group on a single page.

The reference at the top of each page gives the assembly-language mnemonics for the instructions covered on that page (e.g., **subc**). Occasionally, there are so many instructions covered on the page that it is not practical to give all the mnemonics in the page reference. In these cases, the name of the instruction group is given in capital letters (e.g., BRANCH or FAULT IF)

A box around the alphabetic reference (such as **addr, addrl**) indicates that the instruction or group of instructions are extensions to the 80960 architecture instruction set.

#### Mnemonic

The Mnemonic section gives the complete mnemonic (in **bold-face type**) and instruction name for each instruction covered on the page, for example:

subi Subtract Integer

#### Format

The Format section gives the assembly-language format of the instruction and the type of operands allowed. The format is given in two or three lines. The following is an example of a two line format:

sub*	src1,	src2,	dst
	reg/lit	reg/lit	reg

The first line gives the assembly-language mnemonic (bold-face type) and the operands (italics). When the format is used for two or more instructions, an abbreviated form of the mnemonic is used. The " \* " sign at the end of the mnemonic indicates that the mnemonic has been abbreviated.

The operand names are designed to describe the functions of the operands (e.g., src, len, mask).

The second line of the format shows what is allowed to be entered for each operand. The notation used on this line is as follows:

reg	Global (g0 g15) or local (r0 r15) register
freg	Global (g0 g15) or local (r0 r15) register, or floating-point (fp0 fp3) register, where the registers contain floating-point numbers
lit	Integer or ordinal literal of the range 0 31
flit	Floating-point literal of value 1.0 or 0.0
disp	Signed displacement of range $-2^{22} \dots (2^{22} - 1)$

mem Address defined with the full range of addressing modes

In some cases, a third line will be added to show specifically what will be in a register or memory location. For example, it may be useful to know that a register is to contain an address. The notation used in this line is as follows:

addr	Address
efa	Effective address
SS	Segment selector

#### Description

The Description section describes what the instruction does and the functions of the operands. It also gives programming hints when appropriate.

#### Action

The Action section gives an algorithm written in a pseudo-code that describes in detail what actions the processor takes when executing the instruction and the precise order of these actions. The main purpose of this section is to show the possible side effects of the instruction. The following is an example of the action algorithm for the **alterbit** instruction:

```
if (AC.cc and 2#010#) = 0
then dst ← src and not (2^(bitpos mod 32));
else dst ← src or 2^(bitpos mod 32);
end if;
```

In these action statements, the term AC.cc means the condition-code bits in the arithmetic controls. The notation 2#value# means that the value enclosed in the "#" signs is in base 2.

#### Faults

The Faults section lists the faults that can be signaled as the result of execution of the instruction. Faults listed with all-capital letters refer to a group of faults; faults listed with initialcapital letters refer to a specific fault.

All instructions can signal a group of general faults which are referred to as STANDARD FAULTS. The list of standard faults is as follows:

STANDARD FAULTS

Trace Instruction Trace Process Process Time Slice Machine Bad Access Virtual Memory Segment Virtual Memory PTD Virtual Memory PTE Protection Length Protection Page Rights

Note that the virtual memory and protection faults listed above can occur on instructions that only access registers. Here, they can occur as a result of the memory access to fetch the instruction.

The following list shows the various fault groups and the individual faults in each group:

#### TRACE FAULTS

Instruction Trace Branch Trace Call Trace Return Trace Prereturn Trace Supervisor Trace Breakpoint Trace

#### **OPERATION**

Invalid Opcode Invalid Operand

#### ARITHMETIC

Integer Overflow Arithmetic Zero-Divide

#### **FLOATING-POINT**

Floating Overflow Floating Underflow Floating Invalid-Operation Floating Zero-Divide Floating Inexact Floating Reserved-Encoding

#### CONSTRAINT

Constraint Range Invalid SS

#### VIRTUAL MEMORY

Invalid Segment Invalid Page-Table-Directory-Entry (PTDE) Invalid Page-Table-Entry (PTE)

#### PROTECTION

Segment Length Page Rights

#### MACHINE

**Bad Access** 

#### STRUCTURAL

Control Dispatch IAC

#### TYPE

Type Mismatch Contents

PROCESS

Time Slice

DESCRIPTOR Invalid Descriptor

EVENT

Event Notice

#### Example

The Example section gives an assembly-language example of an application of the instruction.

#### **Opcode and Instruction Format**

The Opcode and Instruction Format section gives the opcode and machine language instruction format for each instruction, for example:

subi 593 REG

The opcode is given in hexadecimal format.

The machine language format is one of four possible formats: REG, COBR, CTRL, and MEM. Refer to Appendix B for more information on the machine-language instruction formats.

#### See Also

The See Also section gives the mnemonics of related instructions, which can then be looked up alphabetically in this chapter for comparison. For instructions that are grouped on one page (such as **addr** and **addrl**), only the first mnemonic is given.

#### INSTRUCTIONS

This section contains reference information on the processor's instructions. It is arranged alphabetically by instruction or instruction group.

### addc

Mnemonic:	addc	Add Ordin	al With Carr	rry
Format:	addc	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	dst reg
Description:	carry in), an bit 1 of the addition res bit 0 is clea	d stores the r e condition c ults in an ove red. Regardl	esult in <i>dst</i> . I ode is set; o erflow, bit 0 o	t 1 of the condition code (used here as a If the ordinal addition results in a carry, otherwise, bit 1 is cleared. If integer of the condition code is set; otherwise, sults of the addition, bits 0 and 1 of the
	instruction of Instead, the	does not distin processor ev	nguish betwee	either ordinal or integer arithmetic. The een ordinal and integer source operands. esult for both data types and sets bits 0 ly.
	An integer o	overflow fault	t is never sign	naled with this instruction.
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2$ AC.cc \leftarrow # C is carry	+ <i>src1</i> + C; 2#0CV#; y from ordin	al addition.	
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	<pre># Assum # in g0 cmpo 1, addc g0 addc g1</pre>	e 64-bit ,g1 and 0 , g2, g0 , g3, g1	source of g2,g3 # clea # the # add # g0 # add	ecision arithmetic operands ears Bit 1 (carry bit) of AC.cc 1 low-order 32 bits; $\leftarrow$ g2 + g0 + Carry Bit 1 high-order 32 bits; $\leftarrow$ g3 + g1 + Carry Bit g0, g1
Opcode:	addc	5B0	REG	
See Also:	addo, subc			

intel

### addi, addo

Mnemonic:	addi addo	Add Intege Add Ordin		
Format:	add*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	dst reg
Description:	Adds the sro	c2 and src1 va	alues and	stores the result in <i>dst</i> .
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	+ <i>src1</i> ;		
Faults:	STANDAR	D		Refer to discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.
	Integer Over	rflow		Result is too large for destination format. This fault is signaled only when execut- ing the <b>addi</b> instruction and if both of the following conditions are met: (1) the integer-overflow mask in the arithmetic- controls registers is clear and (2) the source operands have like signs and the sign of the result operand is different than the signs of the source operands.
Example:	addi r4,	, g5, r9	# r	9 ← g5 + r4
Opcode:	addi addo	591 590	REG REG	
See Also:	addc, addr,	subi, subo		

### intel

### addr, addrl

Mnemonics:	addr addrl	Add Real Add Long Real			
Format:	addr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg	

**Description:** Adds the *src2* and *src1* values and stores the result in *dst*.

For the **addrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when adding various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

	5701								
		-8	-F	-0	+0	+ F	+∞	NaN	
	-00	-00	-00	-00	-00	-00	*	NaN	
	-F	-00	-F	src2	src2	$\pm F \text{ or } \pm 0$	+∞	NaN	
	-0	-00	src1	-0	±0	src1	+∞	NaN	
Src2	+ 0	-00	src1	±Ο	+0	src1	+∞	NaN	
	+ F	-00	$\pm F \text{ or } \pm 0$	src2	src2	+ F	+∞	NaN	
	+∞	*	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	NaN	
-	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception

When the sum of two operands with opposite signs is zero, the result is +0, except for the round toward  $-\infty$  mode, in which case, the result is -0. When zero is added to itself (e.g. *src1* + *src1*, where *src1* is 0), the result retains the sign of the source.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow src2 + src1;$ 

## addr, addrl

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.			
	Floating Reserved Encoding	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.			
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its mask bit in the arithmetic controls.				
	Floating Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.			
	Floating Underflow	Normalized result is too small for des- tination format.			
	Floating Invalid Operation	Source operands are infinities of unlike sign.			
		One or more operands is an SNaN value.			
	Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			
		Floating overflow occurred and the over- flow exception was masked.			
Example:	addrl g6, g8, fp3 #	fp3 ← g6,g7 + g8,g9			
Opcode:	addr78FREGaddrl79FREG				
See Also:	addi, subr				

### intel

alterbit							
Mnemonic:	alterbit	Alter Bit					
Format:	alterbit	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst reg			
Description:	the bit to be	changed; the If the condit	t with one bit condition coc ion code is X	le determ	ines the v	alue the b	it is to be
Action:	then dst		= 0 ot (2^(bitpo. bitpos mod 3		2));		
Faults:	STANDAR	D					
Example:	# assume AC.cc = 010 alterbit 24, g4, g9 # g9 $\leftarrow$ g4, with bit 24 set						
Opcode:	alterbit	58F	REG				
See Also:	checkbit, cl	earbit, notbit	t, setbit				

### and, andnot

Mnemonics:	and andnot	And And Not		
Format:	and	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	,	dst reg
	andnot	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	,	dst reg
Description:	instruction) Note in the with the <b>and</b>	operation on action expres	the <i>src2</i> and <i>s</i> ssions below,	struction) or AND NOT (andnot <i>crc1</i> values and stores the result in <i>dst</i> . the <i>src2</i> operand comes first, so that ion is evaluated as
	rather than			
	{src1 an	dnot (src2)}.		
Action:	and:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	and src1;	
	andnot:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	and not (sr	c1);
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	and 0x1 andnot :	7, g8, g2 r3, r12,	2 # g2 r9 # r	← g8 AND $0 \times 17$ 9 ← r12 AND NOT r3
Opcode:	and andnot	581 582	REG REG	
See Also:	nand, nor,	not, notand, 1	notor, or, orr	iot, xnor, xor

### intel

atadd						
Mnemonic:	atadd	Atomic Ad	ld		an a	na Paratan San San San
Format:	atadd	<i>src/dst</i> , reg addr	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst reg		ja setema e
Description:				the value in the ial value from m		
	prevented fi	rom accessing	g the w	e done atomicall ord of memory en completed).		
	nificant byte boundary.	e) of the work (Note that the ne-code form	d. The e <i>src/ds</i>	is the address of address is autor operand maps er to Appendix	natically aligned to the src1 op	ed to a word berand of the
Action:	$temp \leftarrow ato$	omic_read (t te (tempa) ↔	empa);	<pre># force alignm + src;</pre>	nent to word t	oundary
Faults:	STANDAR	D		k tan		1999) 1999 - Britan
Example:	atadd r	3, r2, r1	# # #	r8 ← r2 + where r8 a address of memory; r2 value stor r8 in memory	specifies f a word 11 ← init red at ad	the in ial
Opcode:	atadd	612	REG	$e_{ij} = \int_{0}^{1} e^{i \phi} g_{ij} \left[ B_{ij} \left[ \phi_{ij} \right] \right] = e^{i \phi}$	g to serve the	$\frac{2\pi e^{-2\pi i t}}{2\pi e^{-2\pi i t}} = e^{-2\pi i t} e^{-2\pi i t}$
See Also:	atmod					

### atanr, atanrl

Mnemonics:	atanr atanrl	Arctangent Real Arctangent Long Real				
Format:	atanr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	src2, freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg		

**Description:** Calculates the arctangent of the quotient of *src2/src1* and stores the result in dst. The result is returned in radians and is in the range of  $-\pi$  to  $+\pi$ , inclusive. The sign of the result is always the sign of *src2*.

> For the **atanrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

> These instructions are commonly used as part of an algorithm to convert rectangular coordinates to polar coordinates. They can also be used to implement the FORTRAN intrinsic functions ATAN and ATAN2. If src1 is the floating-point literal value +1.0, then these instructions return a result in the range of  $-\pi/2$  to  $+\pi/2$ .

> The following table gives the range of results for various values of src2 and *src1*, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

	Src1							
		-00	-F	-0	+ 0	+ F	+∞	NaN
Src2	-00	-3π/4	-π/2	-π/2	-π/2	-n/2	-π/4	NaN
	-F	-π	-π to -π/2	-π/2	-π/2	-π/2 to -0	-0	NaN
	-0	-π	-π	-π	-0	-0	-0	NaN
	+ 0	+ π	+ π	+ π	+0	+0	+0	NaN
	+ F	+ π	$+ \pi$ to $+ \pi/2$	+ π/2	$+ \pi/2$	$+ \pi/2 \text{ to } + 0$	+0	NaN
	+∞	+3π/4	+ π/2	+ π/2	$+ \pi/2$	+ π/2	+ π/4	NaN
	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

### atanr, atanrl

Action:	$dst \leftarrow \arctan(src2/src1);$				
Faults:	STANDARD Floating Reserved Encoding		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
			One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.				
	Floating Underflow		Result is too small for destination format.		
	Floating Invalid Operation Floating Inexact		One or more operands are an SNaN value. Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	atanrl g8, g10,	fp3	# fp3 ← # arctan (g10,g11/g8,g9)		
	atanrl 1.0, g0,	g0	# g0,g1 $\leftarrow$ arctan (g0,g1)		
Opcode:	atanr 680 atanrl 690	REG REG			
See Also:	tanr				

intel

### atmod

Mnemonic:	atmod	Atomic Modify			
Format:	atmod	<i>src</i> , reg addr	<i>mask</i> , reg/lit	,	
Description:	Copies the $src/dst$ value into the memory location specified in $src$ . The bits set in the <i>mask</i> operand select the bits to be modified in memory. The initial value from memory is stored in $src/dst$ .				
	The read and write of memory are done atomically (i.e., other processors are prevented from accessing the word of memory specified with the $src/dst$ operand until the operation has been completed).				
		mory location in <i>src</i> is the address of the first byte (least significant the word to be modified. The address is automatically aligned to a bundary.			
Action:	tempa ← <i>src</i> <b>and not</b> (3); # force alignment to word boundary temp ← atomic_read (tempa); atomic_write (tempa) ← ( <i>src/dst</i> <b>and</b> <i>mask</i> ) <b>or</b> (temp <b>and not</b> ( <i>mask</i> )); <i>src/dst</i> ← temp;				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	atmod g	5, g7, g1	# # #	⊧ memory; g10 ← initial value stored at address g5	
Opcode:	atmod	610	REG		
See Also:	atadd				

### أint

### b, bx

Mnemonic:	b bx	Branch Branch Extended
Format:	b	<i>targ</i> disp
	bx	<i>targ</i> mem

**Description:** Branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label, which specifies the IP of the target instruction.

With the **b** instruction, the IP specified with the *targ* operand can be no farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

The **bx** instruction performs the same operation as the **b** instruction except that the target instruction can be farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP. Here, the the *targ* operand is a memory type, which allows the full range of addressing modes to be used to specify the IP of the target instruction. The "IP + displacement" addressing mode allows the instruction to be IP-relative. Indirect branching can be performed by placing the target address in a register and then using one of the register-indirect addressing modes.

Refer to Chapter 5 for a complete discussion of the addressing modes available with memory-type operands.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the **b** instruction uses the CTRL instruction format. With this format, the target instruction for the branch is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statement for the **b** instruction), which can range from  $-2^{21}$  to  $(2^{21} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.

### b, bx

To allow labels to be used in the assembly-language version of the **b** instruction, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine-instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the CTRL instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

Action:	b:	$IP \leftarrow IP$	P + <i>displacement</i> ; # resume execution at new IP
	bx:	$IP \leftarrow ta$	arg; # resume execution at new IP
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	b xyz # IP $\leftarrow$ xyz;		
	bx 1332	(ip)	# IP ← IP + 1332; # this example uses ip-relative # addressing.
Opcode:	b bx	08 84	CTRL MEM
See Also:			H IF, COMPARE INTEGER AND BRANCH, COM- ND BRANCH

### intel

### bal, balx

Mnemonic: bal balx		Branch And Link Branch And Link Extended		
Format:	bal	<i>targ</i> disp	0	
	balx	<i>targ</i> , mem	<i>dst</i> reg	

**Description:** Stores the address of the next instruction (the instruction following the **bal** or **balx** instruction) and branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label, which specifies the IP of the target instruction.

With the **bal** instruction, the address of the next instruction is stored in register g14. The *targ* operand value can be no farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

The **balx** instruction performs almost the same operation as the **bal** instruction except that the address of the next instruction is stored in *dst*. With the **balx** instruction, the target instruction can be farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP. Here, the *targ* operand is a memory type, which allows the full range of addressing modes to be used to specify the IP of the target instruction. The "IP + displacement" addressing mode allows the instruction to be IP-relative. Indirect branching can be performed by placing the target address in a register and then using one of the register-indirect addressing modes.

Refer to Chapter 5 for a complete discussion of the addressing modes available with memory-type operands.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the **bal** instruction uses the CTRL instruction format. With this format, the target instruction for the branch is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statement for the **bal** instruction), which can range from  $-2^{21}$  to  $(2^{21} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.
## bal, balx

To allow labels or absolute addresses to be used in the assembly-language version of the **bal** instruction, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the CTRL instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

Action:	bal:		<ul><li>+ 4; # destination next IP is always g14 targ; # resume execution at the new IP</li></ul>
	balx:		inst length; # instruction length # is 4 or 8 bytes # resume execution at the new IP
Faults:	STANDARD		
Example:	bal xyz # IP $\leftarrow$ xyz;		
	balx (g	4	<pre># IP ← (g2); # address of return instruction # is stored in g4; example of # indirect addressing.</pre>
Opcode:	bal balx	0B 85	CTRL MEM
See Also:	b, bx		

#### intel

#### bbc, bbs

Mnemonic:	bbc bbs		and Branch and Branch	
Format:	bb*	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg	<i>targ</i> disp

**Description:** Checks the bit in *src* (designated by *bitpos*) and sets the condition code in the arithmetic controls according to the value found. The processor then performs a conditional branch to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand, according on the state of the condition code. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label, which specifies the IP of the target instruction.

For the **bbc** instruction, if the selected bit in **src** is clear, the processor sets the condition code to  $010_2$  and branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand; otherwise, it sets the condition code to  $000_2$  and goes to the next instruction.

For the **bbs** instruction, if the selected bit is set, the processor sets the condition code to  $010_2$  and branches to *targ*; otherwise, it sets the condition code to  $000_2$  and goes to the next instruction.

The *targ* operand can be no farther than  $-2^{12}$  to  $(2^{12} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the **bbc** and **bbs** instructions use the COBR instruction format. With this format, the target instruction for the branch is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statement), which can range from  $-2^{10}$  to  $(2^{10} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.

To allow labels to be used in the assembly-language versions of the **bbc** and **bbs** instructions, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the COBR instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

## bbc, bbs

Action:	bbc:		
	if ( <i>src</i> and 2^( <i>bitpos</i> mod 32)) = 0 then AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#010#; IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4 + ( <i>displacement</i> * 4); # resume execution at the new IP else AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#000#; IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4; # resume execution at the next IP end if;		
	bbs:		
	if (src and 2^(bitpos mod 32)) = 1 then AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#010#; IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4 + (displacement * 4); # resume execution at the new IP else AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#000#; IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4; # resume execution at the next IP end if;		
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:			of r6 is clear # bit 10 of r6 is checked # and found clear; # AC.cc ← 010 # IP ← xyz;
Opcode:	bbc bbs	30 37	COBR COBR
See Also:	chkbit		

# Intel

## **BRANCH IF**

Mnemonics:	be bne bl ble bg bge bo bno	Branch If Equal Branch If Not Equal Branch If Less Branch If Less Or Equal Branch If Greater Branch If Greater Or Equal Branch If Ordered Branch If Unordered
Format:	b*	targ

disp

# **Description:** Branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand, according to the state of the condition code in the arithmetic controls. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label, which specifies the IP of the target instruction.

For all branch-if instructions except the **bno** instruction, the processor branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand, if the logical AND of the condition code and the mask-part of the opcode is not zero. Otherwise, it goes to the next instruction.

For the **bno** instruction, the processor branches to the instruction specified with *targ*, if the logical AND of the condition code and the mask-part of the opcode is zero. Otherwise, it goes to the next instruction.

The *targ* operand value can be no farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the branch-if instructions use the CTRL instruction format. With this format, the target instruction for the branch is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statements), which can range from  $-2^{21}$  to  $(2^{21} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.

#### **BRANCH IF**

To allow labels to be used in the assembly-language version of the branchif instructions, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the CTRL instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

Instruction	Mask	Condition
bno	000	Unordered
bg	001	Greater
be	010	Equal
bge	011	Greater or equal
bl	100	Less
bne	101	Not equal
ble	110	Less or equal
bo	111	Ordered

The following table shows the condition-code mask for each instruction:

For the **bno** instruction (unordered), the branch is taken if the condition code is equal to  $000_2$ .

The mask is in bits 0-2 of the opcode.

Action:

For All Instructions Except **bno**:

if (mask and AC.cc) ≠ 2#000# then IP ← IP + displacement; # resume execution at new IP end if;

bno:

**if** AC.cc = 2#000#

then IP  $\leftarrow$  IP + *displacement*; # resume execution at new IP end if;

## **BRANCH IF**

Faults: STANDARD

**Example:** # assume (AC.cc AND 100)  $\neq$  0 bl xyz # IP  $\leftarrow$  xyz;

Opcode:	be	12	CTRL
	bne	15	CTRL
	bl	14	CTRL
	ble	16	CTRL
	bg	11	CTRL
	bge	13	CTRL
	bo	17	CTRL
	bno	10	CTRL

#### call

Mnemonic:	call	Call
Format:	call	<i>targ</i> disp

**Description:** Calls a new procedure. The *targ* operand specifies the IP of the first instruction of the called procedure. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label.

In executing this instruction, the processor performs a local call operation as described in Chapter 4 in the section titled "Local Calls." As part of this operation, the processor allocates a new set of local registers and a new stack frame for the called procedure. The processor then goes to the instruction specified with the *targ* argument and begins execution of the new procedure.

The *targ* operand can be no farther than  $-2^{23}$  to  $(2^{23} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the **call** instruction uses the CTRL instruction format. With this format, the first instruction of the called procedure is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statement), which can range from  $-2^{21}$  to  $(2^{21} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.

To allow labels to be used in the assembly-language version of the **call** instruction, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the CTRL instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

intel

## call

Action:	<pre>wait for any uncompleted instructions to finish; temp ← (SP + 63) and not (63); # round to next boundary RIP ← IP; if register_set_available then allocate as new frame; else save a register_set in memory at its FP; allocate as new frame; # local register references now refer to new frame IP ← IP + displacement; PFP ← FP; FP ← temp; SP ← temp + 64;</pre>		
Faults:	STANDARD		
Example:	call xyz # IP $\leftarrow$ xyz		
Opcode:	call 09 CTRL		
See Also:	bal, calls, callx		

## calls

Mnemonic:	calls	Call System
Format:	calls	<i>targ</i> reg/lit
Description:	Calls a syste dure being c	em procedure. The <i>targ</i> operand gives the number of the proce- alled.
	described in provides an	struction, the processor performs the system call operation Chapter 4 in the section titled "System Calls." The <i>targ</i> operand index to an entry in the system procedure table. From this entry, or gets the IP of the called procedure.
	dure, depend	the called can be either a local procedure or a supervisor proce- ding on the entry type in the procedure table. If it is a supervisor he processor also switches to supervisor mode (if it is not already a).
	and a new s	his operation, the processor allocates a new set of local registers tack frame for the called procedure. If the processor switches to or mode, the new stack frame is created on the supervisor stack.
Action:	wait for any temp_p_e « # SPTSS is RIP ← IP; IP ← temp execution then temp tempRI else temp tempRI executi	59 <b>then</b> raise Protection Length Fault; y uncompleted instructions to finish; $\leftarrow$ memory (SPTSS, 48 + (4 * <i>targ</i> )); SS to system procedure table from PRCB _p_e.address; <b>if</b> (temp_p_e.type = local) <b>or</b> mode = supervisor p $\leftarrow$ (SP + 63) <b>and not</b> (63); RR $\leftarrow$ 2#000#; $\rightarrow$ $\leftarrow$ memory (SPTSS, 12); # supervisor call RR $\leftarrow$ 2#01T#; # T is process_controls.T on_mode $\leftarrow$ supervisor; $\leq$ controls.T $\leftarrow$ temp.T;

## calls

	<pre>if frame_available   then allocate as new frame;   else save a frame in memory at its FP;     allocate as new frame; # local register references now refer to new frame endif; PFP ← FP; L0.RRR ← tempRRR; FP ← temp; SP ← temp + 64;</pre>		
Faults:	STANDARD		
Example:	calls r12  # IP ← value obtained from # procedure table for procedure # number given in r12		
Opcode:	calls 660 REG		
See Also:	bal, call, callx		

## callx

		UdilX
Mnemonic:	callx	Call Extended
Format:	callx	<i>targ</i> mem
Description:	tion of the c	procedure. The <i>targ</i> operand specifies the IP of the first instruc- alled procedure. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the l must be a label.
	described in operation, th frame for th	this instruction, the processor performs a local call operation as Chapter 4 in the section titled "Local Calls." As part of this processor allocates a new set of local registers and a new stack the called procedure. The processor then goes to the instruction th the <i>targ</i> argument and begins execution of the new procedure.
	This instruc that the targ current IP.	tion performs the same operation as the <b>call</b> instruction except et instruction can be farther than $-2^{23}$ to $(2^{23} - 4)$ bytes from the
	ing modes t displacemen direct calls	erand is a memory type, which allows the full range of address- o be used to specify the IP of the target instruction. The "IP + t" addressing mode allows the instruction to be IP-relative. In- can be performed by placing the target address in a register and ne of the register-indirect addressing modes.
		apter 5 for a complete discussion of the addressing modes availemory-type operands.
Action:	temp $\leftarrow$ (S RIP $\leftarrow$ IP; if register_ then allo else save allocate	);

## callx

Faults:	STANDARD	
Example:	callx (g5)	# IP $\leftarrow$ (g5), where the address # in g5 is the address of the new # procedure
Opcode:	callx 86	MEM
See Also:	call, calls	

#### chkbit

Mnemonic:	chkbit	Check Bit	
Format:	chkbit	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> reg/lit
Description:	ing to the v	alue found. I	gnated by <i>bitpos</i> and sets the condition code accord- if the bit is set, the condition code is set to $010_2$ ; if ion code is set to $000_2$ .
Action:	then AC	$2^{(bitpos m)}$ .cc $\leftarrow 2\#000$ cc $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$	)#;
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	chkbit (	13, g8	# checks bit 13 in g8
Opcode:	chkbit	5AE	REG
See Also:	alterbit, clr	bit, notbit, se	etbit

classr,	classrl
---------	---------

Mnemonic:classrClassify RealclassrlClassify Long Real

Format:

classr\*

freg/flit

src

**Description:** Checks the classification of the real number in *src* and stores the class in arithmetic-status bits (3 through 6) of the arithmetic controls.

For the **classrl** instruction, if the *src* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the setting of the arithmetic-status bits depending on the classification of the operand.

AStatus	Classification	
s000	Zero	
s001	Denormalized number	
s010	Normal finite number	
s011	Infinity	
s100	Quiet NaN	
s101	Signaling NaN	
s110	Reserved operand	

The "s" bit is set to the sign of the *src* operand.

Refer to Chapter 7 for a discussion of the different real number classifications.

# classr, classri

Action:	$s \leftarrow sign_of(src)$ if $src = 0$ then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s000$ ; elseif $src =$ denormalized then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s001$ ; elseif $src =$ normal finite then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s010$ ; elseif $src = \infty$ then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s011$ ; elseif $src = QNaN$ then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s100$ ; elseif $src = SNaN$ then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s101$ ; elseif $src =$ reserved operand then arithmetic_status $\leftarrow s110$ ; end if
Faults:	STANDARD Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.
	None of the floating-point exceptions can be raised.
Example:	classrl g12  # classifies long real in g12,g13
Opcode:	classr 68F REG classrl 69F REG

# intel

# clrbit

Mnemonic:	clrbit	Clear Bit			
Format:	clrbit	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	<i>dst</i> reg	
Description:	Copies the s the bit to be		st with one b	it cleared.	The <i>bitpos</i> operand specifies
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src \text{ and } not(2^{(bitpos mod 32))};$				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	clrbit	23, g3, g		← g3 eared	with bit 23
Opcode:	clrbit	58C	REG		
See Also:	alterbit, chkbit, notbit, setbit				

#### cmpi, cmpo

Mnemonics:	стрі стро	Compare In Compare C	
Format:	cmp*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> reg/lit

**Description:** Compares the *src2* and *src1* values and sets the condition code according to the results of the comparison. The following table shows the setting of the condition code for the three possible results of the comparison.

Condition Code	Comparison	
100	src1 < src2	
010	src1 = src2	
001	src1 > src2	

The **cmpi** instruction followed by one of the branch-if instructions is equivalent to one of the compare-integer-and-branch instructions. The latter method of comparing and branching produces more compact code; however, the former method can result in faster running code because it takes advantage of the processor's pipelined architecture. The same is true for the **cmpo** instruction and the compare-ordinal-and-branch instructions.

Action:	if <i>src1</i> < <i>src2</i> then AC.cc ← 2#100#; elseif <i>src1</i> = <i>src2</i> then AC.cc ← 2#010#; else AC.cc ← 2#001#; end if;		
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	cmpo 0x3	10, r9	<pre># compare values in r9 and 0x10 # and set AC.cc</pre>
Opcode:	стрі стро	5A1 5A0	REG REG
See Also:	cmpibe, cm	pr, cmpdeci,	cmpdeco

int

Mnemonics:	-	Compare and Decrement Integer Compare and Decrement Ordinal
	-	1

Format:	cmpdec*	src1,	src2,	dst
		reg/lit	reg/lit	reg

**Description:** Compares the src2 and src1 values and sets the condition code according to the results of the comparison. The src2 operand is then decremented by one and the result is stored in dst.

The following table shows the setting of the condition code for the three possible results of the comparison.

Condition Code	Comparison
100	src1 < src2
010	src1 = src2
001	src1 > src2

These instructions are intended for use in ending iterative loops. For the **cmpdeci** instruction, interger overflow is ignored to allow looping down through the minimum integer values.

Action:	if $src1 < src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2#100#$ ;	
	elseif $src1 = src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$ ;	
	elseif $src1 > src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#001\#$ ;	
	end if;	
	$dst \leftarrow src2$ - 1; #overflow suppressed for <b>cmpdeci</b>	
	# instruction	

Faults: STANDARD

**Example:** cmpdeci 12, g7, g1 # g7 and 12 are compared; # g1  $\leftarrow$  g7 - 1

Opcode:	cmpdeci	5A7	REG
-	cmpdeco	5A6	REG

See Also: cmpinco, cmpo

17-36

#### cmpinci, cmpinco

Mnemonics:	cmpinci cmpinco	-	nd Incremen nd Incremen	•
Format:	cmpinc*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	dst reg

**Description:** Compares the src2 and src1 values and sets the condition code according to the results of the comparison. The src2 operand is then incremented by one and the result is stored in dst.

The following table shows the setting of the condition code for the three possible results of the comparison.

Condition Code	Comparison
100	src1 < src2
010	src1 = src2
001	src1 > src2

These instructions are intended for use in ending iterative loops. For the **cmpinci** instruction, integer overflow is ignored to allow looping up through the maximum integer values.

if $src1 < src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#100\#$ ;
elseif $src1 = src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$ ;
elseif $src1 > src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#001\#$ ;
end if;
$dst \leftarrow src2 + 1$ ; # overflow suppressed for <b>cmpinci</b>
# instruction

Faults: STANDARD

**Example:** cmpinco r8, g2, g9 # g2 and r8 are compared; # g9  $\leftarrow$  g2 + 1

Opcode:	cmpinci	5A5	REG
	cmpinco	5A4	REG

See Also: cmpdeco, cmpo

#### cmpor, cmporl

Mnemonics:	cmpor cmporl	Compare Ordered Real Compare Ordered Long Real

- Format: cmpor\* src1, src2 freg/flit freg/flit
- **Description:** Compares the *src2* and *src1* values and sets the condition code according to the results of the comparison.

For the **cmporl** instruction, if the *src1* or *src2* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the setting of the condition code for the four possible results of the comparison.

Condition Code	Comparison
100	src1 < src2
010	src1 = src2
001	src1 > src2
000	if either <i>src1</i> or <i>src2</i> is a NaN

The algorithm for these instructions checks the classification of the operands. If either is in the NaN class, the condition code is set to  $000_2$  and a floating invalid-operation exception is raised. The **cmpor** and **cmporl** instructions operate the same as the **cmpr** and **cmprl** instructions, except that the latter instructions do not signal an exception if a NaN value is detected.

If a floating-reserved-encoding fault occurs, the condition code results are undefined.

Action: if srcl < src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#100\#$ ; elseif srcl = src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$ ; elseif srcl > src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#001\#$ ; else AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#000\#$ ; # indicates one number is a NaN raise floating invalid operation fault end if;

## cmpor, cmporl

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.
	Floating Reserved Encoc	ling One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.
		point exception can be raised. Whether or not the alt being raised depends on the state of its associated c controls.
	Floating Invalid Operation	One or more operands are a NaN value.
Example:	cmporl g6, g12	<pre># compare value in g12,g13 # with value in g6,g7</pre>
Opcode:	cmpor         684           cmporl         694	REG REG
See Also:	cmpr, cmpi, BRANCH	IF

#### cmpr, cmprl

Mnemonics:	cmpr	Compare	Real
	cmprl	Compare	Long Real
Format:	cmpr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> freg/flit

**Description:** Compares the *src2* and *src1* values and sets the condition code according to the results of the comparison. For the **cmprl** instruction, if the *src1* or *src2* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers.

The following table shows the setting of the condition code for the four possible results of the comparison.

Condition Code	Comparison
100	src1 < src2
010	src1 = src2
001	src1 > src2
000	if either <i>src1</i> or <i>src2</i> is a NaN

The algorithm for these instructions checks the classification of the operands. If either is in the NaN class, the condition code is set to  $000_2$ , but no fault is raised. The **cmpr** and **cmprl** instructions operate the same as the **cmpor** and **cmporl** instructions, except that the latter instructions raise an invalid-operand exception if a NaN value is detected.

If a floating-reserved-encoding fault occurs, the condition code results are undefined.

Action:

if src1 < src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#100\#$ ; elseif src1 = src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$ ; elseif src1 > src2 then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#001\#$ ; else AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#000\#$ ; # indicates one number is a NaN end if;

intel

## cmpr, cmprl

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.
	Floating Reserved Encoding	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.
		eption can be raised. Whether or not the raised depends on the state of its associated .
	Floating Invalid Operation	One or more operands are an SNaN value.
Example:	cmprl g2, g6	
Opcode:	cmpr         685         REG           cmprl         695         REG	
See Also:	cmpor. cmpi. BRANCH IF	

#### cmpstr

Mnemonic:	cmpstr	<b>cmpstr</b> Compare String				
		an de Carton				
Format:	cmpstr	src1,	src2,	len		
		reg	reg	reg/lit		
	an an the taken	addr	addr			

**Description:** Compares two strings of equal length and sets the condition code according to the result. The *src1* and *src2* operands specify the addresses of the first byte in each string, and the *len* operand specifies the string length, in bytes. The *len* operand can range from 0 to  $2^{32} - 1$ .

If the strings are identical, the condition code is set to  $010_2$ ; if they are not identical, the condition code is set to  $100_2$  or  $001_2$ , as explained in the next paragraph.

The two strings are compared in lexicographical order. This means that the processor compares the strings byte-by-byte according to their ASCII value. If the byte-by-byte comparison shows that the two strings are identical, the condition code is set to  $010_2$ . When two bytes of different ASCII value are found, the processor sets the condition code to  $001_2$  if the value of the byte from the *src1* string is greater than the value of the byte from the *src2* string or to  $100_2$  if the byte from the *src1* string is less than the byte from the *src2* string.

Action:

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{AC.cc} \leftarrow 2\#010\#;\\ \text{for i in } 0 \dots len - 1 \text{ loop}\\ \text{if byte } (src1 + \text{i}) > \text{byte } (src2 + \text{i})\\ \text{then } \text{AC.cc} \leftarrow 2\#001\#;\\ \text{Exit;}\\ \text{elseif byte } (src1 + \text{i}) < \text{byte } (src2 + \text{i})\\ \text{then } \text{AC.cc} \leftarrow 2\#100\#;\\ \text{Exit;}\\ \text{end if;}\\ \text{end loop;} \end{array}$ 

intط

#### cmpstr

Faults: STANDARD

- Example: cmpstr g3, g8, 25
  # compare strings that are 25 bytes long and
  # that begin at the addresses given in
  # registers g3 and g8
- **Opcode:** cmpstr 603 REG
- See Also: movstr, movqstr, fill

#### **COMPARE AND BRANCH**

intal

Mnemonics:	cmpibe cmpibne cmpibl cmpible cmpibg cmpibge cmpibo cmpibno	Compare Integer And Branch If Equal Compare Integer And Branch If Not Equal Compare Integer And Branch If Less Compare Integer And Branch If Less Or Equal Compare Integer And Branch If Greater Compare Integer And Branch If Greater Or Equal Compare Integer And Branch If Ordered Compare Integer And Branch If Ordered			
	cmpobe cmpobne cmpobl cmpoble cmpobg cmpobge	Compare Ordinal And Branch If Less Compare Ordinal And Branch If Less Or Equal Compare Ordinal And Branch If Greater			
Format:	cmpib*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	src2, reg	<i>targ</i> disp	
	cmpob*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> , reg	<i>targ</i> disp	

**Description:** Compares the *src2* and *src1* values and sets the condition code in the arithmetic controls according to the results of the comparison. If the logical AND of the condition code and the mask-part of the opcode is not zero, the processor branches to the instruction specified with the *targ* operand; otherwise, the processor goes to the next instruction. When using the Intel 80960MC Assembler, the *targ* operand must be a label, which specifies the IP of the target instruction.

The *targ* operand can be no farther than  $-2^{12}$  to  $(2^{12} - 4)$  bytes from the current IP.

#### NOTE

At the machine level, the compare-and-branch instructions use the COBR instruction format. With this format, the target instruction for the branch is specified by means of a word-displacement (represented by *displacement* in the following action statement), which can range from  $-2^{10}$  to  $(2^{10} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts this *displacement* value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the current IP.

#### **COMPARE AND BRANCH**

To allow labels to be used in the assembly-language versions of these instructions, the Intel 80960MC Assembler performs the following calculation to convert the *targ* value in an assembly-language instruction to the *displacement* value required by the machine instruction format:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For further information about the COBR instruction format, refer to Appendix B.

Instruction	Mask	<b>Branch Condition</b>
cmpibno	000	No Condition
cmpibg	001	src1 > src2
cmpibe	010	src1 = src2
cmpibge	011	$src1 \ge src2$
cmpibl	100	src1 < src2
cmpibne	101	$src1 \neq src2$
cmpible	110	$src1 \leq src2$
cmpibo	111	Any Condition
cmpobg	001	src1 > src2
cmpobe	010	src1 = src2
cmpobge	011	$src1 \ge src2$
cmpobl	100	src1 < src2
cmpobne	101	$src1 \neq src2$
cmpoble	110	$src1 \leq src2$

The following table shows the condition-code mask for each instruction:

The **cmpibo** instruction always branches; the **cmpibno** instruction never branches.

The functions that these instructions perform can be duplicated with a **cmpi** instruction followed by a branch-if instruction, as described in the description of the **cmpi** instruction in this chapter.

## **COMPARE AND BRANCH**

Action:	if $src1 < src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#100\#$ ; else if $src1 = src2$ then AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#010\#$ ; else AC.cc $\leftarrow 2\#001\#$ ; end if; if mask and AC.cc $\neq 2\#000\#$ then IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4 + (displacement * 4); # resume execution at the new IP else IP $\leftarrow$ IP + 4; # resume execution at the next IP end if;			
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	# assume g3 < g9 cmpibl g3, g9, xyz # g9 is compared with g # IP $\leftarrow$ xyz.			
		e r7 ≥ 19 r7, 19,		
Opcode:	cmpibe cmpibne cmpible cmpibg cmpibge cmpibo cmpibno cmpobe cmpobe cmpoble cmpoble cmpobg	3A 3D 3C 3E 39 3B 3F 38 3F 38 32 35 34 36 31 33	COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR	
0				

#### See Also: BRANCH IF, cmpi

#### concmpi, concmpo

Mnemonics: concmpi Conditional Compare Integer concmpo Conditional Compare Ordinal

Format: concmp\* src1, src2 reg/lit reg/lit

**Description:** Compares the src2 and src1 values if bit 2 of the condition code is not set. If the comparison is performed, the condition code is set according to the results of the comparison.

These instructions are provided to facilitate bounds checking by means of two-sided range comparisons (e.g., is A between B and C?). They are generally used after a compare instruction to test whether a value is inclusively between two other values.

The example below illustrates this application by testing whether the value in g3 is between the values in g5 and g6, where g5 is assumed to be less than g6. First a comparison (**cmpo**) of g3 and g6 is performed. If g3 is less than or equal to g6 (i.e., condition code is either  $010_2$  or  $001_2$ ), a conditional comparison (**concmpo**) of g3 and g5 is then performed. If g3 is greater than or equal to g5 (indicating that g3 is within the bounds of g5 and g6), the condition code is set to  $010_2$ ; otherwise, it is set to  $001_2$ .

Action:	<pre>if (AC.cc and 2#100#) = 0 then     if src1 ≤ src2         then AC.cc ← 2#010;         else AC.cc ← 2#001;         endif; endif;</pre>			
Faults:	STANDARD			
Example:	cmpo g6, g3 concmpo g5, g3	<pre># compares g6 and g3 and # sets AC.cc # if AC.cc is not 1XX, # g5 is compared with g3</pre>		

- Opcode: concmpi 5A3 REG concmpo 5A2 REG
- See Also: cmpo, cmpi

#### condrec

Mnemonic:	condrec	Conditional Receive		
Format:	condrec	src, reg SS	dst reg SS	
		~~		

**Description:** Attempts to receive a message from a port and sets the condition code to indicate whether the message was received successfully or not. The *src* operand contains the SS of the port.

The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.

If the message is received successfully, the SS of the message is stored in the dst operand, the condition code is set to  $010_2$ , and execution of the process continues.

If a message is not available, the condition code is set to  $000_2$  and execution of the process continues.

This instruction is similar to the **receive** instruction, except that with the **receive** instruction, the process blocks and is suspended if a message is not available at the port.

Action:

 $x \leftarrow atomic\_read(port.lock);$ **if** least\_significant\_bit( $\mathbf{x}$ ) = 1 **then** atomic\_write(port.lock)  $\leftarrow$  x; go to condrec; else atomic\_write(port.lock)  $\leftarrow$  x or 1; **if** port.Q = 1 **or** port is empty then AC.cc  $\leftarrow 2\#000\#$ : else if port is fifo then dequeue first message; else dequeue first message from highest-priority nonempty queue;  $dst \leftarrow message\_SS;$ AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#010#;  $x \leftarrow atomic\_read(port.lock);$ atomic\_write(port.lock)  $\leftarrow$  x xor 1; endif;

#### condrec

Faults: STANDARD

Example: # Assume message is available at port condrec r8, r9 # message SS from port specified in # r8 is stored in r9; # AC.cc is set to 2#010#

**Opcode:** condrec 646 REG

See Also: receive, send

## condwait

Mnemonics:	condwait	Conditional Wait				
Format:	condwait	src reg SS				
Description:	whether the	wait on the semaphore and sets the condition code to indicate wait was completed successfully or not. The <i>src</i> operand conof the semaphore.				
	The process	or must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.				
	the count is one, the con	or checks the semaphore count and the semaphore queue tail. If non-zero and the queue tail is zero, the count is decremented by ndition code is set to $010_2$ (indicating a successful wait), and the process continues.				
		t is zero or the queue tail is non-zero, the condition code is set to cating an unsuccessful wait) and execution of the process con-				
	instruction,	tion is similar to the <b>wait</b> instruction, except that with the <b>wait</b> the process is suspended and enqueued on the semaphore if the rount is zero or the semaphore queue tail is non-zero.				
Action:	if least_sign then atom go to co else atom if (sen then else A end in $x \leftarrow a$	c_read (semaphore.lock); nificant_bit(x) = 1 nic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x; ondwait; ic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x or 1; naphore.count = 0) or (semaphore.tail) $\neq$ 0) n AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#000#; semaphore.count $\leftarrow$ semaphore.count - 1; C.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#010#; f; atomic_read (semaphore.lock); c_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1;				

#### condwait

Faults: STANDARD

- Example: # Assume semaphore count is non-zero and no
  # processes are queued at the semaphore.
  condwait g3
  # successful wait is performed on semaphore
  # specified with g3; AC.cc set to 2#010#
- **Opcode:** condwait 668 REG

See Also: wait, signal

#### cosr, cosrl

Mnemonics:	cosr cosrl	Cosine Real Cosine Long Real		
Format:	cosr*	<i>src</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg	

**Description:** Calculates the cosine of the value in *src* and stores the result in *dst*. The *src* value is an angle given in radians. The resulting *dst* value is in the range -1 to +1, inclusive.

For the **cosrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the cosine of various classes of numbers with neither overflow nor underflow.

Src	Dst
-∞	*
-F	-1 to +1
-0	+1
+0	+1
+F	-1 to $+1$
+ ∞	*
NaN	NaN

Notes:

F Means finite-real number

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception

In the trigonometric instructions, the 80960MC uses a value for  $\pi$  with a 66-bit mantissa which is 2 bits more than are available in the extended-real format. The section in Chapter 7 titled "Pi" gives this  $\pi$  value, along with some suggestions for representing this value in a program.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow cosine (src);$ 

## cosr, cosrl

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.			
	Floating Reserved Encoding	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.			
		the following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an ception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated ask bit in the arithmetic controls.			
	Floating Invalid Operation	The <i>src</i> operand is $\infty$ .			
		One or more operands are an SNaN value.			
	Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			
Example:		ine of value in r8,r9 is red in g2,g3			
Opcode:	cosr68DREGcosrl69DREG				
See Also:	sinr, sinrl, tanr, tanrl				

## cpyrsre, cpysre

Mnemonics:	cpysre cpyrsre	Copy Sign Real Extended Copy Reversed Sign Real Extended				
Format:	сру*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	src2, freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg		
Description:	sign of src2		dst; for th		<b>cpysre</b> instruction, the tion, the opposite of the	
	register is th	e first (lowes	t numbere		l or local register, this sive registers. Also, the ., g0, g4, g8).	
	same operation	tions can be learbit instru	performed	on real- and lon	ended-real format. The g-real values using the the <b>chkbit</b> and <b>alterbit</b>	
Action:	cpysre:	if $src2$ is positive then $dst \leftarrow abs(src1)$ ; else $dst \leftarrow -abs(src1)$ ; endif;				
	cpyrsre:		if $src2$ is negative then $dst \leftarrow abs (src1)$ ; else $dst \leftarrow -abs (src1)$ ; endif;			
Faults:	STANDAR	D		Refer to the disc eginning of this	cussion of faults at the chapter.	
	Floating Rea	served Encod	ing		rands is a denormalized ormalizing-mode bit in nationalizing bit in trols is set.	
Example:	# absol		e from	fp0 is copi s copied to		
Opcode:	cpysre cpyrsre	6E2 6E3	REG REG			
Into

Mnemonics:

cvtilr

Convert Long Integer to Real

#### cvtilr, cvtir

	cvtir	Convert In	teger to Real		
Format:	cvti*	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst freg		
Description:	instruction,	Converts the integer in <i>src</i> to a real and stores the result in <i>dst</i> . For the <b>cvtilr</b> instruction, the <i>src</i> operand references the first (lowest numbered) of two accessive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., $g0$ , $g2$ , 4).			
	integer is c instruction i global or lo (Note that	g an integer to long real format requires two instructions. First, t converted to extended real format by using the <b>cvtir</b> or <b>cvt</b> n with a floating-point register as a destination. Then the <b>mov</b> n is used to move the value from the floating-point register to tw local registers, causing an explicit conversion to long real form t this conversion is always exact.) The example section belo this conversion.			
Action:	$dst \leftarrow real$	(src);			

Faults: **STANDARD** Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.

> The following floating-point exception can be raised. Whether or not the exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.

> Floating Inexact Can only be signaled when converting an integer to real (32-bit) format

Example: # Conversion of an integer to a long real value cvtir g6, fp3 movrl fp3, g8 # result stored in g8,g9

Opcode:	cvtir	674	REG
	cvtilr	675	REG

See Also: cvtri, movr

#### cvtri, cvtril, cvtzri, cvtzril

intal

Mnemonics:	cvtri cvtril cvtzri cvtzril	Convert Real To Integer Convert Real To Integer Long Convert Truncated Real To Integer Convert Truncated Real To Long Integer
Format:	cvtri*	src, dst

freg/flit

**Description:** Converts the real value in *src* to an integer and stores the result in *dst*.

reg

For the **cvtril** and **cvtzril** instructions, the *dst* operand references the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The nontruncated versions of these instructions round according to the current rounding mode in the Arithmetic Controls register. The truncated versions always round toward zero.

Converting a long real value to an integer requires two instructions. First, the long real value is converted to extended real format by using the **movrl** instruction with a floating-point register as a destination. (Note that this operation is always exact.) Then one of the convert real-to-integer instructions is used to move the value from the floating-point register to one or two global or local registers. The example section below illustrates this conversion.

If the magnitude of the result cannot be represented in the destination, an integer-overflow fault is raised, and the maximum positive or maximum negative value is stored in the destination (depending on whether the real value was positive or negative, respectively).

Action:  $dst \leftarrow integer (src);$ # src is rounded to integer value

#### cvtri, cvtril, cvtzri, cvtzril

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.	
	The following exception can be raised. Whether or not the exception re in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in arithmetic controls register.		
	Integer Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.	
Example:	<pre># Conversion of movrl g4, fp2</pre>	<pre>long real value to an integer # long-real source is # converted to extended-real # format and moved to fp2</pre>	
	cvtril fp2, g12	<pre># extended-real value is # converted to long integer</pre>	
Opcode:	cvtri         6C0           cvtril         6C1           cvtzri         6C2           cvtzril         6C3	REG REG REG	
See Also:	cvtir, movr		

daddc	n de la compañía Trainne Trainne			
Mnemonic:	daddc	Decimal A	dd With Ca	тту
Format:	daddc	src1, reg	src2, reg	dst reg
Description:	here as a ca addition res	arry bit). The	e result is sto y, bit 1 of the	l and bit 1 of the condition code (used ored in bits 0 through 3 of <i>dst</i> . If the e condition code is set. Bits 4 through
	decimal (B0 represent th significant	CD) values in e decimal nur 4 bits of both	which the lean nbers 0 to 9. operands are	used iteratively to add binary-coded- ast-significant four bits of the operands The instruction assumes that the least valid BCD numbers. If these bits are value in <i>dst</i> is unpredictable.
Action:	<ul> <li># Let the value of the condition code be xCx.</li> <li>dst ← src2 + src1 + C;</li> <li>AC.cc ← 2#0C0#;</li> <li># C is carry from addition of bits 0 through 3 of operands</li> <li># Bits 4 - 31 of dst are same as bits 4 - 31 of src2</li> </ul>			
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	daddc g	5, g9, g1	# whe # car	0 ← g9 + g5 + Carry Bit ere arithmetic is rried out only on bits 0 rough 3 of the operands
Opcode:	daddc	642	REG	
See Also:	dsubc, dma	ovt		

#### divi, divo

Mnemonic:	divi divo	Divide Inte Divide Ord	0		
Format:	div*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	<i>src2</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	Divides the	src2 value by	the src1	value	e and stores the result in dst.
	For the <b>divi</b>	instruction, a	nd intege	r-ove	orflow fault can be signaled.
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	/ src1;			
Faults:	STANDARD				er to discussion of faults at the begin- g of this chapter.
	Arithmetic Zero Divide			The	src1 operand is 0.
	The following fault condition can be raised with the <b>divi</b> instruction. Whether or not a fault is raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic-controls register.				
	Integer Ove	rflow		Res	ult is too large for destination format.
Example:	divo r3	, r8, r13	3 # r1	3 ←	- r8/r3
Opcode:	divi divo	74B 70B	REG REG		
See Also:	ediv, mulo				

#### divr, divrl

Mnemonic:	divr divrl	Divide Real Divide Long Real			
Format:	divr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	src2, freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg	

**Description:** Divides the *src2* value by the *src1* value and stores the result in *dst*.

For the **divrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The sign of the result is always the exclusive-OR of the source signs, even if one or more of the source values is  $0, \infty$ , or a NaN.

The following table shows the results obtained when dividing various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

	Srci							
		-00	-F	-0	+0	+ F	+∞	NaN
	-00	*	+∞	+∞	-00	-00	*	NaN
	-F	+0	+ F	**	**	-F	-0	NaN
	-0	+0	<sup>2</sup> + 0	*	*	-0	-0	NaN
Src2	+ 0	-0	-0	*	*	+0	+0	NaN
	+ F	-0	-F	**	**	+F	+0	NaN
	+∞	*	-00	-00	+∞	+∞	*	NaN
	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

\*\* Indicates floating zero-divide exception.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow src2 / src1;$ 

#### divr, divrl

Faults:	STANDARD		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.			
	Floating Reserved	d Encoding	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.			
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not a exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associate mask bit in the arithmetic controls.					
	Floating Overflow	w	Result is too large for destination format.			
	Floating Underflo	ow	Result is too small for destination format. The <i>src1</i> operand is 0 and the <i>src2</i> operand is numeric and finite.			
	Floating Zero Div	vide				
	Floating Invalid (	Operation	Both source operands are 0 or both are $\infty$ .			
			One or more operands are an SNaN value.			
	Floating Inexact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			
Example:	divrl g10,	g0, fp1 #	fp1 ← g0,g1 / g10,g11			
Opcode:	<b>divr</b> 78E <b>divrl</b> 79E					
See Also:	ediv, mulr, mulr	·l				

# int<sub>e</sub>l° dmovt

Mnemonic:	dmovt	Decimal N	Decimal Move And Test		
Format:	dmovt	src, reg	dst reg		
Description:	are tested to $(00110000_2)$	o determine w 00111001 alid ASCII de	<i>dst.</i> The least-significant eight bits of the <i>src</i> value whether or not they constitute a valid ASCII decimal $_2$ ), and the condition code is set accordingly. If the ecimal, the condition code is set to $000_2$ ; otherwise,		
	This instruc	tion is intend	ed to be used iteratively to validate decimal strings.		
Action:	<i>dst</i> ← <i>src</i> ; if <i>src</i> = 2#( end if;	then AC.c	2#00111001# c $\leftarrow 2#000#;$ c $\leftarrow 2#010#;$		
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	dmovt g		g6 $\leftarrow$ g1; g1 tested for decimal value		
Opcode:	dmovt	644	REG		
See Also:	daddc, dsu	bc			

#### dsubc

Mnemonic:	dsubc	Decimal Su	ubtract	With Carry		
Format:	dsubc	src1, reg	src2, reg	dst reg		
Description:	Subtracts bits 0 through 3 of $src2$ and $src1$ and bit 1 of the condition code (used here as a carry bit). The result is stored in bits 0 through 3 of $dst$ . If the subtraction results in a carry, bit 1 of the condition code is set. Bits 4 through 31 of $src$ are copied to $dst$ unchanged.					
	decimal (BC represent the significant 4	CD) values in e decimal nun bits of both	which the hbers 0 to operand	e used iteratively to subtract binary-coded- ne least-significant four bits of the operands to 9. The instruction assumes that the least is are valid BCD numbers. If these bits are ting value in $dst$ is unpredictable.		
Action:	<ul> <li># Let the value of the condition code be xCx.</li> <li>dst ← src2 - src1 - 1 + C;</li> <li>AC.cc ← 2#0C0#;</li> <li># C is carry from subtraction of bits 0 through 4 of operands</li> <li># Bits 4 - 31 of dst are same as bits 4 - 31 of src2</li> </ul>					
Faults:	STANDAR	D				
Example:	dsubc ri	l, r2, r1	# I # (	$r12 \leftarrow r2 - r1 -1 + Carry$ Bit, where arithmetic is carried out only on bits 0 chrough 3 of the operands		
Opcode:	dsubc	643	REG			
See Also:	daddc, dmo	ovt				

ediv					
Mnemonic:	ediv	Extended	Divide		
Format:	ediv	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	src2, reg/lit	dst reg	
Description:	Divides $src2$ by $src1$ and stores the result in $dst$ . The $src2$ value is a long ordinal (i.e., 64 bits), which is contained in two adjacent registers. The $src2$ operand specifies the lower numbered register, which contains the least significant bits of the operand. The $src2$ operand must be an even numbered register (i.e., r0, r2, r4, or g0, g2,). The $src1$ value is a normal ordinal (i.e., 32 bits).				
	stored in th	nainder is stored in the register designated by $dst$ and the quotient is n the next highest numbered register. The $dst$ operand must be an mbered register (i.e., r0, r2, r4, or g0, g2,).			
	This instruc	tion performs ordinal arithmetic.			
		ration overflor ult is raised an		quotient or remainder do not fit in 32- s undefined.	
Action:		2 - (src2 / sr (src2 / src1)		# remainder	
Faults:	STANDAR	RD, Arithmetio	c Zero-Divide		
Example:	ediv g3	<b>,</b> g4, g1		← remainder of g4,g5/g3 ← quotient of g4,g5/g3	
Opcode:	ediv	671	REG		
See Also:	emul				

#### emul

Mnemonic:	emul	Extended N	Aultiply	
Format:	emul		<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	dst reg
Description:	ordinal (i.e. operand spe nificant bits register (i.e.	, 64 bits), wi cifies the low of the resu , r0, r2, r4,	hich is stored er numbered	
Action:		l * src2) <b>mo</b> (src * src2)/ <b>1</b>		
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	emul r4	, r5, g2	# g2,g3	8 ← r4 * r5
Opcode:	emul	670	REG	
See Also:	ediv			

#### expr, exprl

Mnemonic:	expr exprl	Exponent Real Exponent Long Real	
Format:	exp*	<i>src</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Calculates an approximation of the exponential value of 2 to the *src* power, minus 1, and stores the result in dst. The *src* value must be within the range of -0.5 to +0.5, inclusive. If the *src* value is outside this range, the result is undefined.

For the **exprl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when computing the exponent of various classes of numbers.

Src	Dst
-0.5 to -0	$-(1/\sqrt{2})-1$ to $-0$
-0	-0
+0	+0
+0 to $+0.5$	$+0$ to $\sqrt{2}$ -1

Notes:

\*\*\* Results are unpredictable

Action:  $dst \leftarrow (2^{src}) - 1;$ 

#### expr, exprl

Faults:	STANDARI	STANDARD		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.	
	Floating Res	eserved Encoding		One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.	
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.				
	Floating Underflow			Result is too sm	all for destination format.
	Floating Inv	alid Operatio	n	One or more value.	operands are an SNaN
	Floating Inexact			Result cannot be destination form	be represented exactly in nat.
Example:	<pre># y = 2^x (y and x in g0) # uses identity # 2^x = 2^(I+f) # = 2^I * ((2^f - 1)) # where: I integer, -0.5 # assumes round-to-nearest # does not handle infinitie</pre>			^f - 1)+1) -0.5 <= f < arest	
	_pow2x:	roundr subr expr addr cvtri scaler	fp0,g g0,g0 0f1.0 fp0,g	0,g0 ,g0,g0 1	# I in fp0 # f in g0
Opcode:	expr exprl	689 699	REG REG		
See Also:	scaler, logr		,		

extract				
Mnemonic:	extract	Extract		
Format:	extract	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit	<i>len</i> , reg/lit	src/dst reg
Description:	shifted bit f	ield with zero	os. The bitpos	ight and fills the bits to the left of the value specifies the least significant bit <i>en</i> value specifies the length of the bit
Action:	$src/dst \leftarrow 0$	( <i>src/dst</i> / 2^( <b>and</b> (2^	(bitpos <b>mod</b> len - 1);	32))
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	extract	5, 12,		⊱ g4 with bits 5 ough 16 shifted right
Opcode:	extract	651	REG	
See Also:	modify			

#### FAULT IF

faulte faultne faultl faultle faultg faultge faulto faulto	Fault If Equal Fault If Not Equal Fault If Less Fault If Less Or Equal Fault If Greater Fault If Greater Or Equal Fault If Ordered Fault If Unordered
faultno	Fault If Unordered
	faultne faultl faultle faultg faultg

Format: fault\*

**Description:** Raises a constraint-range fault if the logical AND of the condition code and the mask-part of the opcode is not zero.

Instruction	Mask	Condition
faultno	000	Unordered
faultg	001	Greater
faulte	010	Equal
faultge	011	Greater or equal
faultl	100	Less
faultne	101	Not equal
faultle	110	Less or equal
faulto	111	Ordered

The following table shows the condition-code mask for each instruction:

For the **faultno** instruction (unordered), the fault is raised if the condition code is equal to 2#000#.

Action: For all instructions except faultno:

if (mask and AC.cc) ≠ 2#000# then raise constraint-range fault; end if; faultno: if AC.cc = 2#000# then raise constraint-range fault;

end if;

#### FAULT IF

.

Faults:	STANDARI	D, Constraint	Range	
Example:	faultle		ND 110 ≠ nge Fault	000 is generated
Opcode:	faulte faultne faultl faultle faultg faultge faulto faulto faultno	1A 1D 1C 1E 19 1B 1F 18	CTRL CTRL CTRL CTRL CTRL CTRL CTRL CTRL	

See Also: be, teste

int<sub>e</sub>l°

#### fill

Format:	fill	<i>dst</i> reg addr	<i>value</i> reg/lit	<i>len</i> reg/lit
Mnemonic:	fill	Fill String		
Description:	value. The	dst operand	specifies the	ed copies of the word value given in address of the first byte of the string, n of the string in bytes.
Action:	word ( <i>dsi</i> end loop; case <i>len</i> re- when 0: 1 when 1: 1 when 2: 1 when 3: 1	null; byte ( <i>dst</i> + <i>la</i> halfword( <i>dst</i> halfword( <i>dst</i>	-	– value; – value;
Faults:	STANDARI	D		
Example:	fill g2,	g8, g3	# addre	s string beginning at ess g2 with word value 3; string length given
Opcode:	fill	617	REG	
See Also:	cmpstr			

ألمint

#### flushreg

- Mnemonic: flushreg Flush Local Registers
- Format: flushreg
- **Description:** Copies the contents of all the cached local-register sets into their associated register-save areas in the procedure stack. The contents of all the local-register sets except for the current set are then marked as invalid. On a return, the local registers for the frame being returned to are then loaded from the stack.

This operation is also carried out when the save process (**saveprcs**) instruction is executed, although the **saveprcs** instruction also updates additional process specific information.

The **flushreg** instruction is provided to allow a compiler or applications program to circumvent the normal call/return mechanism of the processor. For example, a compiler may need to back up several frames in the stack on the next return, rather than using the normal return mechanism that returns one frame at a time. Here, the compiler uses the **flushreg** instruction to update the stack with the current states of the saved register sets. The compiler can then return to any frame in the stack without losing the contents of the saved local-register sets. To return to a frame other than the frame directly below the current frame, the compiler merely modifies the PFP in register r0 of the current frame to point to the frame that it wishes to return to.

- Action: Each register set except the current set is flushed to its associated stack frame in memory and marked as purged, meaning that they will be reloaded from memory if and when they become the current local register set.
- Faults: STANDARD

**Example:** flushreg

**Opcode:** flushreg 66D REG

See Also: saveprcs

#### fmark

Mnemonic:	fmark	Force Mark
Format:	fmark	
Description:	trace-event to	breakpoint trace-event. This instruction causes a breakpoint be generated, regardless of the setting of the breakpoint trace oviding the trace-enable bit (bit 0) of the process controls is set.
	10) of the pro	kpoint trace event is detected, the trace-fault-pending flag (bit occess controls word and the breakpoint-trace-event flag (bit 23) controls are set. Before the next instruction is executed, a trace ated.
	For more info	ormation on trace-fault generation, refer to Chapter 12.
Action:	if process.tra then raise endif	ace_enable trace breakpoint fault
Faults:	STANDARD	, Breakpoint Trace
Example:		
Opcode:	fmark	66C REG
See Also:	mark	

#### inspacc

Mnemonic:	inspace Inspect Access
Format:	inspace src dst reg reg addr
Description:	Loads the effective page representation rights of the byte specified with <i>src</i> in <i>dst</i> . The <i>src</i> operand is an address contained in a register.
	The page representation rights are contained in a two-bit field (bits 1 and 2) in the page table entry for the page that contains the selected byte. This field is loaded into bits 0 and 1 of the $dst$ .
Action:	<pre>if segment descriptor invalid raise invalid-segment-descriptor fault else if offset &gt; segment length raise segment-length fault else   dst ← effective page-representation rights endif</pre>
Faults:	STANDARD, Invalid Descriptor, Segment Length
Example:	inspacc g5 g9  # Loads page representation # rights of byte specified in g5 # into g9
Opcode:	inspace 613 REG

#### LOAD

Mnemonic:	ld	Load	
	ldob	Load Ordinal Byte	
	ldos	Load Ordinal Short	
	ldib	Load Integer Byte	
	ldis	Load Integer Short	
	ldl	Load Long	
	ldt	Load Triple Load Quad	
	ldq		
Format:	ld*	src,	dst
		mem	reg

**Description:** Copies a byte or string of bytes from memory into a register or group of successive registers. The *src* operand specifies the address of the first byte to be loaded. The full range of addressing modes may be used in specifying *src*. (Refer to Chapter 5 for a complete discussion of the addressing modes available with memory-type operands.)

The *dst* operand specifies a register or the first (lowest numbered) register of successive registers.

The **ldob** and **ldib**, and **ldos** and **ldis** instructions load a byte and half word, respectively, and convert it to a full 32-bit word. The **ld**, **ldl**, **ldt**, and **ldq** instructions copy 4, 8, 12, and 16 bytes, respectively, from memory into successive registers.

For the **ldl** instruction, dst must specify an even numbered register (e.g., g0, g2, ..., g12). For the **ldt** and **ldq** instructions, dst must specify a register number that is a multiple of four (e.g., g0, g4, g8). If the data extends beyond register g15 or r15 for the **ldl**, **ldt**, or **ldq** instruction, the results are unpredictable.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow memory (src);$ 

Faults: STANDARD

Example:	ldl 2456 (r3), r10	# r10, r11 $\leftarrow$ value of two
		<pre># words beginning at offset</pre>
		# 2456 plus the address in
		# r3 in memory

#### LOAD

Opcode:	ld	90	MEM
-	ldob	80	MEM
	ldos	88	MEM
	ldib	C0	MEM
	ldis	C8	MEM
	ldl	98	MEM
	ldt	A0	MEM
	ldq	<b>B</b> 0	MEM

See Also:

**MOVE, STORE** 

#### lda

.

Mnemonic:	lda	Load Addr	Load Address		
Format:	lda	<i>src</i> mem efa	dst reg		
Description:	Computes the effective address specified with <i>src</i> and stores it in <i>dst</i> . The <i>src</i> address is not checked for validity. An important application of this instruction is to load a constant longer than 5 bits into a register. (To load a register with a constant of 5 bits or less, the • move instruction ( <b>mov</b> ) can be used with a literal as the <i>src</i> operand.)				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow efa$ (	(src);			
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	lda 58	(g9), gl	<pre># Computes the effective # address specified with # 58 (g9) and stores it in g1</pre>		
	lda 0x7	49, r8	<pre># loads the constant 0x749 # in r8</pre>		
Opcode:	lda	8C	MEM		

# ldphy

Mnemonic:	ldphy	Load Physi	cal Address
Format:	ldphy	<i>src</i> , reg addr	dst reg
Description:			<i>src</i> into a physical address and stores the result in provided to convert virtual addresses into physical
	be used to with one of	compute an e the processo	ed must reside in a register. The <b>lda</b> instruction can effective virtual address from an address specified or's addressing modes. The <b>ldphy</b> instruction can his virtual address into a physical address.
Action:	$dst \leftarrow phys$	sical address	(src)
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	lda 58 ldphy g	(g9), g3 3, r7	<pre># Computes the effective # address specified with # 58 (g9) and stores it in g3 # r7 ← physical address # of address specified with g3</pre>
Opcode:	ldphy	614	REG
See Also:	lda		

#### **Idtime**

Mnemonic:	ldtime	Load Process Time

- Format: Idtime dst reg
- **Description:** Loads the elapsed execution time (in units of ticks) of the current process up until the time of execution of this instruction in *dst*. The elapsed time is computed by subtracting the execution time (ET) from the residual time slice (RTS). Both of these values are cached in the processor.

At the beginning of a time slice, the ET for the process is always equal to the actual execution time of the process plus the next time slice (NTS) value (i.e., the number of ticks in a time slice for that process). The RTS value at the beginning of a time slice is also equal to the NTS value. As the process is executed, the processor counts the RTS value down. So the elapsed execution time of a process at any given time is always ET minus RST.

Refer to the section in Chapter 14 titled "Process Timing" for an additional discussion of process timing.

- Action:  $dst \leftarrow ET RTS;$
- Faults: STANDARD
- **Example:** ldtime g7 # g7  $\leftarrow$  elapsed execution time of # current process
- **Opcode:** Idtime 673 REG

#### logbnr, logbnrl

- Mnemonic:logbnrLog Binary ReallogbnrlLog Binary Long Real
- Format: logbnr\* src, dst freg/flit freg
- **Description:** Calculates the  $\log_2 (src)$  and stores the integral part of this value (i.e., the part to the left of the binary point) as a real number in *dst*. The result of this operation is an unbiased exponent. When *src* is a denormalized number, *dst* is the unbiased exponent that *src* would have if the format had unlimited exponent range.

(The fractional part of  $\log_2 (src)$  is ignored. If the fractional part is needed, use the **logr** or **logrl** instruction.)

This instruction implements the IEEE recommended function *logb*. It is useful for calculating the order of magnitude of a number.

For the **logbnrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the log binary of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

Src	Dst
-∞	+∞
-F	±F
-0	**
+0	**
+ F	±F
+ 00	+ ∞
NaN	NaN

Notes:

- F Means finite-real number
- \*\* Indicates floating zero-divide exception

#### logbnr, logbnrl

	Note that the significand of the <i>src</i> operand can be extracted by using the <b>scaler</b> or <b>scalerl</b> instruction.				
Action:	dst ← (log <sub>2</sub> (unbiased exponent ( <i>src</i> )) - fraction); # the integral part of the unbiased exponent of <i>src</i> # is stored in <i>dst</i> as a biased real				
Faults:	STANDARD Floating Reserved Encoding			Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.	
				One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.	
	exception re		lt being 1	eptions can be raised. Whether or not an raised depends on the state of its associated .	
	Floating Un	derflow		Result is too small for destination format.	
	Floating Inv	alid Operatio	n	One or more operands are an SNaN value.	
	Floating Ine	xact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.	
	Floating Zer	o Divide		The src operand is 0.	
Example:	logbnrl	g12, fp3		<pre>fp3 ← integral part of log2 (g12,g13)</pre>	
Opcode:	logbnr logbnrl	68A 69A	REG REG		
See Also:	logr, scaler				

#### logepr, logeprl

Mnemonic:	logepr logeprl	Log Epsilon Real Log Epsilon Long Real			
Format:	logepr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	dst freg	
Description:	Calculates (	src2 * log <sub>2</sub> (s	<i>rc1</i> + 1)), and	stores the result in dst.	

For the **logeprl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the log epsilon of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

	$(1/\sqrt{2}) - 1$ to -0	-0	+0	$+0$ to $\sqrt{2}$ - 1	NaN
-00	-00	*	*	-00	NaN
-F	+ F	+0	-0	-F	NaN
-0	+ 0	+0	-0	-0	NaN
+0	-0	-0	+0	+0	NaN
+ F	-F	-0	+0	+ F	NaN
+∞	+ ∞	*	*	+∞	NaN
NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN
	-F -0 +0 +F +∞	$ \begin{array}{c c} -\infty & -\infty \\ \hline -F & +F \\ \hline -0 & +0 \\ \hline +0 & -0 \\ \hline +F & -F \\ \hline +\infty & +\infty \\ \end{array} $	$-\infty$ * $-F$ $+F$ $+0$ $-0$ $+0$ $+0$ $+0$ $-0$ $-0$ $+F$ $-F$ $-0$ $+\infty$ $+\infty$ $*$	$-\infty$ *       * $-F$ $+F$ $+0$ $-0$ $-0$ $+0$ $+0$ $-0$ $+0$ $-0$ $-0$ $+0$ $+F$ $-F$ $-0$ $+0$ $+F$ $-F$ $-0$ $+0$ $+\infty$ $+\infty$ $*$ $*$	$-\infty$ *       * $-\infty$ $-F$ $+F$ $+0$ $-0$ $-F$ $-0$ $+0$ $+0$ $-0$ $-0$ $+0$ $-0$ $-0$ $+0$ $+0$ $+F$ $-F$ $-0$ $+0$ $+0$ $+F$ $-F$ $-0$ $+0$ $+F$ $+\infty$ $+\infty$ $*$ $*$ $+\infty$

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

This instruction offers optimal accuracy for values of src1 + 1 close to 1 (i.e., for values of src1 close to 0). This expression is commonly found in compound interest and annuity calculations. The result can be simply converted into a value in another logarithm base by including a scale factor in src2.

#### logepr, logeprl

The following equation is used to calculate the scale factor for a particular logarithm base, where n is the logarithm base desired for the result stored in dst:

scale factor =  $\log_n 2$ 

The range of *src1* is restricted to the following:

 $1/\text{sqrt}(2) \le src1 + 1 \le \text{sqrt}(2)$ 

When the *src1* operand is outside this range, the **logr** or **logr** instruction can be used with very insignificant loss of accuracy by adding 1.0 to *src1*.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow src2 * \log_2 (src1 + 1);$ 

Faults: STANDARD

Floating Reserved Encoding

Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.

One or more operands is an unnormalized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arithmetic controls is set.

The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.

Floating Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.
Floating Underflow	Result is too small for destination format.
Floating Invalid Operation	The <i>src1</i> operand is 0 and the <i>src2</i> operand is $\infty$ .
	The <i>src1</i> operand does not fall within the range defined in the above description section.
	One or more operands are an SNaN value.
Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.

#### logepr, logeprl

Example: logepr g8, g4, fp2 # fp2 ← g4,g5 \* log2 (g8,g9 + 1)

Opcode:	logepr	681	REG
	logeprl	691	REG

See Also: logr

#### logr, logri

Mnemonic:	logr logrl	Log Real Log Long Real		
Format:	logr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Calculates  $(src2 * \log_2 (src1))$ , and stores the result in *dst*. (The **logbnr** and **logbnrl** instructions perform this function more efficiently, if only an estimate is needed.)

For the **logrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the log of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

		-00	-F	-0	+ 0	+ F	+∞	NaN
Src2	-∞	*	*	**	**	±∞	-00	NaN
	-F	*	*	**	**	±F	-00	NaN
	-0	*	*	*	*	$\pm 0$	*	NaN
	+ 0	*	*	*	*	±0	*	NaN
	+ F	*	*	**	**	±F	+∞	NaN
	+∞	*	*	**	**	±∞	+∞	NaN
	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

\*\* Indicates floating zero-divide exception.

The **logr** instruction combined with the **expr** instruction forms the basis for the power function  $x^y$ .

#### logr, logrl

Adding 1.0 to a number to be used as the src1 operand will cause information to be lost. To perform this function, use the **logepr** or **logeprl** instruction.

These instructions provide a simple method of converting the result of the  $\log_2$  arithmetic into a value in another logarithm base by including a scale factor in *src2*. The following equation is used to calculate the scale factor for a particular logarithm base, where n is the logarithm base desired for the result stored in *dst*;

scale factor =  $\log_n 2$ 

Action:

 $dst \leftarrow src2 * \log_2(src1);$ 

Faults: STANDARD

Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.

Floating Reserved Encoding

One or more operands is an unnormalized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arithmetic controls is set.

The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.

Floating Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.			
Floating Underflow	Result is too small for destination format.			
Floating Zero Divide	The <i>src1</i> operand is 0 and <i>src2</i> is non-zero.			
Floating Invalid Operation	The <i>src1</i> and <i>src2</i> operands are both 0.			
	The <i>src1</i> operand is $\infty$ and the <i>src2</i> operand is 0.			
	The <i>src1</i> operand is 1 and the <i>src2</i> operand is $\infty$ .			
	The <i>src1</i> operand is negative and non-zero.			
	One or more operands are an SNaN value.			
Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			

أhttel

#### logr, logrl

Example: logrl r2, g8, g2 # g2,g3 ← g8,g9 \* log2(r2,r3)

Opcode:	logr	682	REG
	logrl	692	REG

See Also: expr, logepr

mark						
Mnemonic:	mark Mark					
Format:	mark					
Description:	Generates a breakpoint trace event if the breakpoint trace mode has been enabled. The breakpoint trace mode is enabled if the trace-enable bit (bit 0) of the process controls and the breakpoint-trace mode bit (bit 7) of the trace controls have been set. When a breakpoint trace event is detected, the trace-fault-pending flag (bit 10) of the process controls and the breakpoint-trace-event flag (bit 23) of the trace controls are set. Before the next instruction is executed, a trace fault is generated.					
	If the breakpoint-trace mode has not been enabled, the <b>mark</b> instruction behaves like a no-op.					
	For more information on trace-fault generation, refer to Chapter 12.					
Action:	if process.trace_enable and breakpoint_trace_flag then raise trace breakpoint fault endif					
Faults:	STANDARD, Breakpoint Trace					
Example:	<pre># Assume that the breakpoint trace mode is # enabled. ld xyz, r4 addi r4, r5, r6 mark # Breakpoint trace event is generated at # this point in the instruction stream.</pre>					
Opcode:	mark 66B REG					
See Also:	fmark, modpc, modtc					

#### modac

Mnemonic:	modac	Modify AC				
Format:	modac	<i>mask</i> , reg/lit		dst reg		
Description:	processor ch mask and sr metic contro Only the bit arithmetic co This instruct	hanges its inte c. The src of ols and the ma s set in mask ontrols have b tion only affe	ernally cache perand conta <i>ask</i> operand are modifie peen changed acts the arith	controls for the current process. The ed arithmetic controls as specified with ains the value to be placed in the arith-specifies the bits that may be changed. ed in the arithmetic controls. Once the d, their initial state is copied into $dst$ .		
Action:	$AC \leftarrow (src$	$emp \leftarrow AC$ $AC \leftarrow (src \text{ and } mask) \text{ or}$ $(AC \text{ and not } (mask));$ $dst \leftarrow temp;$				
Faults:	STANDAR	D				
Example:	modac gi	l, g9, g1	l2 # AC # g1	$C \leftarrow$ g9, masked by g1 2 $\leftarrow$ initial value of AC		
Opcode:	modac	645	REG			
See Also:	modpc, mo	dtc				

### modi

Mnemonic:	modi	Modulo Int	eger			
Format:	modi	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	src2, reg/lit	dst reg		
Description:				are integers, esult is nonzer		
Action:	if src2 * sr	- ((src2/src1 c1 < 0 ← dst + src1				
Faults:	STANDAR	D, Arithmetic	Zero Divide			
Example:	modi r9,	, r2, r5	# r5 <del>&lt;</del>	- modulo	(r2/r9)	
Opcode:	modi	749	REG			
See Also:	div, remi					a star i star
# modify

Mnemonic:	modify	Modify		
Format:	modify	<i>mask</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	<i>src/dst</i> reg
Description:		oits to be mo		bits from <i>src</i> . The <i>mask</i> operand the bits set in the <i>mask</i> operand are
Action:	$src/dst \leftarrow (src \text{ and } mask) \text{ or } (src/dst \text{ and } not (mask));$			
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	modify o	g8, g10,	r4 # r	4 $\leftarrow$ g10 masked by g8
Opcode:	modify	650	REG	
See Also:	alterbit, ext	ract		

#### modpc

Mnemonic:	modpc	Modify Process Controls		
Format:	modpc	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	<i>mask</i> , reg/lit	<i>src/dst</i> reg

**Description:** Reads and modifies the process controls for the current process. The processor changes its internally cached process controls as specified with *mask* and *src/dst*. The *src/dst* operand contains the value to be placed in the process controls and the *mask* operand specifies the bits that may be changed. Only the bits set in the mask are modified in the process controls. Once the process controls have been changed, their initial value is copied into *src/dst*. The *src* operand is a dummy operand that should be set equal to the *mask* operand.

The processor must be in the supervisor mode to modify the process controls using this instruction. If the *mask* operand is set to 0, this instruction can be used to read the process controls, without the processor being in the supervisor mode.

This instruction only affects the process controls cached in processor. The process controls in the PCB for the current process are not affected. If the action of this instruction results in the priority of the current process being lowered, the interrupt table and dispatch port are checked.

Changing the state, resume, internal state, and trace enable fields of the process controls can lead to unpredictable behavior, as described in Chapter 13 in the section titled "Changing the Process-Controls Word."

Action:

if mask  $\neq 0$ 

then if process.process\_controls.execution\_mode ≠ supervisor
 then raise type-mismatch fault;
 end if;
 temp ← process.process\_controls;
 process.process\_controls ←
 (mask and src/dst) or
 (process.process\_controls and not (mask));
 src/dst ← temp;
 if temp.priority > process.process\_controls.priority
 then check\_pending\_interrupts;
 # if continue here, no interrupt to do
 end if;
 else src/dst ← process.process\_controls;
 end if;

# modpc

Faults:	STANDARD, Type Mismatch			
Example:	modpc g9, g9, g8 $\#$ process controls $\leftarrow$ g8 $\#$ masked by g9			
Opcode:	modpc 655 REG			
See Also:	modac, modtc			

#### modtc

Mnemonic:	modtc	Modify Trace Controls		
Format:	modtc	<i>mask</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	<i>dst</i> reg

**Description:** Reads and modifies the trace controls for the current process. The processor changes its internally cached trace controls as specified with *mask* and *src*. The *src* operand contains the value to be placed in the trace controls and the *mask* operand specifies the bits that may be changed. Only the bits set in the mask are modified in the trace controls. Once the trace controls have been changed, their initial state is copied into *dst*.

This instruction only affects the trace controls cached in processor. The trace controls in the PCB for the current process are not affected.

Since bits 8 through 15 and 24 through 31 of the trace-controls word are reserved, the *mask* operand is ANDed with  $00FF00FF_{16}$  to insure that these bits are not set in the mask.

The changed trace controls take effect on the first non-branching instruction fetched from memory. Since instructions are prefetched four at a time, the trace controls may not take effect for up to the next four instructions executed.

For more information on the trace controls, refer to Chapters 12 and 16.

Action: temp  $\leftarrow$  process.trace\_controls; temp1  $\leftarrow$  16#00FF00FF# and mask; process.trace\_controls  $\leftarrow$ (temp1 and src) or (process.trace\_controls and not(temp1)); dst  $\leftarrow$  temp;

#### Faults: STANDARD

Example: modtc g12, g10, g2
# trace controls ← g10 masked by g12;
# previous trace controls stored in g2

**Opcode: modtc** 654 REG

See Also: modac, modpc

#### MOVE

Mnemonic:	mov movl movt movq	Move Move Long Move Triple Move Quad	
Format:	mov*	<i>src</i> , <i>dst</i> reg/lit reg	

**Description:** Copies the content of one or more source registers (specified with the *src* operand) to one or more destination registers (specified with the *dst* operand).

For the **movl**, **movt**, and **movq** instructions, the *src* and *dst* operands specify the first (lowest numbered) register of several successive registers. The *src* and *dst* registers must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2) for the **movl** instruction and an integral multiple of four (e.g., g0, g4) for the **movt** and **movq** instructions.

When the *src* and *dst* operands overlap, the value moved is unpredictable.

Action:	$dst \leftarrow src;$
---------	-----------------------

Faults: STANDARD

**Example:** movt g8, r4 # r4, r5, r6 ← g8, g9, g10

Opcode:	mov	5CC	REG
	movl	5DC	REG
	movt	5EC	REG
	movq	5FC	REG

See Also: Id, movr, st

# movqstr

Mnemonic:	movqstr	Move Quid	ck String	
Format:	movqstr	<i>dst</i> , reg addr	src, reg addr	<i>len</i> reg/lit
Description:	Copies a string of bytes from one location in memory to another, where the source and destination strings are assumed not to overlap. The <i>src</i> operand specifies the address of the first byte of the source string and the <i>dst</i> operand specifies the address of the first byte of the destination string. The <i>len</i> operand specifies the length of the string in bytes and can range from 1 to $2^{32}$ -1. The <i>src</i> operand and the <i>dst</i> operand each specify a register, which contains an address.			
Action:	instruction in for i in 0.		1	ppied is not predictable. (Use the <b>movstr</b>
	end loop;	, <b>,</b>	<b>`</b>	
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	movqstr	r9, r2		<pre># Copies string beginning # at r2, which is # r12 bytes long, to # string beginning at r9</pre>
Opcode:	movqstr	604	REG	
See Also:	cmpstr, fill	, movstr		

#### movr, movre, movrl

Mnemonic:	movr	Move Real
	movrl	Move Long Real
	movre	Move Extended Real

Format:	movr*	src,	dst
		freg/flit	freg

**Description:** Copies a real value from one or more source registers (specified with the *src* operand) to one or more destination registers (specified with the *dst* operand).

For the **movrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. For the **movre** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of three successive registers.

When copying real numbers between global or local registers and floatingpoint registers, conversion between real or long-real format to extended-real format is performed implicitly. Conversion between real and long-real formats must be done through floating-point registers and requires two instructions, as illustrated in the example below.

When the **movre** instruction moves an operand from global or local registers to a floating-point register, it automatically truncates the most-significant 16 bits of the word in the third register (refer to Figure 7-5). Likewise, when this instruction is used to move an operand from a floating-point register to global or local registers, it adds 16 zeros to the third word. The **movre** instruction is not a numeric instruction; it merely manipulates bits.

The **movr** and **movrl** instructions can cause a floating-point exception to be raised, which might result in a fault being raised, as is explained in the section below on faults. The **movre** instruction can never raise an exception and thus never faults.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow src;$ 

# movr, movre, movrl

		_				
Faults:	STANDARD			Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
	Floating Re			One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
	exception re		lt being r	eptions can be raised. Whether or not an aised depends on the state of its associated		
	Floating Ov	rerflow		Result is too large for destination format.		
	Floating Un	derflow		Result is too small for destination format. Source operand is an SNaN value.		
	Floating Inv	alid Operatio	m			
	Floating Inexact			Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	# to a	long rea d in g4,0 , fp2	l valu	value in g3 e, which is		
Opcode:	movr movrl movre	6C9 6D9 6E9	REG REG REG			
See Also:	mov					

## movstr

Mnemonic:	movstr	Move Strin	ıg		
Format:	movstr	<i>dst</i> , reg addr	<i>src</i> , reg addr	<i>len</i> reg/lit	
Description:	operand spe operand spe <i>len</i> operand $2^{32}$ -1.	opies a string of bytes from one location in memory to another. The period specifies the address of the first byte of the source string and the period specifies the address of the first byte of the destination string $n$ operand specifies the length of the string in bytes and can range from $3^{22}-1$ .			
	an address.		-		
	source string	g is overwritte d that there a	en before it is	orithm guarantees that no byte of the copied into the destination string. If it ps, the <b>movqstr</b> instruction performs	
Action:	if $src \leq dst$ then for i in 1 len loop byte $(dst + len - i)$ $\leftarrow$ byte $(src + len - i)$ ; end loop; else for i in 0 len - 1 loop byte $(dst + i) \leftarrow$ byte $(src + i)$ ; end loop; end loop; end loop;				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	# Copies	movstr g5, g1, g9 # Copies string, which is g9 bytes long and # begins at address g1, to address g5			
Opcode:	movstr	605	REG		
See Also:	cmpstr, fill,	movqstr			

# muli, mulo

Mnemonic:	muli mulo	Multiply Ir Multiply O		
Format:	mul*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	,	dst reg
Description:	Multiplies the $src2$ value by the $src1$ value and stores the result in $dst$ .			
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	* src1;		
Faults:	STANDAR	D, Integer Ov	erflow	
Example:	muli r3	, r4, r9	# r9 €	- r4 TIMES r3
Opcode:	muli mulo	741 701	REG REG	
See Also:	emul, mulr			

#### mulr, mulrl

Mnemonic:	mulr mulrl	Multiply Real Multiply Long Real		
Format:	mulr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Multiplies the *src2* value by the *src1* value and stores the result in *dst*.

For the **mulrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The sign of the result is always the exclusive-OR of the source signs, even if one or more of the source values is  $0, \infty$ , or a NaN.

The following table shows the results obtained when multiplying various classes of numbers together, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

				Sr	rc1			
		-∞	-F	-0	+0	+ F	+∞	NaN
	-∞	+∞	+∞	*	*	-00	-00	NaN
	-F	+∞	+ F	+ 0	-0	-F	-00	NaN
	-0	*	+0	+0	-0	-0	*	NaN
Src2	+ 0	*	-0	-0	+0	+0	*	NaN
	+ F	-00	-F	-0	+0	+ F	+∞	NaN
	+∞	-00	-00	*	*	+∞	+∞	NaN
	NaN							

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

When you need to multiply by the power of 2, the scaler and scaler instructions can also be used.

# mulr, mulri

Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2 * src1;$					
Faults:	STANDARD			Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
	Floating Reserved Encoding			One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
		ptions can be raised. Whether or not an aised depends on the state of its associated				
	Floating Overflow			Result is too large for destination format.		
	Floating Und	lerflow		Result is too small for destination format.		
	Floating Invalid Operation			One source operand is 0 and the other is $\infty$ .		
				One or more operands are an SNaN value.		
	Floating Inexact			Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	mulrl g1	2, g4, fp	2	# fp2 ← g4,g5 * g12,g13		
Opcode:	mulr mulrl		REG REG			
See Also:	emul, muli, s	scaler				

### nand

Mnemonic:	nand	Nand		
Format:	nand	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	Performs a bitwise NAND operation on the $src2$ and $src1$ values and stores the result in $dst$ .			
Action:	$dst \leftarrow (not (src2)) \text{ or } (not (src1));$			
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	nand g5	, r3, r7	# r7 ←	- r3 NAND g5
Opcode:	nand	58E	REG	
See Also:	and, andno	t, nor, not, no	otand, notor,	or, ornot, xnor, xor

#### nor

Mnemonic:	nor	Nor			1997 - S. 1997 -
Format:	nor	,	<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	<i>dst</i> reg	
Description:	Performs a bitwise NOR operation on the <i>src2</i> and <i>src1</i> values and stores the result in <i>dst</i> .				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow not (src2) and not (src1);$				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	nor g8,	28, r5	# r5 ←	28 NOR g8	
Opcode:	nor	588	REG		
See Also:	and, andno	t, nand, not,	notand, noto	r, or, ornot, xnor, xor	

## not, notand

Mnemonic:	not notand	Not Not And			
Format:	not	<i>src</i> , reg/lit			
	notand		<i>src2</i> , reg/lit		
Description:	Performs a bitwise NOT (not instruction) or NOT AND (notand instruction) operation on the <i>src2</i> and <i>src1</i> values and stores the result in <i>dst</i> .				
Action:	not:	$dst \leftarrow \mathbf{not}$	(src);		
	notand:	$dst \leftarrow (\mathbf{not}$	(src2)) and	src1;	
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	not g2, notand :	g4 r5, r6, 1	# g4 27 # r7	¦ ← NOT g2 ' ← NOT r6 AND r	5
Opcode:	not notand	58A 584	REG REG		
See Also:	and, andno	t, nand, nor,	notor, or, or	not, xnor, xor	

# notbit

Mnemonic:	notbit	Not Bit			
Format:	notbit	· ·	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst reg	
Description:	Copies the <i>src</i> value to <i>dst</i> with one bit toggled. The <i>bitpos</i> operand specifies the bit to be toggled.				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src \text{ xor } 2^{(bitpos \text{ mod } 32)};$				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	notbit	r3, r12,			ith the bit n r3 toggled
Opcode:	notbit	580	REG		
See Also:	alterbit, ch	kbit, clrbit, s	etbit		

-

### notor

1.

Mnemonic:	notor	Not Or		
Format:	notor	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	Performs a bitwise NOT OR operation on the $src2$ and $src1$ values and stores the result in $dst$ .			
Action:	$dst \leftarrow (\mathbf{not}$	( <i>src2</i> )) <b>or</b> <i>s</i>	rc1;	
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:	notor g	12, g3, g	g6 # g6	5 ← NOT g3 OR g12
Opcode:	notor	58D	REG	
See Also:	and, andno	t, nand, nor,	not, notand,	or, ornot, xnor, xor

## or, ornot

Mnemonic:	or ornot	Or Or Not			
Format:	or	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		dst reg	
	ornot	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		dst reg	
Description:	Performs a bitwise OR (or instruction) or ORNOT (ornot instruction) opera- tion on the <i>src2</i> and <i>src1</i> values and stores the result in <i>dst</i> .				
Action:	or: $dst \leftarrow$	– src2 or src	c1;		
	ornot: dst	$\leftarrow$ src2 or n	not (src1);		
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	or 14, o ornot r	g9, g3 3, r8, r1	# g3 11 # r1	$\leftarrow g9 \text{ OR } 1$ 1 \leftarrow r8 OR	.4 NOT r3
Opcode:	or ornot	587 58B	REG REG		
See Also:	and, andno	t, nand, nor,	not, notand,	notor, xnor, xor	

#### receive

Mnemonic:	receive	Receive	
Format:	receive	<i>src</i> , reg	<i>dst</i> reg
		SS	SS

**Description:** Attempts to receive a message from a communications port. The *src* operand contains the SS of the port. If the port has enqueued messages, the SS of the message at the head of the message queue is stored in *dst* and execution continues.

The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.

If the port is empty (i.e., has no messages queued), the process is suspended, with its IP left pointing to the current instruction. The process is then enqueued at the port at the tail of the blocked-processes queue.

The receive-blocked process remains blocked until it reaches the head of the blocked-processes queue and a message is received at the port. This message is then stored in the PCB of the blocked process, and the process is dequeued from the communications port and enqueued to its dispatching port.

When the process is again dispatched, the processor resumes the **receive** instruction, but this time it reads the message stored in its PCB, rather than going to the communication port again.

Action:	x ← atomic_read(port.lock); if least_significant_bit(x) = 1 then atomic_write(port.lock) ← x;
	<b>go to</b> receive; <b>else</b> atomic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x <b>or</b> 1; <b>if</b> port.Q = 1 <b>or</b> port is empty
	then if port is fifo
	<pre>then enqueue process on port     port.queue_tail_SS ← process_SS;</pre>

# receive

	<pre>else enqueue process on port.queue(process.priority); port.queue_tail_SS(process.priority) ← process_SS; x ← atomic_read(port.lock); atomic_write(port.lock) ← x xor 1; perform process suspension action; # IP continues to point at receive inst x ← atomic_read(current_process.lock); atomic_write(current_process.lock) ← x xor 1; perform dispatch action; else if port is fifo then dequeue first message; else dequeue first message; else dequeue first message from highest-priority nonempty queue; dst ← message_SS; x ← atomic_read(port.lock); atomic_write(port.lock) ← x xor 1; endif;</pre>					
Faults:	STANDAR	D				
Example:	receive	g8,	g3		receives message from port g8 and store message in g3	
Opcode:	receive	656		R	EG	
See Also:	conrec, sen	d				

# remi, remo

Mnemonic:	remi remo	Remainder Remainder	0		
Format:	rem*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit			dst reg
Description:	Divides $src2$ by $src1$ and stores the remainder in $dst$ . The sign of the result (if nonzero) is the same as the sign of $src2$ .				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2 - ((src2 / src1) * src1);$				
Faults:	STANDARD			Refer to discussion of faults at the begin- ning of this chapter.	
	Integer Overflow			Thi ing the inte cor sou sig	sult is too large for destination format. is fault is signaled only when execut- it the <b>remi</b> instruction and if both of following conditions are met: (1) the eger-overflow mask in the arithmetic- nation registers is clear and (2) the arce operands have like signs and the n of the result operand is different n the signs of the source operands.
Example:	remo r4	, r5, r6	# r	·6 +	- r5 rem r4
Opcode:	remi remo	748 708	REG REG		
See Also:	remr, modi				

#### remr, remrl

Mnemonic:	remr remrl	Remainder Real Remainder Long Real					
Format:	remr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg			

**Description:** Divides *src2* by *src1* and stores the remainder in *dst*. The sign of the result (if nonzero) is the same as the sign of *src2*.

For the **remrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when computing the remainder of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

	-00	-F	-0	+0	+ F	+∞	NaN
-00	*	*	*	*	*	*	NaN
-F	src2	-F or -0	**	**	-F or -0	src2	NaN
-0	-0	-0	*	*	-0	-0	NaN
+0	+0	+0	*	*	+0	+0	NaN
+ F	src2	+F  or  +0	**	**	+ F or + 0	src2	NaN
+∞	*	*	*	*	*	*	NaN
NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN
	-F -0 +0 +F +∞	$ \begin{array}{c ccc} -\infty & * \\ \hline -F & src2 \\ \hline -0 & -0 \\ +0 & +0 \\ \hline +F & src2 \\ \hline +\infty & * \\ \end{array} $	$-\infty$ *       *         -F       src2       -F or -0         -0       -0       -0         +0       +0       +0         +F       src2       +F or +0         + $\infty$ *       *	$-\infty$ *       *       *         -F       src2       -F or -0       **         -0       -0       -0       *         +0       +0       +0       *         +F       src2       +F or +0       **         +\infty       *       *       *	$-\infty$ *       *       *       *         -F       src2       -F or -0       **       **         -0       -0       -0       *       *         +0       +0       +0       *       *         +F       src2       +F or +0       **       **         +\infty       *       *       *       *	$-\infty$ *       *       *       *       *         -F       src2       -F or -0       **       **       -F or -0         -0       -0       -0       *       *       -0         +0       +0       +0       *       *       +0         +F       src2       +F or +0       **       **       +F or +0         +\infty       *       *       *       *       *	$-\infty$ *       *       *       *       *       *       *         -F       src2       -F or -0       **       **       -F or -0       src2         -0       -0       -0       *       *       -0       -0         +0       +0       +0       *       *       +0       +0         +F       src2       +F or +0       **       **       +F or +0       src2         +∞       *       *       *       *       *       *

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

\* \* Indicates floating zero-divide exception.

When the result is 0, its sign is the same as that of src2. When the src1 is  $\infty$ , the result is equal to the src2.

The result of this operation is always exact if the destination format is at least as wide as the src2 and src1.

#### remr, remrl

The remainder provided with the **remr** and **remrl** instructions is different from the remainder described in the IEEE floating-point standard. The difference is related to how the quotient (N) of the expression (src2/src1) is determined.

As shown below in the action statement, N for the **remr** and **remrl** instructions is the nearest integer value obtained when the exact result (E) of the expression (src2/src1) is truncated toward zero. N will always be less than or equal to the absolute value of E.

For the IEEE standard, N is simply the nearest integer value to E. Here, N may be less than, equal to, or greater than the absolute value of E.

To help determine the IEEE remainder from the result given by the **remr** and **remrl** instructions, the following information about the quotient is given in the arithmetic-status field in the arithmetic controls:

Arithmetic Status Bit	Meaning
6	Q1, the next-to-last quotient bit
5	Q0, the last quotient bit
4	QR, the value the next quotient bit would have if one more reduction were performed (the "round" bit of the quotient)
3	QS, set if the remainder after the QR reduction would be nonzero (the "sticky" bit of the quotient)

The information can then be used to determine the IEEE standard remainder, as shown in the example on the next page.

Action:

dst ← src2 - (N \* src1); # where N = truncate (src2/src1. # Here, (src2/src1) is truncated # toward zero to the nearest integer.

# remr, remrl

Faults:	STANDARD			Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
	Floating Res	erved Encodi	ng	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
	exception res		ptions can be raised. Whether or not an ised depends on the state of its associated			
	Floating Ove	erflow		Result is too large for destination format.		
	Floating Unc	lerflow		Result is too small for destination format.		
	Floating Zer	o Divide		The src1 operand is 0.		
	Floating Inva	alid Operation	L	The <i>src2</i> operand is $\infty$ .		
				One or more operands are an SNaN value.		
	Floating Inex	kact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	_ieee_rem: remrl g2, g0, g0 modac 0, 0, g4 bbc 4, g4, 2f # QR=0, implies g0 bbs 3, g4, 1f # QR=1,QS=1, impli bbc 5, g4, 2f			<pre>in g0,g1; y is in g2,g3 &lt; y/2 and z=g0 es g0 &gt; y/2 and z=g0-y implies g0=y/2 and z=g0     #  y </pre>		
Opcode:	remr remrl	683 693	REG REG			
See Also:	remi, modi					

# resumprcs

Mnemonic:	resumprcs	Resume Process				
Format:	resumprcs src reg SS					
Description:		Switches the processor from one process to another process. The SS of the new process is specified with the <i>src</i> operand.				
	The processor m	The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.				
	Any state information for the current process that has been cached on the processor chip, such as the PCB and the stack frames, is discarded (i.e., not updated in memory, not unlocked). Thus, to save the state of the current process, the <b>resumprcs</b> instruction should be preceded by a <b>saveprcs</b> instruction.					
	functions in mos	st UNIX	<b>aprcs</b> instructions are similar to the <b>save</b> and <b>resume</b> (kernels. These instructions allow task (or process)) the processor's automatic dispatching mechanism.			
Action:	<pre>if src1 is not a SS to a PCB    then raise Type Mismatch Fault; endif; perform process-bind action</pre>					
Faults:	STANDARD, Type Mismatch					
Example:	resumprcs	r4	<pre># processor is bound # to process # specified in r4</pre>			
Opcode:	resumprcs	664	REG			
See Also:	saveprcs					

# intط

#### ret

Mnemonic: ret Return

Format: ret

**Description:** Returns process control to the calling procedure. The current stack frame (i.e., that of the called procedure) is deallocated and the FP is changed to point to the stack frame of the calling procedure. Instruction execution is continued at the instruction pointed to by the RIP in the calling procedure's stack frame, which is the instruction immediately following the call instruction.

As shown in the action statement below, the return status field and prereturn trace flag determine the action that the processor takes on the return. These fields are contained in bits 0 through 3 of register r0 of the calling procedure's local registers.

Refer to Chapter 4 for further discussion of the **ret** instruction.

- Action: wait for any uncompleted instructions to finish; case return\_status is
  - 2#000#:  $FP \leftarrow PFP$ ; free current register\_set; if register\_set (FP) not allocated then retrieve from memory(FP); end if;  $IP \leftarrow RIP$ ;
  - 2#001#: x ← memory(FP-16); y ← memory(FP-12); go to case 000 action; arithmetic\_controls ← y; if execution\_mode = supervisor then process\_controls ← x; end if;
  - 2#010#: if execution\_mode ≠ supervisor then go to case 000 action; else process\_controls.T ← 0; execution\_mode ← user; go to case 000 action; end if;

ret

2#011#:	<b>if</b> execution_mode ≠ supervisor
	then go to case 000 action;
	else process_controls.T $\leftarrow$ 1;
	execution_mode $\leftarrow$ user;
	go to case 000 action;
	end if;
2#100#:	undefined

2#101#: undefined

- 2#110#: if execution\_mode = supervisor then free current register set; check\_pending\_interrupts; # if continue here, no interrupt to do enter idle state; else go to case 000 action; end if:
- 2#111#:  $x \leftarrow \text{memory(FP-16)};$  $y \leftarrow memory(FP-12);$ go to case 000 action; arithmetic\_controls  $\leftarrow$  y; **if** execution mode = supervisor then process controls  $\leftarrow x$ ; check pending interrupts; end if:

Faults:	STANI	DARE	)			
Example:	ret	#	<b>-</b>	procedu	returns re	to
Opcode:	ret		0A	CTRL		

See Also: call, calls, callx

# int<sub>e</sub>l°

### rotate

Mnemonic:	rotate	Rotate			
Format:	rotate	<i>len</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	Copies <i>src</i> to <i>dst</i> and rotates the bits in the resulting <i>dst</i> operand to the left (toward higher significance). (The bits shifted off the left end of the word are inserted at the right end of the word.) The <i>len</i> operand specifies the number of bits that the <i>dst</i> operand is rotated. The <b>len</b> operand can range from 0 to 31. This instruction can also be used to rotate bits to the right. Here, the number of bits the word is to be rotated right is subtracted from 32 to get the <i>len</i> operand.				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow \mathbf{rota}$	ate ( <i>len</i> mod	32 ( <i>sra</i>	c))	
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:	rotate :	r4, r8, 1	c12	# w	$12 \leftarrow r8$ with bits rotated 4 bits to left
Opcode:	rotate	59D	REG		
See Also:	SHIFT				

# roundr, roundrl

Mnemonic:	roundr roundrl		Round Real Round Long Real				
Format:	roundr*	<i>src</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg				
Description:		to the neares ne result in <i>ds</i> .	the nearest integral value, depending on the rounding mo result in <i>dst</i> .				
	local registe	<b>indrl</b> instruction, if the <i>src</i> or <i>dst</i> operand references a globa er, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two success also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).					
			rand is $\infty$ the result is <i>src</i> . If the <i>src</i> operand is not an integrating-inexact exception is raised.				
Action:	$dst \leftarrow round_to_integral_value (src);$						
Faults:	STANDAR	D		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.			
	Floating Res	Reserved Encoding		One or more operands is an unnormal ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith metic controls is set.			
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associa mask bit in the arithmetic controls.			aised depends on the state of its associated			
	Floating Ov	erflow		Result is too large for destination format.			
	Floating Un	derflow		Result is too small for destination format.			
	Floating Inv	alid Operatio	n	One or more operands are an SNaN value.			
	Floating Ine	xact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			
Example:		r4, r10 11 ← r4	,r5 ro	ounded			
Opcode:	roundr roundrl	68B 69B	REG REG				

# saveprcs

Mnemonic:	saveprcs	Save Process				
Format:	saveprcs					
Description:	process state the process. The p and any cached	Updates the state of the current process in memory by saving that part of the process state that is cached on the processor chip during the execution of the process. The part of the process state that is cached includes part of the PCB and any cached local-register frames. The process is not unlocked and continues to execute with its cached state.				
	The processor r	The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.				
	functions in mo	<b>veprcs</b> and <b>resumprcs</b> instructions are similar to the <b>save</b> and <b>resume</b> ons in most UNIX kernels. These instructions allow task (or process) ing without using the processor's automatic dispatching mechanism.				
			the <b>saveprcs</b> instruction is to save the state of a processes using the <b>resumprcs</b> instruction.			
Action:		n process-	rols.state = process_executing suspension action gister sets;			
Faults:	STANDARD					
Opcode:	saveprcs 6	66	REG			
See Also:	resumprcs					

#### scaler, scalerl

Mnemonic:	scaler scalerl	Scale Real Scale Long Real		
Format:	scaler*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	src2, freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Multiplies *src2* by 2 to the power of *src1* and stores the result in *dst*. The *src1* operand is an integer; whereas, *src2* and *dst* are reals.

For the **scalerl** instruction, if the *src2* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when scaling various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

		Si	cl		
	-N 0 +N				
	-00	-00	-00	-00	
	-F	-F	-F	-F	
	-0	-0	-0	-0	
Src2	+ 0	+0	+ 0	+0	
	+ F	+ F	+ F	+ F	
	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	
	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	

Src1

#### Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

N Means integer.

In most cases, only the exponent is changed and the mantissa (fraction) remains unchanged. However, when the *src2* operand is a denormalized value, the mantissa is also changed and the result may turn out to be a normalized number. Similarly, if overflow or underflow results from a scale operation, the resulting mantissa will differ from the source's mantissa.

#### scaler, scalerl

Refer to the sections titled "Floating Overflow Exception" and "Floating Underflow Exception" in Chapter 7 for further discussion of how overflow and underflow are handled.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow src2 * (2^{src1})$ 

Floating Reserved Encoding

Faults: STANDARD

Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.

One or more operands is an unnormalized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arithmetic controls is set.

The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.

Floating Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.	
Floating Underflow	Result is too small for destination format.	
Floating Zero Divide	The src1 operand is 0.	
Floating Invalid Operation	One or more operands are an SNaN value.	
Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.	

- Example: scalerl g6, g2, fp0 # fp0 ← g2,g3 \* 2^g6
- **Opcode:** scaler 677 REG scalerl 676 REG

See Also: mulr

## scanbit

Mnemonic:	scanbit	Scan For E	Bit
Format:	scanbit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst reg
Description:	significant code is set	1 bit is found	for the most-significant set bit (1 bit). If a most- d, its bit number is stored in $dst$ and the condition he <i>src</i> value is zero, all 1's are stored in $dst$ and the $00_2$ .
Action:	$AC.cc \leftarrow 2$	.0 reverse le if (src and then ds	<b>bop</b> $2^{i}$ ) ≠ 0 $t \leftarrow i$ ; C.cc ← 2#010#;
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	scanbit # g10 ← # most-	e g8 is ; g8, g10 - bit num signific; ; AC.cc	nber of ant set bit
Opcode:	scanbit	641	REG
See Also:	spanbit		

# scanbyte

Mnemonic:	scanbyte	Scan Byte	Equal
Format:	scanbyte	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	
Description:	code to 010	$_2$ if any two	comparison of <i>src1</i> and <i>src2</i> and sets the condition corresponding bytes are equal. If no corresponding tion code is set to $000_2$ .
Action:	(src1 and (src1 and (src1 and then 1	d 16#0000FI d 16#00FF0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:		e OxOOAB	x11AB1100 0011, r9
Opcode:	scanbyte	5AC	REG
See Also:	cmpstr, fill	, movqstr, m	ovstr

# schedprcs

Mnemonic:	schedprcs	Schedule Process
Format:	schedprcs	src reg SS
Description:	the PCB for the process is set and preemption action	to its dispatching port. The <i>src</i> operand specifies the SS of process to be scheduled. If the preempt bit in PCB of the d if its priority is higher than the currently running process, a on is initiated. Otherwise, the process is enqueued at the ty queue at the dispatching port.
	The processor m	ust be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.
	The SS of the di from the process	spatching port and the priority of the process are determined s's PCB.
Action:	perform unbloc	ck action on process specified with src;
Faults:	STANDARD	
Example:	schedprcs # process	g3 specified in g3 is scheduled
Opcode:	schedprcs 66	5 REG
See Also:	sendserv	

#### send

Mnemonic:	send	Send		
Format:	send	dst, reg SS	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	src2 reg SS

**Description:** Sends a message to a communications port. The *src2* operand specifies the SS of the message being sent and the *dst* operand specifies the SS of the port the message is to be sent to.

The processor must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.

If the port is a priority-type port, the message is handled as follows. If there are processes enqueued at the port, the message is bound to the process at the head of the highest priority queue that has queued processes. The process is then rescheduled at its dispatching port. If there are no processes enqueued at the port, the message is enqueued at the end of the queue of the priority specified in the *src1* operand. The *src1* operand can range from 0 to 31.

If the port is a FIFO port, the message is handled in the same way, except that the priority operand (*src1*) is ignored.

The message is bound to a process by writing the SS of the message in the receive message field of the process's PCB.

When the process is rescheduled, a preemption action is initiated if the preempt bit in the process's PCB is set and if the process has a higher priority than the currently running process.

Action:	$x \leftarrow atomic_read(port.lock);$
	<b>if</b> least_significant_bit( $x$ ) = 1
	then atomic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x;
	go to send;
	else atomic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x or 1;
	$\mathbf{if} \text{ port.} \mathbf{Q} = 0$
	then if port is fifo
	then enqueue src2 on port
	port.queue_tail_SS $\leftarrow$ src2;
	else enqueue src2 on port.queue(src1 mod 32);
	port.queue_tail_SS( <i>src1</i> mod 32) $\leftarrow$ <i>src2</i> ;
	$x \leftarrow atomic\_read(port.lock);$
	atomic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1;
### send

	then else not dequeu $x \leftarrow atatomic$	nempty queu ued_process tomic_read(j c_write(port.	st process from highest-priority ue; .received_message $\leftarrow src2$ ;
Faults:	STANDARD	)	
Example:	<pre># in g2 # port w # if the # messag</pre>	e with t is sent ith the	
Opcode:	send	662	REG
See Also:	condrec, rec	eive	

#### sendserv

Mnemonic:	sendserv	Send Service
Format:	sendserv	src reg SS
Description:		e current process and sends the SS of its PCB as a message to the d in <i>src</i> . If the port is a FIFO port, the process SS is queued at e queue.
	The process	or must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.
	for its specif priority port	a priority port, the process SS is queued at the end of the queue ied priority or given to the highest priority process waiting at the , if one is available. The priority of the process is determined cess Controls word in the PCB for the process.
Action:	$x \leftarrow atomic if least_sign then atom go to see else atom if port.( then then po else po x \leftarrowatomx \leftarrow$	becass suspension action; $c_read(port.lock);$ inificant_bit(x) = 1 inic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x; endserv; ic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ (x or 1); Q = 0 if port is fifo n enqueue current_process as message on port ort.queue_tail_SS $\leftarrow$ current_process_SS; enqueue current_process as message on port.queue(current_process.priority); ort.queue_tail_SS(current_process.priority) $\leftarrow$ current_process_SS; - atomic_read(port.lock); nic_write(port.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1; - atomic_read(current_process.lock); form dispatch action;

## sendserv

	<pre>else if port is fifo     then dequeue first process;     else dequeue first process from highest-priority     nonempty queue;     dequeued_process.received_message ← current_process.SS;     x ← atomic_read(port.lock);     atomic_write(port.lock) ← x xor 1;     x ← atomic_read(current_process.lock);     atomic_write(current_process.lock) ← x xor 1;     perform steps 13 of unblock action on dequeued process;     perform dispatch action; end if;</pre>
Faults:	STANDARD
Example:	sendserv r4 # process is suspended and sent # to the port with the SS # given in r4
Opcode:	sendserv 663 REG
See Also:	schedprcs

# setbit

Mnemonic:	setbit	Set Bit		
Format:	setbit	<i>bitpos</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	Copies the s bit to be set.		st with one bi	it set. The <i>bitpos</i> operand specifies the
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src$	or 2^(bitpos	mod 32);	
Faults:	STANDAR	D		
Example:		15, r9, 1 r9 with	c1 bit 15 s	set
Opcode:	setbit	583	REG	
See Also:	alterbit, ch	kbit, clrbit, n	otbit	

#### SHIFT

Mnemonic:	shlo shro shli shri shrdi	Shift Left Ordinal Shift Right Ordinal Shift Left Integer Shift Right Integer Shift Right Dividing Integ		teger
Format:	sh*	<i>len</i> , reg/lit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	<i>dst</i> reg

**Description:** Shifts *src* left or right by the number of bits indicated with the *len* operand and stores the result in *dst*. Bits shifted beyond the register boundary are discarded. For values of **len** greater than 32, the processor interpretes the value as 32.

The **shlo** instruction shift zeros in from the least-significant bit, and the **shro** instruction shifts zeros in from the most-significant bit. These instructions are equivalent to **mulo** and **divo** by the power of 2, respectively.

The **shli** instruction shifts zeros in from the least-significant bit; if the bits shifted out are not the same as the sign bit, an overflow fault is generated. If overflow occurs, the sign of the result is the same as the sign of the *src* operand.

The **shri** instruction performs a conventional arithmetic shift-right operation by shifting the sign bit in from the most-significant bit. When this instruction is used to divide an negative integer operand by the power of 2, it produces an incorrect quotient. (The discarding of the bits shifted out has the effect of rounding the result toward negative.)

The **shrdi** instruction is provided for dividing integers by the power of 2. With this instruction, 1 is added to the result if the bits shifted out are non-zero and the operand is negative, which produces the correct result for negative operands.

The **shli** and **shrdi** instructions are equivalent to **muli** and **divi** by the power of 2.

### SHIFT

Action:	shlo:	if $len < 32$ then $dst \leftarrow else dst \leftarrow 0$ end if;	
	shro:	if $len < 32$ then $dst \leftarrow$ else $dst \leftarrow 0$ end if;	
	shli:	$dst \leftarrow src*$	2^ <i>len</i> ;
	shri:	else dst ← else if len <	- src/2^len; • 0; • 32 - (src - 2^len + 1)/2^len;
	shrdi:	$dst \leftarrow src/2$	Alen;
Faults:	STANDARI	), Integer Ove	erflow
Example:	shli 13, # g6 ←	g4, r6 g4 shift	ed left 13 bits
Opcode:	shli	59C 598 59E 59B 59A	REG REG REG REG
See Also:	divi, muli, r	otate	

# signal

Mnemonic:	signal	Signal	
Format:	signal	dst reg SS	
Description:	processes e semaphore semaphore	nqueued. If count is increr being signaled port. The pr	process from the semaphore queue if there are there is no process queued at the semaphore, the nented by one. The $dst$ operand gives the SS of the d. If a process is dequeued, it is rescheduled at its ocessor must be in the supervisor mode to execute
Action:	if least_sig then ator go to s else aton if sema then x ← ato per o else s sem x ←	ignal; nic_write (ser uphore.tail ≠ 0 dequeue firs – atomic_rea mic_write (se form unbloch n dequeued p semaphore.com – atomic_rea	x) = 1 emaphore.lock) $\leftarrow x;$ maphore.lock) $\leftarrow x \text{ or } 1;$ 0 t process; d (semaphore.lock); emaphore.lock) $\leftarrow x \text{ xor } 1;$ k action process; bunt $\leftarrow$
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:			n SS given aled
Opcode:	signal	66A	REG
See Also:	condwait, v	vait	

#### sinr, sinrl

Mnemonics:	sinr sinrl	Sine Real Sine Long	Real
Format:	sinr*	<i>src</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Calculates the sine of *src* and stores the result in *dst*. The *src* value is an angle given in radians. The resulting *dst* value is in the range -1 to +1, inclusive.

For the **sinrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the sine of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

Src	Dst
-00	*
-F	-1 to $+1$
-0	-0
+0	+0
+ F	-1 to +1
+ ∞	*
NaN	NaN

Notes:

F Means finite-real number

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception

In the trigonmetic instructions, the 80960MC uses a value for  $\pi$  with a 66-bit mantissa which is 2 bits more than are available in the extended-real format. The section in Chapter 7 titled "Pi" gives this  $\pi$  value, along with some suggestions for representing this value in a program.

Action:

 $dst \leftarrow sine(src);$ 



# sinr, sinrl

Faults:	STANDARI	D		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.
	Floating Res	erved Encodi	ing	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.
	exception re		lt being r	ptions can be raised. Whether or not an aised depends on the state of its associated
	Floating Inv	alid Operation	n	The <i>src</i> operand is $\infty$ .
				One or more operands is an SNaN value.
	Floating Ine	xact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.
Example:		6, g0 of value ored in g		<b>,</b> g7
Opcode:	sinr sinrl	68C 69C	REG REG	
See Also:	cosr, tanr			

spanbit			
Mnemonic:	spanbit	Span Over	Bit
Format:	spanbit	<i>src</i> , reg/lit	dst reg
Description:	significant ( code is set to	) bit is found	by the most-significant clear bit (0 bit). If a most- , its bit number is stored in $dst$ and the condition a src value is all 1's, all 1's are stored in $dst$ and the $00_2$ .
Action:	$AC.cc \leftarrow 2$ for i in 31 if (src an then $dst \leftarrow i$	0 <b>reverse lo</b> <b>d</b> 2^i) = 0	op
Faults:	STANDAR	D	
Example:	spanbit # r9 ← # most-s	r2 r9 bit numb	ant clear bit
Opcode:	spanbit	640	REG
See Also:	scanbit		

#### sqrtr, sqrtrl

	are Root Real are Root Long Real
--	-------------------------------------

Format:	sqrtr*	src,	dst
		freg/flit	freg

**Description:** Calculates the square root of *src* and stores it in *dst*.

For the **sqrtrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the square root of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

Src	Dst
-∞	*
-F	*
-0	-0
+0	+0
+F	+ F
+ ∞	+ ∞
NaN	NaN

Notes:

- F Means finite-real number
- \* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception

With these instructions, it is not possible to raise a floating overflow or floating underflow fault unless the *src* operand is in a floating-point register and the *dst* operand is not.

Action:  $dst \leftarrow sqrt(src);$ 

# sqrtr, sqrtrl

Faults:	STANDARD	Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
	Floating Reserved Encoding	One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.			
	Floating Overflow	Result is too large for destination format.		
	Floating Underflow	Result is too small for destination format.		
	Floating Invalid Operation	The src operand is less than -0.		
		The src operand is an SNaN value.		
	Floating Inexact	Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	sqrtrl g6, fp0 # fp0 ← sqrt of g6,g7	7		
Opcode:	sqrtr 688 REG sqrtrl 698 REG			

### STORE

Mnemonic:	st	st Store			
	stob	Store Ordinal Byte			
	stos	Store Ordinal Short			
	stib	Store Integer Byte			
	stis	Store Integer Short			
	stl	Store Long			
	stt	Store Triple			
	stq	Store Quad			
Format:	st*	src,	dst		
		reg	mem		

**Description:** Copies a byte or string of bytes from a register or group of registers to memory. The *src* operand specifies a register or the first (lowest numbered) register of successive registers.

The *dst* operand specifies the address of the memory location where the byte or the first byte of a string of bytes is to be stored. The full range of addressing modes may be used in specifying *dst*. (Refer to Chapter 5 for a complete discussion of the addressing modes available with memory-type operands.)

The stob and stib, and stos and stis instructions store a byte and half word, respectively, from the low order bytes of the *src* register. The st, stl, stt, and stq instructions copy 4, 8, 12, and 16 bytes, respectively, from successive registers to memory.

For the stl instruction, src must specify an even numbered register (e.g., g0, g2, ..., g12). For the stt and stq instructions, src must specify a register number that is a multiple of four (e.g., g0, g4, g8).

Action: memory  $(dst) \leftarrow src;$ 

Faults:STANDARD, Integer Overflow Fault (stib and stis instructions only)

Example: st g2, 1256 (g6)
 # word beginning at offset
 # 1256 + (g6) ← g2

#### STORE

Opcode:	st stob stos stib stis stl stl	92 82 8A C2 CA 9A A2	MEM MEM MEM MEM MEM MEM
	stt stq	A2 B2	MEM MEM

See Also:

LOAD, MOVE

#### subc

Mnemonic:	subc	Subtract Ordinal With Carry			
Format:	subc		<i>src2</i> , reg/lit	dst reg	
Description:	a carry bit),	and stores th		t 1 of the condition code (used here as If the ordinal subtraction results in a	
				integer subtraction. Here, if integer of the condition code is set.	
				ish between ordinals and integers: it egardless of the data type.	
Action:	<ul> <li># Let the value of the condition code be xCx.</li> <li>dst ← src2 - (src1 - 1) + C;</li> <li>AC.cc ← 2#0CV#;</li> <li># C is carry from ordinal subtraction.</li> <li># V is 1 if integer subtraction would have generated</li> <li># an overflow.</li> </ul>				
Faults:	STANDAR	D			
Example:		, g6, g7 g6 - (g5 ry Bit	5 - 1)		
Opcode:	subc	5B2	REG		
See Also:	addc				

# subi, subo

Mnemonic:	subi subo	Subtract In Subtract Or		
Format:	sub*	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		dst reg
Description:	these two in		e identical.	result in <i>dst</i> . The binary results from The only difference is that <b>subi</b> can
Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2$	- src1;		
Faults:	STANDAR	D, Integer Ov	erflow ( <b>subi</b> i	nstruction only)
Example:	subi g6,	, g9, g12	2 # g12	2 ← g9 - g6
Opcode:	subi subo	593 592	REG REG	
See Also:	addi, addr,	subc, subr		

#### subr, subrl

Mnemonic:	subr subrl	Subtract Real Subtract Long Real		
Format:	subr*	<i>src1</i> , freg/flit	<i>src2</i> , freg/flit	<i>dst</i> freg

**Description:** Subtracts *src1* from *src2* and stores the result in *dst*.

For the **subrl** instruction, if the *src1*, *src2*, or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when subtracting various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

		-00	-F	-0	+ 0	+ F	+∞	NaN
	-00	*	-00	-00	-00	-00	-00	NaN
	- <b>F</b>	+∞	$\pmFor\pm0$	src2	src2	-F	-00	NaN
	-0	+∞	src1	±Ο	-0	src1	-00	NaN
Src2	+0	+∞	src1	+0	±0	src1	-00	NaN
	+ F	+∞	+ F	src2	src2	$\pm F \text{ or } \pm 0$	-00	NaN
	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	+∞	*	NaN
	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN

Src1

Notes:

F Means finite-real number.

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception.

When the difference between two operands of like sign is zero, the result is +0, except for the round toward  $-\infty$  mode, in which case the result is -0. This instruction also guarantees that +0 - (-0) = +0, and that -0 - (+0) = -0.

When one source operand is  $\infty$ , the result is  $\infty$  of the expected sign. If both source operands are  $\infty$  of the same sign, an invalid-operation exception is raised.

# subr, subrl

Action:	$dst \leftarrow src2 - src1$				
Faults:	STANDARD		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.		
	Floating Reserved Encoding		One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.		
	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associat mask bit in the arithmetic controls.				
	Floating Overflow		Result is too large for destination format.		
	Floating Underflow	,	Result is too small for destination format.		
	Floating Invalid Operation		Source operands are infinities of like sign.		
			One or more operands are an SNaN value.		
	Floating Inexact		Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.		
Example:	subrl g6, fp # fp1 ← fp0				
Opcode:	subr78Dsubrl79D	REG REG			
See Also:	subi, subc, addr				

### syncf

Mnemonic:	syncf Synchronize Faults
Format:	syncf
Description:	Waits for any faults to be generated associated with any prior uncompleted instructions.
Action:	<pre>if arithmetic_controls.nif     then;     else wait until no imprecise faults can occur         associated with any uncompleted instructions; end if;</pre>
Faults:	STANDARD
Example:	<pre>ld xyz, g6 addi r6, r8, r8 syncf and g6, 0xFFFF, g8 # the syncf instruction insures that any faults # that may occur during the execution of the # ld and addi instructions occur before the # and instruction is executed</pre>
Opcode:	syncf 66F REG
See Also:	mark, fmark

#### synld

Mnemonic:	synld	Synchronous Load	
Format:	synld	<i>src</i> , reg addr	dst reg

**Description:** Copies a word from the memory location specified with *src* into *dst* and waits for the completion of all memory operations, including those initiated prior to the **synld** instruction. When the load has been successfully completed, the condition code is set to  $010_2$ .

The primary function of this instruction is for reading IAC messages, the IAC Message Control word, or the IAC Interrupt Control Register. However, this instruction is not restricted to IAC applications. It may be used when it is important to guarantee the completion of the load operation before proceeding or to avoid a bad-access fault.

The setting of the condition code indicates whether or not the load was completed successfully. If the load operation results in a bad access condition (e.g., reading an AP-bus interconnect register), the condition code is set to  $000_2$ , but the bad-access fault is not raised.

Action:if PRCB.addressing\_mode = physical<br/>then tempa  $\leftarrow$  src;<br/>else tempa  $\leftarrow$  physical\_address (src);<br/>end if;<br/>tempa  $\leftarrow$  tempa and 16#FFFFFFC#; # force alignment<br/>if tempa = 16#FF000004#<br/>then  $dst \leftarrow$  interrupt\_control\_reg;<br/>AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#010#;<br/>else  $dst \leftarrow$  memory (tempa);<br/>if bad\_access<br/>then AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#000#;<br/>else AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#010#;<br/>else AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#010#;<br/>else AC.cc  $\leftarrow$  2#010#;<br/>end if;<br/>end if;

Faults: STANDARD

### synld

Example: lda 0xff000004, g8
# g8 ← address of interrupt-control register
synld g8, g9
# g9 ← contents of interrupt-control register
# AC.cc = 010

- Opcode: synld 615 REG
- See Also: synmov

#### synmov, synmovl, synmovq

Mnemonic:	synmov	Synchronous Move
	synmovl	Synchronous Move Long
	synmovq	Synchronous Move Quad

Format:	synmov*	dst,	Src
		reg	reg
		addr	addr

**Description:** Copies 1 (synmov), 2 (synmovl), or 4 (synmovq) words from the memory location specified with *src* to the memory location specified with *dst* and waits for the completion of all memory operations, including those initiated prior to this instruction. When the move has been successfully completed, the condition code is set to  $010_2$ .

The *src* and *dst* operands specify the address of the first (lowest address) word. These addresses should be for word boundaries (**synmov**), double-word boundaries (**synmovl**), or quad-word boundaries (**synmovq**). If not, the processor forces alignment to these boundaries.

The primary function of these instructions is for sending IAC messages. However, this instruction is not restricted to IAC applications. It may be used when it is important to guarantee the completion of the move operation before proceeding or to avoid a Bad Access Fault.

The setting of the condition code indicates whether or not the move was completed successfully. If the move operation results in a bad access condition (e.g., sending an IAC message to a non-existent agent on the AP-bus), the condition code is set to  $000_2$ , but the Bad Access Fault is not raised.

Address  $FF000010_{16}$  is used to send an IAC message to the processor upon which the instruction is executed. Refer to Chapter 11 for further information about sending internal IAC messages.

#### Action: synmov:

if PRCB.addressing\_mode = physical
 then tempa ← dst;
 # dst is used as a physical address

#### synmov, synmovl, synmovq

```
else tempa \leftarrow physical_address (dst);
  # dst translated into a physical address
end if:
tempa \leftarrow tempa and 16#FFFFFFC#;
# force alignment
if tempa = 16\#FF000004\#
  then interrupt_control_reg \leftarrow memory (src)
     AC.cc \leftarrow 2#010#;
  else temp \leftarrow memory (src);
     memory (tempa) \leftarrow temp;
     # write operations into memory (tempa) are
     # interpreted as noncacheable
     wait for completion;
     if bad_access
        then AC.cc \leftarrow 2#000#;
        else AC.cc \leftarrow 2\#010\#;
     end if:
end if:
```

synmovl:

```
if PRCB.addressing_mode = physical
   then tempa \leftarrow dst;
  # dst is used as a physical address
  else tempa \leftarrow physical_address (dst);
  # dst is translated into as a physical address
end if:
tempa \leftarrow tempa and 16#FFFFFF8#; # force alignment
temp \leftarrow memory (src);
memory (tempa) \leftarrow temp;
# write operations into memory (tempa) are interpreted
# as noncacheable
wait for completion;
if bad_access
  then AC.cc \leftarrow 2\#000\#;
   else AC.cc \leftarrow 2\#010\#;
end if:
```

#### synmov, synmovl, synmovq

#### synmovq:

	then t # $dst$ i else te # $dst$ i end if; tempa $\leftarrow$ if tempa then $\measuredangle$ use ten else m # write # as ne wai if ba then ba th	empa $\leftarrow dst$ ; s used as a p mpa $\leftarrow$ phys s translated i - tempa <b>and</b> memory (sra = 16#FF000 AC.cc $\leftarrow$ 2#0 mp as a receive emory (temp e operations oncacheable t for complet ad_access hen AC.cc $\leftarrow$ <b>Ise</b> AC.cc $\leftarrow$	hysical address nto as a phys 16#FFFFFF ); 010# 010#; wed iac mess ba) $\leftarrow$ temp; into memory tion; - 2#000#;	ess ( <i>dst</i> ); sical address F0#; # force sage;	alignment
Faults:	STANDARI	D			
Example:	# g7 ← synmovq	IAC mess	10	address	0xff000010
Opcode:	synmov synmovl synmovq	601	REG REG REG		

See Also: synId

#### tanr, tanrl

Mnemonics:	tanr	Tangent Real		
	tanrl	Tangent Long Real		

Format:	tanr*	src,	dst
		freg/flit	freg

**Description:** Calculates the tangent of *src* and stores the result in *dst*. The *src* value is an angle given in radians. The resulting *dst* value is in the range of  $-\infty$  to  $+\infty$ , inclusive; a result of  $-\infty$  or  $+\infty$  will result in a floating invalid-operation exception being signaled.

For the **tanrl** instruction, if the *src* or *dst* operand references a global or local register, this register is the first (lowest numbered) of two successive registers. Also, this register must be even numbered (e.g., g0, g2, g4).

The following table shows the results obtained when taking the tangent of various classes of numbers, assuming that neither overflow nor underflow occurs.

Src	Dst
-00	*
-F	-F to $+F$
-0	-0
+0	+0
+ F	$-\mathbf{F}$ to $+\mathbf{F}$
+ ∞	*
NaN	NaN

Notes:

F Means finite-real number

\* Indicates floating invalid-operation exception

If the source operand is a finite value, the result will be finite, unless the *src* operand is in a floating-point register and the *dst* operand is not.

#### tanr, tanrl

In the trigonmetic instructions, the 80960MC uses a value for  $\pi$  with a 66-bit mantissa which is 2 bits more than are available in the extended-real format. The section in Chapter 7 titled "Pi" gives this  $\pi$  value, along with some suggestions for representing this value in a program.

Action:	$dst \leftarrow tangent (src);$						
Faults:	STANDA	RD		Refer to the discussion of faults at the beginning of this chapter.			
	Floating Reserved Encoding			One or more operands is an unnormal- ized (including denormalized) value and the normalizing-mode bit in the arith- metic controls is set.			
	exception 1	The following floating-point exceptions can be raised. Whether or not an exception results in a fault being raised depends on the state of its associated mask bit in the arithmetic controls.					
	Floating O	verflow		Result is too large for destination format.			
	Floating U	nderflow		Result is too small for destination format.			
	Floating In	valid Operatic	on	The <i>src</i> operand is $\infty$ .			
				One or more operands are an SNaN value.			
	Floating Inexact			Result cannot be represented exactly in destination format.			
Example:	tanrl <u>c</u>	94, fp0		gent of value in g4,g5 is red in fp0			
Opcode:	tanr tanrl	68E 69E	REG REG				
See Also:	cosr, sinr						

#### TEST

Mnemonic:	teste testne testl testle testg testge testo	Test For Equal Test For Not Equal Test For Less Test For Less or Equal Test For Greater Test For Greater or Equal Test For Ordered
	testno	Test For Unordered
Format:	test*	dst
		reg

**Description:** Stores a true (1) in dst if the logical AND of the condition code and the mask-part of the opcode is not zero. Otherwise, the instruction stores a false (0) in dst.

The following table shows the condition-code mask for each instruction:

Instruction	Mask	Condition
testno	000	Unordered
testg	001	Greater
teste	010	Equal
testge	011	Greater or equal
testl	100	Less
testne	101	Not equal
testle	110	Less or equal
testo	111	Ordered

For the **testno** instruction (Unordered), a true is stored if the condition code is  $000_2$ ; otherwise a false is stored.

# TEST

Action:	For All Instructions Except testno:				
	<pre>if (mask and AC.cc) ≠ 2#000#     then dst ← 1; # dst set for true     else dst ← 0; # dst set for false end if;</pre>				
	testno:				
	if AC.cc = $2\#000\#$ then $dst \leftarrow 1$ ; $\# dst$ set for true else $dst \leftarrow 0$ ; $\# dst$ set for false end if;				
Faults:	STANDARI	)			
Example:		e AC.cc = )	= 100 - 0x00000001		
Opcode:	testle testg testge	22 25 24 26 21 23 27 20	COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR COBR		

See Also: cmpi, cmpdeci, cmpinci

#### wait

Mnemonic:	wait	Wait
Format:	wait	src reg SS
Description:	Waits on the	e semaphore. The src operand contains the SS of the semaphore.
	The process	or must be in the supervisor mode to execute this instruction.
	the count is	or checks the semaphore count and the semaphore queue tail. If non-zero and the queue tail is zero, the count is decremented by cution of the process continues.
		is zero or the queue tail is non-zero, the process is suspended and the semaphore.
	of the queue	remains queued on the semaphore until it reaches the beginning and the semaphore receives a <b>signal</b> instruction. The process is ed and rescheduled at its dispatching port.
Action:	if least_signed then atom go to we else atom if (sema then $x \leftarrow$ atom pert $x \leftarrow$ atom pert else s $x \leftarrow$	c_read (semaphore.lock); nificant_bit(x) = 1 nic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x; vait; ic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x or 1; aphore.count = 0) or (semaphore.tail $\neq$ 0) enqueue process on semaphore; - atomic_read (semaphore.lock); nic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1; form process suspension action; - atomic_read (current_process.lock); nic_write (current_process.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1; form process dispatching action; emaphore.count $\leftarrow$ semaphore.count - 1; - atomic_read (semaphore.lock); nic_write (semaphore.lock); mic_write (semaphore.lock); nic_write (semaphore.lock) $\leftarrow$ x xor 1;

### wait

Faults:	STANDARI	C						
Example:	wait g8	#	waits	on	semaphore	specified	in	g8
Opcode:	wait	669	R	EG				
See Also:	condwait, si	gnal						

#### xnor, xor

Mnemonic:	xnor xor	Exclusive Nor Exclusive Or		
Format:	xnor	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit	,	dst reg
	xor	<i>src1</i> , reg/lit		<i>dst</i> reg
Description:	Performs a bitwise XNOR ( <b>xnor</b> instruction) or XOR ( <b>xor</b> instruction) operation on the $src2$ and $src1$ values and stores the result in $dst$ .			
Action:	xnor:	$dst \leftarrow not (src2 \text{ or } src1) \text{ or} (src2 \text{ and } src1);$		
	xor:	dst ← (src2 or src1) and not (src2 and src1);		
Faults:	STANDARD			
Example:	xnor r3, r9, r12 $\#$ r12 $\leftarrow$ r9 XNOR r3 xor g1, g7, g4 $\#$ g4 $\leftarrow$ g7 XOR g1)			
Opcode:	xnor xor	589 586	REG REG	
See Also:	and, andnot, nand, nor, not, notand, notor, or, ornot			

# Appendix A Instruction and Data Structure Quick Reference

#### APPENDIX A INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE

This appendix provides quick reference for the 80960MC instructions and data structures.

#### **INSTRUCTION QUICK REFERENCE**

This section provides two lists of 80960MC instructions: one sorted by assembly-language mnemonic and another sorted by machine-level opcode. In these lists, each entry includes the assembly-language mnemonic for an instruction; the operands (given in the required order); the machine-level opcode and instruction type (i.e., REG, MEM, COBR, CTRL); and the page number in Chapter 17 where the detailed description of the instruction is given.

#### Mnemonic **Operands** Opcode Inst. Type Page addc src1, src2, dst 5B0 REG 17-6 addi src1. src2. dst 591 REG 17 - 7addo src1. src2. dst 590 REG 17-7 addr src1. src2. dst 78F REG 17-8 addrl 79F REG 17 - 8src1. src2. dst alterbit dst 58F REG 17-10 bitpos. src. 17-11 581 REG and src1. src2. dst andnot src1. src2, dst 582 REG 17-11 atadd src/dst. src, dst 612 REG 17 - 12680 REG 17-13 atanr src1. src2. dst 690 17-13 atanrl src2, dst REG src1, atmod src. mask. src/dst 610 REG 17-15 b 08 17-16 **CTRL** targ 0B17-18 bal **CTRL** targ balx dst 85 MEM 17-18 targ, bbc 30 17-20 bitpos, src, targ COBR bbs 37 COBR 17-20 bitpos, src, targ be 12 CTRL 17-22 targ bg targ 11 CTRL 17-22 bge 13 CTRL 17-22 targ bl targ 14 CTRL 17-22 ble targ 16 CTRL 17-22 bne 15 CTRL 17-22 targ bno 10 CTRL 17-22 targ CTRL 17-22 11 bo targ bx 84 17-16 MEM targ call 09 CTRL 17-25 targ 660 17-27 calls targ REG callx 86 MEM 17-29 targ chkbit 5AE REG 17-31 bitpos, src 68F 17-32 classr src REG 17-32 classrl 69F REG src clrbit dst 58C 17-34 bitpos, REG src, 17-36 cmpdeci src1. src2. dst 5A7 REG cmpdeco dst 5A6 REG 17-36 src1. src2. cmpi src1, src2 5A1 REG 17-35 cmpibe src1. src2. targ 3A COBR 17-44 cmpibg src1, src2. targ 39 COBR 17-44cmpibge src1, src2, targ 3B COBR 17-44 COBR cmpibl src1, src2. targ 3C 17-44 cmpible 3E COBR 17-44 src1, src2. targ 17-44 cmpibne src2, 3D COBR src1, targ cmpibno src1. src2, 38 COBR 17-44 targ cmpibo 3F COBR 17-44 src1, src2, targ

#### Instruction List by Assembler Mnemonic
Mnemonic	Operands			Opcode	Inst. Type	Page
cmpinci	src1,	src2,	dst	5A5	REG	17-37
cmpinco	src1,	src2,	dst	5A4	REG	17-37
cmpo	src1,	src2		5A0	REG	17-35
cmpobe	src1,	src2,	targ	32	COBR	17-44
cmpobg	src1,	src2,	targ	31	COBR	17-44
cmpobge	src1,	src2,	targ	33	COBR	17-44
cmpobl	src1,	src2,	targ	34	COBR	17-44
cmpoble	src1,	src2,	targ	36	COBR	17-44
cmpobne	src1,	src2,	targ	35	COBR	17-44
cmpor	src1,	src2		684	REG	17-38
cmporl	src1,	src2		694	REG	17-38
cmpr	src1,	src2		685	REG	17-40
cmprl	src1,	src2		695	REG	17-40
cmpstr	src1,	src2,	len	603	REG	17-42
concmpi	src1,	src2		5A3	REG	17-47
concmpo	src1,	src2		5A2	REG	17-47
condrec	src,	dst		646	REG	17-48
condwait	src			668	REG	17-50
cosr	src,	dst		68D	REG	17-52
cosrl	src,	dst		69D	REG	17-52
cpyrsre	src1,	src2,	dst	6E3	REG	17-54
cpysre	src1,	src2,	dst	6E2	REG	17-54
cvtilr	src,	dst		675	REG	17-55
cvtir	src,	dst		674	REG	17-55
cvtri	src,	dst		6C0	REG	17-56
cvtril	src,	dst		6C1	REG	17-56
cvtzri	src,	dst		6C2	REG	17-56
cvtzril	src,	dst	-	6C3	REG	17-56
daddc	src1,	src2,	dst	642	REG	17-58
divi	src1,	src2,	dst	74B	REG	17-59
divo	src1,	src2,	dst	70B	REG	17-59
divr	src1,	src2,	dst	78B	REG	17-60
divrl	src1,	src2,	dst	79B	REG	17-60 17-62
dmovt dauba	src,	dst ang?	dat	644 643	REG REG	17-62
dsubc	src1,	src2,	dst			
ediv	src1,	src2,	dst	671 670	REG	17-64 17-65
emul	src1,	src2,	dst	670 689	REG REG	17-65
expr	src,	dst dst		699 699	REG	17-66
exprl extract	src,		src/dst	651	REG	17-68
faulte	bitpos,	len,	src/usi	1A	CTRL	17-69
faultg				1A 19	CTRL	17-69
faultge				19 1 <b>B</b>	CTRL	17-69
faultl				1B 1C	CTRL	17-69
faultle				1E	CTRL	17-69
faultne				1D	CTRL	17-69
faultno				18	CTRL	17-69
iauiiiv				10	CINL	17-07

# intel INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE

Mnemonic	Operands			Opcode	Inst. Type	Page
faulto				1F	CTRL	17-69
fill	dst	value	len	617	REG	17-71
flushreg				66D	REG	17-72
fmark				66C	REG	17-73
inspacc	src		dst	613	REG	17-74
ld	src,	dst		90	MEM	17-75
lda	src	dst		8C	MEM	17-77
ldib	src,	dst		C0	MEM	17-75
ldis	src,	dst		C8	MEM	17-75
ldl	src,	dst		98	MEM	17-75
ldob	src,	dst		80	MEM	17-75
ldos	src,	dst		88	MEM	17-75
ldphy	src,	dst		614	REG	17-78
ldq	src,	dst		B0	MEM	17-75
ldt	src,	dst		A0	MEM	17-75
ldtime	dst			673	REG	17-79
logbnr	src,	dst		68A	REG	17-80
logbnrl	src,	dst		69A	REG	17-80
logepr	src1,	src2,	dst	681	REG	17-82
logeprl	src1,	src2,	dst	691	REG	17-82
logr	src1,	src2,	dst	682	REG	17-85
logrl	src1,	src2,	dst	692	REG	17-85
mark				66B	REG	17-88
modac	mask,	src,	dst	645	REG	17-89
modi	src1,	src2,	dst	749	REG	17-90
modify	mask,	src,	src/dst	650	REG	17-91
modpc	src,	mask,	src/dst	655	REG	17-92
modtc	mask,	src,	dst	654	REG	17-94
mov	src,	dst		5CC	REG	17-95
movl	src,	dst		5DC	REG	17-95
movq	src,	dst	_	5FC	REG	17-95
movqstr	dst,	src,	len	604	REG	17-96
movr	src,	dst		6C9	REG	17-97
movre	src,	dst		6E9	REG	17-97
movrl	src,	dst		6D9	REG	17-97
movstr	dst,	src,	len	605	REG	17-99
movt	src,	dst		5EC	REG	17-95
muli	src1,	src2,	dst	741	REG	17-100
mulo	src1,	src2,	dst	701	REG	17-100
mulr	src1,	src2,	dst	78C	REG	17-101
mulrl	src1,	src2,	dst	79C	REG	17-101
nand	src1,	src2,	dst	58E	REG	17-103
nor	src1,	src2,	dst	588	REG	17-104
not	src,	dst	dat	58A	REG	17-105
notand nothit	src1,	src2,	dst dat	584 580	REG	17-105
notbit	bitpos,	src,	dst dat	580	REG	17-106
notor	src1,	src2,	dst	58D	REG	17-107

Mnemonic	Operands			Opcode	Inst. Type	Page
or	src1,	src2,	dst	587	REG	17-108
ornot	src1,	src2,	dst	58B	REG	17-108
receive	src,	dst		656	REG	17-109
remi	src1,	src2,	dst	748	REG	17-111
remo	src1,	src2,	dst	708	REG	17-111
remr	src1,	src2,	dst	683	REG	17-112
remrl	src1.	src2,	dst	693	REG	17-112
resumprcs	src	,		664	REG	17-115
ret				0A	CTRL	17-116
rotate	len,	src,	dst	59D	REG	17-118
roundr	src,	dst		68B	REG	17-119
roundrl	src,	dst		69B	REG	17-119
saveprcs				666	REG	17-120
scaler	src1,	src2,	dst	677	REG	17-121
scalerl	src1,	src2,	dst	676	REG	17-121
scanbit	src,	dst		641	REG	17-123
scanbyte	src1,	src2		5AC	REG	17-124
schedprcs	src			665	REG	17-125
send	dst,	src1,	src2	662	REG	17-126
sendserv	src			663	REG	17-128
setbit	bitpos,	src,	dst	583	REG	17-130
shli	len,	src,	dst	59E	REG	17-131
shlo	len,	src,	dst	59C	REG	17-131
shrdi	len,	src,	dst	59A	REG	17-131
shri	len,	src,	dst	59B	REG	17-131
shro	len,	src,	dst	598	REG	17-131
signal	dst			66A	REG	17-133
sinr	src,	dst		68C	REG	17-134
sinrl	src,	dst		69C	REG	17-134
spanbit	src,	dst		640	REG	17-136
sqrtr	src,	dst		688	REG	17-137
sqrtrl	src,	dst		698	REG	17-137
st	src,	dst		92	MEM	17-139
stib	src,	dst		C2	MEM	17-139
stis	src,	dst		CA	MEM	17-139
stl	src,	dst		9A	MEM	17-139
stob	src,	dst		82	MEM	17-139
stos	src,	dst		8A	MEM	17-139
stq	src,	dst		B2	MEM	17-139
stt	src,	dst	_	A2	MEM	17-139
subc	src1,	src2,	dst	5B2	REG	17-141
subi	src1,	src2,	dst	593	REG	17-142
subo	src1,	src2,	dst	592	REG	17-142
subr	src1,	src2,	dst	78D	REG	17-143
subrl	src1,	src2,	dst	79D	REG	17-143
syncf				66F	REG	17-145
synld	src,	dst		615	REG	17-146

# INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE

Mnemonic	Operand	S		Opcode	Inst. Type	Page
synmov	dst,	src		600	REG	17-148
synmovl	dst,	SrC		601	REG	17-148
synmovq	dst,	Src		602	REG	17-148
tanr	src,	dst		68E	REG	17-151
tanrl	src,	dst		69E	REG	17-151
teste	dst			22	COBR	17-153
testg	dst			21	COBR	17-153
testge	dst			23	COBR	17-153
testl	dst			24	COBR	17-153
testle	dst			26	COBR	17-153
testne	dst			25	COBR	17-153
testno	dst			20	COBR	17-153
testo	dst			27	COBR	17-153
wait	src			669	REG	17-155
xnor	src1,	src2,	dst	589	REG	17-157
xor	src1,	src2,	dst	586	REG	17-157

# Instruction List by Opcode

Opcode	Inst. Type	Mnemonic	Operands	5		Page
08	CTRL	b	targ			17-16
09	CTRL	call	targ			17-25
0A	CTRL	ret	0			17-116
0B	CTRL	bal	targ			17-18
10	CTRL	bno	targ			17-22
11	CTRL	bg	targ			17-22
12	CTRL	be	targ			17-22
13	CTRL	bge	targ			17-22
14	CTRL	bl	targ			17-22
15	CTRL	bne	targ			17-22
16	CTRL	ble	targ			17-22
17	CTRL	bo	targ			17-22
18	CTRL	faultno				17-69
19	CTRL	faultg				17-69
1A 1D	CTRL	faulte				17-69
1B 1C	CTRL CTRL	faultge				17-69
1D	CTRL	faultl faultne				17-69 17-69
1D 1E	CTRL	faultle				17-69
1E 1F	CTRL	faulto				17-69
20	COBR	testno	dst			17-09
20	COBR	testg	dst			17-153
22	COBR	teste	dst			17-153
23	COBR	testge	dst			17-153
24	COBR	testl	dst			17-153
25	COBR	testne	dst			17-153
26	COBR	testle	dst			17-153
27	COBR	testo	dst			17-153
30	COBR	bbc	bitpos,	src,	targ	17-20
31	COBR	cmpobg	src1,	src2,	targ	17-16
32	COBR	cmpobe	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
33	COBR	cmpobge	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
34	COBR	cmpobl	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
35	COBR	cmpobne	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
36	COBR	cmpoble	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
37	COBR	bbs	bitpos,	src,	targ	17-20
38	COBR	cmpibno	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
39	COBR	cmpibg	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
3A	COBR	cmpibe	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
3B	COBR	cmpibge	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
3C	COBR	cmpibl	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
3D	COBR	cmpibne	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
3E 3F	COBR	cmpible	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44
ЭГ	COBR	cmpibo	src1,	src2,	targ	17-44

Opcode Inst. Type Mnemonic Operands	Page
80 MEM ldob src, dst	17-75
82 MEM stob src, dst	17-139
84 MEM bx targ	17-16
85 MEM balx targ, dst	17-18
86 MEM callx targ	17-29
88 MEM Idos src, dst	17-75
8A MEM stos src, dst	17-139
8C MEM Ida src dst	17-77
90 MEM ld src, dst	17-75
92 MEM st src, dst	17-139
98 MEM Idl src, dst	17-75
9A MEM stl src, dst	17-139
A0 MEM ldt src, dst	17-75
A2 MEM stt src, dst	17-139
B0 MEM ldq src, dst	17-75
B2 MEM stq src, dst	17-139
C0 MEM ldib src, dst	17-75
C2 MEM stib src, dst	17-139
C8 MEM Idis src, dst	17-75
CA MEM stis src, dst	17-139
580 REG <b>notbit</b> bitpos, src, dst	17-106
581 REG and src1, src2, dst	17-11
582 REG andnot src1, src2, dst	17-11
583 REG setbit bitpos, src, dst	17-130
584 REG notand src1, src2, dst	17-105
586 REG xor src1, src2, dst	17-157
587 REG or src1, src2, dst	17-108
588 REG nor src1, src2, dst	17-104
589 REG xnor src1, src2, dst	17-157
58A REG not src, dst	17-105
58B REG ornot <sup>1</sup> src1, src2, dst	17-108
58C REG clrbit bitpos, src, dst	17-34
58D REG notor src1, src2, dst	17-107
58E REG nand src1, src2, dst	17-103
58F REG alterbit bitpos, src, dst	17-10
590 REG addo src1, src2, dst	17-7
591 REG addi src1, src2, dst	17-7
592 REG subo src1, src2, dst	17-142
593 REG subi src1, src2, dst	17-142
598 REG shro len, src, dst	17-131
59A REG shrdi len, src, dst	17-131
59B REG shri len, src, dst	17-131
59C REG shlo len, src, dst	17-131
59D REG rotate len, src, dst	17-118
59E REG shli len, src, dst	17-131
5A0 REG <b>cmpo</b> src1, src2	17-35
5A1 REG <b>cmpi</b> src1, src2	17-35

Opcode	Inst. Type	Mnemonic	Operands			Page
5A2	REG	concmpo	src1,	src2		17-47
5A3	REG	concmpi	src1,	src2		17-47
5A4	REG	cmpinco	src1,	src2,	dst	17-37
5A5	REG	cmpinci	src1,	src2,	dst	17-37
5A6	REG	cmpdeco	src1,	src2,	dst	17-36
5A7	REG	cmpdeci	src1,	src2,	dst	17-36
5AC	REG	scanbyte	src1,	src2		17-124
5AE	REG	chkbit	bitpos,	src		17-31
5B0	REG	addc	src1,	src2,	dst	17-6
5B2	REG	subc	src1,	src2,	dst	17-141
5CC	REG	mov	src,	dst		17-95
5DC	REG	movl	src,	dst		17-95
5EC	REG	movt	src,	dst		17-95
5FC	REG	movq	src,	dst		17-95
600	REG	synmov	dst,	src		17-148
601	REG	synmovl	dst,	src		17-148
602	REG	synmovq	dst,	src		17-148
603	REG	cmpstr	src1,	src2,	len	17-42
604	REG	movqstr	dst,	src_,	len	17-96
605	REG	movstr	dst,	src,	len	17-99
610	REG	atmod	src,	mask,	src/dst	17-15
612	REG	atadd	src/dst,	src,	dst	17-12
613	REG	inspace	src	dst	usr	17-74
614	REG	ldphy	src,	dst		17-78
615	REG	synld	src,	dst		17-146
617	REG	fill	dst	value	len	17-71
640	REG	spanbit	src,	dst	1011	17-136
641	REG	scanbit	src,	dst		17-123
642	REG	daddc	src1,	src2,	dst	17-58
643	REG	dsubc	src1,	src2, src2,	dst	17-63
644	REG	dmovt	src,	dst	cisi	17-62
645	REG	modac	mask,	src,	dst	17-89
646	REG	condrec	src,	dst	ust	17-48
650	REG	modify	mask,	src,	src/dst	17-91
651	REG	extract	bitpos,	len,	src/dst	17-68
654	REG	modtc	mask,	src,	dst	17-94
655	REG	modpc	src,	mask,	src/dst	17-92
656	REG	receive	src,	dst	51 67 451	17-109
660	REG	calls	targ	usi		17-27
662	REG	send	dst,	src1,	src2	17-126
663	REG	sendserv	src	5, 52,	5,62	17-128
664	REG	resumprcs	src			17-115
665	REG	schedprcs	src src			17-125
666	REG	saveprcs	510			17-120
668	REG	condwait	src			17-120
669	REG	wait	src src			17-155
66A	REG	signal	dst			17-133
00/1	ALC .	orginar	usi			17-155

Opcode	Inst. Type	Mnemonic	Operands			Page
66B	REG	mark				17-88
66C	REG	fmark				17-73
66D	REG	flushreg				17-72
66F	REG	syncf				17-145
670	REG	emul	src1,	src2,	dst	17-65
671	REG	ediv	src1,	src2,	dst	17-64
673	REG	ldtime	dst			17-79
674	REG	cvtir	src,	dst		17-55
675	REG	cvtilr	src,	dst		17-55
676	REG	scalerl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-121
677	REG	scaler	src1,	src2,	dst	17-121
680	REG	atanr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-13
681	REG	logepr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-82
682	REG	logr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-85
683	REG	remr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-112
684	REG	cmpor	src1,	src2		17-38
685	REG	cmpr	src1,	src2		17-40
688	REG	sqrtr	src,	dst		17-137
689	REG	expr	src,	dst		17-66
68A	REG	logbnr	src,	dst		17-80
68B	REG	roundr	src,	dst		17-119
68C	REG	sinr	src,	dst		17-134
68D	REG	cosr	src,	dst		17-52
68E	REG	tanr	src,	dst		17-151
68F	REG	classr	SrC			17-32
690	REG	atanrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-13
691	REG	logeprl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-82
692	REG	logrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-85
693	REG	remrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-112
694	REG	cmporl	src1,	src2		17-38
695	REG	cmprl	src1,	src2		17-40
698	REG	sqrtrl	src,	dst		17-137
699	REG	exprl	src,	dst		17-66
69A	REG	logbnrl	src,	dst		17-80
69B	REG	roundrl	src,	dst		17-119
69C	REG	sinrl	src,	dst		17-134
69D	REG	cosrl	src,	dst		17-52
69E	REG	tanrl	src,	dst		17-151
69F	REG	classrl	SrC			17-32
6C0	REG	cvtri	src,	dst		17-56
6C1	REG	cvtril	src,	dst		17-56
6C2	REG	cvtzri	src,	dst		17-56
6C3	REG	cvtzril	src,	dst		17-56
6C9	REG	movr	src,	dst		17-97
6D9	REG	movrl	src,	dst	1.	17-97
6E2	REG	cpysre	src1,	src2,	dst	17-54
6E3	REG	cpyrsre	src1,	src2,	dst	17-54

# INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE

Opcode	Inst. Type	Mnemonic	Operand	s		Page
6E9	REG	movre	src,	dst	dst	17-97
701	REG	mulo	src1,	src2,		17-100
708	REG	remo	src1,	src2,	dst	17-111
70 <b>B</b>	REG	divo	src1,	src2,	dst	17-59
741	REG	muli	src1,	src2,	dst	17-100
748	REG	remi	src1,	src2,	dst	17-111
749	REG	modi	src1,	src2,	dst	17-90
74B	REG	divi	src1,	src2,	dst	17-59
78B	REG	divr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-60
78C	REG	mulr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-101
78D	REG	subr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-143
78F	REG	addr	src1,	src2,	dst	17-8
79B	REG	divrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-60
79C	REG	mulrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-101
79D	REG	subrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-143
79F	REG	addrl	src1,	src2,	dst	17-8

#### SUMMARY OF SYSTEM DATA STRUCTURES

The following pages provide a collection of the system data structures presented in this manual. They are are grouped by function. The chapter reference below each data structure shows where in this manual this data structure is described.

### **Execution Environment**



Figure A-1: Arithmetic Controls (Chapter 3)

intط



Figure A-2: Registers Available to a Single Procedure (Chapter 3)

### INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE



Figure A-3: Procedure Stack Structure (Chapter 4)

### **Memory Management**

أht



Figure A-4: SS's, Segment Table, and Segments (Chapter 8)



Figure A-5: Generic Segment Descriptor (Chapter 8)

int



Figure A-6: Region Segment Descriptors (Chapter 8)

ماn



Figure A-7: Process, Port, and Procedure Table Segment Descriptors (Chapter 8)











Figure A-10: Invalid Segment Descriptor (Chapter 8)



Figure A-11: Page Table or Page-Table Directory Entries (Chapter 8)

## **Processor Management**



Figure A-12: Processor Controls (Chapter 9)



Figure A-13: PRCB (Chapter 9)

### INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE



Figure A-14: Initial Memory Image (Chapter 9)

# Interrupt Handling



Figure A-15: Interrupt Table (Chapter 10)



Figure A-16: Interrupt Record on Stack (Chapter 10)

# أnt

IACs





### **Fault Handling**



Figure A-18: Fault Record (Chapter 12)



Figure A-19: Fault Table and Fault-Table Entries (Chapter 12)

### **Process Management**



Figure A-20: PCB (Chapter 13)

#### INSTRUCTION AND DATA STRUCTURE QUICK REFERENCE



Figure A-21: Process Controls (Chapter 13)



Figure A-22: Ports (Chapter 14)



### **Trace Control**



Figure A-23: Trace Controls (Chapter 16)

# Appendix B Machine-Level Instruction Formats

# APPENDIX B MACHINE-LEVEL INSTRUCTION FORMATS

This appendix describes the machine-level format for 80960MC instructions. Included is a description of the four instruction formats and how the addressing modes relate to these formats. Also, a table is given that shows the relationship between the machine-level instruction operands and the assembly-language-level instruction operands.

### **GENERAL INSTRUCTION FORMAT**

At the machine-level, all the 80960MC instructions are one word long and begin on word boundaries. (One group of instructions allows a second word, which contains a 32-bit displacement.)

There are four basic instruction formats: REG, COBR, CTRL, and MEM. Figure B-1 shows these formats. Each instruction has only one format, which is defined by the opcode field of the instruction.



#### Figure B-1: Instruction Formats

The following sections describe the fields in the instruction word for each format.

### **REG FORMAT**

The REG format is for operations that are performed on data contained in the global, local, and floating-point registers. The majority of the 80960MC instructions use this format.

The opcode for the REG instructions is 12 bits long (3 hexadecimal digits) and is split between bits 7 through 10 and bits 24 through 31. For example, the opcode for the **addi** instruction is  $591_{16}$ . Here,  $59_{16}$  is contained in bits 24 through 31 and  $1_{16}$  is contained in bits 7 through 10.

The *src1* and *src2* fields specify source operands for the instruction. The operands can be either registers or literals. The mode bits (m1 for *src1* and *m2* for *src2*) and the instruction type (non-floating point or floating point) determine whether an operand is a register or a literal. Table B-1 shows the relationship between the instruction type, the mode bits, and the *src1* and *src2* operands.

Inst. Type	M1 or M2	Src1 or Src2 Operand Value	Register Number	Literal Value
Non-FP	0	00000	rO	
			•	
		01111	r15	
		10000	g0	
		11111	g15	
	1	00000		0
		11111		31
FP	0	00000	rO	
		•	•	
		01111	r15	
		10000	g0	
		•	•	
		11111	g15	
	1	00000	fp0	
		00011	fp3	
		00100 to	reserved	
		01111		
		10000		+0.0
		10001 to	reserved	
		10101		
		10110		+1.0
-		10111 to	reserved	
L		11111		

Table B-1: Encoding of Src1 and Src2 Fields in REG Format

For non-floating-point instructions, if a mode bit is set to 0, the respective src1 or src2 field specifies a global or local register. If the mode bit is set to 1, the field specifies an ordinal literal in the range of 0 to 31.

For floating-point instructions, if the mode bit is set to 0, the respective src1 or src2 field specifies a global or local register (just as it does for non-floating-point instructions). If the mode bit is set to 1, the field specifies either a floating-point register or one of two real-number literals (+0.0 or +1.0). All of the other encoding when the mode bit is set to 1 are reserved. When a reserved encoding is used as a source, the processor either signals an invalid opcode fault or produces an undefined value.

The src/dst field can specify either a source operand or a destination operand or both, depending on the instruction. Here again, the mode bit (m3) and the instruction type (non-floating point or floating point) determine how this field is used. Table B-2 shows this relationship.

Inst. Type	m3	Src/Dst	Src Only	Dst Only
Non-FP	0	g0 g15 r0 r15	g0 g15 r0 r15	g0 g15 r0 r15
	1	NA	Literal	NA
FP	0	NA	NA	g0 g15 r0 r15
	1	NA	NA	fp0 fp3

 Table B-2:
 Encoding of Src/Dst Field in REG Format

Note: NA means not allowed

For non-floating-point instructions, if M3 is clear, the *src/dst* operand is a global or local register that is encoded as shown in Table B-1. If M3 is set, the *src/dst* operand can be used only as a src operand that is an ordinal literal.

For floating-point instructions, the *src/dst* field is only used to encode destination operands. Here, the encoding is the same as shown in Table B-1, except that the encodings for floating-point literals are not allowed. That is, if M3 is clear, the destination operand is a global or local register; if M3 is set, the destination operand is a floating-point register. When a reserved encoding or literal encoding is used as a destination, the processor either signals an invalid opcode fault or produces an undefined result.

### **COBR FORMAT**

The COBR format is used primarily for control-and-branch instructions. (The test-if instructions also use this format.) The opcode field for this format is 8 bits (two hexadecimal digits).

The src1 and src2 fields specify source operands for the instruction. The src1 field can specify either a global or local register or a literal as determined by mode bit m1. (The encoding of the src1 field is the same as is shown in Table B-1 for the non-floating point instructions.) The src2 field can only specify a local or global register.

The displacement field contains a signed, twos complement number that specifies a word displacement. The processor uses this value to compute the address of a target instruction that the processor goes to as the result of a comparison. The displacement field can range from  $-2^{10}$  to  $(2^{10} - 1)$ . To determine the IP of the target instruction, the processor converts the displacement value to a byte displacement (i.e., multiplies the value by 4). It then adds the resulting byte displacement to the IP of the current instruction.

#### NOTE

To allow labels or absolute addresses to be used in the assembly-language version of the COBR format instructions, the Intel 80960MC Assembler converts a *targ* (target) operand value in an assembly-language instruction into the displacement value required for the COBR format, using the following calculation:

displacement = (targ - IP)/4

For the test-if instructions, only the *src1* field is used. Here, this field specifies a destination global or local register (m1 is ignored).

#### **CTRL FORMAT**

The CTRL format is used for instructions that branch to a new IP, including the branch, branch-if, **bal**, and **call** instructions. The **return** instruction also uses this format. The opcode field for this format is 8 bits (two hexadecimal digits).

The target address for a branch is specified with the displacement field in the same manner as is done with the COBR format instructions. Here, the displacement field specifies a word displacement (also a signed, twos complement number) that can range from  $-2^{21}$  to  $2^{21}$  -1.

The processor ignores the displacement field for the **return** instruction.

#### **MEM FORMAT**

The MEM format is used for instructions that require a memory address to be computed. These instructions include the load, store, and **lda** instructions. Also, the extended versions of the branch, branch-and-link, and call instructions (**bx**, **balx**, and **callx**) uses this format.

There are two MEM formats, MEMA and MEMB. The MEMB format offers the option of including a 32-bit displacement (contained in a second word) to the instruction. Bit 12 of the first word of the instruction determines whether the format is MEMA (clear) or MEMB (set).

For both formats the opcode field is 8 bits long. The *src/dst* field specifies a global or local register. For load instructions, the *src/dst* field specifies the destination register for a word loaded into the processor from memory or, for operands larger than one word, the first of successive destination registers. For store instructions, this field specifies the register or group of registers that contain the source operand to be stored in memory.

The mode bit (or bits for the MEMB format) determine the address mode used for the instruction. Table B-3 summarizes the addressing modes for the two versions of the MEM format. The fields used in these addressing modes are described in the following sections.

Format	Mode Bit(s)	Address Computation
MEMA	0	offset
	1	(abase) + offset
MEMB	0100	(abase)
	0101	(IP) + displacement + 8
	0110	reserved
	0111	$(abase) + (index) * 2^{scale}$
	1100	displacement
	1101	(abase) + displacement
	1110	$(index) * 2^{scale} + displacement$
	1111	$(abase) + (index) * 2^{scale} + displacement$

#### Table B-3: Addressing Modes for MEM Format Instructions

Note:

1. In the address computations above, a field in parentheses (e.g., (abase)) indicates that the value in the specified register is used in the computation.

2. The use of a reserved encoding causes an invalid opcode fault to be signaled.

### **MEMA Format Addressing**

The MEMA format provides two addressing modes:

- absolute offset
- register indirect with offset

The offset field specifies an unsigned byte offset from 0 to 4096. The abase field specifies a global or local register that contains an address in memory. The address is interpreted as either a virtual address or a physical address depending on whether the processor is operating in virtual-addressing or physical-addressing mode, respectively.

For the absolute offset addressing mode (the mode bit is clear), the processor interprets the offset field as an offset from byte 0 of the current process address space. The abase field is ignored. Using this addressing mode along with the **lda** instruction allows a constant of from 0 to 4096 to be loaded into a register.

For the register indirect with offset addressing mode (the *mode* bit is set), the value in the offset field is added to the address in the abase register. Setting the offset value to zero creates a register indirect addressing mode; however, this operation can generally be carried out faster by using the MEMB version of this addressing mode.

## **MEMB Format Addressing**

The MEMB format provides the following seven addressing modes:

- absolute displacement
- register indirect
- register indirect with displacement
- register indirect with index
- register indirect with index and displacement
- index with displacement
- IP with displacement

The abase and index fields specify local or global registers, the contents of which are used in the address computation. When the index field is used in an addressing mode, the processor automatically scales the value in the index register by the amount specified in the scale field. Table B-4 gives the encoding of the scale field. The optional displacement field is contained in the word following the instruction word. The displacement is a 32-bit, signed, twos complement value.

Scale	Scale Factor (Multiplier)
000	1
001	2
010	4
011	8
100	16
101 to 111	reserved

Table B-4: Encoding of Scale Field

Note:

The use of a reserved encoding causes an invalid opcode fault to be signaled.

For the IP with displacement mode, the value of the displacement field plus 8 is added to the address of the current instruction.
# Appendix C Instruction Timing

.

#### APPENDIX C INSTRUCTION TIMING

This appendix describes the 80960MC processor's instruction pipeline and how it affects the timing of instructions. The number of clock cycles required for each instruction are also given here.

#### INTRODUCTION

The 80960 architecture defines several mechanisms for increasing processor performance through the use of pipelining and parallel execution of instructions. This appendix describes how these mechanisms have been incorporated into the design of the 80960MC processor and provides information to help programmers maximize the performance of the processor.

#### INTERNAL STRUCTURE OF THE 80960MC PROCESSOR

The 80960MC processor is composed of the following six major functional units (shown in Figure C-1):

- Memory Management Unit
- Bus Control Logic
- Instruction Fetch Unit and Instruction Cache
- Instruction Decoder
- Micro-Instruction Sequencer and ROM
- Instruction Execution Unit
- Floating Point Unit

These units function independently from one another, but in close cooperation. The functions of each of these units is described in the following sections.

#### **Memory Management Unit**

The Memory Management Unit (MMU) translates virtual addresses into physical addresses and sends the resulting address to the Bus Control Logic (BCL). When the processor is in the physical addressing mode, the MMU is effectively bypassed and addresses are passed directly to the Bus Control Logic (BCL). The MMU becomes active in address translation, in the following situations:

- When the virtual addressing mode is used.
- When the processor accesses system data structures (such as the PRCB, dispatch ports, PCBs, etc.) as part of high-level primitive operations like dispatching a process or sending a signal to a semaphore.



Figure C-1: Block Diagram of the 80960MC Processor

To streamline the address translation process, the MMU maintains a 44 entry cache on the chip called the translation lookaside buffer (TLB). This cache is used to store often-used addresses that have already been translated. The first 12 entries in the TLB hold addresses for system defined data structures such as pointers to the page tables for the four regions of the address space for the current process. The next 32 entries contain pointers to 32 pages currently mapped into the physical address space. These 32 entries point to 128K bytes of memory, which yields a cache hit ratio of 98% for typical applications.

The MMU is also able to perform type checks when referencing certain types of system data structures (such as PCBs, ports, or procedure tables), while instructions are being executed in other parts of the processor. Type checking is thus often overlapped with other processor activities.

#### **Bus Control Logic**

int

The BCL provides the interface between the processor and the external world. This interface consists of a multiplexed, burst bus, which is capable of memory-access rates of over 53 Megabytes/second (with a 20 Mhz CPU clock). The BCL accepts requests from the MMU, prioritizes them, and executes them. It attempts to maximize bus access efficiency through buffering and burst accesses.

The BCL provides a queuing mechanism that can buffer up to three outstanding requests at any given time. This mechanism, coupled with other 80960MC features (such as scoreboarding, which is discussed later), allow other units in the 80960MC to continue operation without waiting for bus requests to be completed. As a result, the execution of most memory reference instructions require little or no delay in the instruction execution pipeline.

The BCL generates burst cycles on the external bus, which allow from one to 16 bytes of data to be read or written in a single operation. The processor takes advantage of burst transfers in several ways. First, multiple-register load or store operations can be carried out in a single bus operation, using the **ldl** (load long), **ldt** (load triple), and **ldq** (load quad) instructions and the corresponding **stl** (store long) **stt** (store triple), and **stq** (store quad) instructions. Second, instructions can be fetched in 16-byte bursts, thereby reducing bus traffic for instruction fetches. Third, floating-point values of 32, 64 or 80 bits can be stored in a single bus operation. Fourth, the reading and writing of system data structures as part of process management tasks (such as switching processes or sending messages) can be carried out at very fast rates.

#### Instruction Fetch Unit and Instruction Cache

The Instruction Fetch Unit (IFU) acts as an intelligent "buffer" for the Instruction Decoder (ID). Its purpose is to present the instruction stream to the ID in the fastest and most transparent way possible. The IFU uses several mechanisms to accomplish this goal, as described in the following paragraphs.

The IFU maintains a 512 byte, direct-mapped instruction cache. This cache allows very fast access to instructions. While the other units in the processor are executing instructions, the IFU looks ahead in flow of instructions stored in the instruction cache. If a cache miss is detected (that is, an instruction that will soon be needed is not in the instruction cache), the IFU issues a prefetch request to the MMU. Upon receiving the requested instruction, the IFU updates the instruction cache. In most cases, this fetch and load will take place before the ID requires the instruction. The major exception to this rule happens on branch conditions.

The IFU works closely with the ID in handling branch conditions. The ID informs the IFU of any branch operations that are about to take place. Such notifications take place on unconditional branches and on conditional branches in which the condition code is valid. When the IFU is notified of a branch, it checks for a cache hit on the desired instruction. If the instruction is not present, the IFU begins fetching instructions for the new control path.

To further minimize delays in the instruction pipeline, the ID sends a special signal to the IFU whenever instructions are required immediately. The IFU then passes the fetched instructions to the ID directly, rather than writing them to the cache and reading them back out again. This technique is called an instruction-cache bypassing.

The instruction pointer (IP) register in the processor and the IFU maintain several instruction pointers. These pointers point to instructions at various stages of the fetch-decode-execute pipeline. If a fault is signaled from any unit, the processor uses these pointers to determine the problem and preserve the state of the processor.

#### Instruction Decoder

The ID decodes the instructions it receives from the IFU and routes them to the appropriate execution units. In doing this, it attempts to keep the computing resources of the processor working at the highest possible levels.

Instructions are decoded into the following four groups, according to how the instructions are executed:

- Simple Instructions
- Floating Point and Branch Instructions
- Complex Instructions
- Load and Store Instructions

The following paragraphs list the instructions in each of these groups and describe how the ID handles them.

#### **Simple Instructions**

The instructions in the simple-instruction group require very little decoding. These instructions include logical; comparison; shift; integer add and subtract; and ordinal add and subtract instructions. The ID decodes these instructions and passes them to the instruction execution unit (IEU), where they are executed, usually in a single clock period.

#### **Floating Point and Branch Instructions**

All floating-point instructions are executed by the floating-point unit (FPU). Often, the execution of floating-point instructions requires interaction between the FPU, ID, and Micro-Instruction Sequencer (MIS). For example, the FPU may require access to the general-purpose registers (maintained by the IEU). Here, the ID assists in supplying data to the FPU. Also, many of the floating-point instructions are executed by means of microcode. The FPU gets the microcode from the MIS.

The ID executes branch instructions directly. If the branches are unconditional, no interaction with the processor's other execution units is required.

On conditional branch instructions, the ID uses a condition code scoreboard to streamline the branching process. Scoreboarding is a mechanism by which various resources within the processor can be marked as *in use* (or *pending a result*). When one of the execution units in the processor is in the process of altering the condition code, it marks the condition code scoreboard. When the ID prepares to execute a conditional branch instruction, it checks the condition code scoreboard. If the scoreboard is marked as in use, the ID waits for the result before proceeding. If the condition code scoreboard is clear, the ID signals the IFU immediately if a change in program flow is about to happen.

Conditional fault instructions (fault-if instructions) are also executed in the ID. These operations differ from conditional branches in that they result in a fault event being generated, followed by an implicit call to the appropriate fault-handler routine. As a result of the pipelining described above, branches can often be carried out in zero clock cycles. For example, the branch instruction (**b**) shown below will execute in zero cycles, since the branch time is overlapped completely by the execution time of the floating-point instruction (**sinr**).

The branch-if instruction (be) in the following example is also executed in zero cycles:

```
cmp 0x10, r9
divi r10, r11, r10
be go_here
.
go_here:
mov g1,g2
```

Here, the comparison instruction (**cmp**) is placed early in the instruction stream, allowing the branch condition based on the value of r9 to take place while the integer divide instruction (**divi**) is being executed.

#### **Complex Instructions**

Complex instructions are those that are executed using one or more microcode instructions. Examples of such instructions are the **flushreg** (flush local registers), **mark**, and **fmark** (force mark) instructions. The ID decodes complex instructions and forwards them to the MIS unit. The MIS then sends the equivalent microcode to the IEU.

#### Load and Store Instructions

Load and store instructions are those that request data to be read from or written into memory. The ID sends these instructions directly to the MMU and BCL, which executes them.

The ID is responsible for converting the addressing information encoded in load, store, branch, and call instructions into an effective memory addresses. The circuitry that actually performs effective-address calculations resides in the IFU, but the ID oversees these operations. The generation of effective addresses is performed within a separate carry look-ahead adder, used with hardware shift logic. The ability to calculate effective addresses independently from instruction execution allows address calculation to be overlapped with computation. The time required to calculate an effective address ranges from zero to four cycles; but, for the most commonly used addressing modes, this time is less than two cycles.

Instructions that require effective addresses are executed by either the ID or the MMU and BCL, thus preserving the pipeline and eliminating delays or resource constraints on the IEU or FPU.

#### Micro-Instruction Sequencer and ROM

The MIS is a multipurpose unit designed to help in the execution of instructions that use microcode. All of the processor's microcode is stored in ROM, which is accessed through the MIS. When the ID receives a complex instruction (one that requires microcode to be executed), the MIS supplies the microcode to the IEU as described earlier in the discussion of complex instructions.

The MIS also supplies microcode for floating-point instructions; the power-up and self-test performed during processor initialization; interrupt handling; and fault handling.

The MIS is able to access parts of the processor that are not accessible to a program, such as the cached local register sets and parts of system data structures that have been cached on the chip. This capability offers two benefits. First it allows certain operations such as flushing the local registers sets to be carried out, even though software does not have direct access to these registers. Second, it enables the processor to execute complex process management operations very quickly.

#### Instruction Execution Unit

The IEU contains the Arithmetic Logic Unit (ALU) and the mechanism for register and condition-code scoreboarding. It also manages the 16 global registers and the 4 sets of 16 local registers.

The ALU performs the following functions for the IEU:

- Addition and subtraction of integers and ordinals
- Moves between registers
- Logical operations
- Bit operations
- Shifts and rotates
- Comparisons

It is capable of performing any of these operations in a single clock cycle.

The IEU can also work with integer literals in the range of 0 to +31, which are encoded in the REG instruction format. This method of encoding literals performs two functions. First, it provides a more compact instruction stream. Second, when a literal is used as an argument for an instruction, the IEU is able to execute the instruction in one less clock cycle.

The IEU handles the reading and writing of global and local registers. It also handles the allocation of local registers sets on procedure calls. The IEU allocates a new set of local registers on each procedure call. If all four register sets become allocated, the IEU automatically flushes the oldest frame to the stack on the next procedure call. The IEU also automatically retrieves any local register frame from the stack when required by a return operation. The majority of procedure calls or returns do not require the processor to flush local registers to memory. Call instructions that can be executed without flushing a register set require only 9 cycles to complete, with the corresponding return taking only 7 cycles.

The register scoreboard provides scoreboarding for the global and local registers. When one or more registers are being used in an operation, they are marked as in use. The register scoreboarding mechanism allows the processor to continue executing subsequent instructions, as long as those instructions do not require the contents of the scoreboarded registers.

A typical event that would cause scoreboarding is a load operation. For a load from memory, the contents of the affected registers are not valid until the MMU and BCL fetch the data and the registers are loaded. For example, consider the sequence:

ld	(g1)	, g0
addi	g2,	g3, g4
addi	g5,	g4 ,g6
subi	g0,	g6, g6

Here, when the MMU and BCL initiate the **ld** operation, register g0 is scoreboarded. As long as subsequent instructions do not require the contents of g0, the ID continues to dispatch instructions. For example, the two **addi** instructions above are executed while the BCL is fetching the data for g0. If g0 is not loaded by the time the **subi** instruction is ready to be executed, the IEU delays execution of the instruction until the loading of g0 has been completed.

If an operation accesses a single register, only that register is scoreboarded. However, if multiple registers are accessed (such as, with the **ldl**, **ldt**, or **ldq** instructions), registers are scoreboarded as shown in Table C-1, according to the base register of the group being accessed.

Base Register Accessed	Block of Registers Scoreboarded
g0	0-3
g2	0-7
g4	4-7
g6	0-15
g8	8-11
g10	8-15
g12	12-15
g14	0-15

Table C-1: Registers Scoreboarded According to Registers Referenced

#### **Register Bypassing**

The execution times of instructions in the IEU are dependent on the instruction flow. One feature of the IEU that can enhance processor performance is register bypassing. Register bypassing is a mechanism that allows an instruction that would ordinarily require source operands to be placed in registers to be executed without accessing one or both of the source registers. Register bypassing occurs in either of two circumstances. First, when the IEU executes an instruction with two source operands, register bypassing occurs if one or both of

the operands are literals. Second, register bypassing will also occur when the second of two source operands is the result of the previous instruction. The net result of register bypassing is the saving of one clock cycle. Most instructions that the IEU executes can be executed in a single cycle when register bypassing occurs.

#### Floating Point Unit

The FPU performs all the floating-point computations for the processor, as well as the integer multiply and divide operations. It shares the resources of the processor. For example, it can use the global and local registers as operands for floating-point operations, and it gets microcode for the execution of complex floating-point instructions from the MIS. It also manages the four 80-bit floating-point registers, which it uses for extended-precision, floating-point calculations.

To perform integer multiplication and several floating-point calculations, the FPU contains a 32-bit integer Booth-Multiplier. This multiplier performs integer multiplication operation in a variable amount of time, depending on the number of significant bits. It is used for integer multiplications and several floating-point calculations.

#### **EXECUTION TIMES FOR THE 80960 ARCHITECTURE INSTRUCTIONS**

This section describes the execution times for the instructions defined the 80960 architecture. As illustrated earlier in this appendix, the execution time for an instruction can vary, according to (1) the types of arguments used and the state of the on-chip resources and (2) how the processor's pipelining and instruction-overlapping features are used.

In the following discussion, an instruction's execution time is defined as the time between the beginning of execution of a decoded instruction and the beginning of execution for the next decoded instruction. For example, the illustration in Figure C-2 shows the execution time of a two operand instruction to be two clocks, with respect to the next instruction to be executed.



Figure C-2: Execution Time of an Instruction

Inta

#### **Logical Instructions**

The timing of the logical instructions depends on the IEU bypass mechanism described earlier in this appendix, in particular for any instruction of the form:

alu\_instruction src1, src2, dst

If src1 or src2 is a literal or if src2 is the result of the previous operation, a bypass hit occurs. Otherwise, there is no bypass hit and the instruction requires an extra clock to load the second operand. Table C-2 shows the timing of the logical instructions depending on whether or not a bypass hit occurs.

#### NOTE

In all the following tables, execution time is given in number of clock cycles.

Instruction	Normal Case Execution Time (Bypass Hit)	Worst Case Execution Time (Bypass Miss)
and	1	2
nand	1	2
or	1	2
nor	1	2
xor	1	2
xnor	1	2
andnot	1	2
notand	1	2
not	1	1
notor	1	2
ornot	1	2
rotate	1	2
shlo	1	2
shro	1	2
shli	2	3
shri	2	3
shrdi	2	3

Table C-2: Logical Instruction Timing

#### **Bit Instructions**

The execution times for the bit instructions are also dependent on whether or not a register bypass has occurred or not, as is shown in Table C-3.

Instruction	Normal Case Execution Time (Bypass Hit)	Worst Case Execution Time (Bypass Miss)
notbit	2	3
setbit	2	3
clrbit	2	3
alterbit	2	3
chkbit	2	3
extract	7	7
modify	8	8

Table C-3: Bit Instruction Timing

The execution times of the **scanbit** and **spanbit** instructions (shown in Table C-4) depend on condition code scoreboarding. If the condition code is not set by the previous instruction execution, the instruction will complete in one less clock cycle. Execution time is also dependent on the number of bits operated upon.

Table C-4: Scan and Span Bit Instruction Timing

Instruction	Best Case Execution Time	Normal Case Execution Time	Worst Case Execution Time
scanbit	8	11	14
spanbit	8	11	14

#### **Register Moves**

The timing of instructions that move data between registers is directly related to the number of words moved. One clock cycle is required to move one (as shown in Table C-5).

Instruction	<b>Execution Time</b>
mov	1
movl	2
movt	3
movq	4

#### **Integer and Ordinal Arithmetic**

The execution times for the basic add and subtract instructions (as shown in Table C-6) depend on register bypass. The normal-case results are achieved when a register bypass occurs.

Instruction	Normal Case Execution Time (Bypass Hit)	Worst Case Execution Time (Bypass Miss)
addo	1	2
addi	1	2
subo	1	2
subi	1	2
addc	1	2
subc	1	2

 Table C-6:
 Integer and Ordinal Arithmetic Instruction Timing

Table C-7 shows the execution times of the compare instructions, which also depend on whether or not a bypass hit occurs.

Instruction	Normal Case Execution Time (Bypass Hit)	Worst Case Execution Time (Bypass Miss)
стро	1	2
стрі	1	2
cmpinco	2	3
cmpdeco	2	3
cmpinci	2	3
cmpdeci	2	3
condmpo	1	2
concmpi	1	2

Table C-7: Compare Instruction Timing

#### **Multiply and Divide Instructions**

Table C-8 shows the typical instruction execution times for the multiply and divide instructions:

Instruction	Range of Significant Bits	Typical Case Execution Time
mulo	9 to 21	18
muli	9 to 21	18
divi	37	37
divo	37	37
remo	37	37
remi	37	37
modi	37	37
emul	37	24
ediv	37	40

Table C-8: Multiply and Divide Instruction Timing

Since the processor contains a Booth Multiplier with early out, the execution times on the multiply and divide instructions (shown in Table C-8) depend on the number of significant bits in the *src1* operand. For example, Table C-9 shows the execution times based on the number of significant bits in *src1*:

Src1 Significant Bits	Execution Time
2	9
4	10
8	11
32	21

Table C-9: Multiply/Divide Execution Times Based on Significant Bits

Note that the shift instructions or the add and subtract instructions may be faster than the multiply instructions in certain instances (for example, when multiplying by 3, 5, 15, etc.).

#### Branching

Branch instructions are executed directly by the ID and do not require IEU or FPU resources. Because of this, branch instructions can in most cases be programmed so that their execution is overlapped with other operations. Table C-10 lists the ranges of times for execution of branch instructions, from best (maximum overlap) to worst (no overlap). (The instructions in capital letters indicate groups of instructions that branch on condition codes, such the BRANCH IF instructions, **be**, **bg**, **bl**, etc.)

Instruction	Best Case Execution Time (CC Available)	Worst Case Execution Time (CC Not Available)
$\mathbf{b}^1$	0 to 2 (0 to 2)	
BRANCH IF	0 to 2 (0 to 1)	0 to 3 (0 to 2)
bx <sup>1</sup>	0 to 6 (0 to 6)	
BRANCH AND LINK <sup>1</sup>	2 to 8 (2 to 8)	
COMPARE AND BRANCH <sup>2</sup>		4 to 5 (3 to 4)
bbs, bbc <sup>2</sup>		4 to 5 (3 to 4)
TEST IF	0 to 3 (0 to 2)	0 to 4 (0 to 3)
FAULT IF	0 to 2 (0 to 1)	0 to 3 (0 to 2)

Table C-10:	Branch	Instruction	Timina
	Dranon	monuon	i iii iii iig

Notes:

1. Condition code is not used.

2. Condition code is set and checked as part of instruction execution.

The second column of numbers lists execution-time ranges for conditional branches in which the condition code was not set in the previous instruction, and the third column lists ranges for branches in which the condition code was set by the previous instruction. Also, the first range in each column is for the case in which the branch is taken, and the range in parentheses is for the case in which the branch is not taken.

When writing optimized code for the 80960MC processor, it is best to perform conditional tests at least two instructions before a conditional branch. This practice allows the execution times in column two to be achieved. It is also important to note that the "not taken" branch case executes in one less cycle, because there is no break in the pipeline. (Remember, instruction time is defined as the time from the start of execution of one instruction to the start of execution of the next instruction. If the pipeline is stalled, the fetch of the next instruction will be delayed one clock. This delay may or may not be hidden by the parallelism of the 80960MC processor).

#### Call/Return Instructions

As described earlier in this appendix, the 80960MC processor provides four sets of local registers. When a call instruction is executed, the processor allocates a new set of local registers to the called procedure or interrupt routine. If, when a **call** or **callx** instruction is executed, a set of local registers is available, the processor executes the instruction in 9 clock cycles.

If a set of local registers is not available, the processor flushes the oldest set of registers to the stack in memory to free up a register set. Flushing a set of local registers requires four quad-word stores to memory. Assuming zero-wait-state memory, this operation adds 24 clocks to the 9 clocks normally required to execute a call.

The **ret** (return) instruction normally requires 7 clock cycles. If the local registers being returned to have been flushed to the stack, an additional 24 clocks must be added to this execution time (with zero-wait-state memory) for the processor to reload the local registers from the stack. It is important to note that the processor only reloads the local registers when they are required, thus eliminating unnecessary memory cycles.

#### **Miscellaneous Complex Instructions**

The miscellaneous complex instructions shown in Table C-11 are carried out by the MIS. Their execution times depend on the execution state of the environment at the time of execution. The execution times given here are typical values.

Instruction	<b>Execution Time</b>
atadd	17
atmod	20
flushreg	27
mark	6 (not taken)
fmark	6 (plus fault time)
modac	10
modpc	29
modtc	18
lda	1 to 5 (typical 2)
ldphy	17
inspacc	29

Table C-11: Miscellaneous Complex Instruction Timing

#### Load Instructions

A load instruction requires the following steps:

- 1. Instruction Fetch
- 2. Decode
- 3. Compute Effective Address/Scoreboard Register(s)
- 4. Address translation through the MMU
- 5. Place Address on Bus
- 6. Wait State(s)
- 7. Receive Data on Bus
- 8. Place Data in target register

Of these steps, only steps 3 through 8 are included in the definition of execution time for an instruction. The following figures show several examples of load instruction timing depending on where the load instruction is placed in the instruction stream.

The example in Figure C-3 illustrates a load instruction where the instruction that follows requires the fetched data. Here, the pipeline is stalled while the processor waits for the load to complete. Assuming a one-clock-cycle effective-address calculation, the load will require 4 or 5 clock cycles to be executed, depending on whether or not zero-wait-state memory is used.



Figure C-3: Load Where the Next Instruction Requires the Fetched Data

Figure C-4 gives an example of a load instruction where the instruction that follows does not require the data being fetched from memory. Here, the unrelated instruction can be executed while the load is being completed. The 2 clock cycles required to execute the unrelated instruction are then overlapped with the 4 or 5 cycles required to execute the load (again depending on whether or not zero-wait-state memory is used). The load instruction thus requires a net of 1 or 2 clock cycles from the pipeline to be executed.



Figure C-4: Load Where the Next Instruction Does Not Require the Fetched Data

Finally, Figure C-5 shows an example of two load instructions being executed back-to-back. These two instructions can be executed in 5 or 6 clock cycles, as long as the number of BCL requests is limited to 3 or less (which is the size of the output request FIFO in the BCL's

control queue). Here, the second load is almost completely overlapped by the first load. Times for multiple word loads will be lengthened 1 cycle plus wait states for each additional word. If more than 3 requests become outstanding, the processor will wait until the number of outstanding load operations goes below the size of the output FIFO.



Figure C-5: Back-to-Back Load Instructions

In all of the above load operations, it is assumed that the page table entry for the page that contains the word is present in the TLB (which is normally the case). If not, the translation takes considerably longer, since the processor has to perform several memory reads to thread its way through the segment table and page tables to find the physical address of the page that contains the word to be loaded.

#### **Store Operations**

Store instructions involve a posting of an address and data request to the MMU and BCL and are usually executed in 2 to 3 clock cycles. (They do not require register scoreboarding.) If the instruction following a store instruction is another store instruction, the second store instruction is usually executed in 2 clock cycles. If the following instruction uses the IEU, the execution time is 3 clock cycles. The only case in which this time will increase is when the three-request output FIFO in the BCL becomes full. Here, if another store instruction is issued, the processor waits for the BCL to complete its operations before other instructions can execute.

#### **EXECUTION TIMES FOR THE EXTENDED INSTRUCTIONS**

The following sections give the execution times for those 80960MC instructions that are extensions to the 80960 architecture.

#### **Decimal Instructions**

Table C-12 shows the instruction times for the decimal instructions.
--

Instruction	Execution Time
dmovt	7
daddc	8
dsubc	8

Table C-12: Decimal Instruction Timing

#### **Floating-Point Instructions**

Table C-13 shows the instruction execution times for the simple floating-point instructions. Where applicable, a range and a typical observed average are given.

The instructions given in Table C-14 consist of the complex floating point instructions. Only typical instruction execution rates are given here. In many cases, the clock count can vary by 30-40%. Execution time is dependent on the operands.

It is important to note that the complex floating-point instructions are interruptible. When an interrupt is received while one of these instructions is being executed, the processor can suspend execution, service the external request, then resume execution of the instruction.

#### **Process-Management Instructions**

The MIS executes the process management instructions. The execution times for these instructions depend heavily on the state of the execution environment when execution of the instruction begins. For example, if a **signal** instruction is executed, the execution time will vary depending on whether or not there is a process waiting at the semaphore.

Table C-15 gives typical execution times for these instructions. The following assumptions are made in computing these times:

- The system is assumed to be a single-processor system
- Regions are assumed to be paged
- Faults do not occur
- When enqueuing occurs, the queue is empty
- When dequeuing occurs, one entry is on the queue
- All communication ports are assumed to be FIFO ports
- Process preemption does not occur as the result of any operation

Instruction	Execution Time
movr	5
movrl	5 to 7
movre	7 to 8
cpysre	8
cpyrsre	8
addr	9 to 17 (typical 10)
addrl	12 to 20 (typical 13)
subr	9 to 17 (typical 10)
subrl	12 to 20 (typical 13)
mulr	11 to 22 (typical 20)
mulrl	14 to 43 (typical 36)
divr	35
divrl	77
cmpr	10
cmprl	12
cmpor	10
cmporl	12
cvtri	25 to 33
cvtril	26 to 35
cvtilr	41 to 45
cvtilr	42 to 46
cvtzri	41 to 45
cvtzril	42 to 46
roundr	56 to 69
roundrl	56 to 70
scaler	28
scalerl	30
logbnr	32 to 41
logbnrl	32 to 43
classr	22 to 24
classrl	22 to 24

 Table C-13:
 Simple Floating-Point Instruction Timing

Instruction	Execution Time
sqrtrl	104
expr	300
exprl	334
logepr	400
logeprl	420
logr	438
logrl	438
remr	(67 to 75878)
remrl	(67 to 75878)
atanr	267
atanrl	350
cosr	406
cosrl	441
tanr	293
tanrl	323

#### Table C-14: Complex Floating-Point Instruction Timing

#### Table C-15: Process-Management Instruction Timing

Instruction	Execution Time
wait	47 (no blocking)
condwait	47
signal	42 (no waiting process) 137 (waiting process)
send	110 (no waiting process) 172 (waiting process)
receive	73 (message available)
condrec	69 (message not available) 92 (message available)
schedprcs	107
sendserv	185
ldtime	15
saveprcs	200
resumprcs	375



# Appendix D Initialization Code

i

#### APPENDIX D INITIALIZATION CODE

This appendix provides an example of the initialization code required to initialize the 80960MC processor.

#### OVERVIEW

The code given in this appendix demonstrates one of the methods that can be used to initialize the 80960MC processor. To use this code, the programmer must assemble (and compile, in the case of the C program modules) the individual files into object modules. These modules must then be loaded into ROM (generally EPROM). The resulting EPROM will contain the following:

- An initial memory image (as shown in Figure 9-5
- An interrupt table
- A fault table
- A system procedure table
- A set of dummy interrupt and fault handler routines
- A dispatch port
- A set of dummy system procedures
- Two small processes

The dummy interrupt and fault handler routines merely perform a return to the initialization code if an interrupt or fault occurs during initialization. Likewise, the dummy system procedures perform returns. These routines may be changed to suit the needs of a particular application.

Each process consists of a PCB and a code block. The code block is located in physical memory; however, one of the jobs of the initialization code will be to map the code into a virtual memory page.

The dispatch port has the two processes already queued to it.

When the processor's RESET pin is asserted, the processor performs its self test and comes up in physical mode. The processor then begins executing the initialization code. This code directs the processor to perform the following rudimentary steps of initialization:

- 1. Copy the PRCB from the IMI into RAM.
- 2. Copy the interrupt table into RAM.
- 3. Copy the dispatch port in RAM.
- 4. Copy page tables for the two processes in RAM.

- 5. Copy a page table for a region 3 in RAM, to be shared by the two processes.
- 6. Copy the PCBs for the two processes into RAM.
- 7. Execute a restart processor IAC, to enable the processor to load the new pointers to PRCB and interrupt table. During restart, the processor is brought up in virtual mode and in the idle state.

The PRCB, interrupt table, dispatch port, and process PCBs are copied into RAM because these data structures have fields that the processor must be able to write.

In a system where processes are created dynamically, the segment table would also have to be copied into RAM during initialization. In this example, the segment table remains in ROM. The pointers in the segment table to the page tables, PCBs, dispatch port, and system procedure table are predefined to point to the locations in RAM where these data structures are to be loaded during initialization.

Prior to restarting the processor, additional initialization steps can be carried out to configure the processor for a particular application. The following items are examples of further initialization actions that might be included in the initialization code:

- Copy the segment table into RAM (as discussed above).
- Copy new interrupt handler routines into RAM and change the pointers in the interrupt table to point to these new routines.
- Copy the fault table into RAM; copy new fault handler routines into RAM; change the pointers in the fault table to point to the new fault handler routines; and change the pointer in the PRCB to point to the relocated fault table.
- Create a new system procedure table in RAM; copy the system procedures into RAM; change the pointer in the PRCB to point to the new system procedure table.
- Create additional processes, made up of page tables for the process address space, a PCB, and code and data for the process.

Alternatively, the interrupt handler routines, fault handler routines, and system procedures can all be loaded into ROM.

Following the restart of the processor, the processor checks the dispatch port. It dispatches the first process and begins executing it. It executes the process for one time slice of 4096 ticks, then dispatches the second process. It continues to switch back and forth between the two processes in this manner.

#### EXAMPLE CODE

The example code consists of the following sixteen files:

- startup.s
- f\_table.lst
- i\_table.lst

- initial\_frame.lst
- macs.m4
- f\_handle.c
- i\_handle.c
- fix\_pte.c
- prog1.c
- prog2.c
- led.h
- pass1.ld
- pass1a.ld
- pass2.ld

The startup.s,  $f_table.lst$ ,  $i_table.lst$ , initial frame.lst, and macs.m4 files contain assembly code for the Intel 80960MC Assembler. (The files with an .lst extensions are listings from the assembler that include assembly code, such as would be included in an .s file, and the resulting object code. The macs.m4 file contains assembler code for macros.) The code in these files is used to build the initial memory image. The startup.s code builds all of the system data structures except the interrupt table and fault table, which are built by the *i\_table.lst* and  $f_table.lst$  code, respectively. The startup.s code uses the macros in macs.m4. Also, the startup.s code contains the initialization code that the processor executes following the first stage of initialization. The initial\_frame.lst code creates a stack frame for each process.

 $f_handle.c, i_handle.c, and fix_pte.c$  files contain C program modules that are also used to build the initial memory image. The  $f_handle.c$  and  $i_handle.c$  programs create the dummy fault and interrupt handler routines; the fix\_pte.c program creates the page tables.

The *progl.c*, *prog2.c*, and *led.h* files contain C program modules for the two processes.

Finally, the pass1.ld, pass1a.ld, and pass2.ld files contain instructions for the loader.

The following steps describe how to use the code in these files:

- 1. Assemble the assembly code in files *startup.s*, *f\_table.lst*, *i\_table.lst*, *initial\_frame.lst*, and *macs.m4*. (Here the ".s" files are made up of the assembly code only from the ".lst" files listed above.)
- 2. Compile the C code in files *f\_handle.c*, *i\_handle.c*, *fix\_pte.c*, *prog1.c*, and *prog2.c*. The *led.h* code is included in the *prog1.c* and *prog2.c* code.
- 3. Run the *pass1.ld* command file. The script in this file do two things. First, it links the object modules *prog1.o* and *initial\_frame.0*, using the 80960 linker. This operation creates the virtual address space for process 1, with code starting at address  $0_{16}$ , data at address  $40000000_{16}$ , the stack at address  $8000000_{16}$ , and region 3 at  $C0000000_{16}$ . Second, the interrupt and fault tables are located in region 3. (The interrupt and faults tables are not related to process 1. They are located using *pass1.ld*, merely for convenience.)

- 4. Run the *pass1a.ld* command file. The script in this file create a virtual address space for process 2, by linking the object modules *prog2.o* and *initial frame.0*.
- 5. Run the *pass2.ld* command file. The script in this file combine the two processes with the initial memory image. The script in *pass2.ld* directs the linker to locate the linked code at address 0.
- 6. Burn the output file from *pass2.ld* from the linker in an EPROM.

#### startup.s

/\* \*/ include('macs.m4') /\* ------ externals ------ \*/ .globl seg\_table\_ptr .globl prcb ptr .globl start\_ip .qlobl cs1 .globl \_p1\_region\_0\_pte .globl \_p1\_region\_1\_pte .globl \_p1\_region\_2\_pte .globl \_p2\_region\_0\_pte .globl \_p2\_region\_1\_pte .globl \_p2\_region\_2\_pte .globl region 3 pte /\* ----- core initialization block ----- \*/ .word seg\_table\_ptr .word prcb\_ptr 0 .word .word start\_ip /\* calculated at link time --.word cs1 /\* cs1 = -(segtab + PRCB + startup) .word \*/ 0 .word 0 -1 .word /\* ----- segment table offsets ----- \*/ sys proc table st,2 .set .set pl\_region\_0\_st,3 pl\_region\_1\_st,4 .set .set p1 region 2 st,5 region\_3\_st,6 .set .set d\_port\_st,7 .set segtab\_st,8 p2\_region\_0\_st,9 .set p2\_region\_1\_st,10 .set p2\_region\_2\_st,11 .set .set LPCB1\_st,12 .set LPCB2 st,13 /\* ----- region sizes ----- \*/ \*/ /\* nominal object size = (size+1) \* 64kb

.set pl region 0 size,0 .set pl region 1 size,0 .set p1\_region\_2\_size,0 p2\_region\_0\_size,0 set .set p2\_region\_1\_size,0 .set p2 region 2 size,0 region 3 size, 0x3f /\* as large as possible \*/ .set /\* ----- initial PRCB ----- \*/ /\* This PRCB (Processor Control Block) is used to bring the 80960 out of reset and into an executing state. The processor will set up all necessary tables and structures, then restart itself using the Linear PRCB (below) \*/ .align 6 prcb ptr: /\* 0 - reserved .word 0x0 /\* 4 - processor /\* 8 - reserved .word 0x0000008 4 - processor state = idle 0x0 \*/ .word /\* 0 - reserved /\* 12 - current process /\* 16 - dispatch port /\* 20 - table physical address .word 0x0 .word 0×0 \*/ word intr table /\* 24 - interrupt stack pointer \_intr\_stack .word \*/ /\* Note: G15 is the frame pointer and \*/ /\* is initialized to int\_stack at reset \*/ .word 0x0 /\* 28 - reserved \*/ 
 0x0
 /\*
 28 - reserved

 .on\_3\_st)
 /\*
 32 - region 3

 sys\_proc\_table
 /\*
 36 - system procedure table

 fault\_table
 /\*
 40 - fault table

 0x0
 /\*
 44 - reserved
 SS(region 3 st) \*/ \*/ .word .word \*/ .word 0x0 \*/ /\* 48 - reserved /\* 60 - reserved \*/ .space 12 \*/ .word 0x0 /\* 64 - idle time /\* 72 - system error fault \*/ .space 8 .word 0×0 /\* 76 - reserved .word 0x0 .space 48 /\* 80 - resumption record \*/ /\* 128 - system error fault record .space 44 \*/ /\* ----- linear PRCB ----- \*/ align 12 lprcb\_ptr: .word 0x0 0x0 /\* 0 - reserved (1<<10)|(1<<3) /\* 4 - addr. trans. on (linear) \*/ .word , state idle .word 0x0 .word 0x0 /\* 8 - reserved \*/ /\* 12 - current process \* / /\* 16 - dispatch port
/\* 20 - table physical address SS(d port st) \*/ .word intr\_table .word 0xc0000000 \*/ /\* 24 - interrupt stack pointer (beginning of region 3) \*/ /\* Note: G15 is the frame pointer and \*/ /\* is initialized to int\_stack at reset \*/ /\* 28 - reserved .word 0x0 \*/ /\* 20 = region 3
/\* 36 = system procedure table
/\* 40 = fault table phys. addr.
/\* 44 = reserved \*/ SS(region\_3\_st) \*/ SS(sys\_proc\_table\_st) .word fault\_table \*/ .word 0x0 \*/ /\* 48 - reserved .space 12 \* / /\* 60 - reserved word 0x0 \*/ /\* 64 - idle time \* / .space 8 /\* 72 - system error fault .word  $0 \times 0$ \*/ /\* 76 - reserved .word 0x0 \*/ /\* 80 - resumption record
/\* 128 - system error fault record .space 48 \*/ \*/ .space 44 .text /\* \* /\* The system procedure table will only be used if software puts the \*/ /\* processor into user mode and makes a supervisor procedure call \*/ .align 6 sys\_proc\_table: .word 0 # Reserved Ω

```
0
                               # Reserved
                                                                 4
        .word
       .word
              0
                               # Reserved
                                                                 8
       .word
.word
              sup_stack
                              # Supervisor stack pointer
                                                                12
               0
                              # Preserved
       .word
               0
                               # Preserved
       .word
               0
                               # Preserved
       .word 0
                              # Preserved
       .word 0
.word 0
                              # Preserved
                               # Preserved
       .word 0
                               # Preserved
       .word 0 # Preserved
.word proc_entry_0 # Procedure entry 0
        .word proc_entry_1 # Procedure entry 1
 sup stack:
              0
                             # Dummy stack and procedure code space
       word
proc_entry_0:
       .word 0
                           # place stack in ram if used.
proc entry 1:
        .word 0
/* ----- linear process #1 ----- */
/*
       This is the Process Control Block for Process 1. We set up the
       Queue links statically, such that the dispatch port contains
       processes ready to be executed.
               _____
                              _____
                                               _____
               | d port | ---> | PCB 1 | ---> | PCB 2 |
               -----
                              _____
                                              ------
       The PCB blocks are set with timing enabled, and a time slice
       period. When the time slice expires, the bits in the process
       control word indicate that the processor should place the expired
       task at the end of the dispatch port and dispatch another process.
*/
       .align 12
lpcb1_ptr:
       SS(LPCB2_st)
                             /* queue record
                                                               */
       SS(d_port_st)
                              /* received mess.
        .word 0
                                                               */
       SS(d port st)
                              /* disp. port SS
                                                               */
       .word 0x1000 /* resid.ti
.word (1<<1) | (1<<8) | (1<<7) | (1<<6)
                               /* resid. time slice
                                                               */
                     /* priority 0, supervisor mode timing
                              and time slice enabled
                                                               */
                              /* process notice
       .word 0
                                                               */
                              /* trace controls
       .word 0
.word 0
                                                               */
                                                               */
                              /* reserved
                              /* reserved
       .word 0
                                                               */
                              /* reserved
        .word
              0
                                                               *,
        .word 0
                              /* reserved
                                                               */
                             /* region 0 Segment selector
/* region 1 Segment Selector
       SS(p1_region_0_st)
                                                               */
       SS(p1_region_1_st)
                                                              */
                             /* region 2 Segment Selector
                                                               */
       SS(p1_region_2_st)
       .word 0x1000000
.word 0
                              /* arith. controls:inexact mask */
                              /* reserved
                                                               */
       .word 0x1000
                              /* next time slice
                                                               */
        .space 8
                              /* execution time
                                                               */
        .space 48
                              /* resumption record
                              /* global registers g0..gl4
/* initial frame pointer
        .space 60
                                                               */
        .word 0x80000000
                                                               */
                               /* floating point registers
        .space 48
                                                              */
/* ------ linear process #2 ----- */
       .align 12
lpcb2 ptr:
       SS(LPCB1 st)
                              /* queue record
                                                               */
        SS(d port st)
        .word 0
                              /* received mess.
                             /* disp. port SS
       ..__vorc_st)
.word 0x1000
                                                               */
                               /* resid. time slice
                                                               */
        .word (1<<1) | (1<<8) | (1<<7) | (1<<6)
                    /* priority 1, supervisor mode */
                              /* process notice
/* trace controls
        .word 0
                                                               */
        .word 0
                                                               */
```

0 /\* reserved \* / .word /\* reserved \* / word 0 /\* reserved \*/ .word 0 .word 0 \*/ .word /\* reserved SS(p2 region 0 st) /\* region 0 Segment selector \* / SS(p2\_region\_1\_st) SS(p2\_region\_2\_st) /\* region 1 Segment Selector \* / /\* region 2 Segment Selector \*/ /\* arith. controls:inexact mask \*/ .word 0x1000000 0 /\* reserved .word \*/ .word 0x1000 /\* next time slice \* / /\* execution time space 8 /\* resumption record .space 48 .space 60 /\* global registers g0..g14 word 0x80000000 /\* initial frame pointer \*, .space 48 /\* floating point registers \*/ /\* ----- initial segment table ----- \*/ .align 12 seg table ptr: null\_seg() /\* ste 0 No entry \*/ null\_seg() /\* ste 1 No entry \*/ small seg(sys\_proc\_table) /\* ste 2 \*/ paged\_region(pl\_region\_0\_pte,pl\_region\_0\_size) /\* ste 3 \*/
paged\_region(\_pl\_region\_1\_pte,pl\_region\_1\_size) /\* ste 4 \*/ paged\_region(\_p1\_region\_2\_pte,p1\_region\_2\_size) /\* ste 5 \*/ paged region ( region 3 pte, region 3 size) /\* ste 6 \*/ port seg(d port) /\* ste 7 \*/ /\* ste 8 \*/ simple\_region(seg\_table\_ptr) paged\_region(\_p2\_region\_0\_pte,p2\_region\_0\_size) /\* ste 9 \*/ paged\_region(\_p2\_region\_1\_pte,p2\_region\_1\_size) /\* ste 10 \*/ paged\_region(\_p2\_region\_2\_pte,p2\_region\_2\_size) /\* ste 11 \*/ /\* ste 12 \*/ small seg(lpcb1 ptr) small\_seg(lpcb2\_ptr) /\* ste 13 \*/ /\* ----- other misc. stuff ----- \*/ /\* these are the entries for the page tables in memory. We will allocate page tables for regions 0 1 and 2 for each process based on region size. This value will be provided at linkage time by the linker, and allow the second pass of the linker to create page tables of the appropriate size. Region 3 page tables contain entries for memory mapped I/O (located at physical address 0x11000000, 0x12000000, 0x13000000, 0x14000000) which will be mapped to the corresponding linear addresses \*/ .data .align 6 .space (p1\_region\_0\_size+1)\*64
.space (p1\_region\_1\_size+1)\*64
.space (1\_region\_1\_size+1)\*64 pl region 0 pte: \_pl\_region\_l\_pte: \_p1\_region\_2\_pte: .space (p1\_region\_2\_size+1)\*64 .space (p2\_region\_0\_size+1)\*64
.space (p2\_region\_1\_size+1)\*64 \_p2\_region\_0\_pte: \_p2\_region\_1\_pte: .space (p2\_region\_2\_size+1)\*64 \_p2\_region\_2\_pte: \_region\_3\_pte: .space (256\*3)\*4 page\_entry(0x11000000) /\* lin: 0xc0300000 \*/ page entry(0x12000000) /\* lin: 0xc0301000 \*/ page\_entry(0x13000000) /\* lin: 0xc0302000 \*/ page\_entry(0x14000000) /\* lin: 0xc0303000 \*/ .space (256-4)\*4 /\* the space below contains the dispatch port. This structure will be statically created in this module, to indicate a priority port with processes ready to dispatch. The entry for Priority 0 contains a head pointer to process 1 and a tail pointer to process 2. \* / .align 6 d port: .word (1<<16) /\* Priority Port \*/ .word 0x1 /\* 1 message at 0 \*/ SS(LPCB1\_st) /\* Queue Head prior 0 \*/ /\* Queue Tail prior 0 SS(LPCB2\_st) \*/ /\* Head & Tail for 1-31 .space 31\*2 proirity entries \*/ /\* The processor begins code execution here after reset. \*/

.align 8

#### **INITIALIZATION CODE**

\*/

inte			INITIA
.te	ext		,
start_ip:			
/* set	up an initi	al stack frame i	n memory
	lda	_intr_stack,fp	
	lda	-0x40(fp), pfp	
	lda	0x40(fp), sp	
	ldconst	0xd8, r3	
	st	r3, 8(pfp)	

callnext:

fp), pfp p), sp r3 r3, 8(pfp) st st fp, 4(pfp) call callnext mov 0, g14 lda 0x3b001000, g0 modac g0, q0, q0 /\* Call routine to build the Page tables in memory. The routine will insert all the appropriate bits (present, read/write privileges, etc.) into the table and then add the

\*/ callx \_fix\_ptes /\* Generate an IAC to restart the processor using the Linear PRCB  $\star/$ 

appropriate memory addresses.

```
0xff000010,g0
                  lda
                  lda
                          rstart_data,g1
                  synmovq g0,g1
         .data
         .align 2
rstart_data:
                  .word
                          0x81000000
                                            /* restart Processor IAC */
                          seg_table_ptr /* pointer to segment table */
lprcb_ptr /* pointer to new PRCB */
                  .word
                  .word
                  .word
                          0
```

#### f\_table.lst

0 0000		# 1 # <i>6</i> + - }-	l
1 0000		# 1 "f_tab	16.5
2 0000			
3 0000		.globl	fault_table
4 0000		.align	8
5 0000		fault_tabl	
6 0000	0000000	.word	_user_override; # 0
7 0004 8 0008	00000000	.word .word	0 # 4 user trace: # 8
9 000c	00000000	.word	_user_trace; # 8 0 #
10 0010	00000000	.word	user operation; #
11 0014	0000000	.word	0 #
12 0018	0000000	.word	_user_arithmetic;
13 001c	0000000	.word	0 #
14 0020 15 0024	0000000	.word	_user_real_arithmetic; 0 #
15 0024 16 0028	00000000	.word .word	U # _user_constraint;
10 0028 17 002c	00000000	.word	0 #
18 0030	00000000	.word	_user_vm;
19 0034	0000000	.word	<u> </u>
20 0038	0000000	.word	_user_protection;
21 003c	0000000	.word	0 #
22 0040	00000000	.word	_user_machine; # 0 #
23 0044 24 0048	0000000	.word .word	
24 0048 25 004c	00000000	.word	_user_structural; 0 #
26 0050	00000000	.word	_user_type;
27 0054	0000000	.word	0 #
28 0058	0000000	.word	_user_reserved_11f;
29 005c	0000000	.word	0 #
30 0060	0000000	.word	_user_process;
31 0064 32 0068	00000000	.word	0 #
32 0068 33 006c	00000000	.word .word	_user_descriptor; 0 #
34 0070	00000000	.word	user_event;
35 0074	0000000	.word	0 #
36 0078	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 15 Reserved Fault Handler
37 007c	0000000	.word	0 #
38 0080	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 16 Reserved Fault Handler
39 0084 40 0088	00000000	.word	
40 0088 41 008c	00000000	.word .word	_user_reserved # Type 17 Reserved Fault Handler
42 0090	00000000	.word	user_reserved # Type 18 Reserved Fault Handler
43 0094	0000000	.word	0 #
44 0098	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 19 Reserved Fault Handler
45 009c	0000000	.word	0 #
46 00a0	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 20 Reserved Fault Handler
47 00a4	0000000	.word	0 #
48 00a8 49 00ac	0000000 0000000	.word .word	_user_reserved # Type 21 Reserved Fault Handler
50 00b0	0000000	.word	user_reserved # Type 22 Reserved Fault Handler
51 00b4	0000000	.word	0 #
52 00b8	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 23 Reserved Fault Handler
53 00bc	0000000	.word	0 #
54 00c0	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 24 Reserved Fault Handler
55 00c4	0000000	.word	0 #
56 00c8 57 00cc	00000000	.word .word	_user_reserved # Type 25 Reserved Fault Handler
58 00d0	00000000	.word	_user_reserved  # Type 26 Reserved Fault Handler
59 00d4	0000000	.word	0 #
60 00d8	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 27 Reserved Fault Handler
61 00dc	0000000	.word	0 #
62 00e0	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 28 Reserved Fault Handler
63 00e4	0000000	.word	0 #
64 00e8 65 00ec	00000000	.word .word	_user_reserved # Type 29 Reserved Fault Handler 0 #
66 00f0	00000000	.word	user reserved # Type 30 Reserved Fault Handler
67 00f4	00000000	.word	0 #
68 00f8	0000000	.word	_user_reserved # Type 31 Reserved Fault Handler
69 00fc	0000000	.word	0 #

### i\_table.lst

0 0000	1	# 1 "i tabl	e.s"	
1 0000				
2 0000		.globl	intr_table	
3 0000		.align	6	
4 0000 5 0000		intr_table: .word		Priorities 0
6 0004		.fill		Interrupts 4 + (0->7)*4
7 0024		.word		interrupt table entry 8
8 0028	3 0000000	.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 9
9 0020		.word		interrupt table entry 10
10 0030		.word		interrupt table entry 11
11 0034 12 0038		.word .word		interrupt table entry 12 interrupt table entry 13
13 0030		.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 14
14 0040		.word		interrupt table entry 15
15 0044		.word		interrupt table entry 16
16 0048		.word		interrupt table entry 17
17 0040 18 0050		.word .word		interrupt table entry 18 interrupt table entry 19
19 0054		.word		interrupt table entry 20
20 0058		.word	user intrh; #	interrupt table entry 21
21 0050	0000000	.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 22
22 0060		.word		interrupt table entry 23
23 0064		.word		interrupt table entry 24
24 0068 25 0060		.word .word		interrupt table entry 25 interrupt table entry 26
26 0070		.word		interrupt table entry 27
27 0074		.word	user intrh; #	interrupt table entry 28
28 0078		.word		interrupt table entry 29
29 0070		.word		interrupt table entry 30
30 0080 31 0084		.word .word		interrupt table entry 31 interrupt table entry 32
32 0088		.word	user intrh; #	interrupt table entry 33
33 0080		.word		interrupt table entry 34
34 0090		.word		interrupt table entry 35
35 0094		.word		interrupt table entry 36
36 0098 37 0090		.word .word		interrupt table entry 37 interrupt table entry 38
37 0090 38 00a0		.word		interrupt table entry 39
39 00a4		.word		interrupt table entry 40
40 00a8	3 0000000	.word		interrupt table entry 41
41 00ac		.word		interrupt table entry 42
42 00b 43 00b		.word		interrupt table entry 43 interrupt table entry 44
43 00b		.word .word		interrupt table entry 44 interrupt table entry 45
45 00bo		.word		interrupt table entry 46
46 00c0	00000000 0	.word		interrupt table entry 47
47 00c		.word		interrupt table entry 48
48 00c8		.word		interrupt table entry 49
49 00cc 50 00d		.word .word		interrupt table entry 50 interrupt table entry 51
51 00d		.word		interrupt table entry 52
52 00d	8 0000000	.word		interrupt table entry 53
53 00d		.word		interrupt table entry 54
54 00e		.word		interrupt table entry 55 interrupt table entry 56
55 00e		.word .word		interrupt table entry 56 interrupt table entry 57
57 00e		.word		interrupt table entry 58
58 00f	0 0000000	.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 59
59 00f		.word		interrupt table entry 60
60 00f		.word		interrupt table entry 61
61 00f 62 010		.word .word		interrupt table entry 62 interrupt table entry 63
63 010		.word		interrupt table entry 64
64 010		.word	user intrh; #	interrupt table entry 65
65 010		.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 66
66 011		.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 67
67 011 68 011		.word .word		interrupt table entry 68 interrupt table entry 69
69 011		.word		interrupt table entry 70
70 012		.word		interrupt table entry 71
71 012		.word		interrupt table entry 72
72 012		.word		interrupt table entry 73
73 012	c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh; #	interrupt table entry 74

#### INITIALIZATION CODE

74	0130	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entrv	75
75	0134	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt		-	76
	0138	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt		-	77
	013c	00000000							78
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0140	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			79
	0144	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	70
80	0148	0000000	.word	user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	71
81	014c	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	72
82	0150	0000000	.word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	73
	0154	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			74
	0158	00000000							75
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	015c	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			76
	0160	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			77
87	0164	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	78
88	0168	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	79
89	016c	0000000	.word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	80
90	0170	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt.	table	entrv	81
	0174	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0178	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	017c								
		0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0180	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0184	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	86
96	0188	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	87
97	018c	0000000	.word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	88
98	0190	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	0194	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0198	00000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		00000000							
	019c		.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01a0	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01a4	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	Ħ	interrupt	table	entry	
104	01a8	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	95
105	01ac	0000000	.word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	96
106	01b0	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01b4	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01b8	0000000		_ucer_intrh.		interrupt			
			.word	_user_intrh;					
	01bc	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01c0	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01c4	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01c8	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	103
113	01cc	0000000	.word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	104
114	01d0	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	105
115	01d4	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01d8	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	01dc	00000000							
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01e0	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01e4	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
120	01e8	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	111
121	01ec	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	112
122	01f0	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
123	01f4	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	01f8	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	01fc	00000000		_user_intrh,					
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0200	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0204	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0208	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	020c	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
130	0210	0000000	.word	user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	121
131	0214	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0218	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	021c	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	0210	0000000							
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0224	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0228	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	022c	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	129
139	0234	0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	130
140	0238	0000000	.word	user_intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		00000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		00000000		_ucor_intrh;					
			.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	word	_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	0254	0000000	.word	user intrh;		interrupt			
		0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	139
148	0258	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	.word .word	_user_intrh; user_intrh;					
148 149	0258 025c			_user_intrh; _user_intrh; _user_intrh;	#	interrupt interrupt interrupt	table	entry	140

#### INITIALIZATION CODE

151 0264 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	arrunt	table e	ntry 142
		_user_incin,				
152 0268 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt :	table e	ntry 143
153 026c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 144
154 0270 0000000		_user_intrh;				ntry 145
	.word	_user_incin,				
155 0274 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 146
156 0278 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 147
157 027c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 148
158 0280 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 149
159 0284 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 150
160 0288 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errunt	table e	ntry 151
				-		
161 028c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 152
162 0290 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 153
163 0294 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt.	table e	ntry 154
164 0298 00000000						ntry 155
	.word	_user_intrh;				
165 029c 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 156
166 02a0 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt ·	table e	ntry 157
167 02a4 00000000	.word	user intrh;				ntry 158
168 02a8 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 159
169 02ac 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 160
170 02b0 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 161
		_uber_intri,				
171 02b4 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 162
172 02b8 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 163
173 02bc 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt ·	table e	ntry 164
174 02c0 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 165
		_user_incrii,				
175 02c4 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# 1nt	errupt	table e	ntry 166
176 02c8 0000000	.word	user intrh;	# int	errupt ·	table e	ntry 167
177 02cc 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 168
		_user_incin,				
178 02d0 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 169
179 02d4 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt .	table e	ntry 170
180 02d8 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt -	table e	ntry 171
181 02dc 0000000		waar intrh.				
	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 172
182 02e0 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 173
183 02e4 00000000	.word	user intrh;	# int	errupt ·	table e	ntry 174
184 02e8 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 175
185 02ec 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 176
186 02f0 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt .	table e	ntry 177
187 02f4 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 178
188 02f8 00000000	.word	user intrh;		-		ntry 179
	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 170
190 0300 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 171
191 0304 00000000	.word	user intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 172
192 0308 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 173
		_uocz_intern,				
193 030c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 174
194 0310 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 175
195 0314 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 176
196 0318 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 177
197 031c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 178
198 0320 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 179
199 0324 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 180
200 0328 00000000	.word	user intrh;				ntry 181
201 032c 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 182
202 0330 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 183
203 0334 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 184
204 0338 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 185
205 033c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 186
206 0340 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 187
207 0344 00000000	.word	user intrh;				ntry 188
208 0348 00000000		_user_intrh;				ntry 189
	.word					
209 034c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 190
210 0350 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 191
211 0354 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 192
212 0358 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 193
213 035c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 194
214 0360 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 195
215 0364 00000000		_user_intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 196
216 0368 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 197
		_soor_intri,				
217 036c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 198
218 0370 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 199
219 0374 00000000	.word	user intrh;	# int	errupt	table e	ntry 200
220 0378 00000000		_user_intrh;				ntry 201
		_ucon_intrit,				
221 037c 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;				ntry 202
222 0380 0000000		_user_intrh;				ntry 203
223 0384 00000000	.word	_user_intrh;	# int	cerrupt	table e	ntry 204
224 0388 00000000		_user_intrh;				ntry 205
225 038c 00000000		interh				ntry 206
	.word	_user_intrh;				
226 0390 0000000	.word	_user_intrh;		-		ntry 207
227 0394 00000000	.word	user_intrh;	# int	cerrupt	table e	ntry 208
				-		-
intط

228	0398	00000000		word	user intrh;	Ħ	interrupt	table	entry	209
229	039c	0000000		word	user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	210
230	03a0	0000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entrv	211
231	03a4	00000000		word	user intrh;		interrupt			
232	03a8	00000000		word	user intrh;		interrupt		-	
233	03ac	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
234	03b0	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
235	03b4	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03b8	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03bc	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	, #	interrupt		-	
	03c0	00000000		word	user intrh;		interrupt			
	03c4	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03c8	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03cc	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03d0	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03d4	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03d8	000000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03dc	000000000			_user_intrh;		interrupt			
	03e0	000000000		word			-		-	
	03e0 03e4	000000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03e4 03e8	00000000		word	_user_intrh;		interrupt		-	
				word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03ec	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03f0	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03f4	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	03f8	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	03fc	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0400	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	0404	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0408	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	040c	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0410	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0414	00000000	•	word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	0418	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	041c	00000000	•	word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0420	00000000	•	word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt			
	0424	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt		-	
	0428	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	245
	042c	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	246
266	0430	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	247
	0434	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	248
268	0438	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	249
269	043c	0000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	250
270	0440	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	251
271	0444	00000000		word	_user_intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	252
272	0448	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	253
273	044c	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	254
274	0450	00000000		word	user intrh;	#	interrupt	table	entry	255
							-		-	

## initial\_frame.lst

0	0000		# 1	"initi	al_frame.s"
1	0000				
2					
3	0000				
4	0000				
5	0000				
6	0000				
7	0000				
8	0000				
9	0000				
10	0000				
11	0000				
12	0000				
13	0000			.data	
14	0000	0000000		.word	0
15	0004	80000010		.word	0x80000010
16	0008	0000000		.word	0
17	000c			.space	13*4

## intط

### macs.m4

/\*

```
* some macros for building 80960 data structures.
 */
/*
 * SS(ste) ==> construct an SS.
 */
define('SS', '.word (($1)<<6) | 0x3f;')
 * simple region(addr) ==> build seg. table for simple region.
define(`simple_region', `
       .space 8
                             /* MUST be page-aligned */
        .word $1
        .word 0x00fc00a3;')
/*
 * paged region(addr,size) ==> build seg. table for paged region.
           addr ==> PTE address
size ==> encoded size
 */
define('paged_region', '
       .space 8
                          /* MUST be 64-byte aligned */
       .word $1
       .word (($2)<<18) | 0x5;')
 */
define(`bipaged_region', `
        .space 8
                      /* MUST be 64-byte aligned
        .word $1
                                                          */
        .word (($2)<<18) | 0x7;')
 * page_entry(addr) ==> build page table entry
* addr ==> physical address
             addr ==> physical address
 */
define('page_entry', '
    .word (($1) | 0xC7);')
* small_seg(addr) ==> build seg. table for a small segment
define('small seg', '
        .space 8
                              /* MUST be page-aligned */
        .word $1
        .word (0x3f<<18) | 0xfb;')
/* * port_seg(addr) ==> build seg. table for a port segment
*/
define('port_seg', '
       .word $1 /* MUST be 64-byte aligned */
.word 0x204000fb;')
/*
 * null_seg() ==> a null segment table entry
define('null_seg', '.space 16;')
```

## f\_handle.c

user_override()	{
user trace()	{
user_arithmetic()	{
user_real_arithmetic()	{
user_constraint()	{
user_vm()	{
user_protection()	{
user_structural()	{
user_type()	{
user_reserved_11f()	{
user_process()	{
user_descriptor()	{
user_event()	-{
user_reserved()	{
user_operation()	{
user_machine()	{

## i\_handle.c

user\_intrh() { }

### fix\_pte.c

```
/*
```

fix\_ptes()

```
This module "fills in" the appropriate page table entries
        with the physical address (obtained at link time) and the
        page table attributes. These tables are built by the
        processor before the processor goes into "linear mode"
*/
extern unsigned long
                        p1_reg_0_PA;
extern unsigned long
                        pl reg 1 PA;
extern unsigned long
                        p1_reg_2_PA;
extern unsigned long
                        reg_3_PA;
                        p1_reg_0_len;
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
                        pl reg 1 len;
extern unsigned long
                        p1_reg_2_len;
                        reg_3_len;
extern unsigned long
                        pl_region_0_pte;
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
                        pl_region_1_pte;
extern unsigned long
                        pl region 2 pte;
extern unsigned long
                        region_3_pte;
                        p2_reg_0_PA;
p2_reg_1_PA;
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
                        p2_reg_2_PA;
                        p2_reg_0_len;
p2_reg_1_len;
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
                        p2_reg_2_len;
extern unsigned long
extern unsigned long
                        p2 region 0 pte;
extern unsigned long
                        p2 region 1 pte;
                        p2 region 2 pte;
extern unsigned long
fix_ptes()
        unsigned long i, *pte ptr, pa addr;
        /* build page table entries for region 0 */
        pa_addr = (unsigned long) &pl_reg_0_PA;
        pte_ptr = &pl_region_0_pte;
        for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &p1_reg_0_len;i+=0x1000) {</pre>
                *pte_ptr++ = pa_addr | 0xC7;
                                               /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
                pa_addr += 0x1000;
        pa addr = (unsigned long) &p2 reg 0 PA;
        pte_ptr = &p2_region_0_pte;
```

}

### INITIALIZATION CODE

```
for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &p2_reg_0_len;i+=0x1000) {</pre>
        *pte ptr++ = pa addr | 0xC7; /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa_addr += 0x1000;
/* build page table entries for region 1 */
pa addr = (unsigned long) &p1_reg_1_PA;
pte_ptr = &pl region 1 pte;
/* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa addr += 0x1000;
pa_addr = (unsigned long) &p2_reg_1_PA;
pte ptr = &p2 region 1 pte;
for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &p2_reg_1_len;i+=0x1000) {</pre>
        *pte_ptr++ = pa_addr | 0xC7; /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa_addr += 0x1000;
/* build page table entries for region 2 */
pa_addr = (unsigned long) &p1_reg_2_PA;
pte_ptr = &pl_region_2 pte;
for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &p1_reg_2_len;i+=0x1000) {</pre>
        *pte ptr++ = pa_addr | 0xC7; /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa_addr += 0x1000;
pa addr = (unsigned long) &p2 reg 2 PA;
pa_add = (unsigned nong, gr______)

pte_ptr = &p2_region_2_pte;

for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &p2_reg_2_len;i+=0x1000) {
        *pte_ptr++ = pa_addr + 0xC7;
                                       /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa addr += 0x1000;
/* build page table entries for region 3 */
pa_addr = (unsigned long) & reg_3_PA;
pte_ptr = & region 3 pte;
for (i=0;i< (unsigned long) &reg_3_len;i+=0x1000) {
        *pte_ptr++ = pa_addr | 0xC7; /* present, user/supervisor r/w */
        pa_addr += 0x1000;
```

### prog1.c

```
#include "vled.h"
main()
{
   int i,j,k;
while (1)
       {
       VLED (Green, OFF);
       for (i=0;i<500000;i++)
       k=j;
VLED (Green, ON);
for (i=0;i<500000;i++)</pre>
          k=j;
       }
}
VLED (color, state)
int
         color, state;
£
volatile unsigned char *ptr;
const int addr = CSRC_ADDR;
unsigned char data;
          ptr = (unsigned char *) addr;
data = *ptr;
                                                 /* get current status
                                                                             */
          if (color == Green)
                   data = (data & 0xbf) | (state << 6);</pre>
          else /* Yellow */
                  data = (data \& 0x7f) | (state << 7);
          *ptr = data;
                                                /* write with LED
                                                                               */
}
```

## prog2.c

```
#include "vled.h"
main2()
{
   int i,j,k;
   while (1)
     {
      VLED2 (Yellow, OFF);
      for (i=0;i<1000000;i++)
        k=j;
      VLED2 (Yellow, ON);
     for (i=0;i<1000000;i++)</pre>
        k=j;
      }
}
VLED2 (color, state)
int
       color, state;
ł
volatile unsigned char *ptr;
const int
                       addr = CSRC ADDR;
       unsigned char data;
#ifndef SIM
       ptr = (unsigned char *) addr;
        data = *ptr;
                                        /* get current status */
        if (color == Green)
               data = (data & 0xbf) | (state << 6);
        else /* Yellow */
               data = (data & 0x7f) | (state << 7);</pre>
        *ptr = data;
                                       /* write with LED
                                                               */
#endif
}
```

# led.h

# #define ON 1 #define OFF 0 #define CSRC\_ADDR 0x14000004 #define Green 1 #define Yellow 0

## أnt

## pass1.ld

```
/* command file for "pass 1" of building a "linear" system.
 */
MEMORY
{
           l_reg_0 : org = 0x00000000, len = 0x10000
l_reg_1 : org = 0x40000000, len = 0x10000
           l_reg_1 : org = 0x40000000, len = 0x10000
l_reg_2 : org = 0x80000000, len = 0x10000
l_reg_3 : org = 0xC0000000, len = 0x10000
}
SECTIONS
{
           .text :
                      ł
                      } > 1_reg_0
           GROUP
                           .data : {}
                           .bss : {}
                      } > 1_reg_1
           vreg2 :
                      {
                           initial_frame.o
                     } > 1_reg_2
           reg3 :
                      {
                           _intr_stack = .;
                           . += 0x1000;
                                                     /* reserve one page for int. stack */
                           f handle.o
                           f_table.o
i handle.o
                      i_table.o
} > 1_reg_3
}
```

### pass1a.ld

```
/* command file for "pass 1" of building a "linear" system.
 */
MEMORY
{
          l_reg_0 : org = 0x00000000, len = 0x10000
l_reg_1 : org = 0x40000000, len = 0x10000
l_reg_2 : org = 0x80000000, len = 0x10000
}
SECTIONS
{
           .text :
                      {
} > <sup>(</sup>l_reg_0
           GROUP
                       :
                       {
                            .data : {}
                            /*.=align(0x10); */
                           .bss : {}
                      } > l_reg_1
           vreg2 :
                       {
                           initial_frame.o
                      } > 1_reg_2
}
```

## أint

### pass2.ld

```
/* command file for "pass 2" of building a ROM system
 * without RTK.
 */
MEMORY
{
           image : origin = 0x0, length = 0x400000
}
SECTIONS
1
           GROUP :
           {
                      startup :
                                            {
                                                        startup.o
                                                        fix_pte.o
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                      proc1
                                 :
                                             {
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        _p1_reg_0_PA = .;
                                                        lin1 (.text)
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        _p1_reg_1_PA = .;
lin1 (.data)
                                                        lin1 (.bss)
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        p1 reg 2 PA = .;
                                                        lin1 (vreq2)
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        _reg_3_PA = .;
                                                        lin1 (reg3)
                                                         = align(0x1000); 
                                                        _reg_3_end = .;
                                                       _pl_reg_0_len = _pl_reg_1_PA - _pl_reg_0_PA;
_pl_reg_1_len = _pl_reg_2_PA - _p1_reg_1_PA;
_pl_reg_2_len = _reg_3_PA - _p1_reg_2_PA;
_reg_3_len = _reg_3_end - _reg_3_PA;
                      proc2 :
                                             ł
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        _p2_reg_0_PA = .;
lin2 (.text)
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                         p2_reg_1_PA = .;
                                                        lin2 (.data)
                                                        lin2 (.bss)
                                                        . = align(0x1000);
                                                        _p2_reg_2_PA = .;
lin2 (vreg2)
                                                         = align(0x1000); 
                                                        _p2_reg_2_end = .;
                                                        _p2_reg_0_len = _p2_reg_1_PA - _p2_reg_0_PA;
_p2_reg_1_len = _p2_reg_2_PA - _p2_reg_1_PA;
_p2_reg_2_len = _p2_reg_2_end - _p2_reg_2_PA;
                                             }
           }
}
```

csl = -(seg\_table\_ptr + prcb\_ptr + start\_ip);

# Appendix E Considerations for Writing Portable Software

,

.

## APPENDIX E CONSIDERATIONS FOR WRITING PORTABLE SOFTWARE

This appendix describes those parts of the 80960MC design that are implementation dependent. This information is provided to facilitate the design of programs and kernel code that will be portable to other implementations of the 80960MC architecture.

### **ARCHITECTURE RESTRICTIONS**

The following aspects of the 80960MC processor's operation are deviations from the 80960MC architecture:

- 1. Only the low-order 16 bits of the next-time-slice and residual-time-slice fields in the PCB are used. The upper 16 bits are ignored.
- 2. The minimum value that can be placed in the next-time-slice field is 16 (ticks). Assigning it a value less than 16 can result in endless loops.
- 3. When the addressing mode is set to physical, the **inspacc** and **ldphy** instructions have an undefined effect.
- 4. On all bus write operations except those of the **synmov**, **synmov**, and **synmov** instructions, the processor ignores the BADAC pin (i.e., errors signaled on "normal" writes are ignored).
- 5. The check for out-of-range input values for the **expr**, **exprl**, **logepr**, and **logeprl** instructions is omitted; out-of-range inputs yield an undefined result.
- 6. Bits 5 and 6 of a machine-level instruction word in the REG and MEMB formats and bits 0 and 1 of the CTRL format are provided to designate special function registers. The 80960MC processor has no special function registers.
- 7. The 80960MC processor does not guarantee that the value in register r2 of the current frame is predictable.
- 8. (The following is a note rather than a restriction.) When using the REG-format instructions, the m bit for every operand that is not defined by the instruction should be set (e.g., code the unused operand as an arbitrary literal). This practice may reduce overhead in some situations.

### SALIGN PARAMETER

Stack frames in the 80960MC architecture are aligned on (SALIGN\*16) byte boundaries. SALIGN is an implementation defined parameter. For the 80960MC processor, SALIGN is 4. Stack frames for this processor are thus aligned on 64 byte boundaries.

The low-order N bits of the FP are ignored and always interpreted to be zero. The N parameter is defined by the following expression: SALIGN\*16 =  $2^{N}$ . Thus for the 80960MC processor, N is 6.

### **BOUNDARY ALIGNMENT**

The physical-address boundaries on which an operand begins has an impact on processor performance. For the 80960MC processor, the following is true:

- An operand that spans more word boundaries than necessary (e.g., addressing a 32-bit operand on a nonword boundary) suffers a moderate cost in speed because of extra bus and memory cycles.
- An operand that spans a 16-byte boundary suffers a large cost in speed.
- String operands that begin on nonword boundaries suffer a moderate cost in speed. String operands that begin on word boundaries but not on 16-byte boundaries suffer a small cost in speed.

### FAULTS

As described in Chapter 12, the processor enters the stopped state when a fault is detected while trying to invoke a procedure as the result of a system-error interrupt. When the processor enters the stopped state in this circumstance, it asserts the FAILURE pin.

The size of resumption records conditionally placed on the stack during faults and interrupts is 16 bytes.

### PHYSICAL MEMORY

The upper 16M bytes of physical memory are reserved for special functions of local-bus components, IACs, and the BXU.

### IACS

The mechanism for sending, receiving, and handling IAC messages is not defined in the 80960MC architecture. It is a special implementation of the 80960MC processor.

The write-external-priority flag in the processor controls is not defined in the 80960MC architecture.

~

### TIMING

A tick is defined for the 80960MC processor as 256 external clock periods (128 internal clock periods). Thus, for a 16-MHz processor (32-MHz external clock), a tick is 8 microseconds. For a 20-MHz processor, a tick is 6.4 microseconds.

The frequency at which an idle processor checks the dispatch port is implementation dependent. For the 80960MC processor, it is approximately once every tick.

The frequency at which a processor updates the idle-time field in the processor controls when it is counting idle time is also implementation dependent. For the 809BASE processor, it is approximately once every 32 ticks.

When the processor is spinning on a lock (e.g., when executing a **send**, **receive**, or **signal** instruction), the frequency at which the processor tries the lock is implementation dependent. For the 80960MC processor, it is once every tick until it is able to lock it. Provided that the execution timer and end-of-time-slice event are enabled, the process may eventually be suspended. When redispatched, it will resume execution within the instruction and the locking operation will be retried. In the other circumstances where a processor needs to lock a data structure and it is already locked, it will try the lock approximately once every tick until it can lock the data structure.

## **INTERRUPTS**

The interrupt IAC message, the interrupt pins, and the interrupt register are not defined in the 80960MC architecture. They are special implementations for the 80960MC processor.

### INITIALIZATION

The 80960MC architecture does not define an initialization mechanism. The initialization mechanism and procedures described in this manual are implementation dependent for the 80960MC processor.

### **MULTIPROCESSOR PREEMPTION**

The multiprocessor preemption mechanism described in Chapter 15 is implementation dependent for the 80960MC processor. Also, the write external priority flag and the interim priority field in the processor controls are implementation dependent.

### BREAKPOINTS

The breakpoint registers in the 80960MC processor are not defined in the 80960MC architecture.

### **IMPLEMENTATION DEPENDENT INSTRUCTIONS**

The synmov, synmovl, synmovq, and synld instructions are not defined in the 80960MC architecture and are implementation dependent in the 80960MC processor.

### LOCK PIN

The  $\overline{\text{LOCK}}$  pin is not defined in the 80960MC architecture and is implementation dependent in the 80960MC processor.

# Index

.

## INDEX

M82965 15-3, 15-5 80960 Architecture implementation dependent aspects of 80960MC processor E-1 M82965 2-7 80960 Architecture debugging and monitoring 2-5 efficient interrupt model 2-3 efficient procedure call mechanism 2-4 extensions included in 80960MC processor 2-5 fault handling capability 2-4 instruction cache 2-2 load and store model 2-2 local register sets 2-2 overview of 2-1 parallel instruction execution 2-3 register scoreboarding 2-3 simplified programming environment 2-4single clock instructions 2-3 special function registers 2-5 versatile instruction set and addressing 2-4

## Α

Abase 5-7
Absolute addressing mode, description of 5-7
AC.cc 17-3
Access status field 8-10
Accessed flag 8-10
Add instructions 6-8
Add with Carry Instruction 6-8
addc 6-8, 17-6
addi, addo 6-8, 17-7
addr, addrl 7-17, 17-8
addr, notation 17-2

Address space address space boundaries 8-25 of process 13-1 partitioning of 3-10 process state 13-1 regions 3-10 typical use of 3-10 Address translation modes addressing mode flag 9-7 changing 9-12 consequences of changing 9-12 description of 9-12 physical addressing mode 9-14 physical vs. virtual 8-1 treatment of SS's 9-12 virtual addressing mode 9-14 Addressing mode flag 8-1, 9-7 Addressing modes, used in instructions abase 5-7 absolute 5-7 description of 5-6 index 5-7 index with displacement 5-7 IP with displacement 5-7 register indirect 5-7 register indirect with index 5-7 scale factor 5-7 alterbit 6-10, 7-15, 17-10 Altered flag 8-10 and, and not 6-10, 17-11 Architecture See 80960 Architecture Arithmetic controls arithmetic status field 3-8 changing of 13-9 condition code flags 3-7 description of 3-6 fault masks and flags 12-12 floating-point flags and masks 3-9 floating-point normalizing mode flag 3-9

floating-point rounding control field 3-9 functions of bits 3-7 in PCB 3-6, 13-5 initializing 3-6 integer-overflow flag and mask 3-8 modify arithmetic controls instruction 6-17 modifying 3-6 no imprecise faults flag 3-9, 12-22 process state 13-1 saving and restoring 3-7 structure of 3-6 use with conditional receive 14-17 Arithmetic faults 12-25 Arithmetic status field 7-11, 7-17 description of 3-8 Arithmetic zero-divide fault 12-2, 12-25, 17-59, 17-64, 17-90 atadd 6-6, 6-16, 15-7, 17-12 atanr, atanrl 7-18, 17-13 atmod 6-6, 6-16, 15-7, 17-15 Atomic operations atomic instructions 6-16, 15-6 description of 8-2 Automatic process dispatching description of 14-10 dispatching action 14-10 process suspension 14-11 scheduling instructions 14-10 self dispatching 2-7 time slice scheduling 14-11

## В

b 6-13, 17-16
Bad access fault 12-2, 12-31
bal, balx 4-15, 6-13, 16-4, 17-18
bbc, bbs 6-14, 17-20
BCL C-2
be, bg, bge 6-13, 17-22
Biased exponent 7-3, 7-4

Bipaged region segment descriptor 8-12 Bits and bit fields bit addressing 5-5 bit field instructions 6-11 bit operation instructions 6-10 description of 5-4 bl, ble, bne 6-13, 17-22 bno. bo 6-13, 7-17, 17-22 Branch and link description of 4-15 instructions 6-13 Branch trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37 mode 16-4 mode flag 16-2 Breakpoint registers description of 16-5, 16-6 set breakpoint register IAC 11-20, 16-5 Breakpoint trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37, 17-73, 17-88 mode 16-5 mode flag 16-2 **Bus control logic** See BCL Bus extension unit See M82965 bx 6-13, 17-16 Byte addressing 5-5 Byte string, description of 5-4

## С

Caching of memory accesses cacheable flag 8-10 description of 8-3 call 4-8, 6-15, 12-11, 16-4, 17-25 Call instructions 6-15 Call trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37 mode 16-4

mode flag 16-2 4-10, 4-14, 6-15, 12-7, 14-18, 16-3, calls 16-5.17-27 callx 4-8, 6-15, 12-7, 12-11, 16-4, 17-29 Check bit and branch instructions 6-14 Check dispatch port flag 9-7, 10-10, 14-15 Check process notice IAC 11-5, 12-13, 12-28, 13-6, 13-9 Check-sum words 9-17, 9-21 chkbit 6-10, 7-15, 17-31 classr, classrl 7-11, 7-17, 7-20, 17-32 Clear, definition of 1-4 clrbit 6-10, 17-34 cmpdeci, cmpdeco 6-12, 17-36 **cmpi** 6-11, 17-35 cmpibe, cmpibne, cmpibl, cmpible, cmpibg, cmpibge, cmpibo, cmpibno 6-14, 17-44 **cmpinci, cmpinco** 6-12, 17-37 **cmpo** 6-11, 17-35 cmpobe, cmpobne, cmpobl, cmpoble, cmpobg, cmpobge 6-14, 17-44 cmpor, cmporl 7-17, 17-38 cmpr, cmprl 7-17, 17-40 cmpstr 6-19, 17-42 Communication port description of 14-1, 14-10, 14-15 instructions 6-18 send service instruction 14-10 structure of 14-16 use of 14-12 Compare and branch instructions 6-14 Compare and decrement instructions 6-12 Compare and increment instructions 6-12 Compare instructions 6-11 concmpi, concmpo 6-11, 17-47 Condition code See Condition code flags Condition code flags description of 3-7 in floating-point compare instructions 7-17

in floating-point operations 7-11, 7-17 in test instructions 6-14 modification of 6-17 condition code scoreboarding C-12 Conditional branch instructions 6-13 Conditional compare instructions 6-11 condrec 6-18, 10-5, 14-17, 17-48 condwait 6-18, 14-13, 17-50 Constraint faults 12-26 Constraint range fault 12-2, 12-26, 17-69 Contents fault 12-2, 12-39 Continue initialization IAC 11-6 Control fault 12-2, 12-36 cosr, cosrl 7-18, 17-52 cpyrsre, cpysre 7-15, 7-20, 17-54 Current process SS 9-8 cvtilr, cvtir 7-16, 17-55 cvtri, cvtril, cvtzri, cvtzril 7-16, 17-56

## D

daddc 6-19, 17-58 Data length conversion 6-11 Data structures, quick reference A-12 Data types bits and bit fields 5-4 byte string 5-4 decimal 5-3 description of 5-1 integer 5-1 ordinal 5-1 quad word 5-5 real 5-2 triple word 5-5 Debugging support overview of 2-5 See also Tracing Decimal Multiplication and Division 6-20 Decimals data type 5-3 instructions 6-19 multiplication and division 6-19

## intപ്ര

Denormalized numbers definition of 7-5 denormalization technique 7-5 Descriptor faults 12-27 disp, notation 17-2 Dispatch fault 12-2, 12-36 Dispatch port assigned to processor 14-10 assignment of process to 14-10 check dispatch port flag in processor controls 9-7 description of 14-1, 14-9 dispatch port SS in PRCB 9-8 high-level process management facilities 14-1 in multiprocessor systems 15-4 pointer for in PCB 13-6 structure of 14-10 divi, divo 6-8. 17-59 Divide instructions 6-8 divr. divrl 7-17, 17-60 dmovt 6-19, 17-62 dsubc 6-19, 17-63

## E

ediv 6-8, 17-64 efa, notation 17-2 emul 6-8, 17-65 Event fault event fault request flags 11-5, 12-12, 12-13, 13-6 11-5, 12-2, 12-13, event notice fault 12 - 28reference information 12-28 Exceptions, floating-point See Floating point faults Execution environment address space 3-1, 3-2 arithmetic controls 3-6 description of 3-1 floating-point registers 3-4 global registers 3-4

instruction cache 3-12 instruction pointer 3-5 local registers 3-4 process controls 3-10 trace controls 3-10 Execution mode description of 4-13 execution mode flag 4-5, 13-4 Execution time field 13-7 Exponent, in floating point format 7-2 expr, exprl 7-19, 17-66 Extended multiply and divide instructions 6-8 External IACs See IACs extract 6-11, 17-68

### F

FAILURE pin 9-21 Fault handling aborting a process 12-11 control flags and masks 12-12 fault handler, description of 12-1 fault handler, procedures 12-8 fault handling actions 12-16 fault handling methods 12-3 local calls to fault handling procedures 12-7overview of fault-handling facilities 12-1possible fault-handler actions 12-9 procedure table calls to fault handling procedures 4-11, 12-7 process and instruction resumption following a fault 12-9 returning from a fault with resumption 12-10 returning from a fault without resumption 12-11 software requirements for handling faults 12-5support for 2-4 trace fault handling 12-7, 12-8

See also Fault record. Fault table. Faults Fault record description of 12-14 location of fault record 12-15 location of resumption record 12-15 resumption record 12-15 saved instruction pointer 12-15 Fault table 12-3 description of 9-4, 12-5 fault table entries 12-7 fault table pointer in PRCB 9-9, 12-7 location of in memory 12-7 required at initialization 9-14, 9-21 Fault table pointer 9-9 Fault tolerance, support for 2-7 Fault-if instructions 12-13 faulte, faultne, faultl, faultle, faultg, faultge, faulto, faultno 6-15. 17-69 Faults arithmetic faults 12-25 constraint faults 12-26 description of 9-5 descriptor faults 12-27 event faults 12-28 event notice fault 12-13 fault instructions 6-15, 12-13 floating-point faults 12-29 generating a fault 12-13 halt 12-5 halt action 12-22 interrupts and faults 12-13 location of resumption record 12-15 machine faults 12-31 multiple fault conditions 12-5 operation faults 12-32 override fault-handling action 12-20 overrides 12-4 precise and imprecise faults 12-22 process faults 12-33 process state after a fault 12-9 protection faults 12-34 refault flag 13-5

reference information on faults 12-24 resumption record 12-15 resumption record in PCB 13-6 saved instruction pointer 12-15 saved process controls 12-19 standard faults 17-3 structural faults 12-36 system error interrupt 12-4, 12-21 trace faults 12-37 type faults 12-39 types and subtypes 12-1 virtual memory faults 12-40 See also Fault handling, Fault record FIFO port 14-7 conditional receive message mechanism 14-17 description of 14-7 lock field 14-7 queue head SS 14-7 queue state flag 14-7 queue tail SS 14-7 receive message mechanism 14-17 send message mechanism 14-16 send service mechanism 14-18 fill 6-19, 17-71 flit, notation 17-2 7-25, 7-26, 12-2, Floating inexact fault 12-29, 17-8, 17-13, 17-52, 17-55, 17-66, 17-80, 17-82, 17-85, 17-97, 17-101, 17-112, 17-119, 17-121, 17-134, 17-137, 17-143, 17-151 Floating inexact flag and mask 7-11, 7-25, 12-12 Floating invalid-operation fault 7-23, 12-2, 12-29, 17-8, 17-13, 17-38, 17-40, 17-52, 17-60, 17-66, 17-80, 17-82, 17-85, 17-97, 17-101, 17-112, 17-119, 17-121, 17-134, 17-137, 17-143, 17-151 Floating invalid-operation flag and mask 7-11, 7-20, 7-23, 12-12 Floating overflow fault 7-24, 12-2, 12-29, 17-8, 17-60, 17-82, 17-85, 17-97, 17-101, 17-112, 17-119, 17-121,

17-137, 17-143, 17-151 Floating overflow flag and mask 7-11. 7-24, 7-25, 12-12 Floating point architecture support for 7-1 arithmetic controls 7-11 arithmetic vs. non-arithmetic instructions 7 - 20basic arithmetic instructions 7-17 biased exponent 7-3, 7-4 branch instructions 7-17 classification instructions 7-17 comparison instructions 7-17 data movement instructions 7-15 data type conversion 7-15 denormalized numbers 7-5 execution environment for floating-point operations 7-7 exponent 7-2 exponential instructions 7-19 finite values 7-4 floating inexact exception 7-25 floating invalid operation exception 7-23 floating overflow exception 7-24 floating reserved encoding exception 7-22 floating underflow exception 7-24 floating zero-divide exception and fault 7-23 format of binary floating-point numbers 7-2 fraction 7-2 IEEE standard 7-1, 7-2, 7-4, 7-6, 7-7, 7-14, 7-17, 7-19 infinities 7-6 instruction format 7-14 instruction operands 7-14 integer 7-2 j-bit 7-2 literals 7-14 loading and storing floating-point values 7-9 logarithmic instructions 7-19

moving floating-point values 7-10 NaNs 7-4, 7-20 normalized number 7-3 normalizing mode 7-12 pi 7-18 real data types 5-2, 7-7 real number and NaN encodings 7-4. 7-7 real number formats 7-7 real number notation 7-3 real number system 7-1 register alignment for floating-point values 7-9 registers, storage of floating-point numbers in 7-8 rounding control 7-12 scale instructions 7-19 sign bit 7-2 significand 7-2 summary of floating-point instructions 7-15 support for 2-5 trigonometric instructions 7-18 underflow condition 7-26 zeros 7-4 See also Floating point faults Floating point faults 12-29 exceptions 7-6, 7-21 fault handling 7-21, 7-22 floating inexact exception 7-21 floating invalid operation exception 7-21 floating overflow exception 7-21 floating reserved encoding exception 7-21 floating underflow exception 7-21 floating zero divide exception 7-21 override flags 7-24, 7-25 Floating point unit See FPU Floating reserved-encoding fault 7-22. 12-2, 12-29, 17-8, 17-13, 17-38, 17-40, 17-52, 17-54, 17-60, 17-66, 17-80, 17-82, 17-85, 17-97, 17-101, 17-112, 17-119, 17-121,

17-134, 17-137, 17-143, 17-151 Floating underflow fault 7-25, 7-26, 12-2, 12-29, 17-8, 17-13, 17-60, 17-66, 17-80, 17-82, 17-85, 17-97. 17-101, 17-112, 17-119, 17-121, 17-134, 17-137, 17-143, 17-151 Floating underflow flag and mask 7-11. 7-24, 12-12 Floating zero-divide fault 7-23, 12-2, 12-29, 17-60, 17-80, 17-85. 17-112, 17-121 Floating zero-divide flag and mask 7-11. 7-23, 12-12 Floating-point flags and masks 3-9 Floating-point normalizing mode flag 3-9, 7-11.7-12 Floating-point registers description of 3-4 field in PCB 13-6 register model 3-2 storage of 3-4 See Registers Floating-point rounding control field 3-9, 7-11 Flush local registers flush local registers IAC 4-7, 11-7 instruction 6-16 Flush process IAC 11-8 Flush TLB IAC 11-9 Flush TLB page table entry IAC 11-10 Flush TLB physical page IAC 11-11 Flush TLB segment entry IAC 11-12 flushreg 4-7, 6-16, 17-72 fmark 6-16, 12-13, 16-1, 16-5, 16-6, 16-7, 17-73 Force mark instruction 6-16, 12-13 FP, frame pointer 3-4, 4-14 description of 4-3 location at initialization 9-15 FPU C-8 Fraction, in floating-point format 7-2

Frame pointer See FP Frame return status field 10-9 Freeze IAC 11-13 freg, notation 17-2

## G

Global registers description of 3-4 field in PCB 13-6 FP 3-4 process state 13-1 register alignment 3-4 register model 3-2 storage of 3-4 storing of RIP on a branch and link instruction 4-15

## I

IAC fault 12-2, 12-36 IAC pin 10-7, 15-2 IACs check process notice IAC 11-5, 12-13, 12 - 28continue initialization IAC 11-6 description of 9-4 external IAC message format 15-1 external IACs 11-1, 15-1 faults 11-3 flush local registers IAC 11-7 flush process IAC 11-8 flush TLB IAC 11-9 flush TLB page table entry IAC 11-10 flush TLB physical page IAC 11-11 flush TLB segment entry IAC 11-12 freeze IAC 11-13 IAC fault 12-2, 12-36 IAC pin 15-2 internal IACs 11-1 interrupt IAC 11-14 introduction to 11-1 mechanisms for exchanging 11-1 message, description of 11-1

message, format of 11-2 modify processor controls IAC 11-15 preempt process IAC 11-16 priorities 9-10 purge instruction cache IAC 11-17 receiving and handling external IACs 15-2receiving and handling internal IACs 11 - 3reference information 11-4 reinitialize processor IAC 11-18 restart processor IAC 11-19, 12-22 sending external IACs 15-1 sending internal IACs 11-3 set breakpoint register IAC 11-20 software requirements for handling internal IACs 11-1 stop processor IAC 11-21 store processor IAC 11-22 store system base IAC 11-23 summary of IACs 11-2 test pending interrupts IAC 11-24 warmstart processor IAC 11-25 ID C-4 Idle time idle time field 9-9, 9-13 idle timing 9-13 IEU C-6 IFU C-3 Index with displacement addressing mode, description of 5-7 Index, description of 5-7 Indivisible, description of 8-2 Inexact result, definition of 7-12 Initial memory image, description of 9-17 Initialization code example D-1 Initialization of the processor Building a memory image 9-19 check-sum words 9-17 continue initialization IAC 11-6 description of 9-15 first stage of initialization 9-21 initial memory image 9-14, 9-17

initialization code 9-19 initialization code example D-1 initialization fault table 9-21 initialization heap 9-21 initialization interrupt table 9-21 initialization page tables 9-20 initialization PCB 9-20 initialization PRCB 9-19, 9-20 initialization segment table 9-17, 9-19 initialization stack 9-21 internal PCB fields 13-8 reading the PRCB 9-9 reinitialize processor IAC 11-18 required PRCB for single-task system 9-15 restart processor IAC 11-19 second stage of initialization 9-23 segment table pointer 9-3 self test 9-21 typical initialization scenario 9-21 warmstart processor IAC 11-25 Initialization segment table description of 9-17 inspace 6-20, 17-74 Inspect access instruction 6-20 Instruction cache description of 2-2, 3-12, C-3 purge instruction cache IAC 11-17 Instruction decoder See ID Instruction execution unit See IEU Instruction fetch unit See IFU Instruction list 9-2 Instruction pointer See IP Instruction reference introduction to 17-1 Notation 17-1 Instruction suspension description of 9-13 resumption record field in PRCB 9-9

Instruction timing bit instructions C-10 branch instructions C-12 call and return instructions C-13 decimal instructions C-17 description of C-8 floating point instructions C-17 integer and ordinal arithmetic instructions C-11 load instructions C-14 logical instructions C-9 miscellaneous complex instructions C-14 multiply and divide instructions C-12 register move instructions C-10 store instructions C-16 Instruction trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37 mode 16-4 mode flag 16-2 Instructions arithmetic 6-6 assembly-language format 6-1 bit and bit field 6-10 branch 6-12 call and return 6-15 comparison 6-11 data length conversion 6-11 data movement 6-4 debug 6-16 decimal 6-19 detailed reference information 17-1 extended arithmetic 6-8 fault instructions 6-15 instruction groups 6-2 logical 6-10 machine-level instruction formats B-1 process management 6-17 processor management 6-16 quick reference A-1 string 6-19 summary of 80960MC instruction-set extensions 6-3

summary of 80960 instructions 6-2 See also Machine-level formats INTO, INT1, INT2, INT3 pins 10-6, 10-7 INTA pin 10-7 Integer overflow description of 3-8 fault 12-2, 12-9, 12-25, 17-7, 17-56, 17-59, 17-100, 17-111, 17-131, 17-139, 17-142 flag 3-8, 7-11, 12-12, 12-25 mask 3-8, 7-11, 12-12, 12-25 Integer, description of 5-1 Interagent communication messages See IACs Interim priority field 9-8, 15-5 Internal state field, of process controls 12 - 11Interprocess communication instructions 6-18 support for 2-7 See Messages passing Interrupt control register addresses mapped to in physical memory 10-7description of 10-6 uses of 10-6 Interrupt handler used for initialization 9-22 Interrupt handling interrupt control register 10-6 interrupt handler procedures 10-4 interrupt stack 10-5 interrupt table 10-2 interrupt table sharing 10-4 location of interrupt handler procedures 10-4restrictions on interrupt handler 10-5 software requirements for interrupt handling 10-1 support for 2-3 Interrupt IAC 10-13, 11-14 description of 10-7

Interrupt pins description of 10-6 uses of 10-6 Interrupt record description of 10-10 Interrupt stack description of 9-3, 10-5 interrupt stack pointer in PRCB 9-8 required at initialization 9-14 Interrupt stack pointer 9-8 Interrupt table description of 9-3, 10-2 interrupt table pointer in PRCB 9-8 interrupt table sharing 10-4 required at initialization 9-14 Interrupt table pointer 9-8 Interrupt vectors, description of 10-2 Interrupts description of 9-4 idle state interrupt 10-10 idle-interrupted state interrupt 10-12 in a multiprocessor system 15-7 interrupt control register 15-2 interrupt handling actions 10-8 interrupt IAC 10-7, 11-14 interrupt pins 10-6 interrupt record 10-10 overview of interrupt facilities 10-1 pending interrupts 10-12 priorities 9-10, 10-2 process executing state interrupt 10-9 process interrupt state interrupt 10-10 servicing an interrupt 10-8 signaling interrupts 10-6 system-error interrupt 9-9, 10-8, 12-3, 12-4, 12-5, 12-16, 12-21, 12-22 system-error interrupt vector 12-4 test pending interrupts IAC 11-24, 15-7 vectors 10-2 See also Interrupt handling INTR pin 10-7 Invalid descriptor fault 8-22, 12-2, 12-27, 17-74

Invalid opcode fault 12-2, 12-32 Invalid operand fault 12-2, 12-32 Invalid PTDE fault 8-10, 8-24, 12-2, 12-40 Invalid PTE fault 8-10, 8-22, 8-24, 12-2, 12 - 40Invalid segment descriptor 8-16 Invalid segment descriptor fault 8-21, 8-22 Invalid segment table entry fault 8-10, 12-2.12-40 Invalid SS fault 12-2, 12-26 IP description of 3-5 procedure table entry 4-11 storage of 3-5 IP with displacement addressing mode 5-7

## J

J-bit 7-2

## Κ

Kernel 1-1 altering process controls 13-8 process scheduling in multiprocessor system 15-4 supervisor procedure 4-13, 4-14

## L

Large segment table segment descriptor 8-14 **Id, Idib, Idis, Idl, Idob, Idos, Idq, Idt** 5-5, 6-5, 7-9, 17-75 **Ida** 3-5, 6-6, 17-77 **Idphy** 6-20, 8-25, 17-78 **Idtime** 6-17, 10-5, 14-6, 17-79 Iit, notation 17-2 Literal description of 5-5 floating-point 7-14 ordinal 5-5 Load address instruction 6-6 Load instructions 6-5

Load physical address instruction 6-20 Local call call operation 4-8 description of 4-8 return operation 4-8 Local registers call/return mechanism 4-1 description of 2-2, 3-4 PFP 3-4 process state 13-1 purpose of 3-4 register alignment 3-4 register model 3-2 relationship to procedure stack 4-3 **RIP** 3-4 SP 3-4 stack-frame cache 4-3 LOCK line 8-2 logbnr, logbnrl 7-19, 17-80 logepr, logeprl 7-19, 17-82 Logical instructions 6-10 logr, logrl 7-19, 17-85

### М

Machine faults 12-31 Machine-level formats 6-1, B-1 Manual guide to 1-1 structure of 1-1 mark 6-16, 12-13, 16-1, 16-5, 16-6, 16-7, 17-88 Mark instruction 6-16, 12-13 mem, notation 17-2 Memory management facilities, introduction to 8-1 Memory management unit See MMU Messages and message passing applications of messages 14-19 communication port 14-15 current port or semaphore SS 14-9 high-level process management facilities 14-1

interprocessor communication 14-15 kernel support for message passing 14 - 18link SS 14-9 mechanism for interprocess communication 14-16 message field in PCB 13-6 message, description of 14-7, 14-9 receive message mechanism 14-17 send message mechanism 14-16 send service mechanism 14-18 Micro-instruction sequencer See MIS MIS C-6 MMU C-1 Mnemonic 17-2 modac 3-6, 6-17, 17-89 modi 6-8, 17-90 modify 6-11, 17-91 Modify process controls instruction 6-16. 6-18 Modify processor controls IAC 9-10, 9-12, 11-15 Modify trace controls instruction 6-16 modpc 6-16, 10-13, 13-8, 14-5, 15-5, 17-92 modtc 6-16, 16-2, 17-94 Modulo instructions 6-8 mov, movl, movq, movt 5-5, 6-6, 7-10, 7-15, 17-95 Move instructions 6-6 movgstr 6-19, 17-96 movr, movre, movrl 7-9, 7-10, 7-15, 7-20, 17-97 movstr 6-19, 17-99 muli. mulo 6-8, 17-100 mulr, mulri 7-14, 7-17, 17-101 Multiple processor operation See Multiprocessing Multiply instructions 6-8

Multiprocessing atomic instructions 15-6 description of 9-1 dispatch port 15-4 external IACs 15-1 high-level process management facilities 15-3interrupt handling 15-7 memory management facilities 8-1 overview of multiple processor support facilities 15-1 preemption 15-4 preemption action 15-6 preemption control 15-4 process scheduling and dispatching 15-4 receiving and handling external IACs 15-2 sending external IACs 15-1 support for 2-7 use of processes 13-2 Multiprocessor preempt flag 9-5. 10-10. 15-5 Multiprocessor preemption field in PRCB 9-9 Multitasking description of 9-1 memory management facilities 8-1 priorities 9-10 processes vs. tasks 9-1 support for 2-6 use of processes 13-2

## Ν

nand 6-10, 17-103 NaNs arithmetic vs. non-arithmetic instructions 7-20 classify instructions 7-17 comparison 7-17 defined 7-6 encodings 7-4, 7-7 extended-real format 7-7

invalid-operation exception 7-23 operations on 7-20 ONaN 7-6, 7-17, 7-23 ONaN, definition of 7-20 rounding 7-13 SNaN 7-6, 7-17, 7-23 SNaN, definition of 7-20 unordered 7-17 unordered classification 3-8 Next time slice field 13-7, 14-5 No imprecise faults flag 3-9, 12-12, 12-22 Nonpreempt limit field 9-7, 15-5 nor 6-10, 17-104 Normalized number 7-3 Normalizing mode, floating-point normalizing mode flag 3-9 not, notand 6-10, 17-105 Notation 1-3 notbit 6-10, 17-106 notor 6-10, 17-107

## 0

Operating-system kernel See Kernel Operation faults 12-32 **or, ornot** 6-10, 17-108 Ordinal, description of 5-1 Override faults See Faults

## Ρ

Padding area, description of 4-5 Page rights description of 8-20 fault 8-24, 12-2, 12-34 Page Table and Page Table Directory invalid page table (directory) entry 8-20 page rights 8-20 page table directory entry 8-20 page table entry 8-19 structure of 8-18

Paged region segment descriptor 8-12 Paging bipaged segment 8-16 overview of 8-16 page length 8-3 page table and page table directory structures 8-18 paged segment 8-16 paging method field 8-11 protection of pages 2-6 spanning page boundaries 8-25 unpaged segment 8-16 Parameter passing description of 4-9 in an argument list 4-9 through global registers 4-9 through the procedure stack 4-9 PCB arithmetic controls field 13-5 binding process to processor 14-2 current process SS 9-8 description of 9-3, 13-1, 13-2 dispatch port SS field 13-6, 14-10 event-fault request flags 12-13 execution time field 13-7 global registers field 13-6 lock field 13-6 low-level process management facilities 14-1 next time slice field 13-7 preempt flag 15-4 process controls 13-4 process notice field 11-5, 12-13, 13-6 process resumption following a fault 12-10 13-1 process state queue record 13-6 received message field 13-6 region 0, 1, and 2 SS fields 13-6 relationship to process 9-1 required at initialization 9-14, 9-20 residual time slice field 13-7 resumption record field 9-9, 13-6 segment descriptor 8-13

storing of PCB fields in processor 13-7 trace controls field 13-5 See also Process, Process management Pending interrupts checking for 10-13 handling of 10-13 posting of 10-12 servicing of 10-12 PFP 3-4, 10-9 description of 4-5 Physical address space description of 8-2 physical address 8-2 Physical addressing mode 8-1 Physical memory caching of memory accesses 8-3 description of 8-2 restrictions 8-2 Pi 7-18 Port segment descriptor 8-13 Ports description of 14-7 FIFO port 14-7 priority port 14-7, 14-8 segment descriptor 8-13 uses of 14-9 See also Communications port, Dispatch port PRCB caching the PRCB in the processor 9-9 changing the PRCB 9-9 current process SS 9-8 description of 9-2, 9-5 dispatch port assigned to 14-10 dispatch port SS field 9-8, 14-10 fault resumption record 12-15 fault table pointer 9-9, 12-7 idle time field 9-9 initialization PRCB 9-14, 9-19 interrupt stack pointer 9-8 interrupt table pointer 9-8 modify processor controls IAC 11-15 multiprocessor preemption field 9-9

## int<sub>e</sub>ľ

pointers to system data structures 9-8 procedure table pointer 4-11 processor controls word 9-5 region 3 SS 9-8 resumption record field 9-9 store system base IAC 11-23 system procedure-table SS 9-9 system-error fault field 9-9, 12-16, 12-21 system-error fault record field 9-9. 12-16, 12-21 See also Processor controls Preempt flag 13-5, 14-14, 15-4 Preempt process IAC 11-16, 15-4, 15-5 Preemption description of 14-14 in a multiprocessor system 15-4 interim priority field in processor controls 15-5 multiprocessor preempt flag 9-5, 15-5 multiprocessor preemption action 15-6 nonpreempt limit field of processor controls 9-7, 15-5 preempt flag 15-4 preemption control in a multiprocessing system 15-4 write external priority flag 15-5 Preemption IAC 14-14 Prereturn trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2. 12-37 mode 16-5 mode flag 16-2 prereturn trace flag 4-5 Preserved 1-3 Previous frame pointer See PFP Priorities 9-10 Priority port 14-7 conditional receive message mechanism 14-17 description of 14-8 lock field 14-8

priority 14-8 queue head SS 14-9 queue state flag 14-8 queue status field 14-8 queue tail SS 14-9 receive message mechanism 14-17 send message mechanism 14-16 send service mechanism 14-18 Procedure calls branch and link 4-15 call/return mechanism 4-1 FP 4-3 local call 4-8 local registers 4-3 overview of 4-1 padding area 4-5 parameter passing 4-9 PFP 4-5 prereturn trace flag 4-5 procedure linking information 4-3 procedure stack 4-3 procedure table 4-11 return status field 4-5 **RIP** 4-6 saving of local registers 4-1 SP 4-3 supervisor call 4-14 supervisor stack 4-14 system call 4-10 user-supervisor protection model 4-13 Procedure Stack call/return mechanism 4-1 description of 4-3, 9-4 mapping of local registers to 4-7 process state 13-1 register save area 4-3, 4-7 stack frames 4-3 Procedure table procedure entry structure 4-11 segment descriptor 8-13 structure of 4-11 supervisor-stack-pointer entry 4-12

Procedure table call 4-10 See also System call Procedure table segment descriptor 8-13 Process address space 13-1 binding to processor 14-2 current process SS in PRCB 9-8 description of 9-1, 13-1 execution mode 4-13 flush process IAC 11-8 preempt process IAC 11-16 priority 13-4, 14-8 procedure stack 4-3 process controls 13-4 state 13-1.13-4 timing 13-7 use of 13-2 See also PCB, Process management Process control block See PCB Process control instructions 6-17 Process controls changing of 13-8 description of 13-4 execution mode flag 13-4 Internal state field 12-11 next time slice field 14-5 preempt flag 13-5 priority field 13-4 process state 13-1 refault flag 13-5 residual time slice field 14-5 resume flag 13-5 state field 13-4 time-slice flag 13-5, 14-5 time-slice-reschedule flag 13-5, 14-5 timing flag 13-5, 14-5 trace enable flag 13-5 trace fault pending flag 13-5 Process controls word See Process controls Process management binding process to processor 13-11. 14-2

changing arithmetic controls 13-9 changing of process controls 13-8 changing the process notice field 13-9 concepts 14-2 dispatching 9-5, 14-2 execution time counting 14-6 explicit process dispatching 14-4 high-level process management facilities 14-1, 14-6, 15-3 instructions 6-17 kernel support for message passing 14-18 low-level process management facilities 14-1 messages 14-9 multiple-process management facilities, overview of 14-1 multiprocessor preemption 15-4, 15-6 overview of 13-1 PCB 13-2 physical addressing vs. virtual addressing 13-9 ports 14-7, 14-9 preemption 14-14 preemption control in a multiprocessing system 15-4 priority field 13-4 process controls 13-4 process faults 12-33 process handling in a single-process system 13-11 process states 14-2 process suspension 14-11 required software support for a singleprocess system 13-9 scheduling 9-5, 14-2 state transition actions 14-3 time-slice scheduling 14-5 timing 14-5 See also Automatic process dispatching, Messages and message passing, Process, Process synchronization

Process notice changing process notice field 13-9 check process notice IAC 12-13, 12-28 field in PCB 11-5, 13-6 Process scheduling and dispatching binding process to processor 14-2 description of 14-2 explicit process dispatching 14-4 See also Automatic process dispatching Process segment descriptor 8-13 Process synchronization description of 14-12 semaphores 14-12 Process timing 14-5, 14-6 end-of-time-slice event 14-11 time slice fault 12-2, 12-33, 14-5, 14-6 time-slice scheduling 14-5 while handling a fault 12-13 while handling an interrupt 10-6 Processor freeze IAC 11-13 internal structure of C-1 modify processor controls IAC 11-15 multiprocessing system 9-1 multitasking system 9-1 overview of processor configurations 9-1 priorities 9-10 purge instruction cache IAC 11-17 reinitialize processor IAC 11-18 restart processor IAC 11-19 self test 9-21 single-task system 9-1 stop processor IAC 11-21 store processor IAC 11-22 store system base IAC 11-23 warmstart processor IAC 11-25 Processor and process states description of 9-10 idle state 9-11 idle-interrupted state 9-11 process-executing state 9-11 process-interrupted state 9-11

state field 9-7 stopped state 9-11 Processor Control Block See PRCB Processor controls addressing mode flag 9-7 check dispatch port flag 9-7 description of 9-5 interim priority field 9-8, 15-5 modify processor controls IAC 9-10. 11-15 multiprocessor preempt flag 9-5, 15-5 nonpreempt limit field 9-7 nonpreempt limit field of processor controls 15-5 state field 9-7 write external priority flag 9-8, 15-5 Processor controls word See Processor controls Processor management instructions 6-16 Processor management facilities faults 9-5 IACs 9-4 instruction list 9-2 interrupts 9-4 overview of 9-2 process scheduling and dispatching 9-5 system data structures 9-2 Processor management, software requirements for 9-14 Processor timing duration of a timing 9-13 idle timing 9-13 Programming environment See Execution environment Protection faults 12-34 Protection, support for 2-6 Purge instruction cache IAC 11-17

## Q

### INDEX

### QNaN

See NaNs Quad word, description of 5-5 Queue linkage information in ports queue head SS 14-7 queue state flag 14-7, 14-8 queue status field 14-8 queue tail SS 14-7 Queue record, in PCB 13-6

## R

Real number encodings 7-4 system 7-1 receive 6-18, 10-5, 14-17, 17-109 Refault flag 12-11, 12-12, 12-20, 12-21, 13-5 reg, notation 17-2 Regions 3-10 gaps and boundaries 8-28 making region boundaries transparent 8-28 pointers for regions 0, 1, and 2 in PCB 13-6, 13-9 region 3 SS in PRCB 9-8 required at initialization 9-14 spanning region boundaries 8-25 typical address space structure 8-26 Register indirect addressing modes description of 5-7 Register indirect addressing modes, description of 5-7 Register save area See Procedure stack Register scoreboarding 2-3, 3-5, C-7 Registers addressing of 5-6 floating-point registers 2-5, 3-2 flush local registers IAC 11-7 flush local registers instruction 6-16 global registers 3-2 local registers 3-2 register model 3-2

See also Floating-point registers, Global registers, Local registers Reinitialize processor IAC 11-18 Remainder instructions 6-8 remi. remo 6-8, 17-111 remr, remrl 7-11, 7-17, 17-112 Reserved 1-3 RESET pin 9-21 Residual time slice field 13-7, 14-5 3-6, 9-9, 9-23, Restart processor IAC 11-19, 12-22 Resume flag 10-9, 12-11, 12-18, 12-19, 12-20, 12-21, 13-5, 13-8 resumpres 6-17, 10-5, 13-11, 14-2, 14-3, 14-4, 14-6, 17-115 Resumption record field 9-9 ret 4-8, 6-15, 12-9, 12-18, 12-20, 16-5, 16-8.17-116 Return from local call 4-8 from local system call 4-13 from supervisor call 4-14 Return instruction 6-15 Return instruction pointer See RIP Return status field 12-18 description of 4-5 encoding of 4-5 return from local system call 4-13 return from supervisor call 4-14 Return trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37 mode 16-5 mode flag 16-2 RIP 3-4, 3-6 description of 4-6 on a branch and link 4-15 rotate 6-9, 17-118 Rotate instructions 6-9 Rounding control See Floating-point rounding control field

roundr, roundrl 7-17, 17-119 S Saved IP, for fault 12-15 saveprcs 6-17, 13-11, 14-2, 14-4, 14-6, 17-120 Scale factor in addressing, description of 5-7 scaler, scaler1 7-19, 7-24, 17-121 scanbit 6-10, 17-123 scanbyte 6-11, 17-124 schedprcs 6-17, 14-10, 15-5, 17-125 Scoreboarding See Register scoreboarding Segment bipaged region 8-12 description of 8-4 large segment table 8-14 paged region 8-12 port 8-13 procedure table 8-13 process 8-13 semaphore 8-15 simple region 8-11 small segment table 8-14 types 8-11 Segment descriptor access status field 8-10 accessed flag 8-10 altered flag 8-10 base address field 8-9 bipaged region descriptor 8-12 cacheable flag 8-10 description of 8-9 invalid descriptor 8-16 large segment table descriptor 8-14 paged region descriptor 8-12 paging method field 8-11 port descriptor 8-13 procedure table descriptor 8-13 process descriptor 8-13 region descriptors 8-11 segment table descriptors 8-14

segment types 8-11 semaphore descriptor 8-15 simple region descriptor 8-11 size field 8-10 small segment table descriptor 8-14 valid flag 8-10 Segment length fault 8-21, 8-22, 8-24, 12-2, 12-34, 17-74 Segment selector See SS Segment table description of 8-8, 9-2 required at initialization 9-14 Self dispatching See Automatic process dispatching Self test, of processor 9-21 Semaphore access action 14-13 count field 14-12 description of 14-12 high-level process management facilities 14-1 instructions for handling semaphores 6-18.14-13 lock field 14-12 semaphore queue tail SS 14-13 structure of 14-12 Semaphore segment descriptor 8-15 send 6-18, 14-16, 14-18, 15-5, 17-126 sendserv 6-18, 10-5, 14-10, 14-11, 14-18, 14-19, 15-5, 17-128 Set breakpoint register IAC 11-20 Set, definition of 1-4 setbit 6-10, 17-130 Shift instructions 6-9 shli, shlo, shrdi, shri, shro 6-9, 17-131 signal 6-18, 14-13, 15-5, 17-133 Significand, in floating-point format 7-2 Simple region segment descriptor 8-11 sinr, sinrl 7-18, 17-134 Size field 8-10

## intط

SIZE lines 8-2 Small segment table segment descriptor 8-14 **SNaN** See NaNs SP 3-4, 4-14 description of 4-3 spanbit 6-10, 17-136 sqrtr, sqrtrl 7-17, 17-137 SS description of 8-5, 8-7 treatment of, depending on address translation mode 9-12 st, stib, stis, stl, stob, stos, stq, stt 5-5, 6-5, 7-9, 17-139 Stack See Procedure stack Stack frame cache 4-3 flush local registers IAC 11-7 mapping to procedure stack 4-7 Stack frame, definition of 4-3 Stack pointer See SP Standard faults 17-3 STARTUP pin 9-21 State field 9-7 Sticky flags, definition of 3-7 Stop processor IAC 11-21 Store instructions 6-5 Store processor IAC 9-10, 9-12, 11-22 Store system base IAC 11-23 String instructions 6-19 Structural faults 12-36 subc 6-8, 17-141 subi, subo 6-8, 17-142 subr. subrl 7-17, 17-143 Subtract instructions 6-8 Subtract with Carry Instruction 6-8 Supervisor call 4-14 system call instruction 6-15

Supervisor mode See User-supervisor protection model Supervisor stack description of 9-4 structure of 4-14 supervisor-stack pointer 4-12 Supervisor trace event flag 16-2 fault 12-2, 12-37 mode 16-5 mode flag 16-2 Supervisor-stack pointer 4-12 syncf 12-22, 17-145 synld 6-20, 17-146 synmov, synmovl, synmovq 6-20, 11-1, 11-3, 15-2, 15-3, 17-148 System call description of 4-10 mechanism of 4-10 System data structures description of 9-2 System error fault See System error interrupt System error interrupt description of 10-8, 12-4 fault handling method 12-3 halt action 12-22 handling of 12-21 interrupt vector 248 12-4 relationship to halt 12-5 system-error fault field in PRCB 9-9. 12 - 16system-error fault record field in PRCB 9-9.12-16 system-error interrupt action 12-21 System executive Kernel 1-1 System procedure table description of 9-4 structure of 4-11 system call instruction 6-15 system procedure-table SS in PRCB 9-9

### INDEX

## intel

trace control flag 4-12 System procedure table SS 9-9 System-error fault field 9-9

## Т

tanr, tanrl 7-18, 17-151 Task, description of 9-1 Terminology 1-3 Test instructions 6-14 Test pending interrupts IAC 11-24, 15-7 teste, testne, testl, testle, testg, testge, testo, testno 6-14, 17-153 Tick 9-13 Time slice See Process timing time slice flag 10-9, 14-5 Time-slice-reschedule flag 14-5 Timing See Process timing, Processor timing Timing flag 10-5, 10-9, 14-5 TLB description of 8-25 flush process IAC 11-8 flush TLB IAC 11-9 flush TLB page table entry IAC 11-10 flush TLB physical page IAC 11-11 flush TLB segment entry IAC 11-12 Trace control flag (in a procedure table) 12-19 Trace control flag (in system or procedure table) 16-1, 16-3, 16-6 Trace control flag (in system procedure table) 4-12 Trace controls See Tracing Trace controls field, in PCB 13-5 Trace enable flag 10-9, 12-12, 12-19, 13-5, 16-1, 16-3, 16-6, 16-7, 16-8 Trace fault handler procedure table 12-7. 12 - 8

Trace fault pending flag 10-9, 12-11, 13-5, 16-1, 16-3, 16-6, 16-7, 16-8 Trace flag (in return-status field of r0) 16-1.16-3 Tracing branch trace mode 16-4 breakpoint registers 16-5 breakpoint trace mode 16-5 call trace mode 16-4 fault handlers, tracing with 16-8 handling multiple trace events 16-6 instruction trace mode 16-4 interrupt handlers, tracing with 16-7 modifying trace controls 16-2 overview of trace-control facilities 16-1 prereturn trace handling 16-7 prereturn trace mode 16-5 process state 13-1 return trace mode 16-5 signaling a trace event 16-6 software support required for tracing 16-1 supervisor trace mode 16-5 trace control flag (in system or procedure table) 16-3 trace control on supervisor calls 16-3 trace controls 16-1 trace controls word 16-2 trace enable and mode flags 12-12 trace enable flag 16-3 trace event flags 16-2 trace fault handler 16-6 trace fault pending flag 16-3 trace faults 12-37, 16-1, 16-3, 16-5, 16-6 trace flag (in return-status field of r0) 16-3 trace handling action 16-7 trace mode flags 16-2 trace modes 16-4 tracing instructions 6-16

Translation look-aside buffer See TLB Triple word, description of 5-5 Type faults 12-39 Type mismatch fault 8-11, 12-2, 12-39, 17-92, 17-115

### U

Unconditional branch instructions 6-13 Unordered definition of 3-8 numbers 7-17 User-supervisor protection model description of 4-13 mode switching 4-14 supervisor call 4-14 supervisor mode 4-13, 4-14 user mode 4-13, 4-14

## ۷

Valid flag, description of 8-10 Virtual addressing mode description of 8-1 load physical address instruction 8-25 SS translation action 8-21 virtual address translation action 8-22 Virtual memory faults 8-10, 12-40 Virtual memory management facilities accessing system data structures 8-28 address translation action 8-21 inspect access instruction 6-20 6-20 load physical address instruction operating system considerations 8-26 overview of 8-3 page table 8-5 page table and page table directory structures 8-18 page table directory 8-5 page tables and page table directories 8-16 segment 8-4 segment descriptor 8-4, 8-9

segment selector 8-7 segment table 8-4, 8-8 segment table data structures 8-6 SS 8-5 TLB 8-25 typical address space structure 8-26 use of segments 8-5 See also Segment table Virtual memory, support for 2-6

### W

wait 6-18, 10-5, 14-13, 17-155
Warmstart processor IAC 3-6, 9-9, 11-25
Words

addressing of 5-5
size 3-4

Write external priority flag 9-8, 15-5

## Х

xnor, xor 6-10, 17-157

# int

## DOMESTIC SALES OFFICES

†Intel Corp. 5015 Bradford Dr., #2 Huntsville 35805 Tel: (205) 830-4010 ARIZONA

†Intel Corp. 11225 N. 28th Dr. Suite D-214 Phoenix 85029 Tel: (602) 869-4980

†Intel Corp. 1161 N. El Dorado Place Suite 301 Tucson 85715 Tel: (602) 299-6815

CALIFORNIA †Intel Corp. 21515 Vanowen Street Suite 116 Canoga Park 91303 Tel: (818) 704-8500

†Intel Corp. 2250 E. Imperial Highway Suite 218 El Segundo 90245 Tel: (213) 640-6040

†Intel Corp. 1510 Arden Way, Suite 101 Sacramento 95815 Tel: (916) 920-8096

†Intel Corp. 4350 Executive Drive Suite 105 Suite 105 San Diego 92121 Tel: (619) 452-5880

†Intel Corp.\* 400 N. Tustin Avenue Suite 450 Santa Ana 92705 Tel: (714) 835-9642 TWX: 910-595-1114

tintel Corp." San Tomas 4 2700 San Tomas Expressway 2nd Floor Santa Clara 95051 Tel: (408) 986-8086 TWX: 910-338-0255 FAX: 408-727-2620

COLORADO

†Intel Corp. 4445 Northpark Drive Suite 100 Colorado Springs 80907 Tel: (719) 594-6622

†Intel Corp." 650 S. Cherry St., Suite 915 Denver 80222 Tel: (303) 321-8086 TWX: 910-931-2289

CONNECTICUT

†intel Corp. 26 Mill Plain Road 2nd Floor Danbury 06811 Tel: (203) 748-3130 TWX: 710-456-1199

†intel Corp. 6363 N.W. 6th Way, Suite 100 Ft. Lauderdale 33309 Tel: (305) 771-0600 TWX: 510-956-9407 FAX: 305-772-8193

†intel Corp. 5850 T.G. Lee Bivd. Suite 340 Orlando 32822 Tel: (305) 240-8000 FAX: 305-240-8097

†Intel Corp. 11300 4th Street North Suite 170 St. Petersburg 33716 Tel: (813) 577-2413 FAX: 813-578-1607

GEORGIA

†Intel Corp. 3280 Pointe Parkway Suite 200 Norcross 30092 Tel: (404) 449-0541

ILLINOIS †Intel Corp.\* 300 N. Martingale Road, Suite 400 Schaumburg 60173 Tel: (312) 310-8031

†Intel Corp. 8777 Purdue Road Suite 125 Indianapolis 46268 Tel: (317) 875-0623

Intel Corp. 1930 St. Andrews Drive N.E. 2nd Floor Cedar Rapids 52402 Tel: (319) 393-5510

KANSAS †Intel Corp. 10985 Cody St. Suite 140, Bidg. D Overland Park 66210 Tel: (913) 345-2727

MARYLAND

†Intel Corp.\* 7321 Parkway Drive South

7321 Parkway Drive Suite C Hanover 21076 Tel: (301) 796-7500 TWX: 710-862-1944 †intel Corp. 7833 Walker Drive Suite 550 Greenbelt 20770 Tel: (301) 441-1020

MASSACHUSETTS

fintel Corp.\* Westford Corp. Center 3 Carlisle Road 2nd Floor Westford 01886 Tel: (617) 692-3222 TWX: 710-343-6333

MICHIGAN †Intel Corp. 7071 Orchard Lake Road Suite 100 West Bloomfield 48322 Tel: (313) 851-8096

fIntel Corp. 3500 W. 80th St., Suite 360

Bloomington 55431 Tel: (612) 835-6722 TWX: 910-576-2867 MISSOURI

†Intel Corp. 4203 Earth City Expressway Suite 131 Earth City 63045 Tel: (314) 291-1990

NEW JERSEY †intel Corp.\* Parkway 109 Office Center 328 Newman Springs Road Red Bank 07701 Tel: (201) 747-2233

fintel Corp. 280 Corporate Center 75 Livingston Avenue First Floor Roseland 07068 Tel: (201) 740-0111 FAX: 201-740-0626

NEW MEXICO

†Intel Corp. 8500 Menaul Boulevard N.E. Suite B 295 Albuquerque 87112 Tel: (505) 292-8086 NEW YORK

Intel Corp. 127 Main Street Binghamton 13905 Tel: (607) 773-0337 FAX: 607-723-2677

†Intel Corp.\* 850 Cross Keys Office Park Fairport 14450 Tel: (716) 425-2750 TWX: 510-253-7391

†Intel Corp.\* 2950 Expressway Dr., South Suite 130 Islandia 11722 Tel: (516) 231-3300 TWX: 510-227-6236

†Intel Corp. Westage Business Center Bidg. 300, Route 9 Fishkill 12524 Tel: (914) 897-3860 FAX: 914-897-3125

NORTH CAROLINA †Intel Corp. 5700 Executive Drive Suite 213 Charlotte 28212 Tel: (704) 568-8966

†Intel Corp. 2700 Wycliff Road Suite 102 Raleigh 27607 Tel: (919) 781-8022

оню

†Intel Corp.\* 3401 Park Center Drive Suite 220 Dayton 45414 Tel: (513) 890-5350 TWX: 810-450-2528

†Intel Corp.\* 25700 Science Park Dr., Suite 100 Beachwood 44122 Tel: (216) 464-2736 TWX: 810-427-9298

OKLAHOMA

†Intel Corp. 6801 N. Broadway Suite 115 Oklahoma City 73162 Tel: (405) 848-8086 OREGON

†Intel Corp. 15254 N.W. Greenbrier Parkway Building B Beaverton 97006 Tel: (503) 645-8051 TWX: 910-467-8741

PENNSYLVANIA

†Intel Corp.\* 455 Pennsylvania Avenue Suite 230 Fort Washington 19034 Tel: (215) 641-1000 TWX: 510-661-2077

Intel Corp.\* 400 Penn Center Blvd., Suite 610 Pittsburgh 15235 Tel: (412) 823-4970

PUERTO RICO

†Intel Microprocessor Corp. South Industrial Park P.O. Box 910 Las Piedras 00671 Tel: (809) 733-8616

TEXAS

†intel Corp. 313 E. Anderson Lane Suite 314 Austin 78752 Tel: (512) 454-3628

†Intel Corp.\* 12000 Ford Road Suite 400 Dallas 75234 Tel: (214) 241-8087 FAX: 214-484-1180

†Intel Corp.\* 7322 S.W. Freeway Suite 1490 Houston 77074 Tel: (713) 988-8086 TWX: 910-881-2490

ШТАН

†Intel Corp. 428 East 6400 South Suite 104 Murray 84107 Tel: (801) 263-8051

VIRGINIA †Intel Corp. 1504 Santa Rosa Road Suite 108 Richmond 23288 Tel: (804) 282-5668

WASHINGTON

†Intel Corp. 155 108th Avenue N.E. Suite 386 Bellevue 98004 Tel: (206) 453-8086 TWX: 910-443-3002

†Intel Corp. 408 N. Mullan Road Suite 102 Spokane 99206 Tel: (509) 928-8086

WISCONSIN

†Intel Corp. 330 S. Executive Dr. Suite 102 Brookfield 53005 Tel: (414) 784-8087 FAX: (414) 796-2115

### CANADA

BRITISH COLUMBIA

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 4585 Canada Way, Suite 202 Burnaby V5G 4L6 Tel: (604) 298-0387 FAX: (604) 298-8234

ONTARIO

Initel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 2650 Queensview Drive Suite 250 Ottawa K2B 8H6 Tel: (613) 829-9714 TLX: 035-4115

fintel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 190 Artweil Drive Suite 500 Rexdale M9W 6H8 Tei: (415) 675-2105 TLX: 06983574 FAX: (416) 675-2438

OUFBEC

†Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 620 St. John Boulevard Pointe Claire H9R 3K2 Tel: (514) 694-9130 TWX: 514-694-9134

#### ALABAMA

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 1015 Henderson Road Huntsville 35805 Tel: (205) 837-6955

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 4940 Research Drive Huntsville 35805 Tel: (205) 837-7210 TWX: 810-726-2162

Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 4825 University Square Huntsville 35805 Tel: (205) 837-9300 TWX: 810-726-2197

#### ARIZONA

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 505 S. Madison Drive Tempe 85281 Tel: (602) 231-5140 TWX: 910-950-0077

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 30 South McKiemy Chandler 85226 Tel: (602) 961-6669 TWX: 910-950-0077

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 4134 E. Wood Street Phoenix 85040 Tel: (602) 437-0750 TWX: 910-951-1550

Wyle Distribution Group 17855 N. Black Canyon Hwy. Phoenix 85023 Tel: (602) 249-2232 TWX: 910-951-4282

CALIFORNIA

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 10824 Hope Street Cypress 90630 Tel: (714) 220-6300

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 19748 Dearborn Street Chatsworth 91311 Tel: (213) 701-7500 TWX: 910-493-2086

†Arow Electronics, inc. 521 Weddell Drive Sunnyvale 94086 Tel: (408) 745-6600 TWX: 910-339-9371

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 9511 Ridgehaven Court San Diego 92123 Tel: (619) 565-4800 TWX: 888-064

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 2961 Dow Avenue Tustin 92680 Tel: (714) 838-5422 TWX: 910-595-2860

†Avnet Electronics 350 McCormick Avenue Costa Mesa 92626 Tel: (714) 754-6071 TWX: 910-595-1928

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1175 Bordeaux Drive Sunnyvale 94086 Tel: (408) 743-3300 TWX: 910-339-9332

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 4545 Ridgeview Avenue San Diego 92123 Tel: (619) 571-7500 TWX: 910-595-2638

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 9650 Desoto Avenue Chatsworth 91311 Tel: (818) 700-1161

†Hamilton Electro Sales 10950 W. Washington Blvd. Culver City 20230 Tel: (213) 558-2458 TWX: 910-340-6364

Hamilton Electro Sales 1361B West 190th Street Gardena 90248 Tel: (213) 217-6700

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 3002 'G' Street Ontario 91761 Tel: (714) 989-9411

†Avnet Electronics 20501 Plummer Chatsworth 91351 Tel: (213) 700-6271 TWX: 910-494-2207

†Microcomputer System Technical Distributor Center

CALIFORNIA (Cont'd.)

†Hamilton Electro Sales 3170 Pullman Street Costa Mesa 92626 Tel: (714) 641-4150 TWX: 910-595-2638

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 4103 Northgate Blvd. Sacramento 95834 Tel: (916) 920-3150

Wyle Distribution Group 124 Maryland Street El Segundo 90254 Tel: (213) 322-8100

Wyle Distribution Group 7382 Lampson Ave. Garden Grove 92641 Tel: (714) 891-1717 TWX: 910-348-7140 or 7111

Wyle Distribution Group 11151 Sun Center Drive Rancho Cordova 95670 Tel: (916) 638-5282

†Wyle Distribution Group 9525 Chesapeake Drive San Diego 92123 Tel: (619) 565-9171 TWX: 910-335-1590

†Wyle Distribution Group 3000 Bowers Avenue Santa Clara 95051 Tel: (408) 727-2500 TWX: 910-338-0296

tWyle Distribution Group 17872 Cowan Avenue Irvine 92714 Tel: (714) 863-9953 TWX: 910-595-1572

Wyle Distribution Group 26677 W. Agoura Rd. Calabasas 91302 Tel: (818) 880-9000 TWX: 372-0232

COLORADO

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 7060 South Tucson Way Englewood 80112 Tel: (303) 790-4444

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 8765 E. Orchard Road Suite 708 Englewood 80111 Tel: (303) 740-1017 TWX: 910-935-0787

†Wyle Distribution Group 451 E. 124th Avenue Thornton 80241 Tel: (303) 457-9953 TWX: 910-936-0770

CONNECTICUT

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 12 Beaumont Road Wallingford 06492 Tel: (203) 265-7741 TWX: 710-476-0162

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics Commerce Industrial Park Commerce Drive Danbury 06810 Tel: (203) 797-2800 TWX: 710-456-9974

†Pioneer Electronics 112 Main Street Norwalk 06851 Tel: (203) 853-1515 TWX: 710-468-3373

FLORIDA

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 400 Fairway Drive Suite 102 Deerfield Beach 33441 Tel: (305) 429-8200 TWX: 510-955-9456

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 37 Skyline Drive Suite 3101 Lake Marv 32746 Tel: (407) 323-0252 TWX: 510-959-6337

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6801 N.W. 15th Way Ft. Lauderdale 33309 Tel: (305) 971-2900 TWX: 510-956-3097

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 3197 Tech Drive North St. Petersburg 33702 Tel: (813) 576-3930 TWX: 810-863-0374 FLORIDA (Cont'd.)

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6947 University Boulevard Winter Park 32792 Tel: (305) 628-3888 TWX: 810-853-0322

DOMESTIC DISTRIBUTORS

†Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 337 S. Lake Blvd. Alta Monte Springs 32701 Tel: (407) 834-9090 TWX: 810-853-0284

Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 674 S. Military Trai! Deerfield Beach 33442 Tel: (305) 428-8877 TWX: 510-955-9653

GEORGIA

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 3155 Northwoods Parkway Suite A Norcross 30071 Tel: (404) 449-8252 TWX: 810-766-0439

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 5825 D Peachtree Corners Norcross 30092 Tel: (404) 447-7500 TWX: 810-766-0432

Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 3100 F Northwoods Place Norcross 30071 Tel: (404) 448-1711 TWX: 810-766-4515

ILLINOIS

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 1140 W. Thorndale Itasca 60143 Tel: (312) 250-0500 TWX: 312-250-0916

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1130 Thorndale Avenue Bensenville 60106 Tel: (312) 860-7780 TWX: 910-227-0060

MTI Systems Sales 1100 W. Thorndale Itasca 60143 Tel: (312) 773-2300

†Pioneer Electronics 1551 Carmen Drive Elk Grove Village 60007 Tel: (312) 437-9680 TWX: 910-222-1834

INDIANA

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 2495 Directors Row, Suite H Indianapolis 46241 Tel: (317) 243-9353 TWX: 810-341-3119

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 485 Gradle Drive Carmel 46032 Tel: (317) 844-9333 TWX: 810-260-3966

†Pioneer Electronics 6408 Castleplace Drive Indianapolis 46250 Tel: (317) 849-7300 TWX: 810-260-1794

IOWA

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 915 33rd Avenue, S.W. Cedar Rapids 52404 Tel: (319) 362-4757

KANSAS

Arrow Electronics 8208 Melrose Dr., Suite 210 Lenexa 66214 Tel: (913) 541-9542

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 9219 Quivera Road Overland Park 66215 Tel: (913) 888-8900 TWX: 910-743-0005

Pioneer/Tec Gr. 10551 Lockman Rd. Lenexa 66215 Tel: (913) 492-0500

KENTUCKY

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1051 D. Newton Park Lexington 40511 Tel: (606) 259-1475

#### MARYLAND

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 8300 Guilford Drive Suite H, River Center Columbia 21046 Tel: (301) 995-0003 TWX: 710-236-9005

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6822 Oak Hall Lane Columbia 21045 Tel: (301) 995-3500 TWX: 710-862-1861

†Mesa Technology Corp. 9720 Patuxent Woods Dr. Columbia 21046 Tel: (301) 290-8150 TWX: 710-828-9702

†Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 9100 Gaither Road Gaithersburg 20877 Tet: (301) 921-0660 TWX: 710-828-0545

MASSACHUSETTS

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 25 Upton Dr. Wilmington 01887 Tel: (617) 935-5134

+Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 10D Centennial Drive Peabody 01960 Tel: (617) 531-7430 TWX: 710-393-0382

MTI Systems Sales 83 Cambridge St. Burlington 01813

Pioneer Electronics 44 Hartwell Avenue Lexington 02173 Tel: (617) 861-9200 TWX: 710-326-6617

MICHIGAN

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 755 Phoenix Drive Ann Arbor 48104 Tel: (313) 971-8220 TWX: 810-223-6020

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2215 29th Street S.E. Space A5 Grand Rapids 49508 Tel: (616) 243-8805 TWX: 810-274-6921

Pioneer Electronics 4504 Broadmoor S.E. Grand Rapids 49508 FAX: 616-698-1831

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 32487 Schoolcraft Road Livonia 48150 Tel: (313) 522-4700 TWX: 810-282-8775

†Pioneer/Michigan 13485 Stamford Livonia 48150 Tel: (313) 525-1800 TWX: 810-242-3271

MINNESOTA

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 5230 W. 73rd Street Edina 55435 Tel: (612) 830-1800 TWX: 910-576-3125

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 12400 Whitewater Drive Minnetonka 55434 Tel: (612) 932-0600

†Pioneer Electronics 7625 Golden Triange Dr. Suite G Eden Prairi 55343 Tel: (612) 944-3355

MISSOURI

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 2380 Schuetz St. Louis 63141 Tel: (314) 567-6888 TWX: 910-764-0882

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 13743 Shoreline Court Earth City 63045 Tel: (314) 344-1200 TWX: 910-762-0684

#### NEW HAMPSHIRE

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 3 Perimeter Road Manchester 03103 Tel: (603) 668-6968 TWX: 710-220-1684

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 444 E. Industrial Drive Manchester 03103 Tel: (603) 624-9400

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1 Keystone Ave., Bldg. 36 Cherry Hill 08003 Tel: (609) 424-0110 TWX: 710-940-0262

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 10 Industrial Fairfield 07006 Tel: (201) 575-5300 TWX: 710-734-4388

†MTI Systems Sales 37 Kulick Rd. Fairfield 07006 Tel: (201) 227-5552

†Pioneer Electronics 45 Route 46 Pinebrook 07058 Tel: (201) 575-3510 TWX: 710-734-4382

Alliance Electronics Inc. 11030 Cochiti S.E. Albuquerque 87123 Tel: (505) 292-3360 TWX: 910-989-1151

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2524 Baylor Drive S.E. Albuquerque 87106 Tel: (505) 765-1500 TWX: 910-989-0614

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 20 Oser Avenue Hauppauge 11788 Tel: (516) 231-1000 TWX: 510-227-6623

Hamilton/Avnet 933 Motor Parkway Hauppauge 11788 Tel: (516) 231-9800 TWX: 510-224-6166

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 333 Metro Park Rochester 14623 Tel: (716) 475-9130 TWX: 510-253-5470

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 103 Twin Oaks Drive Syracuse 13206 Tel: (315) 437-0288 TWX: 710-541-1560

†MTI Systems Sales 38 Harbor Park Drive Port Washington 11050 Tel: (516) 621-6200

†Pioneer Electronics 68 Corporate Drive Binghamton 13904 Tel: (607) 722-9300 TWX: 510-252-0893

Pioneer Electronics 40 Oser Avenue Hauppauge 11787 Tel: (516) 231-9200

CG/SAL2/070788

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 3375 Brighton Henrietta Townline Rd. Rochester 14623 Tel: (716) 275-0300 TWX: 510-253-4766

NEW YORK

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. Four East Stow Road Unit 11 Mariton 08053 Tel: (609) 596-8000 TWX: 710-897-0829

Tel: (609) 596-8000 TWX: 710-897-0829 †Arrow Electronics 6 Century Drive Parsipanny 07054 Tel: (201) 538-0900

# int

## DOMESTIC DISTRIBUTORS (Cont'd.)

NEW YORK (Cont'd.)

†Pioneer Electronics 60 Crossway Park West Woodbury, Long Island 11797 Tel: (516) 921-8700 TWX: 510-221-2184

†Pioneer Electronics 840 Fairport Park Fairport 14450 Tel: (716) 381-7070 TWX: 510-253-7001

NORTH CAROLINA

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 5240 Greensdairy Road Raleigh 27604 Tel: (919) 876-3132 TWX: 510-928-1856

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 3510 Spring Forest Drive Raleigh 27604 Tel: (919) 878-0819 TWX: 510-928-1836

Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. 9801 A-Southern Pine Blvd. Charlotte 28210 Tel: (919) 527-8188 TWX: 810-621-0366

#### оню

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 7620 McEwen Road Centerville 45459 Tel: (513) 435-5563 TWX: 810-459-1611

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 6238 Cochran Road Solon 44139 Tel: (216) 248-3990 TWX: 810-427-9409

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 954 Senate Drive Dayton 45459 Tel: (513) 439-6733 TWX: 810-450-2531

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 4588 Emery Industrial Pkwy. Warrensville Heights 44128 Tel: (216) 349-5100 TWX: 810-427-9452

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 777 Brooksedge Blvd. Westerville 43081 Tel: (614) 882-7004

†Pioneer Electronics 4433 Interpoint Boulevard Dayton 45424 Tel: (513) 236-9900 TWX: 810-459-1622

†Pioneer Electronics 4800 E. 131st Street Cleveland 44105 Tel: (216) 587-3600 TWX: 810-422-2211

OKLAHOMA

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 1211 E. 51st Street Suite 101 Tulsa 74146 Tel: (918) 252-7537

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 12121 E. 51st St., Suite 102A Tulsa 74146 Tel: (918) 252-7297

OBEGON

†Almac Electronics Corp. 1885 N.W. 169th Place Beaverton 97005 Tel: (503) 629-8090 TWX: 910-467-8746

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6024 S.W. Jean Road Bldg. C, Suite 10 Lake Oswego 97034 Tel: (503) 635-7848 TWX: 910-455-8179

Wyle Distribution Group 5250 N.E. Elam Young Parkway Suite 600 Hillsboro 97124 Tel: (503) 640-6000 TWX: 910-460-2203

PENNSYI VANIA

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 650 Seco Road Monroeville 15146 Tel: (412) 856-7000

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2800 Liberty Ave. Pittsburgh 15238 Tel: (412) 281-4150 Pioneer Electronics 259 Kappa Drive Pittsburgh 15238 Tel: (412) 782-2300 TWX: 710-795-3122

†Pioneer/Technologies Group, Inc. Delaware Valley 261 Gibralter Road Horsham 19044 Tel: (215) 674-4000 TWX: 510-665-6778

TEYAS

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 3220 Commander Drive Carrollton 75006 Tel: (214) 380-6464 TWX: 910-860-5377

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 10899 Kinghurst Suite 100 Houston 77099 Tel: (713) 530-4700 TWX: 910-880-4439

†Arrow Electronics, Inc. 2227 W. Braker Lane Austin 78758 Tel: (512) 835-4180 TWX: 910-874-1348

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1807 W. Braker Lane Austin 78758 Tel: (512) 837-8911 TWX: 910-874-1319

TEXAS (Cont'd.)

+Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2111 W. Walnut Hill Lane Irving 75038 Tel: (214) 550-6111 TWX: 910-860-5929

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 4850 Wright Rd., Suite 190 Stafford 77477 Stafford 77477 Tel: (713) 240-7733 TWX: 910-881-5523

†Pioneer Electronics 18260 Kramer Austin 78758 Tel: (512) 835-4000 TWX: 910-874-1323

†Pioneer Electronics 13710 Omega Road Dallas 75234 Tel: (214) 386-7300 TWX: 910-850-5563

†Pioneer Electronics 5853 Point West Drive Houston 77036 Tel: (713) 988-5555 TWX: 910-881-1606

Wyle Distribution Group 1810 Greenville Avenue Richardson 75081 Tel: (214) 235-9953

ШТАН Arrow Electronics 1946 Parkway Blvd. Salt Lake City 84119 Tel: (801) 973-6913

+Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 1585 West 2100 South Salt Lake City 84119 Tel: (801) 972-2800 TWX: 910-925-4018

Wyle Distribution Group 1325 West 2200 South Suite E West Valley 84119 Tel: (801) 974-9953

WASHINGTON

†Almac Electronics Corp. 14360 S.E. Eastgate Way Bellevue 98007 Tel: (206) 643-9992 TWX: 910-444-2067

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 19540 68th Ave. South Kent 98032 Tel: (206) 575-4420

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 14212 N.E. 21st Street Bellevue 98005 Tel: (206) 643-3950 TWX: 910-443-2469

Wyle Distribution Group 15385 N.E. 90th Street Redmond 98052 Tel: (206) 881-1150

#### WISCONSIN

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 200 N. Patrick Blvd., Ste. 100 Brockfield 53005 Tel: (414) 767-6600 TWX: 910-262-1193

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2975 Moorland Road New Berlin 53151 Tel: (414) 784-4510 TWX: 910-262-1182

### CANADA

### ALBERTA

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2816 21st Street N.E. Calgary T2E 6Z3 Tel: (403) 230-3586 TWX: 03-827-642

Zentronics Bay No. 1 3300 14th Avenue N.E. Calgary T2A 6J4 Tel: (403) 272-1021

BRITISH COLUMBIA

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 105-2550 Boundary Burmalay V5M 3Z3 Tel: (604) 437-6667

Zentronics 108-11400 Bridgeport Road Richmond V6X 1T2 Tel: (604) 273-5575 TWX: 04-5077-89

MANITOBA

Zentronics 60-1313 Border Unit 60 Winnipeg R3H 0X4 Tel: (204) 694-1957 ONTARIO

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 36 Antares Dr. Nepean K2E 7W5 Tel: (613) 226-6903

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 1093 Meyerside Mississauga L5T 1M4 Tel: (416) 673-7769 TWX: 06-218213

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6845 Rexwood Road Units 3-4-5 Mississauga L4T 1R2 Tel: (416) 677-7432 TWX: 610-492-8867

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 6845 Rexwood Road Unit 6 Mississauga L4T 1R2 Tel: (416) 277-0484

#### ONTARIO (Cont'd.)

†Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 190 Colonnade Road South Nepean K2E 7L5 Tel: (613) 226-1700 TWX: 05-349-71

†Zentronics 8 Tilbury Court Brampton L6T 3T4 Tel: (416) 451-9600 TWX: 06-976-78

†Zentronics 155 Colonnade Road Unit 17 Nepean K2E 7K1 Tel: (613) 226-8840

Zentronics 60-1313 Border St. Winnipeg R3H 0I4 Tel: (204) 694-7957 OUEBEC

†Arrow Electronics Inc. 4050 Jean Talon Quest Montreal H4P 1W1 Tel: (514) 735-5511 TWX: 05-25590

Arrow Electronics, Inc. 909 Charest Blvd. Quebec J1N 2C9 Tel: (418) 687-4231 TWX: 05-13388

Hamilton/Avnet Electronics 2795 Halpern St. Laurent H2E 7K1 Tel: (514) 335-1000 TWX: 610-421-3731

Zentronics 817 McCaffrey St. Laurent H4T 1M3 Tel: (514) 737-9700 TWX: 05-827-535

# Inta

## FUROPEAN SALES OFFICES

### DENMARK

Intel Intel Glentevej 61, 3rd Floor 2400 Copenhagen NV Tel: (01) 19 80 33 TLX: 19567

#### 

Intel Intel Ruosilantie 2 00390 Helsinki Tel: +358 0 544 644 TLX: 123332

### FRANCE

Intel 1, Rue Edison-BP 303 78054 St. Quentin-en-Yvelines Cedex Tel: (1) 30 57 70 00 TLX: 699016

Intel 4, Quai des Etroits 69321 Lyon Cedex 05 Tel: 78 42 40 89 TLX: 305153

### WEST GERMANY

Intel\* Dornacher Strasse 1 8016 Feldkirchen bei Muenchen Tel: 089/90 99 20 TLX: 5-23177

Intel Hohenzollern Strasse 5 3000 Hannover 1 Tel: 0511/344081 TLX: 9-23625 Intel

Intel Abraham Lincoln Strasse 16-18 6200 Wiesbaden Tel: 06121/7605-0 TLX: 4-186183

Intel Intel Zettachring 10A 7000 Stuttgart 80 Tel: 0711/7287-0 TLX: 7-254826

### ISBAFI

Intel\* Atidim Industrial Park-Neve Sharet P.O. Box 43202 Tel-Aviv 61430 Tel: 03-498080 TLX: 371215

ITALY

Intel\* Milanofiori Palazzo E 20090 Assago Milano Tel: (02) 824 40 71 TLX: 341286 NETHERLANDS

Intel\* Marten Meesweg 93 3068 AV Rotterdam Tel: (31)-(0)10-421.23.77 TLX: 22283 NORWAY

Hvarnveien 4-PO Box 92 2013 Skjetten Tel: (6) 842 420 TLX: 78018 Intel

SPAIN

Intel Zurbaran, 28 28010 Madrid Tel: 410 40 04 TLX: 46880 SWEDEN

Intei\* Intel\* Dalvagen 24 171 36 Solna Tel: +46 8 734 01 00 TLX: 12261

SWITZERLAND

Intel\* Talackerstrasse 17 8065 Zuerich Tel: 01/829 29 77 TLX: 57989

UNITED KINGDOM

Intel\* Pipers Way Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 1RJ Tel: (0793) 69 60 00 TLX: 444447/8

## EUROPEAN DISTRIBUTORS/REPRESENTATIVES

#### AUSTRIA

Bacher Electronics G.m.b.H. Rotenmuehlgasse 26 1120 Wien Tel: (0222) 83 56 46-0 TLX: 131532

#### BELGIUM

Inelco Belgium S.A. Av. des Croix de Guerre 94 1120 Bruxelles Oorlogskruisenlaan, 94 1120 Brussel Tel: (02) 216 01 60 TLX: 64475

#### DENMARK

ITT-Multikomponent Naverland 29 2600 Glostrup Tel: 45 (0) 2 45 66 45 TLX: 33 355

### FINLAND

OY Fintronic AB Melkonkatu 24A 00210 Helsinki Tel: (0) 6926022 TLX: 124224

### FRANCE

Generim Z.A. de Courtaboeuf Av. de la Baltique-BP 88 91943 Les Ulis Cedex Tel: (1) 69 07 78 78 TLX: 691700

Jermyn 73-79, rue des Solets Silic 585 94663 Rungis Cedex Tel: (1) 45 60 04 00 TLX: 260967

Metrologie Tour d'Asnieres 4, av. Laurent-Cely 92606 Asnieres Cedex Tel: (1) 47 90 62 40 TLX: 611448

Tekelec-Airtronic Rue Carle Vernet - BP 2 92315 Sevres Cedex Tel: (1) 45 34 75 35 TLX: 204552

#### WEST GERMANY

Electronic 2000 AG Stahlgruberring 12 8000 Muenchen 82 Tel: 089/42001-0 TLX: 522561

ITT Multikomponent GmbH Postfach 1265 Bahnhofstrasse 44 7141 Moeglingen Tel: 07141/487-347 TLX: 7264399

Jermyn GmbH Im Dachsstueck 9 6250 Limburg Tel: 06431/508-0 TLX: 415257-0

Metrologie GmbH Meglingerstrasse 49 8000 Muenchen 71 Tel: 089/78042-0 TLX: 5213189

Proelectron Vertriebs GmbH Max Planck Strasse 1-3 6072 Dreieich Tel: 06103/30 43 43 TLX: 417972 IRELAND

Micro Marketing Ltd. Glenageary Office Park Glenageary Co. Dublin Tel: (01) 85 63 25 TLX: 31584

#### ISRAEL

Eastronics Ltd. 11 Rozanis Street P.O.B. 39300 Tel-Aviv 61392 Tel: 03-475151 TLX: 33638

ITALY Intesi Divisione ITT Industries GmbH Viale Milanofiori Palazzo E/5 20090 Assago Milano Milano Tel: 02/824701 TLX: 311351

Lasi Elettronica S.p.A. V. le Fulvio Testi, 126 20092 Cinisello Balsar Milano Tel: 02/2440012 TLX: 352040

NETHERLANDS

Koning en Hartman 1 Energieweg 2627 AP Delft Tel: 15609906 TLX: 38250

### NORWAY

Nordisk Elektronikk (Norge) A/S Postboks 123 Postboks 123 Smedsvingen 4 1364 Hvalstad Tel: (02) 84 62 10 TLX: 77546

### PORTUGAL

Ditram Avenida Marques de Tomar, 46-A 1000 Lisboa Tel: (1) 73 48 34 TLX: 14182

SPAIN

ATD Electronica, S.A. Plaza Ciudad de Viena, 6 28040 Madrid Tel: 234 40 00 TLX: 42754

ITT-SESA Calle Miguel Angel, 21-3 28010 Madrid Tel: 419 09 57 TLX: 27461

SWEDEN

Nordisk Elektronik AB Huvudstagatan 1 Box 1409 171 27 Solna Tel: 08-734 97 70 TLX: 105 47

SWITZERI AND

Industrade A.G. Hertistrasse 31 8304 Wallisellen Tel: (801) 83 05 04 0 TLX: 56788

TURKEY

EMPA Electronic Lindwurmstrasse 95A 8000 Muenchen 2 Tel: 089/53 80 570 TLX: 528573

#### UNITED KINGDOM

Accent Electronic Components Ltd. Jubilee House, Jubilee Road Letchworth, Herts SG6 1TL Tel: (0462) 686666 TLX: 826293

Bytech-Comway Systems 3 The Western Centre Western Road Bracknell RG12 1RW Tel: (0344) 55333 TLX: 847201

Jermyn Vestry Estate Otford Road Sevenoaks Kent TN14 5EU Tel: (0732) 450144 TLX: 95142

MMD Unit 8 Southview Park Caversham Reading Berkshire RG4 0AF Tel: (0734) 48 16 66 TLX: 846669

Rapid Silicon Rapid House Denmark Street High Wycombe Buckinghamshire HP11 2ER Tel: (0494) 442266 TLX: 837931

Rapid Systems Rapid House Denmark Street High Wycombe Buckinghamshire HP11 2ER Tel: (0494) 450244 TLX: 837931

YUGOSLAVIA

H.R. Microelectronics Corp. 2005 de la Cruz Blvd., Ste. 223 Santa Clara, CA 95050 U.S.A. Tel: (408) 988-0286 TLX: 387452

## أht INTERNATIONAL SALES OFFICES

#### AUSTRALIA

Intel Australia Pty. Ltd.\* Spectrum Building 200 Pacific Hwy., Level 6 Crows Nest, NSW, 2065 Tel: (2) 957-2744 TLX: AA 20097 FAX: (2) 923-2632

#### BRA7II

Intel Semicondutores do Brasil LTDA Av, Paulista, 1159-CJS 404/405 01311 - Soo Paulo - S.P. Tel: 55-11-287-5899 TLX: 1153146 SAPI BR FAX: 55-11-212-7631

#### CHINA/HONG KONG

Intel PRC Corporation 15/F, Office 1, Citic Bldg. Jian Guo Men Wai Street Beijing, PRC Tel: (1) 500-4850 TLX: 22947 INTEL CN FAX: (1) 500-2953

Intel Semiconductor Ltd.\* 10/F East Tower Bond Center Queensway, Central Hong Kong Tel: (5) 8444-555 TLX: 63869 ISHLHK HX FAX: (5) 8681-989

Intel Japan K.K. 5-6 Tokođai, Tsukuba-shi Ibaraki, 300-26 Tel: 029747-8511 TLX: 3656-160 FAX: 029747-8450

Intel Japan K.K.\* Daiichi Mitsugi Bldg. 1-8889 Fuchu-cho Fuchu-shi, Tokyo 183 Tel: 0423-60-7871 FAX: 0423-60-0315

Intel Japan K.K.\* Flower-Hill Shin-machi Bldg. 1-23-9 Shinmachi Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 154 Tel: 03-426-2231 FAX: 03-427-7620

Intel Japan K.K.\* Bldg, Kumagaya 2-69 Hon-cho Kumagaya-shi, Saitama 360 Tel: 0465-24-6871 FAX: 0485-24-7518

Intel Japan K.K.\* Mitsui-Seimei Musashi-kosugi Bldg. 915 Shinmaruko, Nakahara-ku Kawasaki-shi, Kanagawa 211 Tel: 044-733-7011 FAX: 044-733-7010

JAPAN (Cont'd.)

Intel Japan K.K. Nihon Seimei Atsugi Bldg. 1-2-1 Asahi-machi Atsugi-shi, Kanagawa 243 Tel: 0462-29-3731 FAX: 0462-29-3781

Intel Japan K.K.\* Ryokuchi-Eki Bidg. 2-4-1 Terauchi Toyonaka-shi, Osaka 560 Tel: 06-863-1091 FAX: 06-863-1084

Intel Japan K.K. Shinmaru Bldg. 1-5-1 Marunouchi Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100 Tel: 03-201-3621 FAX: 03-201-6850

Intel Japan K.K. Green Bidg. 1-16-20 Nishiki Naka-ku, Nagoya-shi Aichi 450 Tel: 052-204-1261 FAX: 052-204-1285

#### KORFA

Intel Technology Asia, Ltd. Business Center 16th Floor 61, Voido-Dong, Young Deung Po-Ku Seoul 150 Tel: (2) 784-8186, 8286, 8386 TLX: K29312 INTELKO FAX: (2) 784-8096

SINGAPORE

Intel Singapore Technology, Ltd. 101 Thomson Road #21-06 Goldhill Square Singapore 1130 Tel: 250-7811 TLX: 39921 INTEL FAX: 250-9256

#### ταίψαν

Intel Technology (Far East) Ltd. Taiwan Branch 10/F, No. 205, Tun Hua N. Road Taipei, R.O.C. Tel: 886-2-716-9660 TLX: 13159 INTEL:TWN FAX: 886-2-717-2455

## **INTERNATIONAL** DISTRIBUTORS/REPRESENTATIVES

#### ARGENTINA

DAFSYS S.R.L. Chacabuco, 90-4 PISO 1069-Buenos Aires Tel: 54-1-334-1871 54-1-334-7726 TLX: 25472

Reycom Electronica S.R.L. Arcos 3631 1429-Buenos Aires Tel: 54 (1) 701-4462/66 FAX: 54 (1) 11-1722 TLX: 25133 REYCOM AR

### AUSTRALIA

Total Electronics Private Bag 250 9 Harker Street Burwood, Victoria 3125 Tel: 61-3-288-4044 TLX: AA 31261 FAX: 61-3-288-9696

#### BRAZIL

Elebra Microelectronica R. Geraldo Flausina Gomes, 78 9 Andar 04575 - Sao Paulo - S.P. Tel: 011-55-11-534-9637 TLX: 3911125131 ELBR BR FAX: 55-11-534-9424

CHILE

DIN Instruments Suecia 2323 Casilla 6055, Correo 22 Santiago Tel: 56-2-225-8139 TLX: 440422 RUDY CZ

CHINA/HONG KONG

Novel Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. Fiat D, 20 Kingsford Ind. Bldg. Phase 1, 26 Kwai Hei Street N.T., Kowloon Hong Kong Tel: 852-0-223-222 TWX: 39114 JINMI HX FAX: 852-0-261-602

INDIA Micronic Devices Arun Complex No. 65 D.V.G. Road Basavanagudi Bangalore 560 004 Tel: 91-812-620-631 011-91-812-621-455 TLX: 0845-8332 MD BG IN

Micronic Devices Flat 403, Gagan Deep 12, Rajendra Place New Delhi 110 008 Tel: 91-58-97-71 011-91-57-23509 TLX: 03163235 MDND IN

Micronic Devices No. 516 5th Floor Swastik Chambers Sion, Trombay Road Chembur Bomtray 400 071 Tel: 91-52-39-63 TLX: 9531 171447 MDEV IN

S&S Corporation Camden Business Center Suite 6 1610 Blossom Hill Rd. San Jose, CA 95124 U.S.A. Tel: (408) 978-6216 TLX: 820281

JAPAN

Asahi Electronics Co. Ltd. KMM Bldg. 2-14-1 Asano Kokurakita-ku Kitakyushu-shi 802 Tel: 093-5511-6471 FAX: 093-551-7861

C. Itoh Techno-Science Co., Ltd. C. Itoh Bidg., 2-5-1 Kita-Aoyama Minato-ku, Tokyo 107 Tel: 03-497-4900 FAX: 03-497-4879

JAPAN (Cont'd.)

Dia Semicon Systems, Inc. Wacore 64, 1-37-8 Sangenjaya Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 154 Tel: 03-487-0386 FAX: 03-487-8088

Okaya Koki 2-4-18 Sakae Naka-ku, Nagoya-shi 460 Tel: 052-204-2916 FAX: 052-204-2901

Ryoyo Electro Corp. Konwa Bldg. 1-12-22 Tsukiji Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104 Tel: 03-546-5011 FAX: 03-546-5044

### KOREA

J-Tek Corporation 6th Floor, Government Pension Bldg. 24-3 Yoldo-Dong Youngdeungpo-ku Seoul 150 Tel: 82-2-782-8039 TLX: 82594 KODIGIT FAX: 82-2-784-8391

Samsung Semiconductor & Telecommunications Co., Ltd. 150, 2-KA, Tafpyung-ro, Chung-ku Seoul 100 Tel: 82-2-751-3987 TLX: 27970 KORSST FAX: 82-2-753-0967

MEXICO

Dicopel S.A. Tochtli 368 Fracc, Ind. San Antonio Azcapotzalco C.P. 02760-Mexico, D.F. Tel: 52-5-561-3211 TLX: 1773790 DICOME

NEW ZEALAND

Northrup Instruments & Systems Ltd. 456 Kyber Pass Road P.O. Box 9464, Newmarket Auckland 1 Tel: 64-9-501-219, 501-801 TLX: 21570 THERMAL

Northrup Instruments & Systems Ltd. P.O. Box 2406 Wellington 856659 Tal: 64-4-856-658 TLX: NZ3380 NORTHAC FAX: 64-4-857276

SINGAPORE

Electronic Resources Pte, Ltd. 17 Harvey Road #04-01 Singapore 1336 Tel: 283-0888, 289-1618 TWX: 56541 FRELS FAX: 2895327

#### SOUTH AFRICA

Electronic Building Elements, Pty. Ltd. P.O. Box 4609 Pine Square, 18th Street Hazelwood, Pretoria 0001 Tel: 27-12-469921 TLX: 3-227786 SA FAX: 0927-012-46-9221

#### TAIWAN

Mitac Corporation No. 585, Ming Shen East Rd. Taipei, R.O.C. Tel: 886-2-501-8231 FAX: 886-2-501-4265

Sertek 5FL, 135 Sec. 2 Chien-Kuo N. Rd. Taipei 10479 R.O.C. Tel: (02) 5010055 FAX: (02) 5012521 (02) 5058414

#### VENEZUELA

P. Benavides S.A. Avilanes a Rio Residencia Kamarata Locales 4 A17 La Candelaria, Caracas Tel: 58-2-571-0396 TLX: 28450 PBVEN VC FAX: 58-2-572-3321

# int

## DOMESTIC SERVICE OFFICES

### ALABAMA

Intel Corp. 5015 Bradford Dr., #2 Huntsville 35805 Tel: (205) 830-4010

Intel Corp. 11225 N. 28th Dr. Suite D-214 Phoenix 85029 Tel: (602) 869-4980

Intel Corp. 500 E. Fry Blvd., Suite M-15 Sierra Vista 85635 Tel: (602) 459-5010

Intel Corp. 1161 N. El Dorado Piace Suite 301 Tucson 85715 Tel: (602) 299-6815

Intel Corp. 21515 Vanowen Street Suite 116 Canoga Park 91303 Tel: (818) 704-8500

Intel Corp. 2250 E. Imperial Highway Suite 218 El Segundo 90245 Tel: (213) 640-6040

Intel Corp. 1900 Prairie City Rd. Folsom 95630-9597 Tel: (916) 351-6143

Intel Corp. 1510 Arden Way, Suite 101 Sacramento 95815 Tel: (916) 920-8096

Intel Corp. 4350 Executive Drive Suite 105 Suite 105 San Diego 92121 Tel: (619) 452-5880

Intel Corp.\* 400 N. Tustin Avenue Suite 450 Santa Ana 92705 Tel: (714) 835-9642 TWX: 910-595-1114

Intel Corp.\* San Tomas 4 2700 San Tomas Expressway 2700 San Tomas Ex 2nd Floor Santa Clara 95051 Tel: (408) 986-8086 TWX: 910-338-0255

COLOBADO

Intel Corp. 4445 Northpark Drive Suite 100 Colorado Springs 80907 Tel: (303) 594-6622

Intel Corp.\* 650 S. Cherry St., Suite 915 Denver 80222 Tel: (303) 321-8086 TWX: 910-931-2289

CONNECTICUT

Intel Corp. 26 Mill Plain Road 2nd Floor Danbury 06811 Tel: (203) 748-3130 TWX: 710-456-1199

FLORIDA

Intel Corp. 6363 N.W. 6th Way Suite 100 Ft. Lauderdale 33309 Tel: (305) 771-0600 TWX: 510-956-9407 FAX: 305-772-8193

Intel Corp. 5850 T.G. Lee Blvd. Suite 340 Orlando 32822 Tel: (305) 240-8000 FAX: 305-240-8097

Intel Corp. 11300 4th Street North Suite 170 St. Petersburg 33716 Tel: (813) 577-2413 FAX: 813-578-1607

GEORGIA Intel Corp. 3280 Pointe Parkway Suite 200 Norcross 30092 Tel: (404) 449-0541

Intel Corp.\* 300 N. Martingale Road Suite 400 Schaumburg 60173 Tel: (312) 310-8031

Intel Corp. 8777 Purdue Road Suite 125 Indianapolis 46268 Tel: (317) 875-0623

IOWA Intel Corp. 1930 St. Andrews Drive N.E. 2nd Floor Cedar Rapids 52402 Tel: (319) 393-5510

KANSAS

Intel Corp. 8400 W. 110th Street Suite 170 Overland Park 66210 Tel: (913) 345-2727

Intel Corp.\* 7321 Parkway Drive South Suite C Hanover 21076 Tel: (301) 796-7500 TWX: 710-862-1944

Intel Corp. 7833 Walker Drive Suite 550 Greenbelt 20770 Tel: (301) 441-1020

MASSACHUSETTS

Intel Corp.\* Westford Corp. Center 3 Carlisle Road 2nd Floor Westford 01886 Tel: (617) 692-3222 TWX: 710-343-6333

Intel Corp. 7071 Orchard Lake Road Suite 100 West Bloomfield 48033 Tel: (313) 851-8096 

Intel Corp. 3500 W. 80th St., Suite 360 Bloomington 55431 Tel: (612) 835-6722 TWX: 910-576-2867

MISSOURI Intel Corp. 4203 Earth City Expressway Suite 131 Earth City 63045 Tel: (314) 291-1990

NEW JERSEY

Intel Corp. Raritan Plaza III Raritan Center Edison 08817 Tel: (201) 225-3000

Intel Corp. 385 Sylvan Avenue Englewood Cliffs 07632 Tel: (201) 567-0821 TWX: 710-991-8593

Intel Corp.\* Parkway 109 Office Center 328 Newman Springs Road Red Bank 07701 Tel: (201) 747-2233

fintel Corp. 280 Corporate Center 75 Livingston Avenue First Floor Roseland 07068 Tel: (201) 740-0111 FAX: 201-740-0626 NEW MEXICO

Intel Corp. 8500 Menaul Boulevard N.E. Suite B 295 Albuquerque 87112 Tel: (505) 292-8086

NEW YORK

Intel Corp. 127 Main Street Binghamton 13905 Tel: (607) 773-0337 FAX: 607-723-2677

Intel Corp.\* 850 Cross Keys Office Park Fairport 14450 Tel: (716) 425-2750 TWX: 510-253-7391

Intel Corp.\* 300 Motor Parkway Hauppauge 11787 Tel: (516) 231-3300 TWX: 510-227-6236

Intel Corp. Westage Business Center Bldg. 300, Route 9 Fishkill 12524 Tel: (914) 897-3860 FAX: 914-897-3125

NORTH CAROLINA

Intel Corp. 5700 Executive Drive Suite 213 Charlotte 28212 Tel: (704) 568-8966

Intel Corp. 2306 W. Meadowview Road Suite 206 Greensboro 27407 Tel: (919) 294-1541

Intel Corp. 2700 Wycliff Road Suite 102 Raleigh 27607 Tel: (919) 781-8022

оню

Intel Corp.\* 3401 Park Center Drive Suite 220 Dayton 45414 Tel: (513) 890-5350 TWX: 810-450-2528

Intel Corp.\* 25700 Science Park Dr. Suite 100 Beachwood 44122 Tel: (216) 464-2736 TWX: 810-427-9298

OKLAHOMA Intel Corp. 6801 N. Broadway Suite 115 Oklahoma City 73162 Tel: (405) 848-8086

OREGON

Intel Corp. 15254 N.W. Greenbrier Parkway Building B Beaverton 97006 Tel: (503) 645-8051 TWX: 910-467-8741

Intel Corp. 5200 N.E. Elam Young Parkway Hillsboro 97123 Tel: (503) 681-8080

PENNSYI VANIA

Intel Corp.\* 455 Pennsylvania Avenue Suite 230 Fort Washington 19034 Tel: (215) 641-1000 TWX: 510-661-2077

Intel Corp.\* 400 Penn Center Blvd. Suite 610 Pittsburgh 15235 Tel: (412) 823-4970

PUERTO RICO

Intel Microprocessor Corp. South Industrial Park P.O. Box 910 Las Piedras 00671 Tel: (809) 733-8616

TEYAS

Intel Corp. 313 E. Anderson Lane Suite 314 Austin 78752 Tel: (512) 454-3628

TEXAS (Cont'd.)

Intel Corp.\* 12000 Ford Road Suite 400 Dallas 75234 Tel: (214) 241-8087 FAX: 214-484-1180

Intel Corp.\* 7322 S.W. Freeway Suite 1490 Houston 77074 Tel: (713) 988-8086 TWX: 910-881-2490

ШТАН

Intel Corp. 428 East 6400 South Suite 104 Murray 84107 Tel: (801) 263-8051 VIRGINIA

Intel Corp. 1504 Santa Rosa Road Suite 108 Richmond 23288 Tel: (804) 282-5668 WASHINGTON

Intel Corp. 155 108th Avenue N.E. Suite 386 Bellevue 98004 Tel: (206) 453-8086 TWX: 910-443-3002

Intel Corp. 408 N. Mullan Road Suite 102 Spokane 99206 Tel: (509) 928-8086

WISCONSIN Intel Corp. 330 S. Executive Dr. Suite 102 Brockfield 53005 Tel: (414) 784-8087 FAX: (414) 796-2115

CANADA BRITISH COLUMBIA

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 4585 Canada Way, Suite 202 Burnaby V5G 4L6 Tel: (604) 298-0387 FAX: (604) 298-8234

ONTARIO

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 2650 Queensview Drive Suite 250 Ottawa K2B 8H6 Tel: (613) 829-9714 TLX: 053-4115

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 190 Attwell Drive Suite 500 Rexdale M9W 6H8 Tel: (416) 675-2105 TLX: 06983574 FAX: (416) 675-2438 QUEBEC

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 620 St. John Boulevard Pointe Claire H9B 3K2 Tel: (514) 694-9130 TWX: 514-694-9134

CUSTOMER TRAINING CENTERS

CALIFORNIA

2700 San Tomas Expressway Santa Clara 95051 Tel: (408) 970-1700

ILLINOIS 300 N. Martingale, #300 Schaumburg 60173 Tel: (312) 310-5700

MASSACHUSETTS 3 Carlisle Road Westford 01886 Tel: (617) 692-1000

MARYLAND 7833 Walker Dr., 4th Floor Greenbelt 20770 Tel: (301) 220-3380

## SYSTEMS ENGINEERING OFFICES

CALIFORNIA

2700 San Tomas Expressway Santa Clara 95051 Tel: (408) 986-8086

ILLINOIS 300 N. Martingale, #300 Schaumburg 60173 Tel: (312) 310-8031 NEW YORK 300 Motor Parkway Hauppauge 11788 Tel: (516) 231-3300

CG/SAL6/070788



UNITED STATES Intel Corporation 3065 Bowers Avenue Santa Clara, CA 95051

JAPAN Intel Japan K.K. 5-6 Tokodai, Tsukuba-shi Ibaraki, 300-26

FRANCE Intel Corporation S.a.r.P. 1, Rue Edison, BP 303 78054 Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines Cedex

UNITED KINGDOM Intel Corporation (U.K.) Ltd. Pipers Way Swindon Wiltshire, England SN3 1RJ

WEST GERMANY Intel Semiconductor GmbH Seidlstrasse 27 D-8000 Muenchen 2

HONG KONG Intel Semiconductor Ltd. 10/F East Tower Bond Center Queensway, Central

## CANADA

Intel Semiconductor of Canada, Ltd. 190 Attwell Drive, Suite 500 Rexdale, Ontario M9W 6H8

ISBN 1-55512-038-5